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PART I
ITEM 1.

BUSINESS.

Vail Resorts, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Company" or
"Vail Resorts"), is the premier resort operator in North America operating (i)
Vail Mountain, the largest single ski mountain complex in North America, (ii)
Beaver Creek Mountain, one of the world's premier family-oriented mountain
resorts, (iii) Breckenridge Mountain Resort, North America's second most popular
ski area and (iv) Keystone Resort, the third most popular ski area in North
America and a year-round family vacation destination. The Company is one of the
most successful resort operators in the ski industry due to its attractive guest
demographics, favorable weather and snowfall conditions, ability to attract both
destination resort guests and day travelers from local population centers and
proximity to both Denver International Airport and Vail/Eagle County Airport.
The Company operates the top three mountain resorts in North America and is
uniquely positioned to attract a broad range of guests due to its diverse ski
terrain, varied price points and numerous activities and services. As the
Company's resorts are located within 50 miles of each other, the Company is able
to offer guests the opportunity to visit each resort during one vacation stay
and participate in common loyalty programs. In addition to its resort
operations, the Company owns substantial real estate which strategically
complements its resort business.
A key component of the Company's business strategy has been to expand and
enhance its core ski operations while at the same time increasing the scope,
diversity and quality of the complementary activities and services offered to
its skiing and non-skiing guests throughout the year. This focus has resulted in
growth in skier days and lift ticket sales and has also allowed the Company to
expand its revenue base beyond its core ski operations. The Company's focus on
developing a comprehensive destination resort experience has also allowed it to
attract a diverse guest population with an attractive demographic and economic
profile, including a significant number of affluent and family-oriented
destination guests, who tend to generate higher and more diversified revenues
per guest than day skiers from local population centers. While the Company's
Resort Revenue per skier day is currently among the highest in the industry,
management believes that the Company currently captures less than 20% of the
total vacation expenditures of an average destination guest at its resorts. The
Company's business strategy is not only to increase skier days but also to
increase Resort Revenue per skier day by capturing a higher percentage of the
total spending by its year round destination and day guest by continuing to
expand the range and enhance the quality of activities and services offered by
the Company.
RESORTS
The Company operates skiing facilities on Vail and Beaver Creek mountains
in Eagle County, Colorado and Breckenridge and Keystone mountains in Summit
County, Colorado. For the 1996-1997 ski season, the Company's resorts had
4,890,032 total skiers as compared to 4,643,777 total skiers for the previous
year. The operation of a ski resort business is seasonal. The Company's ski
areas typically open in mid-October and close in mid-May each year. The Company
currently employs approximately 3,000 year-round and 7,000 seasonal employees.
Vail Mountain, opened in 1962, consists of 4,644 acres of skiable terrain.
Vail Mountain is the largest single ski mountain complex in the United States
and for the 1997-98 ski season, will have a total of 30 lifts, including 10 high
speed quads and a high speed custom-designed gondola, constituting the largest
network of high speed lifts in the world. Vail Mountain had a total of 1,687,038
skiers for the 1996-97 season compared to 1,652,170 for the previous year. The
1996-97 total was the highest number of skier days of any North American ski
mountain and a new record for Vail Mountain. The Company has received approval

from the United States Forest Service (the "Forest Service") for infrastructure
development of bowl skiing terrain within its current permit area known as
Category III. (See "Business--Regulation and Legislation"). Category III will
add approximately 2,000 additional acres of ski terrain to Vail Mountain's back
bowls, including 850 acres of new trails and an additional 1,150 acres of
undisturbed gladed skiing, increasing the ski terrain on Vail Mountain by
approximately 40%. The terrain's high, north facing location typically yields
reliable snow conditions and should allow for earlier and later ski season
operations than is typical for Vail's existing south facing back bowls. Upgrades
to Vail Mountain for the 1997-1998 ski season include the completion of the
Golden Peak base lodge, including two new restaurants within the facility,
improvements to Adventure Ridge, a non-ski activity center located at the top of
Vail Mountain, and a thirty percent increase in grooming capacity.
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Beaver Creek Resort is a year-round recreational complex located
approximately ten miles west of the Town of Vail. Beaver Creek Mountain
consists of the Beaver Creek, Arrowhead and Bachelor Gulch ski areas. Beaver
Creek Mountain, opened in 1980, consists of approximately 1,625 acres of skiable
terrain. For the 1996-97 ski season, the Company completed the development of
the ski infrastructure in Bachelor Gulch in connection with its real estate
development activities (see "Business--Real Estate"), thereby interconnecting
the Beaver Creek, Bachelor Gulch and Arrowhead ski areas. Beaver Creek Mountain
will operate 14 lifts for the 1997-98 ski season. Beaver Creek Mountain is among
the nation's 20 largest ski areas (based upon the annual number of skiers).
During the 1996-97 season, Beaver Creek Mountain recorded a total of 644,456
skier days compared to 576,249 for the previous year. For the 1997-1998 ski
season, the Company invested approximately $17 million in improvements including
a new high-speed quad chairlift, the completion of the Beaver Creek Village core
with the addition of the Vilar Center for the Arts, an outdoor skating rink, two
residential and retail complexes and three covered, all-weather escalators that
transport guests form the pedestrian plaza to the slopes.
Breckenridge Mountain Resort is North America's second most popular ski
area, trailing only Vail Mountain in skier days. Breckenridge's skier visits
totaled 1,341,179 for the 1996-1997 ski season compared to 1,357,790 for the
previous year. Breckenridge Mountain offers over 2,000 acres of skiing on four
different mountains, including open bowl and excellent beginner and intermediate
terrain. The ski area's four mountains are interconnected by a network of 19
lifts, including 6 high speed quad chairlifts. The ski area is located adjacent
to the Town of Breckenridge, a 140-year-old Victorian mining town, which has
numerous apres ski activities and an extensive and growing bed base, making
Breckenridge Mountain Resort an attractive destination for national and
international skiers. The Company has implemented several improvements to
Breckenridge Mountain for the 1997-1998 ski season including (i) upgrades of
certain older lift equipment and the addition of two new high-speed quads, which
will reduce lift lines and improve on-mountain skier circulation, (ii) a
significant expansion of the mountain's snowmaking coverage, to ensure a better
early and late season ski product and (iii) an expansion of the Company's ski
school, food service, retail and rental operations. In addition, the Company
owns certain strategic land parcels at the base of the mountain and in the Town
of Breckenridge which are currently in the planning stages for significant
residential and commercial development.
Keystone Mountain is the third most popular ski area in North America,
achieving 1,217,359 skier visits for the 1996-1997 ski season compared to
1,057,568 for the previous year. Comprised of three mountains and interconnected
by a network of 16 lifts, including two high-speed gondolas and four high speed
quad chairlifts, Keystone provides 1,749 skiable acres suited to a wide variety
of skier ability levels. Keystone Mountain has the largest and most advanced
snowmaking capability of any Colorado mountain resort with snowmaking coverage
extending over 49% of Keystone's skiable acreage. Keystone Mountain is located
within the planned family-oriented community of Keystone Resort, which offers
numerous year-round activities, the majority of which are operated by the
Company, including Keystone Conference Center, which is the largest convention
center in the Colorado Rocky Mountains. Keystone Mountain provides the largest
single-mountain night skiing experience in North America, with 14 lighted trails
covering 2,340 vertical feet, offering a 12 1/2 hour ski day. Upgrades to
Keystone for the 1997-1998 ski season include the installation of a new high
speed quad access lift from one of the resort's major base areas and continued
snowboarding related improvements. In addition, Keystone, through a joint
venture (the "Keystone JV"), received approval for and has begun the long-term
development of up to 4,600 new residential and lodging units and up to 382,000

square feet of new commercial space on land contributed to the Keystone JV.
This development will supplement the resort's existing 1,273 residential and
lodging units and approximately 144,000 square feet of commercial real estate.
The development, which is expected to be completed over the next 20 years, will
create significant new resort lodging as well as new retail, food service and
apres ski activities, which the Company believes will attract destination skiers
and contribute to growth in skier days and Resort Revenue.
Given their location in the Colorado Rocky Mountains, the Company's
mountain resorts receive some of the most reliable snowfall experienced anywhere
in the world. Vail and Beaver Creek mountains have averaged over 340 inches of
annual snowfall over the last 20 years, while Breckenridge and Keystone
mountains have averaged approximately 300 and 230 inches of annual snowfall,
respectively, over the last 20 years, significantly in excess of the average for
all ski resorts in the Rocky Mountains for such period. Despite the substantial
snowfall, the Company continues to invest in the latest technology in snowmaking
systems and actively acquires additional water rights, which has allowed it to
offer its guests more predictable and consistent conditions, particularly during
the early and late ski season.
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The Company's customers are primarily comprised of worldwide resort
destination guests and, to a lesser extent, day skiers from the Denver
Metropolitan area, and Eagle and Summit counties. For the 1996-1997 season, the
Company believes that destination guests represented approximately 70% of total
skier days. Although the Company's resorts accommodate a wide range of budgets
and attract guests from different regions of the country and the world, they are
particularly attractive to family-oriented guests who tend to generate higher
and more diversified revenues per guest than skiers from local population
centers. International guests, who tend to have longer average stays and higher
vacation expenditures than other destination guests, accounted for approximately
8% of the company's destination skier days during the 1996-1997 season.
Consistent with the trends in the overall ski market, snowboarders
represent the fastest growing segment of the Company's guest demographic. The
Company is committed to promoting snowboarding as an exciting outgrowth of
traditional skiing. As an example of this commitment, the Company has upgraded
its snowboard facilities, published trail maps for the convenience of
snowboarders and created additional trails, half-pipes and other varied terrain
to attract snowboarders. Keystone Mountain allowed snowboarders for the first
time during the 1996-1997 ski season, providing a significant opportunity for
Keystone to capture a share of this growing market.
RESORT OPERATIONS
The Company derives Resort Revenue from a wide variety of sources,
including lift ticket sales, ski school, food service, retail stores, equipment
rental, convention and hospitality services, travel reservation services,
lodging, property and club management, real estate brokerage, licensing and
sponsorship activities and other recreational activities.
Lift Ticket Sales. Lift ticket revenue represents the Company's single
largest revenue source. The Company's favorable demographics and world class
resort facilities have enabled the Company to achieve premium ticket pricing.
The lead ticket price, which for the 1996-1997 ski season was $52 a day for Vail
and Beaver Creek Mountains and $48 a day for Breckenridge and Keystone
Mountains, is among the highest in the industry. To maximize skier volume
during non-peak periods and attract certain segments of the market, the Company
also offers a wide variety of incentive ticket programs, including season
passes, student rates, group discounts and senior discounts. The Company engages
in sophisticated yield management analysis to maximize its effective ticket
price (defined as total ticket revenue divided by total skier days) which was a
combined $27.79 for the 1996-1997 ski season, among the highest in the industry.
During the 1996-97 ski season, the Company introduced interchangeable lift
tickets across all four of its resorts, allowing guests to ski at any of the
Company's resorts with one lift ticket. For the 1997-1998 ski season, the
Company has implemented a loyalty program similar to an airline frequent flyer
program. The program rewards guests who frequent the resorts with a system of
points that can be accumulated and redeemed for rewards during subsequent
visits.
Ski School.

The Company operates the world's largest ski school

operation with over 2000 instructors across the four resorts. The Company
estimates that it has a guest participation rate of approximately 8% which it
believes to be one of the highest in the industry. The success of the ski school
comes from (i) personalizing and enhancing the guest vacation experience, (ii)
creating new teaching and learning systems (many of which have historically been
purchased from the Company by the Professional Ski Instructors of America and
adopted as the standard for the industry), (iii) introducing innovative teaching
methods for children, including separate children's centers, mountain-wide
attractions, themed entertainment and teaching systems geared toward specific
age groups, and (iv) continually creating new techniques to react to
technological advances in ski/snowboard equipment. In addition, the Company has
adopted a pay incentive program to reward instructors based on guest
satisfaction and repeat students. Future growth in ski school revenue is
expected to stem from the significant growth in the sport of snowboarding, for
which the Company has qualified instructors, and technological advances
currently taking place in alpine skiing equipment.
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Food Service. Food service is a key component in providing a
satisfying guest experience and has been an important source of revenue growth
for the Company. The Company believes that by owning and operating both onmountain and base area restaurants, it can ensure the quality of products and
services offered to its guests, as well as capture a greater percentage of the
guest's vacation expenditures. Strategies with respect to food service
operations include (i) focusing growth in venues which allow for food service
throughout the day and throughout the year, including breakfast, lunch, apresski, dinner, evening entertainment, group functions and summer/non-ski season
operations, (ii) creating unique themed environments to maximize guest enjoyment
and revenue opportunities, (iii) further expanding on-mountain seating, (iv)
offering affordable family lunchtime and evening dining and entertainment, (v)
continuing to create additional private clubs and restaurants which are financed
through memberships and the sale of related real estate and (vi) continuing
affiliations with institutions such as Johnson and Wales, one of the largest
culinary and restaurant management schools in the world. The large number of
food service facilities operated by the Company allows it to improve margins
through large quantity purchasing agreements and sponsorship relationships.
The Company's restaurant operations offer a wide variety of cuisine and
range from top-rated, full service sit-down restaurants to trailside express
food outlets. For the 1997-98 ski season, the Company will operate 46 on
mountain and 23 base area food service facilities. These facilities include
eight new restaurants, primarily located in the Vail and Beaver Creek base
areas. The Company operates 24 restaurants on and at the base of Vail Mountain,
16 restaurants on Beaver Creek Mountain and in Beaver Creek Village, 8
restaurants on and at the base of Breckenridge Mountain and 23 restaurants on
Keystone Mountain and in Keystone Village. Total seating capacity by resort is
approximately 7,127, 1,885, 4,465 and 3,479 seats for Vail Mountain,
Breckenridge Mountain, Keystone Mountain and Beaver Creek Mountain,
respectively.
Retail/Rental Operations. The Company's retail division owns and
operates all on-mountain locations and selected base area locations. The
company has taken several steps to significantly expand the scope of its retail
and rental operations in order to maximize revenue derived from these
activities. This expansion will increase retail space from 61,640 square feet
in the 1996-97 ski season to 69,125 square feet in the 1997-98 ski season. The
Company opened 3 new retail and rental locations for the 1997-98 ski season. In
addition, the Company has remodeled or relocated several existing retail
locations to maximize revenue and take advantage of current trends such as
snowboarding and snowshoeing.
The Company's on-mountain retail locations offer ski accessories (i.e.,
hats, gloves, sunglasses, goggles, warmers), snack food and selected logo
merchandise, all in locations which are conveniently located for skiers. Offmountain, the Company operates both ski equipment rental and retail locations.
The Company's retail operations typically feature Company or resort-related logo
merchandise and products of the Company's sponsors. The Company's rental
operations offer a wide variety of ski and snowboard equipment for daily and
weekly use. The Company intends to utilize certain locations within the
Company's newly leasable space (see "Business--Commercial Leasing Operations")
as newly created retail and rental operations, while continuing to maintain a
significant presence of third party tenants.

Convention/Hospitality Services. The Company's hospitality operations
are designed to offer the Company's guests a full complement of quality resort
services and provide the company with additional sources of revenue and
profitability. These operations include reservations, tour and travel
operations, lodging, convention and conference accommodations and property and
club management.
The Company's reservation center provides information and access to the
full complement of the resorts' services and activities. The center handles
over 600,000 calls per year and is capable of booking and selling airline and
ground transportation, lodging, lift tickets, ski school and most other mountain
activities, earning commissions on each third party sale. These advance
reservation activities have had a significant impact on the Company's ability to
attract direct air service to the Vail/Eagle County Airport. Located 25 miles
from Beaver Creek Resort, the Vail/Eagle County Airport provides non-stop air
service from 12 U.S. cities and one-stop connections from 30 international
destinations. For the 1997-1998 ski season, scheduled inbound one-way seating
capacity is 303,508, an increase of 14% over the prior season.
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The Company's property management operation seeks to utilize the
Company's hospitality expertise through the first class management of lodging
properties owned by both the Company and third parties. The Company currently
manages 41 properties, including hotels, timeshare projects and condominiums.
Property management services performed by the Company include rental management,
maintenance services to non-renting unit owners and association management
services to condominium associations. Company owned lodging properties include
the Pines Lodge in Beaver Creek Resort (a 60 room luxury hotel), the Keystone
Lodge, a 152 room hotel located within Keystone Resort, as well as the newly
acquired Breckenridge Hilton and Lodge at Vail properties. The Company intends
to continue to expand its lodging and property management businesses by bringing
additional properties under management and through further strategic
acquisitions.
The Company owns and operates the Keystone Conference center, which is
the largest convention center in the Colorado Rocky Mountains. With meeting
facilities totaling 32,500 square feet and capable of accommodating groups of up
to 1,800, the Keystone Conference Center draws groups throughout the year and is
typically sold-out during the non-ski season. The Company is presently reviewing
plans to add 25,000 square feet of exhibit space to the Keystone Conference
Center, which would allow it to accommodate the significant excess demand which
it currently experiences. In addition to the Keystone Conference Center, the
Company owns and operates various other conference facilities, of which the
Company believes that attendees significantly utilize the resort's other
recreational facilities and activities, including skiing and snowboarding, golf,
tennis and horseback riding.
The Company is also active in the creation and management of private
membership clubs, which allows the Company to provide high-end services and
amenities to its upper income guest, and evening dining options and other
services and activities to its overall guest population. The Company's current
clubs include (i) the Beaver Creek Club, which offers members luncheon
privileges at Beano's Cabin (which are open to the general public for dinner)
and certain golf, tennis and skiing amenities, (ii) Game Creek Club, which
offers members luncheon privileges and is open to the general public for dinner,
(iii) the Passport Clubhouse at Golden Peak/TM/, which provides members with a
reserved parking space, concierge services, a private dining room and locker
and club facilities at the base of Vail Mountain. In addition to using
membership sales to defray and in some cases entirely pay for the cost of
construction, the Company earns management fees for overseeing club operations.
The Company intends to create selected additional clubs over the next five
years, including Arrowhead Alpine Club at Arrowhead Village and a mountain club
to be located in Bachelor Gulch Village similar to Beano's Cabin. These clubs
allow the Company to add to its restaurant operations and related skier service
and retail operations at a relatively modest capital cost.
Commercial Leasing Operations.
The Company owns significant base area
restaurant, retail and other commercial space. The strategy of the Company's
leasing operation is to secure the commercial locations adjacent to its resorts
for retail, restaurant and entertainment venues and then to carefully select the
appropriate tenant mix for these locations to provide a high quality and diverse
selection of retailers and restauranteurs. For the 1996-97 ski season, the
Company's leasable restaurant and retail space totaled 124,959 square feet. For

the 1997-98 ski season, the Company will have a total of 172,428 leasable square
feet. Significant new space resulted from the completion of the Beaver Creek
Village core (32,681 square feet), and St. James commercial space purchased by
the Company in May 1997 (14,788 square feet). The Company expects to further
expand its commercial leasing operations through the real estate development
activities of the Keystone JV at Keystone Resort and through the Company's real
estate development activities at the Breckenridge Mountain Resort. See
"Business--Real Estate."
Licensing and Sponsorship.
An important part of the Company's
business strategy is to leverage its brand name by (i) entering into sponsorship
relationships and strategic alliances with world-class business partners, (ii)
building its logo and licensing business and (iii) gaining national and
international exposure through hosting of special events. The Company's leading
industry position coupled with the demographics of its customer base make it an
attractive partner. Examples of the Company's sponsors include (i) FILA, which
is supplying certain of the Company's employee ski uniforms over a six-year
period and has launched a line of clothing using the Vail name and logo, (ii)
Chevy Trucks, which provides the Company with mountain vehicles and national
marketing exposure and (iii) Pepsi, which, among other things, provides
substantial marketing benefits. The Company's sponsorship arrangements
typically have a three to five year term and provide benefits in the form of
cash payments, expense reductions, capital improvements and/or marketing
exposure. The Company has licensed the use of its trademarks to over one
hundred companies for a variety of products
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such as apparel and sunglasses. While terms of each license agreement vary, such
agreements generally are for a two-year term and provide for the payment by the
licensee of quarterly royalty payments ranging from 6% to 8% of the gross
wholesale price of the licensed goods.
The Company's four resorts are frequently the sites of special events
and promotions. In addition to hosting annual World Cup Skiing and World Cup
Biking events, Vail Mountain and Beaver Creek Mountain have recently hosted the
1997 World Cup Skiing Finals and have collectively been chosen as the site for
the 1999 World Alpine Skiing Championships, an event previously hosted by Vail
in 1989, marking the first time a North American site has been selected twice.
These events give the Company significant international exposure. Television
viewership in Europe for World Cup Skiing and the World Alpine Skiing
Championships is estimated to be in excess of 250 million viewers. These events
will be organized by and co-hosted with the Vail Valley Foundation, a non-profit
foundation whose mandate is to bring international sporting and cultural events
to the Vail Valley. The Foundation provides significant funding, volunteers and
liability assumption in conjunction with such events. The Company's facilities
are also the site of numerous skiing, snowboarding and music events sponsored by
corporations. These events generate revenue for the Company through sponsorship
fees and increased skier traffic, as well as provide national and international
brand exposure through television and advertising campaigns. The Company also
owns an interest in an events production company, Eclipse Television and Sports
Marketing, LLC, which creates and produces made-for-TV events.
Brokerage. The Company's real estate brokerage operations are
conducted through a joint venture in which the Company has a 50% interest. The
joint venture was created in June 1994 to facilitate the merger of the Company's
brokerage operations, Vail Associates Real Estate, Inc., with the brokerage
operations of Slifer, Smith and Frampton, which combined the two largest
operations in the Vail Valley. The joint venture has a large share of both
first time developer sales and resales throughout the Vail Valley, creating both
a significant source of profitability and a valuable source of information in
planning and marketing the Company's real estate projects. In addition to
profit distributions from the joint venture, the Company will directly receive
certain override payments on all brokerage revenue from sales of its own
property. Brokerage activities at Keystone Resort are conducted by the Keystone
JV.
Other Revenue Sources. The Company also derives revenue during the
non-ski season by offering guests a variety of activities and services,
including (i) gondola and chairlift rides, (ii) on-mountain and base area bike
rentals, (iii) on-mountain lunch operations, (iv) wedding and group functions at
mountain and village restaurants, (v) golf and tennis, (vi) fly fishing, hiking
and barbecues at Piney River Ranch/TM/ and (vii) shopping at the Company's
retail locations.

REAL ESTATE
The Company's principal real estate activities include (i) the sale of
single family homesites to individual purchasers; (ii) the sale of certain land
parcels to third party developers for condominium, townhome, cluster home, lodge
and mixed use developments; (iii) the zoning, planning, marketing and
infrastructure development of new resort communities (such as Beaver Creek
Resort, Bachelor Gulch Village and Arrowhead); (iv) the development of certain
mixed use condominium projects integral to resort operations (such as the base
facility at Golden Peak); and (v) the purchase of selected strategic land
parcels, which the Company believes can augment its existing land holdings or
resort operations. The Company's current development activities are focused on
(i) the completion of its three resort communities, Beaver Creek Resort,
Bachelor Gulch Village and Arrowhead; (ii) preparing for the redevelopment of
the Lionshead base area at Vail Mountain and adjacent land holdings; (iii) the
long-term planning of the Company's significant real estate holdings in and
around Avon and at the entrance to Beaver Creek Resort; and (iv) the long-term
planning for development of the Company's real estate holdings at Breckenridge
Mountain Resort.
A summary of each of the Company's significant current real estate
projects is set forth below. In addition to the Company's extensive land
holdings contained in the resort communities discussed below, the Company has
land holdings in the Town of Vail, at the base of Beaver Creek Mountain, and
elsewhere in the Vail Valley.
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Beaver Creek Resort
Over the past 18 months, VRDC has completed extensive development
planning to complete the Beaver Creek Resort village core including the One
Beaver Creek, Market Square and Beaver Creek Village Center developments which
were completed for the 1997-98 ski season. These projects are adjacent to the
Company's existing retail operations and will contain the majority of the
Company's retail and restaurant operations in Beaver Creek Resort. The Company's
remaining land holdings in Beaver Creek Resort consists of zoned multi-family
sites which are expected to contain approximately 200 multi-family residences
located at the entrance to Beaver Creek Resort.
Bachelor Gulch Village
The Bachelor Gulch Village development is a private, upscale residential
resort community comprised of 1,410 acres of Company-owned land located in a
valley between Arrowhead and Beaver Creek Resort. Through December 1997, the
Company had sold 101 single-family homesites in the Bachelor Gulch Village
development, a substantial portion of which have ski-in/ski-out access. The
Company has contracted to sell to a developer three multifamily parcels for
construction of 40 condominium units, 18 cluster homes and 24 townhomes, and is
in discussions with developers regarding the sale of additional multifamily
parcels. The Company's current unsold inventory in Bachelor Gulch Village
consists of 4 single-family homesites, 11 cluster homesites and development
parcels zoned for 474 condominium, timeshare and lodge units. The Company
expects to complete the sale of these parcels over the next five years.
In addition, plans for Bachelor Gulch Village incorporate 67,880 square
feet of retail, restaurant and commercial space. Commencing with the 1996-97 ski
season, Bachelor Gulch Village featured a high speed quad chairlift and
approximately 150 acres of mostly intermediate ski terrain on Beaver Creek
Mountain.
Arrowhead
Arrowhead, known as "Vail's Private Address," is comprised of over 1,500
acres of Company-owned land and is recognized for its country club approach to
residential and resort amenities. Home of the Country Club of the Rockies, a
private golf club designed by Jack Nicklaus, Arrowhead features swimming, clay
tennis courts, hiking, mountain biking, private fly-fishing on the Eagle River
and privacy gates that assure controlled access 24 hours a day. Arrowhead
contains the westernmost skiing access point to Beaver Creek Mountain.
The Company's current development activities are focused on the
development of Arrowhead Village, a 217 residential unit staged development

centered around an alpine club. Developers have completed construction of 44
multifamily units and have commenced construction of an additional 54
multifamily units on land purchased from the Company. The Company has extensive
additional holdings in Arrowhead, including land zoned for 26 single-family
homesites, 34 cluster homesites and 26 duplex homesites, as well as land for an
additional 150 multifamily units which are planned, but not yet zoned. The
proposed Arrowhead Alpine Club is expected to contain 18 residential
condominiums and 24,000 square feet of spa and athletic training space and 3,200
square feet of retail, skier service, real estate sales and property management
facilities.
Keystone
In 1994, prior to the Company's ownership of Keystone Resort, 500 acres
of development land at Keystone Resort were contributed to the Keystone JV. The
Keystone JV is involved in a broad range of development activities, including
the planning, infrastructure improvement, construction and marketing of all real
property improvements on its land. The Keystone JV has received approval for a
master development plan that the Keystone JV expects to develop over the next 20
years. The plan calls for the creation of six separate neighborhoods, each
featuring distinctive amenities and architecture based on the area's mining,
ranching and railroad history. Full build-out is estimated at 4,600 residential
homes and lodging units and 382,000 square feet of commercial space as well as
more than 300 acres of open space. The Company will receive 40% to 50% of the
profits generated by the Keystone JV and will have the opportunity to lease
commercial space created by the Keystone JV.
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The first two neighborhoods under development by the Keystone JV are
River Run and Ski Tip Ranch. River Run is a ski-in/ski-out pedestrian village
and commercial corridor that will be a new focal point of Keystone Resort. The
River Run development is located at the base of the River Run Gondola and at
full build-out will include an estimated 860 residential units, 250 lodge units
and 190,000 square feet of restaurants, retail boutiques and apres-ski cafes.
Ski Tip Ranch is a wooded residential community of 86 townhomes under
development at the easternmost end of Keystone Resort. As of September 30, 1997,
the Keystone JV had constructed 165 condominium and townhome units in the River
Run and Ski Tip neighborhoods of which 161 units had been sold. Additionally,
232 units of 305 condominium and townhome units currently under construction and
scheduled for completion in fiscal 1998 are under contract. Commercial space
developed through December 1997 totals 65,320 square feet.
Breckenridge
The Company owns approximately 270 acres of development land at one of
the primary base portals to Breckenridge Mountain as well as 30 acres of
development land near the center of the Town of Breckenridge. The Company is
engaged in development planning for a new base village, which is currently
envisioned to include approximately 850 residential units, new restaurant and
retail space, conference facilities and other recreational amenities.
Residential units will include ski-in/ski-out single family homesites,
multifamily condominium units and townhome units. Development plans for the 30
acre site are still in the preliminary stages but include a mixed use project of
residential units and commercial space.
COMPETITION.
The ski industry is highly competitive. The Company
competes directly with numerous ski areas in Colorado for the day skier, with
major ski resort areas in the United States, Canada and Europe for the
destination skier and with worldwide recreation resorts for the vacation guest.
The Company's major U.S. competitors include the Utah ski areas, the Lake Tahoe
area in California and Nevada, the New England ski areas and the major Colorado
areas including Crested Butte, Copper Mountain, Telluride, Steamboat Springs,
Winter Park and the Aspen resorts. The competitive position of the Company's ski
areas is dependent upon many diverse factors such as proximity to population
centers, availability and cost of transportation to the areas, including direct
flight availability by major airlines, pricing, snowmaking facilities, type and
quality of skiing offered, duration of the ski season, prevailing weather
conditions, the number, quality and price of related services and lodging
facilities, and the reputation of the areas.
Maintaining the ski resorts and improving the facilities is capital
intensive. In order to be competitive, the Company has focused on improving the

resort facilities and related amenities available to skiers at its resorts and
has substantially upgraded the facilities at all four resorts. Resort capital
expenditures for fiscal 1997 totaled $51.0 million.
The market for undeveloped real estate near ski resorts is subject to
fluctuations due to many factors including changes in the general economy, costs
and availability of borrowed money and conditions in the construction and real
estate industry. In addition, changes in legislation and governmental
regulations, such as local and federal tax laws, land-use and zoning
restrictions, and environmental protection, could adversely affect real estate
sales. With respect to the sale of the Company's undeveloped real estate, the
Company has many competitors, not only in the Vail, Breckenridge, Keystone and
Beaver Creek areas but also throughout the Colorado mountain country and in the
other major ski areas in the United States. Management believes that the size,
historically consistent snow conditions and existing amenities of the Company's
resorts give the Company a competitive advantage over many of its competitors.
REGULATION AND LEGISLATION.
The Company has been granted the right to
use federal land as the site for ski lifts and trails and related activities
under the terms of permits with the Forest Service. The Forest Service has the
right to review and comment on the location, design and construction of
improvements in the permit area and on many operational matters. While virtually
all of the skiable terrain on Vail Mountain, Breckenridge Mountain and Keystone
Mountain is located on Forest Service land, a significant portion of the skiable
terrain on Beaver Creek Mountain, primarily in the Bachelor Gulch and Arrowhead
Mountain areas, is located on Company owned land. The Company has received
approval from the Forest Service for infrastructure development of bowl skiing
terrain in Category III which is located within the current Vail Mountain permit
area. Certain opponents of the Category III expansion have stated that they
intend to file a lawsuit seeking to overturn the decision of the Forest Service.
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The permits originally granted by the Forest Service were (i) Term
Special Use Permits granted for 30 year terms, but which may be terminated upon
30 days written notice by the Forest Service if it determines that the public
interest requires such termination and (ii) Special Use Permits that are
terminable at will by the Forest Service. In November 1986, a new law was
enacted providing that Term Special Use Permits and Special Use Permits may be
combined into a unified single term special use permit that can be issued for up
to 40 years. Vail Mountain operates under a unified permit for the use of 12,590
acres, which expires October 31, 2031. Breckenridge Mountain operates under a
Term Special Use Permit, that expires on December 31, 2029. Keystone Mountain
operates under a Term Special Use Permit, that expires on December 31, 2032.
The Beaver Creek property is covered by a Term Special Use Permit covering 80
acres and a Special Use Permit covering the remaining 2,695 acres, both expiring
in 2006. In December 1992, the Company exercised its statutory right to convert
its dual permits for the Beaver Creek Mountain Resort into a unified permit for
the maximum period of 40 years and is currently in the process of negotiating
the final terms of the unified permit. All of the Company's Forest Service
permits are terminable by the Forest Service if determined by the Forest Service
that termination is required in the public interest. However, to the Company's
knowledge, no recreational Special Use Permit or Term Special Use Permit for any
major ski resort has ever been terminated by the Forest Service.
For use of its permits, the Company pays a fee to the Forest Service.
Under recently enacted legislation, retroactively effective to fiscal 1996, the
Company pays a fee to the Forest Service ranging from 1.5% to 4.25% of sales
occurring on Forest Service land. However, through fiscal 1998, the Company must
pay the greater of (i) the fee due under the new legislation or (ii) the fees
actually paid for fiscal 1995 that were calculated under the former fee
calculation method. Included in the calculation are sales from, among other
things, lift tickets, ski school lessons, food and beverages, rental equipment
and retail merchandise sales.
BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Business segment information is presented in Note 10 to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING

The Company consummated an initial public offering (the "Offering") on
February 7, 1997. The Company sold 5 million shares of common stock in the
Offering at a price of $22.00 per share. Net proceeds to the Company after
direct expenses of the Offering totaled $98.2 million. The Company used $68.6
million of the proceeds to redeem all of the 12 1/4% Senior Subordinated Notes
due 2004, including a contractual early redemption premium of 4% and accrued
interest up to the redemption date of March 10, 1997. The Company used the
remainder of the proceeds for general corporate purposes.
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ITEM 2.

PROPERTIES.

The following table sets forth the principal properties owned or leased
by the Company:

LOCATION
- ---------------------------

OWNERSHIP
-----------------------

Vail Mountain

Owned

Beaver Creek
Mountain

Owned

Arrowhead Mountain

Owned

Bachelor Gulch
Village

Owned

Vail Mountain
(12,590 acres)

Term Special Use Permit

Beaver Creek
Mountain
(80 acres)
Beaver Creek
Mountain
(2,695 acres)
Beaver Creek
Resort

Term Special Use Permit

Avon, CO
Avon, CO

Leased
Owned

Keystone Mountain

Owned

Breckenridge
Mountain

Owned

Keystone Resort

Owned

Keystone Lodge

Owned

Keystone
Conference Center
Keystone Ranch

Owned

Special Use Permit
Owned

Owned

USE
-------------------------Ski resort operations,
commercial space
Ski resort operations,
commercial space, real
estate held
for sale or development
Ski resort operations,
commercial space, real
estate held for sale or
development, ski lifts and
trails
Ski resort operations,
commercial space, real
estate held for sale or
development, ski lifts and
trails
Ski lifts, ski trails,
buildings and other
improvements
Ski lifts, ski trails,
buildings and other
improvements
Ski trails
Golf course, employee
housing and residential
spaces
Corporate offices
Real estate held for sale
or development
Ski resort operations,
commercial space, real
estate held for sale or
development
Ski resort operations,
commercial space, real
estate held for sale or
development
Resort operations, real
estate held for sale or
development
Lodging and resort
operations, real estate
held for sale or
development
Conference facility
Golf course and
restaurant facilities

Keystone Mountain
(5,571 acres)

Term Special Use
Permits

Breckenridge
Mountain
(3,156 acres)

Term Special Use
Permits

Ski lifts, ski trails,
buildings and other
improvements
Ski lifts, ski trails,
buildings and other
improvements

The Vail and Beaver Creek Forest Service Permits are encumbered.
ITEM 3.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

The Company is a party to various lawsuits arising in the ordinary
course of business. In the opinion of the Company's management, all matters are
adequately covered by insurance or, if not covered, are without merit, or
involve such amounts as would not have a material effect on the financial
position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company if disposed of
unfavorably.
ITEM 4.

SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY-HOLDERS.
None.
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PART II

ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS.

The Company's Common Stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange
(MTN). The Company's Class A Common Stock is not listed on any exchange and is
not publicly traded. Class A Common Stock is convertible into Common Stock. As
of December 15, 1997, 34,114,435 shares of common stock were issued and
outstanding, of which 11,639,834 shares were Class A Common Stock held by
approximately three holders and 22,474,601 shares were Common Stock held by
approximately 180 holders.
The Company distributed a right to receive up to $2.44 per share of
Common Stock (the "Rights") to all stockholders of record on October 11, 1996,
with a maximum aggregate amount payable under the Rights of $50.5 million. The
Company was obligated to make payments under the Rights only to the extent that
it received sufficient gross proceeds upon the closings of certain real estate
contracts which were outstanding as of September 30, 1996. The Company has made
the full payments due under the rights as of October 31, 1997.
Other than the Rights, the Company has never paid or declared a cash
dividend on its Common Stock or Class A Common Stock. The declaration of cash
dividends in the future will depend on the Company's earnings, financial
condition and capital needs and on other factors deemed relevant by the Board of
Directors at that time. It is the current policy of the Company's Board of
Directors to retain earnings to finance the operations and expansion of the
Company's business, and the Company does not anticipate paying any cash
dividends on its shares of Common Stock or Class A Common Stock in the
foreseeable future.
The following table sets forth, for the fiscal quarters indicated (ended
December 31, March 31, June 30 and September 30), the range of high and low sale
prices of Vail Resorts common stock as reported on the NYSE Composite Tape.
Prior to the Offering on February 7, 1997, there was no established public
trading market for the common stock of the Company.

FISCAL 1997
----------1/st/ Quarter................................
2/nd/ Quarter................................
3/rd/ Quarter................................
4/th/ Quarter................................

VAIL RESORTS COMMON STOCK
------------------------HIGH
LOW
-----------24 1/4
18 5/8
26
17 3/8
27 11/16
23

ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The following table presents selected historical consolidated financial
data of the Company for the periods indicated. The financial data for the years
ended September 30, 1993, 1994, 1995, 1996 and 1997 are derived from the
consolidated financial statements of the Company, which have been audited by
Arthur Andersen LLP, independent accountants whose 1994 report with respect to
Packerland Packing Company, Inc., a former wholly-owned subsidiary of Vail
Associates, is based on the report of Ernst & Young LLP. Results of the
operations acquired in the Acquisition have been included in the fiscal 1997
consolidated statement of operations from January 4, 1997 through September 30,
1997, except that results of operations for the Arapahoe Basin Mountain Resort
for the period of the Company's ownership have been excluded. The selected
historical consolidated financial data set forth below should be read in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of the Company and the
related notes thereto.
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The Other Data presented below includes information on Resort Cash Flow.
Resort Cash Flow is defined as revenues from resort operations less resort
operating expenses, excluding depreciation and amortization. Resort Cash Flow is
not a term that has an established meaning under generally accepted accounting
principles. The Company has included information concerning Resort Cash Flow
because management believes it is an indicative measure of a resort company's
operating performance and is generally used by investors to evaluate companies
in the resort industry. Resort Cash Flow does not purport to represent cash
provided by operating activities and should not be considered in isolation or as
a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. For information regarding the Company's
historical cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities see the
Company's consolidated financial statements included in Item 8. Furthermore,
Resort Cash Flow is not available for the discretionary use of management and,
prior to the payment of dividends, the Company uses Resort Cash Flow to meet its
capital expenditure and debt service requirements. The data presented below are
in thousands except per share amounts.

1993
---------STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS DATA:
Revenues:
Resort..........................
Real estate.....................
Total revenues............
Operating expenses:
Resort..........................
Real estate.....................
Corporate expense...............
Depreciation and amortization...

Income from operations...................
Net income (after-tax)...................
Earnings per common share................

FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,
------------------------------1994
1995
1996
--------- --------- ---------

1997
---------

$114,623

$124,982

$126,349

$140,288

$259,038

4,610
-------119,233

22,203
-------147,185

16,526
-------142,875

48,655
-------188,943

71,485
-------330,523

69,749
5,165
6,467
13,404
-------94,785
24,448
(146)

78,365
20,341
7,160
17,186
-------123,052
24,133
761

82,305
14,983
6,701
17,968
-------121,957
20,918
3,282

89,890
40,801
12,698
18,148
-------161,537
27,406
4,735

172,715
66,307
4,663
34,044
-------277,729
52,794
19,698

$
(.01)
========

$
.04
========

$
.16
========

$
.22
========

$
.64
========

$114,623
44,874
2,059
$ 55.67

$124,982
46,617
2,056
$ 60.79

$126,349
44,044
2,136
$ 59.15

$140,288
50,398
2,228
$ 62.97

$259,038
86,593
4,273
$ 60.62

$

$ 22,203
1,862
42,637

$ 16,526
1,543
54,858

$ 48,655
7,854
84,055

$ 71,485
5,178
154,925

OTHER DATA:
Resort
Resort Revenue................
Resort Cash Flow..............
Skier days....................
Resort Revenue/skier day......
Real estate
Revenues from real estate
sales........................
Real estate operating profit..
Real estate assets............

4,610
(555)
15,673

BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Total assets............................
Long-term debt including current
maturities.............................
Stockholders' equity....................

$459,131

$450,018

$429,628

$422,612

$855,949

250,56
131,97

225,654
162,494

191,313
167,694

144,750
123,907

265,062
405,666
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ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results
of operations of the Company should be read in conjunction with the consolidated
financial statements as of September 30, 1997 and 1996 and for the years ended
September 30, 1997, 1996 and 1995, included in Item 8 to this Form 10-K, which
provide additional information regarding financial condition and operating
results.
This Management's Discussion and Analysis contains information
regarding Resort Cash Flow. Resort Cash Flow is defined as revenue from resort
operations less resort operating expenses, excluding depreciation and
amortization. Resort Cash Flow is not a term that has an established meaning
under generally accepted accounting principles. The Company has included
information concerning Resort Cash Flow because management believes it is an
indicative measure of a resort company's operating performance and is generally
used by investors to evaluate companies in the resort industry. Resort Cash Flow
does not purport to represent cash provided by operating activities and should
not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Furthermore, Resort Cash Flow is not available for the discretionary use of
management and, prior to the payment of dividends, the Company uses Resort Cash
Flow to meet its capital expenditure and debt service requirements.
On January 3, 1997, the Company acquired the Breckenridge, Keystone and
Arapahoe Basin mountain resorts as well as significant related real estate
interests and developable land. Pursuant to a consent decree with the United
States Department of Justice, the Company divested the Arapahoe Basin Mountain
Resort on September 5, 1997. (See Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements.) The Breckenridge and Keystone mountain resorts are referred to
herein as the "Acquired Resorts."
The Company's business is seasonal. Historically the Company has
generated the vast majority of its revenues in the first and second quarters of
each fiscal year. The Company typically has negative Resort Cash Flow and
reports losses for the third and fourth quarters of each fiscal year.
The Company has elected to change its fiscal year end from September 30
to July 31. Accordingly, the Company's fiscal year 1998 will end on July 31,
1998 and consist of ten months. The Company will file quarterly reports for
fiscal 1998 for the interim periods ending January 31, 1998 and April 30, 1998.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1997 ("FISCAL 1997") VERSUS FISCAL YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30, 1996 ("FISCAL 1996")
The actual results of fiscal 1997 versus the actual results of fiscal
1996 discussed below are not comparable due to the acquisition of the Acquired
Resorts by the Company on January 3, 1997. Accordingly, the usefulness of the
comparisons presented below is limited as fiscal 1997 includes the results of
the Acquired Resorts since January 3, 1997 while fiscal 1996 does not include
any results of the Acquired Resorts. Please see pro forma comparisons elsewhere
in this Management's Discussion and Analysis.
Resort Revenue.
Resort Revenue for fiscal 1997 was $259.0 million, an
increase of $118.8 million, or 84.7%, compared to fiscal 1996. The increase was
attributable primarily to (i) the inclusion of the results of the Acquired
Resorts from January 4, 1997 ($104.8 million) and (ii) increases in lift ticket,
ski school, food service, retail and rental, hospitality and other revenues.
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Resort Operating Expenses.
Operating expenses from resort operations
("Resort Operating Expenses") were $172.7 million for fiscal 1997, representing
an increase of $82.8 million, or 92.1%, as compared to fiscal 1996. The increase
in Resort Operating Expenses is primarily attributable to (i) the inclusion of
the results of the Acquired Resorts from January 4, 1997 ($69.1 million), (ii)
increased variable expenses resulting from the increased level of Vail/Beaver
Creek Resort Revenue and skier days in fiscal 1997, (iii) expenses associated
with new Vail/Beaver Creek food service and retail/rental operations and (iv) a
one-time reorganization charge of $2.2 million in the third quarter of fiscal
1997.
Resort Cash Flow.
Resort Cash Flow for fiscal 1997 was $86.3 million,
an increase of $35.9 million, or 71.2%, compared to fiscal 1996. The increase in
Resort Cash Flow is due primarily to the inclusion of the results of the
Acquired Resorts from January 4, 1997 ($35.7 million) and the increased level of
Vail/Beaver Creek Resort Revenue, offset by increased expenses related to new
operations as described above.
Real Estate Revenues.
Revenues from real estate operations for fiscal
1997 were $71.5 million, an increase of $22.8 million, compared to fiscal 1996.
Revenue for fiscal 1997 consists primarily of the sales of 65 single family
homesites in the Bachelor Gulch Village development which totaled $47.5 million,
two condominiums in the Golden Peak base facility totaling $8.0 million, various
condominiums in Beaver Creek Village totaling $4.2 million and Arrowhead Village
land sales of approximately $5.1 million. Revenue for fiscal 1996 consisted
primarily of the sales of 30 single family homesites in the Strawberry Park
development at Beaver Creek Resort which totaled $30.9 million.
Real Estate Operating Expenses.
Real estate operating expenses for
fiscal 1997 were $66.3 million, an increase of $25.5 million, compared to fiscal
1996. Real estate cost of sales for fiscal 1997 consists primarily of the cost
of sales and real estate commissions associated with the sales of 65 single
family homesites in the Bachelor Gulch Village development, two Golden Peak
condominiums, various condominiums in Beaver Creek Village and Arrowhead Village
land sales. Real estate cost of sales for fiscal 1996 consisted primarily of the
cost of sales and real estate commissions associated with the sale of 30 single
family homesites in the Strawberry Park development at Beaver Creek Resort.
Corporate Expense.
Corporate expense was $4.7 million for fiscal 1997,
a decrease of $8.0 million as compared to fiscal 1996. For periods prior to
fiscal 1997, corporate expense included the costs associated with the Company's
holding company structure and overseeing multiple lines of business, including
the discontinued operations. In fiscal 1997, corporate expense includes certain
personnel, tax, legal, directors' and officers' insurance and other consulting
fees relating solely to the Company's resort and real estate operations.
Corporate expense for fiscal 1996 includes the following nonrecurring charges:
(i) $2.1 million related to the termination of an employment agreement with the
Company's former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, (ii) $4.5 million related
to nonrecurring payments to certain holders of employee stock options, and (iii)
$1.9 million of compensation expense related to the exercise of stock options by
the Company's former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. Excluding the effect
of those items, corporate expense increased $0.4 million.
Depreciation and Amortization.
Depreciation and amortization expense
was $34.0 million for fiscal 1997, an increase of $15.9 million, as compared to
fiscal 1996. The increase was primarily attributable to the inclusion of the
results of the Acquired Resorts from January 4, 1997 ($14.1 million ) and
Vail/Beaver Creek capital expenditures made in fiscal 1996 and the first quarter
of fiscal 1997.
Interest Expense. During fiscal 1997 and fiscal 1996, the Company
recorded interest expense of $20.3 million and $14.9 million, respectively,
which relates primarily to the Company's Senior Subordinated Notes, the
Industrial Development Bonds, and the Company's credit facilities. The increase
in interest expense from fiscal 1996 to fiscal 1997, is attributable to the
interest incurred on the $165 million in debt assumed in the Acquired Resorts
and the contractual redemption premium incurred in the early redemption of the
12 1/4% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2004, partially offset by interest
reductions due to redemptions totaling $54.5 million in principal amount of
Senior Subordinated Notes in the first half of fiscal 1996. See "Liquidity and
Capital Resources."
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FISCAL 1996 VERSUS YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 1995 ("FISCAL 1995")
Resort Revenue. Resort Revenue for fiscal 1996 was $140.3 million, an
increase of $13.9 million, or 11.0%, compared to fiscal 1995. The increase was
attributable primarily to (i) an 8.4% increase in lift ticket revenue due to a
4.3% increase in skier days (a 5.3% increase at Vail Mountain and a 1.5%
increase at Beaver Creek Mountain) and an increase in effective ticket price
(defined as total lift ticket revenue divided by total skier days "ETP") from
$29.96 to $31.12, or 3.9%, (ii) a 9.6% increase in ski school revenue due to
increases in lesson prices and increases in lesson volume driven primarily by
snowboarding and children's lessons, (iii) a 9.8% increase in food service
revenues due to price increases and the increase in skier days, (iv) a 19.1%
increase in retail and rental revenues due to favorable changes in product mix,
the growth in popularity of snowboarding and new ski technology, and the
increase in skier days, and (v) a 17.2% increase in hospitality revenues due
primarily to enhanced marketing efforts for the Company's property management
activities.
Resort Operating Expenses.
Operating expenses from resort operations
("Resort Operating Expenses") were $89.9 million for fiscal 1996, representing
an increase of $7.6 million, or 9.2%, as compared to fiscal 1995. As a
percentage of Resort Revenue, Resort Operating Expenses declined from 65.1% to
64.1% in fiscal 1996. The increase in Resort Operating Expenses is primarily
attributable to (i) increased variable expenses resulting from the increased
level of Resort Revenue and skier days in fiscal 1996, (ii) a $1.6 million
increase in the accrual for long term incentive compensation associated with the
improvement in the operating results of the resorts segment during fiscal 1996,
and (iii) a $1.1 million increase in labor related expenses due to expanded
operations.
Resort Cash Flow.
Resort Cash Flow for fiscal 1996 was $50.4 million,
an increase of $6.4 million, or 14.4%, compared to fiscal 1995. Resort Cash Flow
as a percentage of Resort Revenue increased to 35.9% for fiscal 1996 as compared
to 34.9% for fiscal 1995. The increase in Resort Cash Flow is primarily due to
the increase in skier days and ETP as discussed above.
Real Estate Revenues.
Revenues from real estate operations for fiscal
1996 were $48.7 million, an increase of $32.1 million, compared to fiscal 1995.
The increase is due primarily to the closings of sales of 30 single family lots
in the Strawberry Park development at Beaver Creek Resort in December 1995 and
February 1996, which generated $30.9 million in gross proceeds.
Real Estate Operating Expenses.
Real estate operating expenses for
fiscal 1996 were $40.8 million, an increase of $25.8 million, compared to fiscal
1995. The increase resulted primarily from the cost of sales and commissions
associated with the sale of the Strawberry Park lots which totaled $24.7
million.
Corporate Expense.
Corporate expense was $12.7 million for fiscal
1996, an increase of $6.0 million as compared to fiscal 1995. Corporate expense
for fiscal 1996 includes the following nonrecurring charges: (i) $2.1 million
related to the termination of an employment agreement with the Company's former
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, (ii) $4.5 million related to nonrecurring
payments to certain holders of employee stock options and (iii) $1.9 million of
compensation expense related to the exercise of stock options by the Company's
former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. Excluding the effect of those
items, corporate expense decreased $2.5 million. This decrease was primarily due
to the inclusion in fiscal 1995, of $1.6 million of compensation expense related
to shares of Common Stock granted to the Company's former Chief Executive
Officer pursuant to an employment agreement dated October 8, 1992. Those shares
were earned over the three year period beginning on the date of the employment
agreement and ending on October 8, 1995. Accordingly, compensation expense was
charged to corporate expense ratably over that period. The remaining decrease
was attributable to reductions in payroll expense and other office expenses
related to the partial closure of the Company's Denver office as of December 31,
1995.
Depreciation and Amortization.
Depreciation and amortization expense
increased by $180,000 for fiscal 1996 over fiscal 1995, primarily due to capital
expenditures made in fiscal 1995.
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Interest Expense.

During fiscal 1996 and fiscal 1995, the Company

recorded interest expense of $14.9 million and $19.5 million, respectively,
which relates primarily to the Company's Senior Subordinated Notes, the
Industrial Development Bonds, and the Company's existing credit facilities. The
decrease in interest expense from fiscal 1995 to fiscal 1996, is attributable to
the redemptions of $30 million and $24.5 million in principal amount of Senior
Subordinated Notes on December 11, 1995 and February 2, 1996, respectively,
offset by call premiums paid in connection with those redemptions. See
"Liquidity and Capital Resources."
Loss on disposal of fixed assets. The loss on disposal of fixed assets
for fiscal 1996 was $2.6 million compared to $849,000 for fiscal 1995. The loss
for fiscal 1996 consists primarily of a $2.3 million loss on the retirement of
the Lionshead gondola and a $340,000 loss on the retirement of the Golden Peak
chairlift. Both lifts have been replaced with upgraded equipment. The loss for
fiscal 1995 consists primarily of a $600,000 loss on the write off of lift
equipment which was replaced during an upgrade of a Vail Mountain chairlift..
Other income (expense). The significant components of other income
(expense) for fiscal 1996 are (i) a $725,000 increase in the reserves related to
the Company's indemnity to the purchaser of a former subsidiary of the Company,
(ii) a $690,000 increase in the estimate of the pension liability related to
three founders of the Company, (iii) a $600,000 increase in reserves related to
a change in the estimate of the Company's obligation to a medical research
foundation, and (iv) $373,000 in income related to a favorable retrospective
adjustment on a worker's compensation insurance policy of a former subsidiary of
the Company. The significant components of other income (expense) for fiscal
1995 are (i) a $1.2 million gain on the sale of securities, (ii) income of
$687,000 related to the elimination of reserves for pre-petition bankruptcy
claims and (iii) $1.6 million in income related to a change in the estimate of
the Company's obligation to a medical research foundation.
PRO FORMA RESULTS OF OPERATIONS--FISCAL 1997 VERSUS FISCAL 1996
The following unaudited pro forma results of operations of the Company
for fiscal 1997 and fiscal 1996 assume that the Acquisition occurred on October
1, 1995. The unaudited pro forma financial information below excludes the
results of Arapahoe Basin Mountain Resort, which the Company divested on
September 5, 1997. Resort Operating Expenses and Resort Cash Flow for the year
ended September 30, 1997, include the effect of a one-time restructuring charge
in the amount of $2.2 million recorded in the third quarter of fiscal 1997.
These unaudited pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of the actual
results of operations that would have been achieved nor are they necessarily
indicative of future results of operations.

YEAR
YEAR
ENDED
ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,
SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
1996
-------------- ------------(UNAUDITED)
(IN THOUSANDS)
Resort Revenue.............
Resort Operating Expenses..

$291,203
200,515
-------90,688

Resort Cash Flow...........

$267,409
182,581
-------84,828
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Resort Revenue. Pro forma Resort Revenue for the year ended September
30, 1997 was $291.2 million, an increase of $23.8 million, or 8.9%, compared to
the year ended September 30, 1996. Revenue by category is as follows:

YEAR
ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,

YEAR
ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,

1997
1996
------------- ------------(IN THOUSANDS)
Lift tickets...
Ski school.....
Food service...
Retail/rental..
Hospitality....
Other..........
Total revenue

$135,884
34,471
43,704
17,624
33,984
25,536
-------$291,203
========

$127,663
33,091
38,133
13,362
31,822
23,338
-------$267,409
========

Lift ticket revenue increased due to an increase in effective ticket
price from $27.49 to $27.79, or 1.1% and a 5.3% increase in skier days. The
increase in ETP is primarily due to increases in the lead ticket prices at each
resort, offset by higher usage of discounted tickets targeted at skiers from the
Denver/Colorado Springs area and an increase in late season skier days which
tend to have a lower ETP. The increase in skier days was due primarily to (i) an
increase in snowboarders at Keystone Mountain as the 1996-97 ski season
represented the first time that snowboarding had been permitted on Keystone
Mountain and (ii) increases at Beaver Creek Mountain due in part to the 30%
terrain expansion with the opening of Bachelor Gulch. Ski school revenue
increased 4.2% due primarily to increases in the number of snowboarding lessons
and children's lessons sold. Food service revenue increased 14.6% primarily as a
result of the opening of six new operations, expansion of existing operations
and price increases at Vail and Beaver Creek mountains. Retail and rental
revenues increased 31.9% due to the opening of nine new operations and the
repositioning of existing operations to take advantage of current trends such as
snowboarding, as well as greater product diversity throughout the Company's
retail operations. Hospitality revenue increased 6.8% primarily due to (i)
increases in property management revenue at Beaver Creek Resort attributable to
increases in the number of units under management and the average daily revenue
per unit and (ii) increases in lodging revenue at Company owned and managed
lodging facilities at Beaver Creek Resort and Keystone Resort attributable to
price increases and higher occupancy rates.
Resort Operating Expenses. Pro forma Resort Operating Expenses were
$200.5 million for the year ended September 30, 1997, compared to $182.6 million
for the year ended September 30, 1996. Resort operating expenses as a
percentage of Resort Revenue increased from 68.3% to 68.9% in the year ended
September 30, 1997. The increase in Resort Operating Expenses is attributable to
(i) increased variable expenses resulting from the increased level of Resort
Revenue, (ii) expenses associated with new food service and retail/rental
operations, (iii) increases in the operating expenses of the Acquired Resorts
and (iv) a one-time reorganization charge of $2.2 million in the third quarter
of fiscal 1997.
Resort Cash Flow. Resort Cash Flow was $90.7 million for the year ended
September 30, 1997, compared to $84.8 million for the year ended September 30,
1996. Resort Cash Flow as a percentage of Resort Revenue decreased from 31.7%
to 31.1% in the year ended September 30, 1997. The increase in Resort Cash Flow
is due primarily to the increased level of Resort Revenue, offset by increased
expenses related to new operations, a one-time reorganization charge of $2.2
million and increases in the Acquired Resorts' operating expenses as described
above.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
The Company has historically provided funds for debt service, capital
expenditures and acquisitions through a combination of cash flow from
operations, short term and long term borrowings and sales of real estate.
The Company's cash flows from investing activities have historically
consisted of payments for acquisitions, resort capital expenditures and
investments in real estate. In fiscal 1997, cash used in investing activities of
$251.8 million was attributable primarily to cash paid for the Acquired Resorts,
including direct costs and offset by cash acquired, of $146.4 million, resort
capital expenditures of $51.0 million and investments in real estate of $56.9

million.
Resort capital expenditures for the year ended September 30, 1997 were
$51.0 million. Investments in real estate for that period were $56.9 million,
which included $7.0 million of mountain improvements, including ski lifts and
snowmaking equipment, which are related to real estate development but which
will also benefit resort operations. The primary projects included in resort
capital expenditures were (i) the new Lionshead gondola, (ii) the renovation and
expansion of the Eagles Nest facility and the creation of Adventure Ridge and
(iii) new retail, restaurant and skier service facilities in the renovated
Golden Peak base facility. The primary projects included in investments in real
estate were (i) the completion of six luxury condominiums located in the new
Golden Peak base facility, (ii) infrastructure related to the Bachelor Gulch
real estate development, (iii) construction costs associated with Beaver Creek
Village Center, (iv) infrastructure related to Arrowhead Village, (v)
infrastructure related to the snowmaking reservoir at Beaver Creek, Bachelor
Gulch and Arrowhead villages and (vi) a new high speed quad chairlift at Beaver
Creek Resort.
On January 3, 1997, the Company acquired the Breckenridge, Keystone and
Arapahoe Basin mountain resorts as well as significant related real estate
interests and developable land. In connection with this acquisition, the Company
paid cash of $139.7 million, assumed indebtedness of $59.8 million and issued
7,554,406 shares of Common Stock valued at $151.1 million to Ralston Foods, Inc.
Direct expenses incurred in the transaction approximated $9.0 million. Pursuant
to a Consent Decree with the United States Department of Justice, the Company
was required to divest the Arapahoe Basin mountain resort. On September 5,
1997, the Company sold the Arapahoe Basin mountain resort for a sum of $4.0
million.
The Company estimates that it will make resort capital expenditures
totaling between $50.0 and $70.0 million in fiscal 1998. The primary projects
are anticipated to include (i) trail and infrastructure improvements at Keystone
Mountain, (ii) terrain and facilities improvements at Breckenridge Mountain,
(iii) expansion of the grooming fleets at Vail and Beaver Creek mountains, (iv)
upgrades to the back office and front line information systems and (v)
infrastructure for the Category III expansion on Vail Mountain. Investments in
real estate in fiscal 1998 are anticipated to be between $40.0 and $50.0
million. The primary projects are anticipated to include (i) continuing
infrastructure related to Bachelor Gulch Village and Arrowhead Village, (ii)
golf course development, (iii) investments in developable land at strategic
locations at the four ski resorts and (iv) investments in a joint venture to
develop property located at the base of Keystone Mountain.
The Company continues to pursue strategic resort acquisition
opportunities as well as opportunities to expand its presence in lodging,
property management, retail, food service and commercial leasing activities
within its existing resorts. See "Recent Developments."
The Company generated cash from financing activities of $151.0 million
in fiscal 1997, consisting of proceeds from the initial public offering, net of
direct costs, of $98.2 million, proceeds from borrowings under long-term debt of
$235.0 million, offset by payments on long-term debt of $140.0 million and
payments under the Rights of $42.2 million.
At September 30, 1996, the Company had $44.0 million in outstanding
borrowings under its former credit facilities. Through January 3, 1997, the
Company borrowed an additional $26.0 million under those facilities. On January
3, 1997, in connection with the closing of the Acquisition, all amounts
outstanding under the Company's former credit facilities were repaid with
proceeds from the Company's Credit Facilities. The Credit Facilities provide for
debt financing up to an aggregate principal amount of $340 million and consist
of (i) a $175 million Revolving Credit Facility, (ii) a $115 million Tranche A
Term Loan Facility and (iii) a $50 million Tranche B Term Loan Facility
(together with Tranche A, the "Term Loan Facilities"). The Term Loan Facilities
were used to finance $139.7 million of the Acquisition purchase price and the
balance of the Term Loan Facilities was used to repay borrowings under the
Company's former credit facilities. The Revolving Credit Facility matures on
April 15, 2003. The minimum amortization under the Term Loan Facilities is $11.5
19
million, $14.0 million, $19.0 million, $21.5 million, $26.5 million, $31.5
million and $41.0 million during the fiscal years ending September 30, 1998,

1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 and 2004, respectively. The Company is also
required to make mandatory amortization payments under the Term Loan Facilities
with excess cash flow (as defined in the Credit Agreement), proceeds from asset
sales, and proceeds from certain equity and debt offerings. During the year
ended September 30, 1997, the Company repaid credit facility borrowings totaling
$77.0 million.
The Credit Facilities require that no more than $125.0 million in the
aggregate be outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility for a period of 30
consecutive days during each fiscal year, such period to include April 15. The
proceeds of loans made under the Revolving Credit Facility may be used to fund
the Company's working capital needs, capital expenditures and other general
corporate purposes, including the issuance of letters of credit.
The Company consummated its initial public offering (the "Offering") on
February 7, 1997. The Company sold 5 million shares of common stock in the
Offering at a price of $22.00 per share. Net proceeds to the Company after
direct expenses of the Offering totaled $98.2 million. The Company used $68.6
million of the proceeds to redeem all of the Senior Subordinated Notes,
including a contractual early redemption premium of 4% and accrued interest up
to the redemption date of March 10, 1997. The Company used the remainder of the
proceeds for general corporate purposes. The Company was not required to use any
of the proceeds from the Offering to make payments under the Term Loan
Facilities.
On September 25, 1996, the Company declared a right to receive up to
$2.44 per share of common stock to all stockholders of record on October 11,
1996, with a maximum aggregate amount payable under the Rights of $50.5 million.
The Company was obligated to make payments under the Rights only to the extent
that it received proceeds under certain real estate contracts outstanding at
September 30, 1996. As of September 30, 1997, the Company had received gross
proceeds under the applicable contracts totaling $49.9 million and had made
payments under the Rights of $42.2 million. In addition, the Company's former
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer waived his right to receive approximately
$2.7 million in payments under the Rights in exchange for the payment of the
exercise price on certain stock warrants that he held. On October 31, 1997, the
Company paid all remaining amounts due under the Rights.
Based on current levels of operations and cash availability, the
Company believes that it will be able to satisfy its debt service and capital
expenditure requirements from cash flow from operations, and borrowings under
the Credit Facilities.
The Company believes that inflation during the past three years has had
little effect on its results of operations and any impact on costs has been
largely offset by increased pricing.
The Company is currently in the process of evaluating its
hardware for Year 2000 compliance. Although a final assessment has
completed, the Company believes that the costs to be incurred will
material to the overall presentation of the consolidated financial

software and
not been
not be
statements.

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company uses interest rate swaps to modify its exposure to interest
rate movements and reduce its borrowing costs. The Company enters into interest
rate swap agreements for certain of its floating rate borrowings outstanding
under its Term Credit Facilities. The Company's Term Credit Facilities and the
Revolving Credit Facility are indexed to LIBOR. The Company utilizes a
sensitivity analysis technique to evaluate the effect that changes in LIBOR will
have on the Company's borrowings that are indexed to that rate. At September 30,
1997, the borrowings that were not subject to interest rate swap agreements
totaled $127 million. Based on the average floating rating borrowings
outstanding throughout fiscal 1997, a 100 basis point change in LIBOR, would
cause the Company's monthly interest expense to change by $111,000. The Company
believes that these amounts are not significant to the earnings of the Company.
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RECENT DEVELOPMENTS
On October 1, 1997, the Company purchased the assets constituting the
Breckenridge Hilton for a total purchase price of $18.6 million. The purchase
price includes a cash payment of $18.1 million, $0.2 million in assumed

liabilities and $0.3 million to provide for contingent consideration that may be
paid pursuant to the purchase agreement. The Breckenridge Hilton is a 208-room
full service hotel, located at the base of Breckenridge Mountain, and includes
dining, conference and fitness facilities. The acquisition was accounted for as
a purchase combination.
On October 7, 1997, the Company purchased 100% of the outstanding stock
of Lodge Properties, Inc., a Colorado corporation ("LPI"), for a purchase price
of $30.2 million. LPI owns and operates The Lodge at Vail (the "Lodge"), a 59room hotel located in Vail, Colorado, and provides management services to an
additional 40 condominiums. The Lodge includes restaurant and conference
facilities as well as other amenities. In addition to the hotel property, LPI
owns a parcel of developable land strategically located at the primary base area
of Vail Mountain. In addition to the cash purchase price, the Company expects to
incur approximately $9.2 million to complete a new wing of the hotel which is
currently under construction. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase
combination.
The Company funded the above acquisitions with proceeds from its
Revolving Credit Facilities.
On October 10, 1997, the Company borrowed an additional $32 million
under a new line of credit with its Credit Facility provider (the "Line of
Credit"), the proceeds of which were used to reduce the Revolving Credit
Facility balance. Borrowings under the Line of Credit bear interest annually at
the Company's option at the rate of LIBOR (5.7% at September 30, 1997) plus a
margin, or 7.5%.
In December 1997, the Company received a commitment from its lender, as
agent, to amend the Credit Facilities (the "Amended Credit Facilities"). The
Amended Credit Facilities will provide for an increase in debt financing from
$340 million to an aggregate principal amount of $450 million in the Revolving
Credit Facility that will mature on December 19, 2002. Interest on outstanding
advances under the Amended Credit Facilities is payable at rates based upon
either LIBOR plus a margin ranging from .50% to 1.25% or prime plus a margin of
up to .125%.
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ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
None
PART III

ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein from the
Company's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held
February 9, 1998 which will be available no later than January 30, 1998.
ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein from the
Company's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held
February 9, 1998 which will be available no later than January 30, 1998.
ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein from the
Company's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held
February 9, 1998 which will be available no later than January 30, 1998.
ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein from the
Company's Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held
February 9, 1998 which will be available no later than January 30, 1998.

PART IV

ITEM 14.

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K.

(a) Index to Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedules.
(i) See "Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" for the
index to the Financial Statements.
All other schedules are omitted because the required information is not
present or is not present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the
schedule or because the information required is included in the financial
statements or notes thereto.
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(b) Index to Exhibits
The following exhibits are either filed herewith or, if so indicated,
incorporated by reference to the documents indicated in parentheses which have
previously been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

EXHIBIT
NUMBER
-------

DESCRIPTION
-----------

2.1

Stock Purchase Agreement among Vail Resorts, Inc.,
Ralston Foods, Inc. and Ralston Resorts, Inc. dated
July 22, 1996. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.1 of the report on Form 8-K of Vail
Resorts, Inc. dated July 23, 1996).

2.2

First Amendment to the Stock Purchase Agreement
among Vail Resorts, Inc., Ralston Foods, Inc. and
Ralston Resorts, Inc. dated December 20, 1996.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 of the
report on Form 8-K of Vail Resorts, Inc. dated
January 8, 1997).

2.3

Second Amendment to the Stock Purchase Agreement
among Vail Resorts, Inc., Ralston Foods, Inc. and
Ralston Resorts, Inc. dated December 31, 1996.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 of the
report on Form 8-K of Vail Resorts, Inc. dated
January 8, 1997).

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
filed with the Secretary of State of the State of
Delaware on the Effective Date. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registration
Statement on Form S-4 of Gillett Holdings, Inc.
(Registration No. 33-52854) including all
amendments thereto.)

3.2

Amended and Restated By-Laws adopted on the
Effective Date. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 of the Registration Statement on Form S4 of Gillett Holdings, Inc. (Registration No. 3352854) including all amendments thereto.)

4.2

Form of Class 2 Common Stock Registration Rights
Agreements between the Company and holders of Class
2 Common Stock. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.13 of the Registration Statement on Form
S-4 of Gillett Holdings, Inc. (Registration No. 3352854) including all amendments thereto.)

10.1

Management Agreement by and between Beaver Creek
Resort Company of Colorado and Vail Associates,
Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of Gillett
Holdings, Inc. (Registration No. 33-52854)

SEQUENTIALLY
NUMBERED
PAGE
------------

including all amendments thereto.)
10.2

Forest Service Term Special Use Permit for Beaver
Creek ski area. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 of the Registration Statement on Form
S-4 of Gillett Holdings, Inc. (Registration No. 3352854) including all amendments thereto.)

10.3

Forest Service Special Use Permit for Beaver Creek
ski area. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 of the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of
Gillett Holdings, Inc. (Registration No. 33-52854)
including all amendments thereto.)

10.4

Forest Service Unified Permit for Vail ski area.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of Gillett
Holdings, Inc. (Registration No. 33-52854)
including all amendments thereto.)

10.5

Employment Agreement dated October 8, 1992 between
Vail Associates, Inc. and Andrew P. Daly.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of Gillett
Holdings, Inc. (Registration No. 33-52854)
including all amendments thereto.)

10.6

Employment Agreement dated October 30, 1992 between
Vail Associates, Inc. and James Kent Myers.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the
report on Form 10-K of Gillett Holdings, Inc. for
the period from October 9, 1992 through September
30, 1993.)
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER
-------

DESCRIPTION
-----------

10.7

Joint Liability Agreement by and among Gillett
Holdings, Inc. and the subsidiaries of Gillett
Holdings, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.10 of the Registration Statement on Form
S-4 of Gillett Holdings, Inc. (Registration No. 3352854) including all amendments thereto.)

10.8(a)

Management Agreement between Gillett Holdings, Inc.
and Gillett Group Management, Inc. dated as of the
Effective Date. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.11 of the Registration Statement on Form
S-4 of Gillett Holdings, Inc. (Registration No. 3352854) including all amendments thereto.)

10.8(b)

Amendment to Management Agreement by and among the
Company and its subsidiaries dated as of November
23, 1993. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.12(b) of the report on Form 10-K of Gillett
Holdings, Inc. for the period from October 9, 1992
through September 30, 1993.)

10.9(a)

Tax Sharing Agreement between Gillett Holdings,
Inc. dated as of the Effective Date. (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the Registration
Statement on Form S-4 of Gillett Holdings, Inc.
(Registration No. 33-52854) including all
amendments thereto.)

SEQUENTIALLY
NUMBERED
PAGE
-------

10.9(b)

Amendment to Tax Sharing Agreement by and among the
Company and its subsidiaries dated as of November
23, 1993. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.13(b) of the report on Form 10-K of Gillett
Holdings, Inc. for the period from October 9, 1992
through September 30, 1993.)

10.10

Form of Gillett Holdings, Inc. Deferred
Compensation Agreement for certain GHTV employees.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13(b) of
the Registration Statement on Form S-4 of Gillett
Holdings, Inc. (Registration No. 33-52854)
including all amendments thereto.)

10.11(a)

Credit Agreement dated as of January 3, 1997 among
the Vail Corporation, the Banks named therein and
NationsBank of Texas, N.A., as issuing banks and
agent.

10.11(b)

Pledge Agreement dated as of January 3, 1997 among
the Vail Corporation and NationsBank of Texas, N.A.
as agent.

10.11(c)

Credit Agreement dated as of October 10, 1997 among
the Vail Corporation And NationsBank of Texas,
N.A., as lender.

10.11(d)

Trust Indenture dated as of September 1, 1992
between Eagle County, Colorado, and Colorado
National Bank, as Trustee, securing Sports Housing
Facilities Revenue Refunding Bonds. (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.16(g) of the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of Gillett
Holdings, Inc. (Registration No. 33-52854)
including all amendments thereto.)

10.11(e)

First Amendment to Trust Indenture dated as of
November 23, 1993 between Eagle County, Colorado
and Colorado National Bank, as Trustee, securing
Sports and Housing Facilities Revenue Refunding
Bonds. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.17(f) of the report on Form 10-K of Gillett
Holdings, Inc. for the period from October 9, 1992
through September 30, 1993.)

10.11(f)

Trust Indenture dated as of September 1, 1992
between Eagle County, Colorado, and Colorado
National Bank, as Trustee, securing Sports
Facilities Revenue Refunding Bonds. (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.16(h) of the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of Gillett
Holdings, Inc. (Registration No. 33-52854)
including all amendments thereto.)
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER
-------

DESCRIPTION
-----------

10.11(g)

First Amendment to Trust Indenture dated as of
November 23, 1993 between Eagle County, Colorado
and Colorado National Bank, as Trustee, securing
Sports Facilities Revenue Refunding Bonds.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17(h) of
the report on Form 10-K of Gillett Holdings, Inc.
for the period from October 9, 1992 through
September 30, 1993.)

10.11(h)

Sports and Housing Facilities Financing Agreement
dated as of September 1, 1992 between Eagle County,

SEQUENTIALLY
NUMBERED
PAGE
------------

Colorado and Vail Associates, Inc. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.16(i) of the Registration
Statement on Form S-4 of Gillett Holdings, Inc.
(Registration No. 33-52854) including all
amendments thereto.)
10.11(i)

First Amendment to Sports and Housing Facilities
Financing Agreement and Assignment and Assumption
Agreement dated as of November 23, 1993 between
Eagle County, Colorado, Vail Associates, Inc. and
The Vail Corporation. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.17(j) of the report on Form 10-K of
Gillett Holdings, Inc. for the period from October
9, 1992 through September 30, 1993.)

10.11(j)

Sports Facilities Financing Agreement dated as of
September 1, 1992 between Eagle County, Colorado
and Beaver Creek Associates, Inc., with Vail
Associates, Inc. as Guarantor. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.16(j) of the Registration
Statement on Form S-4 of Gillett Holdings, Inc.
(Registration No. 33-52854) including all
amendments thereto.)

10.11(k)

First Amendment to Sports Facilities Financing
Agreement and Assignment and Assumption Agreement
dated as of November 23, 1993 by and among Eagle
County, Colorado, Beaver Creek Associates, Inc.,
Vail Associates, Inc., and The Vail Corporation.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17(l) of
the report on Form 10-K of Gillett Holdings, Inc.
for the period from October 9, 1992 through
September 30, 1993.)

10.11(l)

Guaranty dated as of September 1, 1992, by Vail
Associates, Inc. delivered to Colorado National
Bank, as Trustee. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.16(k) of the Registration Statement on
Form S-4 of Gillett Holdings, Inc. (Registration
No. 33-52854) including all amendments thereto.)

10.12(a)

Agreement for Purchase and Sale dated as of August
25, 1993 by and among Arrowhead at Vail, Arrowhead
Ski Corporation, Arrowhead at Vail Properties
Corporation, Arrowhead Property Management Company
and Vail Associates, Inc. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.19(a) of the report on Form
10-K of Gillett Holdings, Inc. for the period from
October 9, 1992 through September 30, 1993.)

10.12(b)

Amendment to Agreement for Purchase and Sale dated
September 8, 1993 by and between Arrowhead at Vail,
Arrowhead Ski Corporation, Arrowhead at Vail
Properties Corporation, Arrowhead Property
Management Company and Vail Associates, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19(b) of
the report on Form 10-K of Gillett Holdings, Inc.
for the period from October 9, 1992 through
September 30, 1993.)

10.12(c)

Second Amendment to Agreement for Purchase and Sale
dated September 22, 1993 by and between Arrowhead
at Vail, Arrowhead Ski Corporation, Arrowhead at
Vail Properties Corporation, Arrowhead Property
Management Company and Vail Associates, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19(c) of
the report on Form 10-K of Gillett Holdings, Inc.
for the period from October 9, 1992 through
September 30, 1993.)
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SEQUENTIALLY

EXHIBIT
NUMBER
-------

NUMBERED
PAGE
------------

DESCRIPTION
-----------

10.12(d)

Third Amendment to Agreement for Purchase and Sale
dated November 30, 1993 by and between Arrowhead at
Vail, Arrowhead Ski Corporation, Arrowhead at Vail
Properties Corporation, Arrowhead Property
Management Company and Vail/Arrowhead, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19(d) of
the report on Form 10-K of Gillett Holdings, Inc.
for the period from October 9, 1992 through
September 30, 1993.)

10.13

1992 Stock Option Plan of Gillett Holdings, Inc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of the
report on Form 10-K of Gillett Holdings, Inc. for
the period from October 9, 1992 through September
30, 1993.)

10.14

Agreement to Settle Prospective Litigation and for
Sale of Personal Property dated May 10, 1993,
between the Company, Clifford E. Eley, as Chapter 7
Trustee of the Debtor's Bankruptcy Estate, and
George N. Gillett, Jr. (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.21 of the report on Form 10-K of
Gillett Holdings, Inc. for the period from October
9, 1992 through September 30, 1993.)

10.15

Employment Agreement dated April 1, 1994 between
Gillett Holdings, Inc. and James S. Mandel
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of the
report on Form 10-K of Gillett Holdings, Inc. for
the year ended September 30, 1994.)

10.16

Employment Agreement dated April 1, 1994 between
Vail Associates, Inc. and James S. Mandel
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 of the
report on Form 10-K of Gillett Holdings, Inc. for
the year ended September 30, 1994.)

10.17

Employment Agreement dated October 1, 1996 between
Vail Associates, Inc. and Andrew P. Daly.

10.18

Employment Agreement dated July 29, 1996 between
Vail Resorts, Inc. and Adam M. Aron.

10.19

Shareholder Agreement among Vail Resorts, Inc.,
Ralston Foods, Inc., and Apollo Ski Partners dated
January 3, 1997. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 2.4 of the report on Form 8-K of Vail
Resorts, Inc. dated January 8, 1997.)

10.20

1996 Stock Option Plan (Incorporated by reference
from the Company's Registration Statement on Form S3, File No. 333-5341).

10.21

Agreement dated October 11, 1996 between Vail
Reosrts, Inc. and George Gillett.

16

Letter from Ernst & Young LLP regarding
certifying accountant. (Incorporated by
to Exhibit 16 of the report on Form 8-K
Holdings, Inc. for the reportable event
on October 25, 1994.)

21.1

Subsidiaries of Vail Resorts, Inc. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 21 of the Report on Form 10-K
of Gillett Holdings, Inc. for the year ended
September 30, 1995.)

99.1(a)

Debtor's Second Amended Joint Disclosure Statement
Pursuant to Section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code for
the Second Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization of
the Debtors. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit

change in
reference
of Gillett
occurring

T3E.1 of Registrant's Application for Qualification
under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 on Form T-3
filed September 15, 1992, File No. 22-22538.)
99.1(b)

Exhibits to Debtor's Second Amended Joint
Disclosure Statement Pursuant to Section 1125 of
the Bankruptcy Code for the Second Amended Joint
Plan of Reorganization of the Debtors.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit T3E.1 of
Registrant's Application for Qualification under
the Trust Indenture Act of 1939 on Form T-3 filed
September 15, 1992, File No. 22-22538.)
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EXHIBIT
NUMBER
-------

DESCRIPTION
-----------

99.2

Supplement to Debtor's Second Amended Joint
Disclosure Statement Pursuant to Section 1125 of
the Bankruptcy Code for the Second Amended Joint
Plan of Reorganization of the Debtors.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 28.2 of the
Registration Statement on Form S-4 of Gillett
Holdings, Inc. (Registration No. 33-52854)
including all amendments thereto.)

99.3

Exhibits to the Second Amended Joint Plan of
Reorganization of the Debtors. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 28.3 of the Registration
Statement on Form S-4 of Gillett Holdings, Inc.
(Registration No. 33-52854) including all
amendments thereto.)

(c)

SEQUENTIALLY
NUMBERED
PAGE
------------

A Current Report on Form 8-K was filed on January 8, 1997 related to the
Company's acquisition of 100% of the capital stock of Ralston Resorts, Inc.
on January 3, 1997.
A Current Report on Form 8-K was filed on November 6, 1997 announcing the
Company's fiscal year change from September 30 to July 31.
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To the Board of Directors of
Vail Resorts, Inc.:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of VAIL
RESORTS, INC., formerly known as Gillett Holdings, Inc. (a Delaware
corporation), and subsidiaries as of September 30, 1997 and 1996, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 1997. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on
our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Vail Resorts, Inc.
and subsidiaries as of September 30, 1997 and 1996 and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
September 30, 1997, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

Arthur Andersen LLP
Denver, Colorado,
November 5, 1997
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VAIL RESORTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
-------------

SEPTEMBER 30,
1996
-------------

ASSETS
-----Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents............
Restricted cash......................
Receivables..........................
Notes receivable.....................
Inventories..........................
Deferred income taxes (Note 7).......
Other current assets.................
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
(Note 5)....................................
Real estate held for sale....................
Deferred charges and other assets............
Notes receivable, noncurrent portion.........
Intangible assets, net (Note 5)..............
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
-----------------------------------Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued

$

8,142
6,561
17,638
4,469
10,789
24,500
4,253
-------76,352

$

5,622
7,090
4,660
4,639
17,200
5,490
-------44,701

411,117
154,925
12,217
1,073
200,265
-------$855,949
========

197,279
84,055
5,940
5,581
85,056
-------$422,612
========

expenses (Note 5)..................
Income taxes payable................
Rights payable to stockholders
(Note 9)...........................
Long-term debt due within one
year (Note 4)......................
Total current liabilities........
Long-term debt (Note 4)......................
Other long-term liabilities..................
Deferred income taxes (Note 7)...............
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)
Stockholders' equity (Notes 1 and 12):
Preferred stock, $.01 par value
25,000,000 shares authorized, no
shares issued and outstanding......
Common stock-Class A common stock, $.01 par
value, 20,000,000 shares authorized,
11,639,834 and 12,426,220
shares issued and outstanding as of
September 30, 1997 and 1996,
respectively.......................
Common Stock, $.01 par value,
80,000,000 shares authorized,
21,765,815 and 7,573,780 shares
issued and outstanding as of
September 30, 1997 and 1996,
respectively..............
Additional paid-in capital..........
Retained earnings...................
Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and
stockholders' equity............

$ 70,171
325

$ 48,096
325

5,707

50,513

1,715
-------77,918
263,347
23,281
85,737

63
-------98,997
144,687
15,521
39,500

--

--

116

124

218
385,634
19,698
-------405,666
--------

76
123,707
-------123,907
--------

$855,949

$422,612

========

========

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
are an integral part of these balance sheets.
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VAIL RESORTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

YEAR
ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
-------------Net revenues:
Resort..........................
Real estate.....................
Total net revenues.............
Operating expenses:
Resort..........................
Real estate.....................
Corporate expense...............
Depreciation and amortization...
Total operating expenses.......

YEAR
ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,
1996
--------------

YEAR
ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,
1995
--------------

$

259,038
71,485
----------330,523

$

140,288
48,655
----------188,943

$

126,349
16,526
----------142,875

172,715
66,307
4,663
34,044
----------277,729
-----------

89,890
40,801
12,698
18,148
----------161,537
-----------

82,305
14,983
6,701
17,968
----------121,957
-----------

Income from operations..................
Other income (expense):
Investment income...............
Interest expense................
Loss on disposal of fixed
assets.........................
Other income (expense)..........
Income before income taxes..............
Provision for income taxes (Note 7).....
Net income..............................
Earnings per common share (Note 2):
Net income.....................
Weighted average shares
outstanding...................

52,794

27,406

20,918

1,762
(20,308)

586
(14,904)

3,295
(19,498)

(182)
(383)
----------33,683
(13,985)
----------19,698
===========

(2,630)
(1,500)
----------8,958
(4,223)
----------4,735
===========

(849)
3,291
----------7,157
(3,875)
----------3,282
===========

$.64
===========

$.22
===========

$.16
===========

30,979,448
===========

21,455,352
===========

20,582,776
===========

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
are an integral part of these financial statements.
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VAIL RESORTS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AMOUNTS)

COMMON STOCK
-------------

Balance, September 30, 1994..............
Net income for the year ended September
30, 1995..............................
Shares issued pursuant to stock grants
(Note 11).............................
Shares of Class A Common Stock converted to Common Stock (Note 12)......

ADDITIONAL
PAID-IN
CAPITAL
----------

RETAINED
EARNINGS
(DEFICIT)
---------

196

$133,645

$ 28,653

$162,494

--

--

3,282

3,282

238,326

2

1,916

--

1,918

----------19,761,676

--------198

----------135,561

---------31,935

----------167,694

--

4,735

4,735

SHARES
COMMON
----------

TOTAL
----------

AMOUNT
--------

14,249,414

5,273,936

19,523,350

$

--

--

--

--

238,326
1,431,722
---------6,943,984

CLASS A
-------------

(1,431,722)
-----------Balance, September 30, 1995..............
12,817,692
Net income for the year ended September
30, 1996..............................
-Shares issued pursuant to stock grants
(Note 11).............................
-Rights payable to stockholders...........
-Shares of Class A Common Stock converted to Common Stock (Note 12)......
(391,472)
-----------Balance, September 30, 1996..............
12,426,220
Net income for the year ended September
30, 1997..............................
-Issuance of shares pursuant to options
exercised (Note 11).....................
-Issuance of shares in acquisition of
resort, net (Note 3)...................
-Issuance of shares in initial public
offering, net (Note 1).................
-Issuance of shares in acquisition of
retail space, net......................
-Compensation expense related to employee
stock options..........................
-Shares of Class A Common Stock converted to Common Stock (Note 12)......
(786,386)
-----------Balance, September 30, 1997..............
11,639,834
============

--

--

--

238,324
--

238,324
--

2
--

391,472
---------7,573,780

----------20,000,000

--------200

1,989
(13,843)

-(36,670)

TOTAL
STOCKHOLDERS'
EQUITY
------------

1,991
(50,513)

----------123,707

-----------

----------123,907
19,698

--

--

--

--

19,698

744,482

744,482

7

10,212

--

10,219

7,554,406

7,554,406

76

151,012

--

151,088

5,000,000

5,000,000

50

98,100

--

98,150

106,761

106,761

1

2,348

--

2,349

--

--

--

255

--

255

786,386
---------21,765,815
==========

----------33,405,649
==========

--------$
334
========

----------$385,634
==========

---------$ 19,698
=========

----------$405,666
==========

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
are an integral part of these financial statements
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VAIL RESORTS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN THOUSANDS)

YEAR
ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
-------------Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income..................................................
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization..............................
Deferred compensation payments in excess of expense........
Noncash cost of real estate sales..........................
Noncash compensation related to stock grants (Note 11).....
Noncash compensation related to stock options..............
Noncash equity income......................................
Deferred financing costs amortized.........................
Loss on disposal of fixed assets...........................
Deferred real estate revenue...............................
Deferred income taxes, net (Note 7)........................
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Restricted cash............................................
Accounts receivable, net...................................
Notes receivable, net......................................

Inventories................................................
Accounts payable and accrued expenses......................
Other assets and liabilities...............................
Net cash provided by operating activities................
Cash flows from investing activities:
Cash paid in resort acquisition, net of cash acquired.............
Resort capital expenditures.......................................
Investments in real estate........................................
Investment in joint venture.......................................
Other.............................................................

Cash flows
Proceeds
Payments
Proceeds
Payments

Net cash used in investing activities....................
from financing activities:
from initial public offering.............................
under Rights.............................................
from borrowings under long-term debt.....................
on long-term debt........................................
Net cash provided by (used

in) financing activities.....

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents................
Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of period...............................................
End of period.....................................................

Cash paid for interest..............................................
Taxes paid, net of refunds..........................................

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS:
Issuance of common stock in resort acquisition (Note 3)............
Assumption of liabilities in resort

acquisition (Note 3)...........

Option exercise (Note 11)...........................................
Issuance of common stock in purchase of retail space................

$

19,698

YEAR
ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,
1996
--------------

$

4,735

YEAR
ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,
1995
--------------

$

3,282

34,044
(331)
52,647
306
255
(701)
389
182
-7,413

18,148
(814)
32,394
25
1,915
-247
2,630
-2,500

17,968
(1,325)
9,208
1,633
--237
849
1,500
2,900

529
2,089
(4,469)

(575)
475
--

(3,738)
(349)
--

(835)
(10,712)
2,867
--------103,371

(418)
9,551
(4,947)
--------65,866

(1,236)
10,141
(3,704)
--------37,366

(146,386)
(51,020)
(56,947)
2,511
---------(251,842)

-(13,912)
(40,604)
(200)
---------(54,716)

-(20,320)
(22,477)
(400)
953
--------(42,244)

98,150
(42,175)
235,000
(139,984)
--------150,991
--------2,520

--84,000
(130,547)
--------(46,547)
--------(35,397)

--253,400
(287,741)
--------(34,341)
--------(39,219)

5,622
--------$
8,142
=========

41,019
--------$
5,622
=========

80,238
--------$ 41,019
=========

$ 20,166
=========
$
1,925
=========

$ 21,880
=========
$
400
=========

$ 13,852
=========
$
400
=========

$ 151,088
=========
$ 91,480
=========
$
2,740
=========
$
2,349
=========

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
are an integral part of these financial statements
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VAIL RESORTS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Vail Resorts, Inc. ("Vail Resorts"), is organized as a holding company
and operates through various subsidiaries. Vail Resorts and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the "Company") currently operate in two business segments, ski
resorts and real estate development. Vail Associates, Inc., a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Vail Resorts, and its subsidiaries (collectively, "Vail
Associates") operates one of the world's largest skiing facilities on Vail
Mountain and Beaver Creek Mountain in Colorado. On January 3, 1997, Vail

Associates acquired the Breckenridge, Keystone and Arapahoe Basin mountain
resorts (the "Acquired Resorts") and significant related real estate interests
and developable land (the "Acquisition"). The Company has since divested the
Arapahoe Basin mountain resort pursuant to the Consent Decree with the
Department of Justice (see Note 3). The ski resorts are operated on United
States Forest Service land under Term Special Use Permits expiring in 2031 for
Vail Mountain, 2006 for Beaver Creek Mountain, 2029 for Breckenridge Mountain
and 2032 for Keystone Mountain. Vail Resorts Development Company ("VRDC") is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Vail Associates, Inc. and conducts the Company's real
estate development activities. The Company's mountain resort business is
seasonal with a typical ski season beginning in mid-October and continuing
through mid-May.
In January 1997, the Company declared a 2 for 1 stock split on its Class
A Common Stock and Common Stock. All share and per share amounts in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements have been adjusted to reflect
this stock split.
The Company consummated an offering of common stock (the "Offering") on
February 7, 1997. The Company sold 5 million shares of Common Stock in the
Offering at a price of $22.00 per share. Net proceeds to the Company after
expenses of the Offering totaled $98.2 million. Certain selling shareholders
sold an additional 7.1 million shares in the Offering. The Company did not
receive any of the proceeds from the sale of those shares.
2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Principles of Consolidation--The accompanying consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. Investments in joint ventures are accounted for under the equity
method. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated. Results
of the operations acquired in the Acquisition have been included in the fiscal
1997 consolidated statement of operations from January 4, 1997 through September
30, 1997, except that results of operations for the Arapahoe Basin mountain
resort for the period of the Company's ownership have been excluded (see pro
forma financial information in Note 3).
Cash and Cash Equivalents--The Company considers all highly liquid debt
instruments with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.
Restricted Cash--Restricted cash represents amounts held as reserves for
self-insured worker's compensation claims, and owner and guest advance deposits
held in escrow for lodging reservations.
Inventories--The Company's inventories consist primarily of purchased
retail goods, food, and spare parts. Inventories are stated at the lower of
cost, determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method, or market.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(CONTINUED)
Property, Plant and Equipment--Property, plant and equipment is carried
at cost net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated generally on
the straight-line method based on the following useful lives:

YEARS
----Land improvements.........................................
Buildings and terminals...................................
Ski lifts.................................................
Machinery, equipment, furniture and fixtures..............
Automobiles and trucks ..................................

40
40
15
3-12
3-5

Ski trails are depreciated over the life of their respective forest service
permits.

Real Estate Held for Sale-- The Company capitalizes as land held for
sale the original acquisition cost (or appraised value as of the Effective Date,
as defined below), direct construction and development costs, property taxes,
interest incurred on costs related to land under development, and other related
costs (engineering, surveying, landscaping, etc.) until the property reaches its
intended use. The cost of sales for individual parcels of real estate or
condominium units within a project is determined using the relative sales value
method. Selling expenses are charged against income in the period incurred.
Interest capitalized on real estate development projects during fiscal years
1997, 1996 and 1995 totaled $0.5 million, $2.2 million and $1.4 million,
respectively.
The Company is a partner in the Keystone/Intrawest L.L.C. ("Keystone
JV"), which is a joint venture with Intrawest Resorts, Inc. formed to develop
land at the base of Keystone Mountain. The Company contributed 500 acres of
development land as well as certain other funds to the joint venture. The
Company's investment in the Keystone JV including the Company's equity earnings
from the inception of the Keystone JV, are reported as real estate held for sale
in the accompanying balance sheet as of September 30, 1997.
Deferred Financing Costs--Costs incurred with the issuance of debt
securities are included in deferred charges and other assets, net of accumulated
amortization. Amortization is charged to income over the respective original
lives of the applicable debt issues and is included in interest expense.
Interest Rate Agreements--Interest rate exchange agreements, defined as
swaps and caps and floors, are effective at creating synthetic instruments and
thereby modifying the Company's interest rate exposures. The Company enters into
interest rate exchange agreements to create synthetic instruments. Net interest
is accrued as either interest receivable or payable with the offset recorded in
interest expense. Any premium paid is amortized over the life of the agreement.
Intangible Assets--"Reorganization Value in Excess of Amounts Allocable
to Identifiable Assets" ("Excess Reorganization Value") represents the excess of
the Company's reorganization value over the amounts allocated to the net
tangible and other intangible assets of the Company upon emergence from
bankruptcy on October 8, 1992 (the "Effective Date"). The Company has classified
as goodwill the cost in excess of fair value of the net assets of companies
acquired in purchase transactions. Intangible assets are recorded net of
accumulated amortization in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet and
amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as
follows:
Excess reorganization value.................................
20
Goodwill....................................................
40
Trademarks..................................................
40
Other intangibles........................................... 3-15

years
years
years
years
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(CONTINUED)
Long-lived Assets--The Company evaluates potential impairment of longlived assets and long-lived assets to be disposed of in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 121, "Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of"
("SFAS No. 121"). SFAS No. 121 establishes procedures for review of
recoverability, and measurement of impairment if necessary, of long-lived
assets, goodwill and certain identifiable intangibles held and used by an
entity. SFAS No. 121 requires that those assets be reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of
an asset may not be fully recoverable. SFAS No. 121 also requires that longlived assets and certain identifiable intangibles to be disposed of be reported
at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less estimated selling costs. As
of September 30, 1997, management believes that there has not been any
impairment of the Company's long-lived assets, goodwill or other identifiable
intangibles.
Revenue Recognition--Resort Revenues are derived from a wide variety of
sources, including sales of lift tickets, ski school tuition, food service,
retail stores, equipment rental, travel reservation services, lodging, property
and club management, real estate brokerage, conventions, licensing and
sponsoring activities and other recreational activities, and are recognized as
services are performed. Revenues from real estate sales are not recognized until

title has been transferred and revenue is deferred if the receivable is subject
to subordination until such time as all costs have been recovered. Until the
initial down payment and subsequent collection of principal and interest are by
contract substantial, cash received from the buyer is reported as a deposit on
the contract.
Advertising Costs--Advertising costs are expensed the first time the
advertising takes place. Advertising expense for the years ended September 30,
1997, 1996 and 1995 was $8.8 million, $6.9 million and $6.3 million,
respectively. At September 30, 1997 and 1996, advertising costs of $1.3 million
and $1.7 million are reported as current assets in the Company's consolidated
balance sheet.
Income Taxes--The Company uses the liability method of accounting for
income taxes as prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
("SFAS") No. 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes." Under SFAS No. 109, a deferred
tax liability or asset is recognized for the effect of temporary differences
between financial reporting and income tax reporting.
Earnings Per Share--Earnings per common share is based on the weighted
average number of shares outstanding during the period after consideration of
the dilutive effect of stock grants, warrants and options (see Note 11).
In February 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS
No. 128, "Earnings Per Share", which will be effective for the Company in the
second quarter of fiscal 1998. When adopted, SFAS No. 128 will replace the
presentation of primary earnings per share (EPS) with basic EPS. Basic EPS
excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income available for common
stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the
period. Diluted EPS, which reflects the potential dilution that could occur if
securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted,
must also be disclosed.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments--The recorded amounts for cash and
cash equivalents, receivables, other current assets, and accounts payable and
accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these
financial instruments. The fair value of amounts outstanding under the Company's
Credit Facilities approximates book value due to the variable nature of the
interest rate associated with that debt. The fair values of the Company's
Industrial Development Bonds have been estimated using discounted cash flow
analyses based on current borrowing rates for debt with similar maturities and
ratings. The estimated fair values of the Senior Subordinated Notes and
Industrial Development Bonds at September 30, 1997 and 1996 are presented below
(in thousands):

SEPTEMBER 30, 1997
-------------------CARRYING
FAIR
VALUE
VALUE
--------- --------Senior Subordinated Notes........
Industrial Development Bonds.....
$61,263 $ 65,910

SEPTEMBER 30, 1996
-------------------CARRYING
FAIR
VALUE
VALUE
--------- --------$62,647 $ 76,369
$37,903 $ 43,701
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(CONTINUED)
Use of Estimates--The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the balance
sheet date and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Stock Compensation--The Company's stock option plans are accounted for
in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees." The Company has adopted the disclosure requirements
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, ("SFAS 123"),
"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation" (Note 11 ).

Reclassifications--Certain reclassifications have been made to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for the years ended September 30,
1996 and 1995 to conform to the current period presentation.
3.

ACQUISITIONS

On January 3, 1997, the Company acquired from Ralston Foods, Inc. 100%
of the stock of Ralston Resorts, Inc., ("Ralston Resorts") the owner and
operator of the Breckenridge, Keystone and Arapahoe Basin mountain resorts
located in Summit County, Colorado, for a total purchase price, including direct
costs, of $297.3 million. In connection with the Acquisition, the Company
refinanced $139.7 million of indebtedness, issued 7,554,406 shares of Common
Stock valued at $151.1 million to Ralston Foods, Inc., assumed liabilities of
$59.8 million and incurred $9.0 million in acquisition costs. Pursuant to a
consent decree with the United States Department of Justice and the Attorney
General of the State of Colorado (the "Consent Decree"), the Company sold the
assets constituting the Arapahoe Basin mountain resort on September 5, 1997 for
a sum of $4.0 million.
The Acquisition was accounted for as a purchase combination. The
purchase price was allocated to the fair values of Ralston Resorts' assets and
liabilities at the date of the acquisition as follows (in thousands):
FAIR VALUE OF
NET ASSETS ACQUIRED
-------------------

Cash........................................................ $ 2,321
Accounts receivable.........................................
15,067
Inventory...................................................
5,315
Property, and equipment, net................................ 180,663
Real estate held for sale...................................
59,466
Intangible assets...........................................
6,984
Goodwill.................................................... 118,469
Other assets................................................
542
-------Total assets.............................................. 388,827
-------Accounts payable and accrued expenses.......................
Other liabilities...........................................
Debt assumed................................................
Deferred income taxes.......................................

32,456
2,040
25,296
31,688
-------Total liabilities.........................................
91,480
========
Total net assets acquired................................. $297,347
========
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(CONTINUED)

The following unaudited pro forma results of operations of the Company
for the years ended September 30, 1997 and 1996, assume that the Acquisition
occurred on October 1, 1995. The pro forma results of operations include the
effects of the Company's initial public offering only from the effective date of
the Offering. These pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of the
actual results of operations that would have been achieved nor are they
necessarily indicative of future results of operations. The unaudited pro forma
financial information below excludes the results of Arapahoe Basin mountain
resort, which the Company divested pursuant to the Consent Decree.

SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
---------------------

SEPTEMBER 30,
1996
------------------

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
(UNAUDITED)
Resort revenue...........................
Real estate revenue......................
Total revenues...........................
Net income...............................
Net income per common share..............
4.

$291,203
71,737
362,940
17,822
0.54

$267,409
49,831
317,240
8,505
0.29

LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt as of September 30, 1997 and 1996 is summarized as follows
(in thousands):

Senior Subordinated Notes (a).....................
Industrial Development Bonds (b)..................
Credit Facilities (c).............................
Other (d).........................................
Less--current maturities.....................

SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
---$
61,263
202,000
1,799
-------265,062
1,715
-------$263,347
========

SEPTEMBER 30,
1996
---$ 62,647
37,903
44,000
200
-------144,750
63
-------$144,687
========

(a) The Senior Subordinated Notes bore interest at 12/1//4% and had an original
maturity date of June 30, 2002. On March 10, 1997, the Company redeemed all
of the Senior Subordinated Notes with proceeds from the Offering. In
connection with the redemption, the Company paid a contractual early
redemption premium of 4% of the balance redeemed, which is included in
interest expense for the year ended September 30, 1997.
(b) The Company has $41.2 million of outstanding Industrial Development Bonds
issued by Eagle County, Colorado which accrue interest at 8% per annum and
mature on August 1, 2009. Interest is payable semi-annually on February 1
and August 1. The Company has provided the holder of these bonds a debt
service reserve fund of $3.3 million, which has been netted against the
principal amount for financial reporting purposes. The Industrial
Development Bonds are secured by the stock of the subsidiaries of Vail
Associates and the United States Forest Service permits. In connection with
the Acquisition, the Company assumed two series of refunding bonds. The
Series 1990 Sports Facilities Refunding Revenue Bonds have an aggregate
principal amount of $20.4 million, bear interest at rates ranging from 7.2%
to 7.875% and mature in installments in 1998, 2006 and 2008. The Series 1991
Sports Facilities Refunding Revenue Bonds have an aggregate principal amount
of $3 million and bear interest at 7.125% for bonds maturing in 2002 and
7.375% for bonds maturing in 2010.
(c) On January 3, 1997, in connection with the closing of
amounts outstanding under the Company's former credit
with proceeds from new credit facilities (the "Credit
Credit Facilities provide for debt financing up to an
amount of $340 million and consist of (i) a $175

the Acquisition, all
facilities were repaid
Facilities"). The
aggregate principal
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million Revolving Credit Facility, (ii) a $115 million Tranche A Term Loan
Facility and (iii) a $50 million Tranche B Term Loan Facility (together with
Tranche A, the "Term Loan Facilities"). The Term Loan Facilities were used
to refinance $139.7 million of the $165 million of debt assumed in the
Acquisition and the balance of the Term Loan Facilities was used to repay
borrowings under the Company's former credit facilities. The proceeds of the
loans made under the Revolving Credit Facility may be used to fund the
Company's working capital needs, capital expenditures and other general
corporate purposes, including the issuance of letters of credit.
The Revolving Credit Facility matures on April 15, 2003. The minimum
amortization under the Term Loan Facilities is $11.5 million, $14.0 million,

$19.0 million, $21.5 million, $26.5 million, $31.5 million, and $41 million
during the fiscal years 1998, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003, and 2004,
respectively. The Company is also required to make mandatory amortization
payments under the Term Loan Facilities with excess cash flow, proceeds from
asset sales and proceeds from equity and debt offerings.
The Credit Facilities require that no more than $125.0 million in the
aggregate be outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility for a period of
30 consecutive days during each fiscal year, such period to include April
15.
Borrowings under the Credit Facilities bear interest annually at the
Company's option at the rate of (i) LIBOR (5.7 % at September 30, 1997) plus
a margin (ranging from .50% to 1.75% in the case of Tranche A and the
Revolving Credit Facility and 2.25% in the case of Tranche B) or (ii) the
Base Rate (defined as, generally, the higher of the Federal Funds Rate, as
published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, plus 0.5%, or the Agent's
prime lending rate, which was 8.50% at September 30, 1997) plus a margin up
to .375%. In addition, the Company must pay a fee on the face amount of each
letter of credit outstanding at a rate ranging from .625% to 1.875%. The
Company also pays a quarterly unused commitment fee ranging from .20% to
.50%. The interest margins and fees described in this paragraph fluctuate
based upon the ratio of Funded Debt to the Company's Resort EBITDA (as
defined in the Credit Agreement).
(d) Other obligations bear interest at rates ranging from 6.5% to 7.5% and have
maturities ranging from 1999 to 2002.
Aggregate maturities for debt outstanding are as follows (in thousands):

AS OF
SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
------------Due during year ending September 30:
1998.........................................
1999.........................................
2000.........................................
2001.........................................
2002.........................................
Thereafter...................................
Total debt................................

$

1,715
374
342
353
1,875
260,403
-------$265,062
========
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5.

SUPPLEMENTARY BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION (IN THOUSANDS)
The composition of property, plant and equipment follows:

SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
------------Land and land improvements.......................................... $
Buildings and terminals.............................................
Machinery and equipment.............................................
Automobiles and trucks..............................................
Furniture and fixtures..............................................
Construction in progress............................................

95,124
152,171
146,741
14,958
28,282
33,691
-----------470,967
Accumulated depreciation and amortization...........................
(59,850)
-----------$
411,117
============
Depreciation expense for fiscal years 1997, 1996 and 1995 totaled $25.1

SEPTEMBER 30,
1996
------------$

66,966
60,928
68,286
3,729
12,817
19,728
-----------232,454
(35,175)
-----------$
197,279
============

million, $11.4 million and $11.3 million, respectively.
The composition of intangible assets follows:

Trademarks..........................................................
Other intangible assets.............................................
Goodwill............................................................
Excess Reorganization Value (Note 2)................................

Accumulated amortization............................................

SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
-----------$
42,611
38,244
118,469
37,702
-----------$
237,026
(36,761)
-----------$200,265
============

SEPTEMBER 30,
1996
-----------$
41,096
32,639
37,702
-----------$
111,437
(26,381)
-----------$
85,056
============

Amortization expense for fiscal years 1997, 1996 and 1995 totaled $8.9
million, $6.8 million and $6.7 million, respectively.
The composition of accounts payable and accrued expenses follows:

Trade payables......................................................
Deposits............................................................
Accrued salaries and wages..........................................
Property taxes......................................................
Liability to complete real estate sold..............................
Other accruals......................................................

6.

SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
-------------

SEPTEMBER 30,
1996
-------------

$25,236
10,050
9,026
5,943
7,336
12,580
------------$70,171
=============

$20,219
8,044
5,705
3,182
1,948
8,998
------------$48,096
=============

RETIREMENT AND PROFIT SHARING PLANS

The Company maintains a defined contribution retirement plan, qualified
under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, for its employees. Employees
are eligible to participate in the plan upon attaining the age of 21 and
completing one year of employment with a minimum of 1,000 hours of service.
Participants may contribute from 2% to 15% of their qualifying annual
compensation up to the annual maximum specified by the Internal Revenue Code.
The Company matches an amount equal to 50% of each participant's contribution up
to 6% of a participant's annual qualifying compensation. The Company's matching
contribution is entirely discretionary and may be reduced or eliminated at any
time.
Total profit sharing plan expense recognized by the Company for the
years ended September 30, 1997, 1996 and 1995 was $731,000, $594,000 and
$493,000, respectively.
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7.

INCOME TAXES

At September 30, 1997, the Company has total federal net operating loss
(NOL) carryovers of approximately $336.0 million for income tax purposes that
expire in the years 2003 through 2008, $40.0 million of which are not subject to
any limitation under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company will
be able to use NOLs which existed on October 8, 1992 (Effective Date NOLs) to
the extent of approximately $8 million per year through October 8, 2007. In
addition, the Company is limited to use Effective Date NOLs to the extent that
built-in gains (excess of fair market value over tax basis at October 8, 1992)
are recognized in asset sales prior to October 8, 1997. As the Company will be
unable to recognize a significant portion of the remaining Effective Date NOLs,
the accompanying financial statements and tables of deferred items below do not
recognize any benefits related to the remaining Effective Date NOLs, except to
the extent realized. To the extent any additional tax benefits from these
Effective Date NOLs are recognized, there will be a reduction in the
reorganization value in excess of amounts allocable to identifiable assets

recorded at October 8, 1992. During the years ended September 30, 1996 and
1995, the Company recognized the benefit of Effective Date tax attributes which
were recorded as reductions to the reorganization value in excess of amounts
allocable to identifiable assets of $814,000 and $278,000, respectively.
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company's
deferred tax liabilities and assets as of September 30, 1997 and 1996 are as
follows (in thousands):

SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
-------------Deferred income tax liabilities:
Fixed assets...........................
Intangible assets......................
Total...............................
Gross deferred income tax assets:
Deferred compensation..................
Net operating loss carryforwards.......
Minimum tax credit.....................
Other, net.............................
Total...............................
Valuation allowance for deferred income
tax assets..............................
Deferred income tax assets, net of
valuation allowance.....................
Net deferred income tax liability........

SEPTEMBER 30,
1996
--------------

$ 66,324
20,600
--------

$ 35,916
19,928
--------

86,924

55,844

1,941
45,649
1,729
4,490
--------

3,081
46,356
1,208
5,443
--------

53,809

56,088

(28,122)
========

(22,544)
========

25,687
-------$ 61,237
========

33,544
-------$ 22,300
========
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The net current and noncurrent components of deferred income taxes
recognized in the September 30, 1997 and 1996 balance sheets are as follows (in
thousands):

SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
-------------

SEPTEMBER 30,
1996
-------------

Net current deferred income tax asset.... $
24,500
Net noncurrent deferred income tax
liability...............................
85,737
-------------

$

Net deferred income tax liability........ $

$
22,300
=============

61,237
============

17,200

39,500
-------------

Significant components of the provision for income taxes from continuing
operations are as follows (in thousands):

YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
--------------

YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,
1996
--------------

YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,
1995
--------------

$

1,502
221
-------------1,723

$

2,065
435
------------2,500
------------$
4,223
=============

2,066
834
------------2,900
------------$
3,875
=============

Current:
Federal......................... $
5,411
State...........................
997
------------Total current................
6,408
Deferred:
Federal.........................
6,850
State...........................
727
------------Total deferred...............
7,577
------------$
13,985
=============

621
354
------------975

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 1997, 1996 and 1995, the
Company recognized income tax benefits pertaining to the exercise of stock
options and restricted stock of $5,509,000, $355,000 and $288,000, respectively,
which are accounted for as a direct increase to additional paid in capital and
do not reduce reported income tax expense.
A reconciliation of the income tax provision from continuing operations
and the amount computed by applying the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate
to income from continuing operations before income taxes is as follows (in
thousands):
YEAR ENDED
YEAR ENDED
YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,
SEPTEMBER 30,
SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
1996
1995
---------------------------At U.S. federal income tax rate..........
$
11,789
$
3,135
$
2,505
State income tax, net of federal benefit.
1,121
426
714
Excess Reorganization Value amortization.
1,290
773
727
Other....................................
(215)
(111)
(71)
---------------------------$
13,985
$
4,223
$
3,875
==========
==========
==========

8.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Corporate expense for each of the years ended September 30, 1997, 1996
and 1995 includes an annual fee of $500,000 for management services provided by
an affiliate of the majority holder of the Company's Common Stock. This fee is
generally settled partially through use of the Company's facilities and
partially in cash. At September 30, 1997, the Company's liability with respect
to this arrangement was $673,000.
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Vail Associates has the right to appoint 4 of 9 directors of the Beaver
Creek Resort Company (Resort Company), a non-profit entity formed for the
benefit of property owners in Beaver Creek. Vail Associates has a management
agreement with the Resort Company, renewable for one-year periods, to provide
management services on a fixed fee basis. In addition, in accordance with a cash
flow agreement effective through 2000, Vail Associates will fund the cash needs
of the Resort Company that are not otherwise met through the Resort Company's
operations or borrowings. During fiscal years 1991 through 1997, the Resort
Company was able to meet its operating requirements through its own operations.
Management fees and reimbursement of operating expenses paid to the Company
under its agreement with the Resort Company during fiscal years 1997, 1996 and
1995 totaled $4.9 million, $5.5 million and $7.0 million, respectively. Related
amounts due the Company at September 30, 1996 were $599,000. All amounts due
the Company have been paid as of September 30, 1997.
In 1991, the Company loaned to Andrew P. Daly, the Company's President,
$300,000, $150,000 of which bears interest at 9% and the remainder of which is
non-interest bearing. The principal sum plus accrued interest is due no later
than one year following the termination, for any reason, of Mr. Daly's
employment with the Company. The proceeds of the loan were used to finance the
purchase and improvement of real property. The loan is secured by a deed of
trust on such property.

In 1995, Mr. Daly's spouse and James P. Thompson, President of VRDC, and
his spouse received financial terms more favorable than those available to the
general public in connection with their purchase of lots in the Bachelor Gulch
development. Rather than payment of an earnest money deposit with the entire
balance due in cash at closing, these contracts provide for no earnest money
deposit with the entire purchase price (which was below fair market value) paid
under promissory notes of $438,750 and $350,000 for Mr. Daly's spouse and Mr.
and Mrs. Thompson, respectively, each secured by a first deed of trust and
amortized over 25 years at 8% per annum interest, with a balloon payment due on
the earlier of five years from the date of closing or one year from the date
employment with the Company is terminated. The promissory notes were executed
upon the closings of the lot sales in December 1996.
9.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

As of September 30, 1997, the Company had entered into real estate
contracts for the sale of certain real estate and related amenities for gross
proceeds of approximately $29.6 million. The Company estimates that subsequent
to September 30, 1997, it will incur additional holding and infrastructure costs
of $31.6 million in connection with the sale of the properties under contract
and properties closed as of September 30, 1997. The Company has entered into
repurchase agreements with certain developers who have purchased real estate
from the Company to repurchase certain retail and residential space in the
completed developments. At September 30, 1997, the Company has agreed to
repurchase various retail and residential space for amounts totaling $10.0
million.
On September 25, 1996, the Company declared a right to receive up to
$2.44 per share of Common Stock (the "Rights") to all stockholders of record on
October 11, 1996, with a maximum aggregate amount payable under the Rights of
$50.5 million. The Company was obligated to make payments under the Rights only
to the extent it receives proceeds under certain real estate contracts
outstanding at September 30, 1996. As of September 30, 1997, the Company has
received gross proceeds under the applicable contracts totaling $49.9 million
and has made payments under the Rights of $42.2 million. In addition, the
Company's former Chairman and Chief Executive Officer waived his right to
receive approximately $2.7 million under the Rights in exchange for the payment
of the exercise price on certain stock warrants that he held.
On October 31,
1997, the Company paid all remaining amounts due under the Rights.
Smith Creek Metropolitan District ("SCMD") and Bachelor Gulch
Metropolitan District ("BGMD") were organized in November 1994 to cooperate in
the financing, construction and operation of basic public infrastructure serving
the Company's Bachelor Gulch Village development. SCMD was organized primarily
to own, operate and maintain water, street, traffic and safety, transportation,
fire protection, parks and recreation, television relay and translation,
sanitation and certain other facilities and equipment of the BGMD. SCMD is
comprised of approximately 150 acres of open space land owned by the Company and
members of the Board of Directors of the SCMD. In two planned unit developments,
Eagle
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County has granted zoning approval for 1,395 dwelling units within Bachelor
Gulch Village, including various single family homesites, cluster home and
townhome, and lodging units. As of September 30, 1997, the Company has sold 65
single family homesites, has entered into contracts for the sale of 35
additional single family homesites and is preparing to offer additional parcels
of land to individuals and developers for the construction of various types of
dwelling units. Currently, SCMD has outstanding $44.5 million of variable rate
revenue bonds maturing on October 1, 2035, which have been enhanced with a $47.2
million letter of credit issued against the Company's Credit Facilities. It is
anticipated that as the Bachelor Gulch community expands, BGMD will become self
supporting and that within 25 to 30 years will issue general obligation bonds,
the proceeds of which will be used to retire the SCMD revenue bonds. Until that
time, the Company has agreed to subsidize the interest payments on the SCMD
revenue bonds. The Company has estimated that the present value of this
aggregate subsidy to be $16.8 million at September 30, 1997. The Company has
allocated $8.3 million of that amount to the Bachelor Gulch Village single
family homesites which were sold as of September 30, 1997 and has recorded that
amount as a liability in the accompanying financial statements. The total

subsidy incurred as of September 30, 1997 and 1996 was $1,361,168 and $684,642,
respectively.
At September 30, 1997, the Company has various other letters of credit
outstanding in the aggregate amount of $64.2 million.
The Company has executed operating leases for the rental of office
space, employee residential units and office equipment though fiscal 2009. For
the years ended September 30, 1997, 1996 and 1995, lease expense related to
these agreements of $6.2 million, $3.8 million and $3.8 million, respectively,
is included in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
Future minimum lease payments under these leases as of September 30,
1997 are as follows:

Due during fiscal year ending September 30:
1998..............................................................
1999..............................................................
2000..............................................................
2001..............................................................
2002..............................................................
Thereafter........................................................

$ 4,183,769
2,931,506
2,269,587
1,931,717
1,170,907
6,710,671
----------$19,198,157
===========

Total..................................................

The Company is a party to various lawsuits arising in the ordinary
course of business. In the opinion of management, all matters are adequately
covered by insurance or, if not covered, are without merit or are of such kind,
or involve such amounts as would not have a material effect on the financial
position, results of operations and cash flows of the Company if disposed of
unfavorably.
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10.

BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Company currently operates in two business segments, Resorts and Real
Estate. Data by segment is as follows:

Net revenues:
Resorts.........................
Real Estate.....................

Income from operations:
Resorts.........................
Real Estate.....................
Corporate.......................

Depreciation and amortization:
Resorts.........................
Real Estate.....................

Capital expenditures:
Resorts.........................
Real Estate.....................

YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
------------

YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,
1996
------------

YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,
1995
------------

$259,038
71,485
-------$330,523
========

$140,288
48,655
-------$188,943
========

$126,349
16,526
-------$142,875
========

$ 52,279
5,178
(4,663)
-------$ 52,794
========

$ 32,250
7,854
(12,698)
-------$ 27,406
========

$ 26,076
1,543
(6,701)
-------$ 20,918
========

$ 34,044
--------$ 34,044
========

$ 18,148
--------$ 18,148
========

$ 17,968
--------$ 17,968
========

$ 51,020
56,947

$ 13,912
40,604

$ 20,320
22,477

Identifiable assets:
Resorts.........................
Real Estate.....................

-------$107,967
========

-------$ 54,516
========

SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
--------

SEPTEMBER 30,
1996
--------

$411,117
154,925
-------$566,042
========

$197,279
84,055
-------$281,334
========

-------$ 42,797
========
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11.

STOCK COMPENSATION PLANS

At September 30, 1997, the Company has two stock-based compensation
plans, which are described below. The Company applies APB Opinion No. 25 and
related Interpretations in accounting for its plans. Accordingly, no
compensation cost has been recognized for its fixed stock option plans. Had
compensation cost for the Company's two stock-based compensation plans been
determined consistent with FASB Statement No. 123, the Company's net income and
earnings per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated
below:

SEPTEMBER 30,
1997
-------------

SEPTEMBER 30,
1996
-------------

Net Income

As Reported
Pro forma

$19,698
$18,211

$4,735
$4,420

Primary earnings per share

As Reported
Pro forma

$
$

$
$

.64
.59

.22
.21

The Company has two fixed option plans. Under the 1993 Plan, options
covering an aggregate of 2,045,510 shares of Common Stock may be issued to key
employees, directors, consultants, and advisors of the Company or its
subsidiaries and vest in equal installments over five years. Under the 1996
Plan, 1,500,000 shares of Common Stock may be issued to key employees,
directors, consultants, and advisors of the Company or its subsidiaries and vest
in equal installments over three to five years.
Under both plans, the exercise
price of each option equals the market price of the Company's stock on the date
of the grant, and an option's maximum term is ten years.
The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average
assumptions used for grants in 1997 and 1996, respectively: dividend yield of 0%
and expected volatility of 29.8% for both years; risk-free interest rates
ranging from 5.66% to 6.68%; and expected lives ranging from 6 to 8 years. A
summary of the status of the Company's two fixed stock option plans as of
September 30, 1997 and 1996 and changes during the years ended on those dates is
presented below (in thousands, except per share amounts):

FIXED OPTIONS
- --------------------------------

1997
1996
------------------------------ -----------------------------WEIGHTEDWEIGHTEDAVERAGE
AVERAGE
EXERCISE
EXERCISE
SHARES
PRICE
SHARES
PRICE
------------------- -------------------

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at end of year
Options exercisable at year-end
Weighted-average fair value of
options granted during the year

3,726
795
(1,573)
(39)
----------2,909
1,384
$

$

10
23
11
10

2,033
1,711
(18)
----------3,726
1,177

15

10

$

$

8
13
7
10

8
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The following table summarizes information about fixed stock options
outstanding at September 30, 1997:

RANGE OF
EXERCISE PRICES
- ----------------$

6 to 11
20 to 25

$

6 to 25

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING
OPTIONS EXERCISABLE
-------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------NUMBER
WEIGHTED-AVERAGE
NUMBER
WEIGHTEDOUTSTANDING
REMAINING
WEIGHTED-AVG.
EXERCISABLE
AVERAGE
AT 9/30/97
CONTRACTUAL LIFE
EXERCISE PRICE AT 9/30/97
EXERCISE PRICE
------------------------------------------ ----------- -------------1,753,734
1,155,000
-----------2,908,734
============

6.0 years
9.5

$

8
22

7.4

$

14

1,312,348
72,000
--------1,384,348
=========

During fiscal years 1997 and 1996, the Company granted restricted
stock to certain executives under the 1996 Plan. The aggregate number of shares
granted totaled 12,000 and 62,000 in fiscal 1997 and 1996, respectively. The
shares vest in equal increments over periods ranging from three to five years.
Compensation expense related to these restricted stock awards is charged ratably
over the respective vesting periods.
On October 11, 1996 the Company's former Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer waived his right to payments under the Rights with respect to 714,976
shares of Common Stock that he owned and warrants to purchase 408,164 shares of
Common Stock in exchange for the payment of the exercise price on those
warrants. In addition, he exchanged 1,164,808 long-term stock options for
336,318 shares of Common Stock. The options exercised and the options exchanged
are reported as options exercised during fiscal 1997 in the table above.
12.

CAPITAL STOCK

The Company has two classes of Common Stock outstanding, Class A
Common Stock and Common Stock. The rights of holders of Class A Common Stock
and Common Stock are substantially identical, except that, while any Class A
Common Stock is outstanding, holders of Class A Common Stock elect a class of
directors that constitutes two-thirds of the Board and holders of Common Stock
elect another class of directors constituting one-third of the Board. At
September 30, 1997 and 1996, one shareholder owned substantially all of the
Class A Common Stock and as a result, has effective control of the Company's
Board of Directors. The Class A Common Stock is convertible into Common Stock
(i) at the option of the holder, (ii) automatically, upon transfer to a nonaffiliate and (iii) automatically if less than 5,000,000 shares (as such number
shall be adjusted by reason of any stock split, reclassification or other
similar transaction) of Class A Common Stock are outstanding. The Common Stock
is not convertible. Each outstanding share of Class A Common Stock and Common
Stock is entitled to vote on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders.
In January 1997, the Company increased the number of authorized shares of Common
Stock to 80,000,000 shares.
13.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On October 1, 1997, the Company purchased the assets constituting the

$

7
20

$

8

Breckenridge Hilton for a total purchase price of $18.6 million. The purchase
price includes a cash payment of $18.1 million, $0.2 million in assumed
liabilities and $0.3 million to provide for contingent consideration that may be
paid pursuant to the purchase agreement. The Breckenridge Hilton is a 208-room
full service hotel, located at the base of Breckenridge Mountain, and includes
dining, conference and fitness facilities. The acquisition was accounted for as
a purchase combination.
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On October 7, 1997, the Company purchased 100% of the outstanding stock
of Lodge Properties, Inc., a Colorado corporation ("LPI"), for a total purchase
price of $30.2 million. LPI owns and operates The Lodge at Vail (the "Lodge"),
a 59-room hotel located in Vail, Colorado, and provides management services to
an additional 40 condominiums. The Lodge includes restaurant and conference
facilities as well as other amenities. In addition to the hotel property, LPI
owns a parcel of developable land strategically located at the primary base area
of Vail Mountain. In addition to the cash purchase price, the Company expects to
incur approximately $9.2 million to complete a new wing of the hotel which is
currently under construction. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase
combination.
The Company funded the above acquisitions with proceeds from its
Revolving Credit Facilities.
On October 10, 1997, the Company borrowed an additional $32.0 million
under a new line of credit with its Credit Facility provider ("the Line of
Credit"), the proceeds of which were used to reduce the Revolving Credit
Facility balance. Borrowings under the Line of Credit bear interest annually at
the Company's option at the rate of LIBOR (5.7% at September 30, 1997) plus a
margin, or .75%.
On November 5, 1997, the Company announced the change of its fiscal year
end from September 30 to July 31. Accordingly, the Company's fiscal year will
end on July 31, 1998 and consist of ten months.
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/s/ James P. Donohue
By____________________________________
James P. Donohue
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this
report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities indicated on December 18, 1997.
SIGNATURE
--------/s/ Adam M. Aron*
________________________________
ADAM M. ARON
/s/ Andrew P. Daly*
________________________________
ANDREW P. DALY
/s/ Frank Biondi*

TITLE
----Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Chief Executive Officer)
Director and President

Director

________________________________
FRANK BIONDI
/s/ Leon D. Black*
________________________________
LEON D. BLACK

Director

/s/ Craig M. Cogut*
________________________________
CRAIG M. COGUT

Director

/s/ Stephen C. Hilbert*
________________________________
STEPHEN C. HILBERT

Director

/s/ Robert A. Katz*
________________________________
ROBERT A. KATZ

Director

/s/ Thomas H. Lee*
________________________________
THOMAS H. LEE

Director

/s/ William L. Mack*
________________________________
WILLIAM L. MACK

Director

/s/ Joseph Micheletto*
________________________________
JOSEPH MICHELETTO

Director

II-1
SIGNATURE
---------

TITLE
-----

/s/ Marc J. Rowan*
________________________________
MARC J. ROWAN

Director

/s/ John J. Ryan III*
________________________________
JOHN J. RYAN III

Director

John F. Sorte*
________________________________
JOHN F. SORTE

Director

/s/ Bruce H. Spector*
________________________________
BRUCE H. SPECTOR

Director

/s/ William Stiritz*
________________________________
WILLIAM STIRITZ

Director

/s/ James S. Tisch*
________________________________
JAMES S. TISCH

Director

/s/ James P. Donohue*
________________________________
JAMES P. DONOHUE

Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer

/s/ Robert A. Katz*
________________________________
ROBERT A. KATZ
*

Director

By Attorney-in-Fact
II-2

EXHIBIT 10.11(a)
Conformed Copy reflecting
First Amendment of 3/14/97,
Second Amendment of 5/30/97,
and Third Amendment of 9/19/97,
CREDIT AGREEMENT
among
THE VAIL CORPORATION
(D/B/A "VAIL ASSOCIATES, INC.")
Borrower
NATIONSBANK OF TEXAS, N.A.
Agent
and
THE LENDERS NAMED HEREIN

$340,000,000

JANUARY 3, 1997

TABLE OF CONTENTS
----------------Page
----

SECTION 1
1.1
1.2
1.3

DEFINITIONS AND TERMS........................................................
Definitions..................................................................
Number and Gender of Words...................................................
Accounting Principles........................................................

1
1
15
15

SECTION 2
2.1
2.2
2.3

COMMITMENT...................................................................
Credit Facility..............................................................
Loan Procedure...............................................................
LC Subfacility...............................................................

15
15
16
16

SECTION 3
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
3.6
3.7
3.8
3.9
3.10
3.11
3.12
3.13
3.14
3.15
3.16
3.17
3.18
3.19

TERMS OF PAYMENT.............................................................
Notes and Payments...........................................................
Interest and Principal Payments; Voluntary Commitment Reductions.............
Interest Options.............................................................
Quotation of Rates...........................................................
Default Rate.................................................................
Interest Recapture...........................................................
Interest Calculations........................................................
Maximum Rate.................................................................
Interest Periods.............................................................
Conversions..................................................................
Order of Application.........................................................
Sharing of Payments, Etc.....................................................
Booking Loans................................................................
Basis Unavailable or Inadequate for LIBOR....................................
Additional Costs.............................................................
Change in Laws...............................................................
Funding Loss.................................................................
Foreign Lenders..............................................................
Affected Lender's Obligation to Mitigate.....................................

19
19
19
21
21
21
21
21
22
22
22
22
22
23
23
23
24
24
24
24

3.20

Replacement Lender...........................................................

25

SECTION 4
4.1
4.2

FEES.........................................................................
Treatment of Fees............................................................
Underwriting and Administrative Fees.........................................

25
25
25

4.3
4.4

LC Fees......................................................................
Commitment Fee...............................................................

25
25

SECTION 5
5.1
5.2
5.3
5.4

SECURITY.....................................................................
Guaranties...................................................................
Collateral...................................................................
Additional Security and Guaranties...........................................
Financing Statements.........................................................

25
25
26
26
26

SECTION 6
6.1
6.2

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT.........................................................
Initial Advance..............................................................
Each Advance.................................................................

27
27
28

Page
----

SECTION 7
7.1
7.2
7.3
7.4
7.5
7.6
7.7
7.8
7.9
7.10
7.11
7.12
7.13
7.14
7.15
7.16
7.17
7.18
7.19
7.20
7.21
7.22

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES...............................................
Regulation U.................................................................
Corporate Existence, Good Standing, Authority and Compliance.................
Subsidiaries.................................................................
Authorization and Contravention..............................................
Binding Effect...............................................................
Financial Statements; Fiscal Year............................................
Litigation...................................................................
Taxes........................................................................
Environmental Matters........................................................
Employee Plans...............................................................
Properties and Liens.........................................................
Chief Executive Offices......................................................
Government Regulations.......................................................
Transactions with Affiliates.................................................
Debt.........................................................................
Material Agreements..........................................................
Labor Matters................................................................
Solvency.....................................................................
Trade Names..................................................................
Intellectual Property........................................................
Full Disclosure..............................................................
Stock Purchase Agreement.....................................................

28
28
28
29
29
29
29
29
29
29
30
30
30
30
30
30
31
31
31
31
31
31
31

SECTION 8
8.1
8.2
8.3
8.4
8.5
8.6
8.7
8.8
8.9
8.10
8.11
8.12
8.13
8.14

AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS........................................................
Items to be Furnished........................................................
Use of Proceeds..............................................................
Books and Records............................................................
Inspections..................................................................
Taxes........................................................................
Payment of Obligations.......................................................
Expenses.....................................................................
Maintenance of Existence, Assets, and Business...............................
Insurance....................................................................
Preservation and Protection of Rights........................................
Environmental Laws...........................................................
Subsidiaries.................................................................
Indemnification..............................................................
Interest Rate Hedging........................................................

31
31
32
33
33
33
33
33
33
34
34
34
34
34
35

SECTION 9
9.1
9.2
9.3
9.4
9.5
9.6
9.7
9.8
9.9

NEGATIVE COVENANTS...........................................................
Taxes........................................................................
Payment of Obligations.......................................................
Employee Plans...............................................................
Debt.........................................................................
Liens........................................................................
Transactions with Affiliates.................................................
Compliance with Laws and Documents...........................................
Loans, Advances and Investments..............................................
Management Fees and Distributions............................................

35
35
35
35
35
35
35
35
35
37

Page
----

9.10
9.11
9.12
9.13
9.14
9.15

Sale of Assets................................................................
Mergers and Dissolutions......................................................
Assignment....................................................................
Fiscal Year and Accounting Methods............................................
New Businesses................................................................
Government Regulations........................................................

37
37
37
37
37
37

SECTION 10
10.1
10.2
10.3

FINANCIAL COVENANTS...........................................................
Maximum Leverage Ratio........................................................
Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio...........................................
Interest Coverage Ratio.......................................................

38
38
38
39

SECTION 11
11.1
11.2
11.3
11.4
11.5
11.6
11.7
11.8
11.9
11.10

DEFAULT.......................................................................
Payment of Obligation.........................................................
Covenants.....................................................................
Debtor Relief.................................................................
Judgments and Attachments.....................................................
Government Action.............................................................
Misrepresentation.............................................................
Ownership.....................................................................
Default Under Other Agreements................................................
Validity and Enforceability of Loan Papers....................................
Employee Plans................................................................

39
39
39
40
40
40
40
40
40
40
40

SECTION 12
12.1
12.2
12.3
12.4
12.5
12.6
12.7
12.8
12.9

RIGHTS AND REMEDIES...........................................................
Remedies Upon Default.........................................................
Company Waivers...............................................................
Performance by Agent..........................................................
Not in Control................................................................
Course of Dealing.............................................................
Cumulative Rights.............................................................
Application of Proceeds.......................................................
Diminution in Value of Collateral.............................................
Certain Proceedings...........................................................

41
41
41
41
41
41
41
42
42
42

SECTION 13
13.1
13.2
13.3
13.4
13.5
13.6
13.7
13.8
13.9
13.10

AGREEMENT AMONG LENDERS.......................................................
Agent.........................................................................
Expenses......................................................................
Proportionate Absorption of Losses............................................
Delegation of Duties; Reliance................................................
Limitation of Agent's Liability...............................................
Default; Collateral...........................................................
Limitation of Liability.......................................................
Relationship of Lenders.......................................................
Collateral Matters............................................................
Benefits of Agreement.........................................................

42
42
43
43
43
44
44
45
45
45
45

SECTION 14
14.1
14.2

MISCELLANEOUS................................................................. 45
Headings...................................................................... 45
Nonbusiness Days; Time........................................................ 45

Page
----

14.3
14.4
14.5
14.6
14.7
14.8
14.9
14.10
14.11
14.12
14.13
14.14

Communications................................................................
Form and Number of Documents..................................................
Exceptions to Covenants.......................................................
Survival......................................................................
Governing Law.................................................................
Invalid Provisions............................................................
Venue; Service of Process; Jury Trial.........................................
Amendments, Consents, Conflicts and Waivers...................................
Multiple Counterparts.........................................................
Successors and Assigns; Participation.........................................
Discharge Only Upon Payment in Full; Reinstatement in Certain Circumstances...
Entirety......................................................................

45
46
46
46
46
46
46
47
47
48
49
49

SCHEDULES AND EXHIBITS
----------------------

Schedule
Schedule
Schedule
Schedule
Schedule
Schedule
Schedule
Schedule
Schedule
Schedule
Exhibit
Exhibit
Exhibit
Exhibit
Exhibit
Exhibit
Exhibit
Exhibit
Exhibit
Exhibit

1
2
2.3
3.2
7.2
7.3
7.7
7.9
7.14
7.19
A-1
A-2
A-3
B
C
D
E
F
G
H

Parties, Addresses, Committed Sums, and Wiring Information
Critical Assets
Existing Letters of Credit
Amortization of Term Loans
Jurisdictions of Incorporation and Business
Corporate Structure
Litigation Summary
Material Environmental Matters
Transactions with Affiliates
Trade Names
Revolving Credit Promissory Note
Tranche A Promissory Note
Tranche B Promissory Note
Guaranty
Pledge Agreement
Loan Request
Compliance Certificate
Conversion Request
LC Request
Assignment

CREDIT AGREEMENT
---------------This Credit Agreement is entered into as of January 3, 1997, among The Vail
Corporation, a Colorado corporation doing business as "Vail Associates, Inc."
("BORROWER"), the Lenders (defined below), and NationsBank of Texas, N.A., as
Agent for itself and the other Lenders.
In consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, and for other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby
acknowledged, Borrower, Lenders, and Agent hereby agree as follows:
SECTION 1
DEFINITIONS AND TERMS.
- ----------------------------1.1

Definitions.
-----------

AFFILIATE means with respect to any Person (the "relevant Person") (i) any
other Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries,
controls the relevant Person (a "Controlling Person") or (ii) any Person (other
than the relevant Person) which is controlled by or is under common control with
a Controlling Person. As used herein, the term "control" means possession,
directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management or policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of voting
securities, by contract or otherwise.
AGENT means NationsBank of Texas, N.A., a national banking association, and
its successor or successors as agent for Lenders under this Agreement.
APPLICABLE MARGIN means, for any day, the margin of interest over the Base
Rate or LIBOR, as the case may be, that is applicable when any interest rate is
determined under this Agreement, as follows:
(a)
Term Loan,
downwards,
EBITDA, as

With respect to the Revolving Credit Tranche and the Tranche A
the Applicable Margin is subject to adjustment (upwards or
as appropriate) based on the ratio of Funded Debt to Resort
follows:

RATIO OF FUNDED DEBT
TO RESORT EBITDA

APPLICABLE
APPLICABLE
MARGIN FOR
MARGIN FOR
LIBOR
BASE RATE
LOANS
LOANS
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------Less than 2.00 to 1.00
0.500%
0.000%
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to
0.750% if Subordinated
0.000%
2.00 to 1.00, but less than
Debt comprises 15% or less
2.75 to 1.00
of Funded Debt and 0.625%
if Subordinated Debt
comprises more than 15%
of Funded Debt
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to
1.000% if Subordinated
0.000%
2.75 to 1.00, but less than
Debt comprises 15% or less
3.50 to 1.00
of Funded Debt and 0.875%
if Subordinated Debt
comprises more than 15%
of Funded Debt
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------

-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to
1.375% if Subordinated
0.000%
3.50 to 1.00, but less than
Debt comprises 15% or less
4.00 to 1.00
of Funded Debt and
1.250% if Subordinated Debt
comprises more than 15%
of Funded Debt
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to
1.750% if Subordinated
0.250% if
4.00 to 1.00
Debt comprises 15% or less
Subordinated
of Funded Debt and 1.625%
Debt comprises
if Subordinated Debt
15% or less of
comprises more than 15%
Funded Debt and
of Funded Debt
0.125% if
Subordinated
Debt comprises
more than 15%
of Funded Debt
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Prior to Agent's receipt of the Companies' consolidated unaudited
Financial Statements for the Companies' fiscal year ended July 31, 1997,
the ratio of Funded Debt to Resort EBITDA shall be deemed to be greater
than 4.00 to 1.00 until the receipt of such Financial Statements (unless
and until VRI has received Net Equity Proceeds of at least $65,000,000,
whereupon the ratio shall be deemed to be greater than 2.75 to 1.00, but
less than 3.50 to 1.00 until the receipt of such Financial Statements).
After Agent's receipt of the Companies' consolidated unaudited
Financial Statements for the Companies' fiscal year ended July 31, 1997,
the ratio of Funded Debt to Resort EBITDA shall be calculated on a
consolidated basis for the Companies in accordance with GAAP for the most
recently completed fiscal year of the Companies for which results are
available. The ratio shall be determined from the Current Financials and
any related Compliance Certificate. However, if Borrower fails to furnish
to Agent the Current Financials and any related Compliance Certificate when
required pursuant to SECTION 8.1, then the ratio shall be deemed to be
greater than 4.00 to 1.00 until Borrower furnishes the required Current
Financials and any related Compliance Certificate to Agent. Furthermore,
if the Companies' audited Financial Statements subsequently delivered to
Agent for such fiscal year pursuant to SECTION 8.1(a)(ii) result in a
different ratio, such revised ratio (whether higher or lower) shall govern
effective as of the date of such delivery. For purposes of determining
such ratio, Resort EBITDA for any fiscal year shall include on a pro forma
basis all EBITDA for such period relating to assets acquired (including
Restricted Subsidiaries formed or organized) during such period, but shall
exclude on a pro forma basis all EBITDA for such period relating to any

such assets disposed of in accordance with this Agreement during such
period.
(b) With respect to the Tranche B Term Loan, the Applicable Margin is
(i) 2.250% for LIBOR Loans and 0.750% for Base Rate Loans, if Subordinated
Debt comprises 15% or less of Funded Debt, and (ii) 2.125% for LIBOR Loans
and 0.625% for Base Rate Loans, if Subordinated Debt comprises more than
15% of Funded Debt. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if VRI receives Net
Equity Proceeds of at least $65,000,000 within 60 days after Borrower's
receipt of clearance for the Ralston Resorts Acquisition from the U.S.
Justice Department under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act
of 1976, as amended, then the Applicable Margin for the Tranche B Term Loan
is subject to adjustment (upwards or downwards, as appropriate) based on
the ratio of Funded Debt to Resort EBITDA, as follows:

RATIO OF FUNDED DEBT
TO RESORT EBITDA

APPLICABLE
APPLICABLE
MARGIN FOR
MARGIN FOR
LIBOR
BASE RATE
LOANS
LOANS
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------Less than 2.00 to 1.00
0.625%
0.000%
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to
0.875% if Subordinated
0.000%
2.00 to 1.00, but less than
Debt comprises 15% or less
2.75 to 1.00
of Funded Debt and 0.750%
if Subordinated Debt
comprises more than 15%
of Funded Debt
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to
1.125% if Subordinated
0.000%
2.75 to 1.00, but less than
Debt comprises 15% or less
3.50 to 1.00
of Funded Debt and 1.000%
if Subordinated Debt
comprises more than 15%
of Funded Debt
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to
1.500% if Subordinated
0.000%
3.50 to 1.00, but less than
Debt comprises 15% or less
4.00 to 1.00
of Funded Debt and 1.375%
if Subordinated Debt
comprises more than 15%
of Funded Debt
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to
1.875% if Subordinated
0.375% if
4.00 to 1.00
Debt comprises 15% or less
Subordinated
of Funded Debt and 1.750%
Debt comprises
if Subordinated Debt
15% or less of
comprises more than 15%
Funded Debt and
of Funded Debt
0.250% if
Subordinated
Debt comprises
more than 15%
of Funded Debt
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------If VRI receives Net Equity Proceeds of at least $65,000,000 within 60
days after Borrower's receipt of clearance for the Ralston Resorts
Acquisition from the U.S. Justice Department under the Hart-Scott-Rodino
Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, then (x) prior to Agent's
receipt of the Companies' unaudited consolidated Financial Statements for
the Companies' fiscal year ended July 31, 1997, the ratio of Funded Debt to
Resort EBITDA shall be deemed to be greater than 2.75 to 1.00, but less
than 3.50 to 1.00, and (y) thereafter, the ratio shall be determined as
described in the last paragraph of part (a) above of this definition.
APPLICABLE PERCENTAGE means, for any day, the commitment fee percentage
applicable under SECTION 4.4 when commitment fees are determined under this
Agreement. The Applicable Percentage is subject to adjustment (upwards or

downwards, as appropriate) based on the ratio of Funded Debt to Resort EBITDA,
as follows:

RATIO OF FUNDED DEBT
APPLICABLE
TO RESORT EBITDA
PERCENTAGE
- ------------------------------------------------------------Less than 2.00 to 1.00
0.200%
- ------------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to 2.00 to 1.00,
0.250%
but less than 2.75 to 1.00
- -------------------------------------------------------------

- -------------------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to 2.75 to 1.00,
0.300%
but less than 3.50 to 1.00
- -------------------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to 3.50 to 1.00,
0.375%
but less than 4.00 to 1.00
- -------------------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to 4.00 to 1.00
0.500% if Subordinated
Debt comprises 15% or
less of Funded Debt and
0.375% if Subordinated
Debt comprises more than
15% of Funded Debt
- -------------------------------------------------------------------The ratio of Funded Debt to Resort EBITDA shall be determined as described in
the second and third paragraphs of part (a) of the definition of "Applicable
Margin."
APOLLO means any one or more of the following: Apollo Advisors, L.P., a
Delaware limited partnership, or any fund, investment vehicle or account
managed, advised or controlled by Apollo Advisors, L.P., or any of its
Affiliates, other than the Companies.
BASE RATE means, for any day, the greater of (a) the annual interest rate
most recently announced by Agent as its prime rate (which may not necessarily
represent the lowest or best rate actually charged to any customer) in effect at
its principal office in Dallas, Texas, automatically fluctuating upward and
downward as specified in each announcement without special notice to Borrower or
any other Person, and (b) the sum of the Federal Funds Rate plus 0.5%.
BASE RATE LOAN means a Loan bearing interest at the sum of the Base Rate
plus the Applicable Margin.
BC HOUSING BONDS means the Eagle County, Colorado, Taxable Housing
Facilities Revenue Bonds (BC Housing, LLC Project) Series 1997A in the original
principal amount of $9,100,000.
BC HOUSING INDENTURE means the Trust Indenture dated as of June 1, 1997,
between Eagle County, Colorado, as Issuer, and the BC Housing Trustee, relating
to the BC Housing Bonds, as amended, supplemented or restated from time to time.
BC HOUSING LC means the irrevocable transferable LC to be issued by Agent
to the BC Housing Trustee, under the terms of which it will be entitled to draw,
with respect to the BC Housing Bonds, up to (a) an amount sufficient to pay (i)
the principal of the BC Housing Bonds when due, or (ii) the portion of the
purchase price of the BC Housing Bonds tendered or deemed tendered for purchase
in accordance with the BC Housing Indenture and not subsequently remarketed
corresponding to the principal amount of such bonds, plus (b) an amount equal to
approximately 35 days of accrued interest on the BC Housing Bonds (at up to 15%

per annum in accordance with the BC Housing Indenture), to pay (i) interest on
the BC Housing Bonds when due, or (ii) the portion of the purchase price of BC
Housing Bonds tendered or deemed tendered for purchase in accordance with the BC
Housing Indenture and not subsequently remarketed corresponding to accrued
interest then due on such bonds. The BC Housing LC will be in the maximum
amount of $9,232,709 and will expire on June 15, 2002. The BC Housing LC will
constitute an LC issued under this Agreement.
BC HOUSING TRUSTEE means Colorado National Bank, as the Trustee under the
BC Housing Trust Indenture, and any successor thereto.
BORROWER is defined in the preamble to this Agreement.
BUSINESS DAY means any day, other than Saturday, Sunday, and any other day
that commercial banks are authorized or required by Law to be closed in Texas or
New York or, for purposes of any LIBOR Loan, in London.
CAPITAL LEASE means any capital lease or sublease that has been (or under
GAAP should be) capitalized on a balance sheet.
CHANGE OF CONTROL TRANSACTION means the occurrence of any transaction or
event, other than the issuance and sale in a public offering of equity
securities of VRI, as a result of which transaction or event Apollo shall cease
to possess, and some other Person shall obtain, in either case directly or
indirectly, the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or
policies of VRI, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract
or otherwise.
CLOSING DATE means the date on which counterparts of this Agreement have
been executed and delivered to Agent by each party hereto in accordance with
SECTION 14.11.
CODE means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time,
and related rules and regulations from time to time in effect.
COLLATERAL is defined in SECTION 5.2.
COLLATERAL AGENCY AGREEMENT means the Collateral Agency Agreement dated as
of November 23, 1993, among VHI, Borrower, Beaver Creek Associates, Inc.,
NationsBank of Texas, N.A., as agent for certain lenders to Borrower,
NationsBank of Texas, N.A., as Collateral Agent, and the Indenture Trustees for
the Vail Bonds named therein.
COMMITTED SUM means the aggregate amount (as reduced and canceled under
this Agreement) stated beside a Lender's name for the Facility on SCHEDULE 1 as
most recently amended under this Agreement.
COMPANIES means VRI and each of VRI's Restricted and Unrestricted
Subsidiaries now or hereafter existing.
COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE means a certificate substantially in the form of
EXHIBIT E and signed by Borrower's Chief Financial Officer, together with the
calculation worksheet described therein.
CONVERSION REQUEST means a request substantially in the form of EXHIBIT F.
CURRENT FINANCIALS means, at any time, the consolidated Financial
Statements of the Companies most recently delivered to Agent under SECTION 6.1,
8.1(a) or 8.1(b), as the case may be.
DEBT of any Person means at any date, without duplication (and calculated
in accordance with GAAP), (a) all Funded Debt of such Person, (b) all
obligations of such Person to pay the deferred purchase price of property or
services, other than (i) obligations under employment contracts or deferred
employee compensation plans and (ii) trade accounts payable and other expenses
or payables arising in the ordinary course of business, (c) all Debt of others
secured by a Lien on any asset of such Person (or for which the holder of the
Debt has an existing Right, contingent or otherwise, to be so secured), whether
or not such Debt is assumed by such Person, and (d) all guarantees and other
contingent obligations (as a general partner or otherwise) of such Person with
respect to Debt of others.
DEBTOR RELIEF LAWS means the Bankruptcy Reform Act of 1978, as amended from
time to time, and all other applicable liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy,

moratorium, rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorganization, suspension
of payments or similar Laws affecting creditors' Rights from time to time in
effect.

DEFAULT is defined in SECTION 11.
DEFAULT RATE means an annual rate of interest equal from day to day to the
lesser of (a) the then-existing Base Rate plus 2%, and (b) the Maximum Rate.
DISTRIBUTION means, with respect to any shares of any capital stock or
other equity securities issued by a Person, (a) the retirement, redemption,
purchase or other acquisition for value of those securities by such Person, (b)
the payment of any dividend on or with respect to those securities by such
Person, (c) any loan or advance by that Person to, or other investment by that
Person in, the holder of any of those securities, and (d) any other payment by
that Person with respect to those securities.
EBITDA means earnings before interest expenses, taxes and non-cash
operating charges (such as depreciation and amortization expense), and
extraordinary gains and losses, calculated on a consolidated basis for the
Companies in accordance with GAAP.
EMPLOYEE PLAN means an employee pension benefit plan covered by Title IV of
ERISA and established or maintained by any Company.
ENVIRONMENTAL LAW means any Law that relates to the pollution or protection
of ambient air, water or land or to Hazardous Substances.
ERISA means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as
amended, and related rules and regulations.
EXCESS CASH FLOW means, in respect of any period, the following, calculated
on a consolidated basis for the Restricted Companies in accordance with GAAP:
(a) net income (excluding gains from dispositions of assets), plus depreciation
and amortization expense, plus other noncash charges, minus other noncash income
for such period, minus (b) the sum of Scheduled Principal Payments, voluntary
prepayments of principal on the Term Loans and payments or prepayments of
principal on other non-revolving indebtedness during such period, plus capital
expenditures during such period (including permitted investments under SECTION
9.8(i)).
EXISTING CREDIT AGREEMENTS means (a) the Credit Agreement dated as of
November 23, 1993, among Borrower, NationsBank of Texas, N.A., as agent, and the
banks named therein (as amended by (i) the Amended and Restated Permanent Credit
Agreement dated as of February 7, 1994, (ii) the First Amendment to Amended and
Restated Permanent Credit Agreement dated as of June 1, 1994, (iii) the Second
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of March 31, 1995, and (iv) the
First Amendment to Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement of even date
herewith), providing for credit in an amount up to $105,000,000, and (b) the
Credit Agreement dated as of March 31, 1995, among Borrower, NationsBank of
Texas, N.A., as agent, and the banks named therein, providing for credit in an
amount up to $30,000,000.
FACILITY means, collectively, the Revolving Credit Tranche, the Tranche A
Term Loan and the Tranche B Term Loan.
FEDERAL FUNDS RATE means, for any day, the annual rate (rounded upwards, if
necessary, to the nearest 0.01%) determined (which determination is conclusive
and binding, absent manifest error) by Agent to be equal to the weighted average
of the rates on overnight federal funds transactions with member banks of the
Federal Reserve System arranged by federal funds brokers on that day, as
published by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York on the next Business Day, or,
if those rates are not published for any day, the average of the quotations at
approximately 10:00 a.m. received by Agent from three federal funds brokers of
recognized standing selected by Agent in its sole discretion.
FINANCIAL HEDGE means a swap, collar, floor, cap or other contract between
Borrower and any Lender or

an Affiliate of any Lender (or another Person reasonably acceptable to Agent),
which is intended to reduce or eliminate the risk of fluctuations in interest

rates and which is legal and enforceable under applicable Law.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS of a Person means balance sheets, profit and loss
statements, reconciliations of capital and surplus, and statements of cash flow
prepared (a) according to GAAP, and (b) other than as stated in SECTION 1.3, in
comparative form to prior year-end figures or corresponding periods of the
preceding fiscal year, as applicable.
FOREST SERVICE ASSIGNMENTS means, collectively (a) Assignments in Trust of
each of the Forest Service Permits, and (b) any replacement of all or any
portion of the foregoing, as contemplated by SECTION 5.3(b).
FOREST SERVICE PERMITS means the Vail Forest Service Permits and the
Ralston Forest Service Permits.
FUNDED DEBT means the following, calculated on a consolidated basis for the
Restricted Companies in accordance with GAAP: (i) all obligations for borrowed
money (whether as a direct obligation on a promissory note, bond, zero coupon
bond, debenture or other similar instrument, or as an unfulfilled reimbursement
obligation on a drawn letter of credit or similar instrument, or otherwise),
plus (but without duplication) (ii) all Capital Lease obligations (other than
the interest component of such obligations) of any Restricted Company.
FUNDING LOSS means any loss or expense that any Lender reasonably incurs
because (a) Borrower fails or refuses (for any reason whatsoever, other than a
default by Agent or the Lender claiming such loss or expense) to take any Loan
that it has requested under this Agreement, or (b) Borrower pays any LIBOR Loan
or converts any LIBOR Loan to a Base Rate Loan, in each case, before the last
day of the applicable Interest Period.
GAAP means generally accepted accounting principles of the Accounting
Principles Board of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the Financial Accounting Standards Board that are applicable from time to time.
GUARANTOR means any Company which has executed and delivered a Guaranty.
GUARANTY means a guaranty substantially in the form of EXHIBIT B.
HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCE means any substance that is defined or classified as a
hazardous waste, hazardous material, pollutant, contaminant or toxic or
hazardous substance under any Environmental Law.
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY means (a) common law, federal statutory, state
statutory and foreign trademarks or service marks (including, without
limitation, all registrations and pending applications and the goodwill of the
business symbolized by or conducted in connection with any such trademark or
service mark), trademark or service mark licenses and all proceeds of trademarks
or service marks (including, without limitation, license royalties and proceeds
from infringement suits), (b) United States and foreign patents (including,
without limitation, all pending applications, continuations, continuations-inpart, divisions, reissues, substitutions and extensions of existing patents or
applications), patent licenses and all proceeds of patents (including, without
limitation, license royalties and proceeds from infringement suits), (c)
copyrights (including, without limitation, all registrations and pending
applications), copyright licenses and all proceeds of copyrights (including,
without limitation, license royalties and proceeds from infringement suits), and
(d) trade secrets, but does not include (i) any licenses (including, without
limitation, liquor licenses) or any permits (including, without limitation,
sales tax permits) issued by a Tribunal and in which (y) the licensee's or
permittee's interest is defeasible by such Tribunal and (z) the licensee or
permittee has no right beyond the terms, conditions and periods of the license
or permit, or (ii) trade names or "dba"s to the extent they do not constitute
trademarks or service marks.
INTEREST PERIOD is determined in accordance with SECTION 3.9.
LAWS means all applicable statutes, laws, treaties, ordinances, rules,
regulations, orders, writs, injunctions, decrees and judgments.
LC means (a) each of the Smith Creek LCs, the BC Housing LC and each
existing letter of credit issued by Agent for the account of any of the
Companies and described on SCHEDULE 2.3, and (b) each other letter of credit (in
such form as shall be customary in respect of obligations of a similar nature
and as shall be reasonably requested by Borrower) issued by Agent under this

Agreement and an LC Agreement.
LC AGREEMENT means a letter of credit application and agreement (in form
and substance satisfactory to Agent in its reasonable discretion) submitted by
Borrower to Agent for an LC for the account of any Company.
LC EXPOSURE means, without duplication, the sum of (a) the aggregate face
amount of all undrawn and uncancelled LCs, plus (b) the aggregate unpaid
reimbursement obligations of Borrower under drawings or drafts under any LC.
LC REQUEST means a request substantially in the form of EXHIBIT G.
LC SUBFACILITY means a subfacility under the Revolving Credit Tranche for
the issuance of LCs, as described in SECTION 2.3.
LENDERS means each of the lenders named on the attached SCHEDULE 1 or on
the most recently amended SCHEDULE 1, if any, delivered by Agent under this
Agreement, and, subject to this Agreement, their respective successors and
assigns (but not any Participant who is not otherwise a party to this
Agreement).
LIBOR means, with respect to any LIBOR Loan for any Interest Period
therefor, the rate per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the nearest
1/100 of 1%) appearing on Telerate Page 3750 (or any successor page) as the
London interbank offered rate for deposits in Dollars at approximately 11:00
a.m. (London time) two Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest
Period for a term comparable to such Interest Period. If for any reason such
rate is not available, the term "LIBOR" shall mean, for any LIBOR Loan for any
Interest Period therefor, the rate per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to
the nearest 1/100 of 1%) appearing on Reuters Screen LIBO Page (or any successor
page or any successor service for the purpose of displaying London interbank
offered rates of major banks) as the London interbank offered rate for deposits
in Dollars at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London time) two Business Days prior to
the first day of such Interest Period for a term comparable to such Interest
Period; provided, however, if more than one rate is specified on Reuters Screen
LIBO Page (or any successor page), the applicable rate shall be the arithmetic
mean of all such rates.
LIBOR LOAN means a Loan bearing interest at the sum of LIBOR plus the
Applicable Margin.
LIEN means, with respect to any asset, any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge,
security interest or encumbrance of any kind in respect of such asset. For the
purposes of this Agreement, a Person shall be deemed to own subject to a Lien
any asset which it has acquired or holds subject to the interest of a vendor or
lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or other title
retention agreement relating to such asset.
LITIGATION means any action by or before any Tribunal.
LOAN means any amount disbursed by any Lender to Borrower or on behalf of
any Company under the Loan Papers, either as an original disbursement of funds,
the continuation of an amount outstanding, or payment under an LC.
LOAN DATE is defined in SECTION 2.2(a).
LOAN PAPERS means (a) this Agreement and the Notes, (b) the Security
Documents and documents related thereto and each Guaranty, (c) all LCs and LC
Agreements, (d) any Financial Hedge between Borrower and any

Lender or an Affiliate of any Lender, and (e) all renewals, extensions and
restatements of, and amendments and supplements to, any of the foregoing.
LOAN REQUEST means a request substantially in the form of EXHIBIT D.
MATERIAL ADVERSE EVENT means any (a) material impairment of the ability of
the Restricted Companies as a whole to perform their payment or other material
obligations under the Loan Papers or material impairment of the ability of Agent
or any Lender to enforce any of the material obligations of the Restricted
Companies as a whole under the Loan Papers, or (b) material and adverse effect
on the financial condition of the Restricted Companies as a whole.
MATERIAL AGREEMENT means, for any Person, any agreement (excluding purchase

orders for material, services or inventory in the ordinary course of business)
to which that Person is a party, by which that Person is bound, or to which any
assets of that Person may be subject, and that is not cancelable by that Person
upon 30 or fewer days' notice without liability for further payment, other than
nominal penalty, and that requires that Person to pay more than $2,000,000
during any 12-month period.
MAXIMUM AMOUNT and MAXIMUM RATE respectively mean, for a Lender, the
maximum non-usurious amount and the maximum non-usurious rate of interest that,
under applicable Law, such Lender is permitted to contract for, charge, take,
reserve or receive on the Obligation held by such Lender.
MULTIEMPLOYER PLAN means a multiemployer plan as defined in Sections 3(37)
or 4001(a)(3) of ERISA or Section 414(f) of the Code to which any Company (or
any Person that, for purposes of Title IV of ERISA, is a member of Borrower's
controlled group or is under common control with Borrower within the meaning of
Section 414 of the Code) is making, or has made, or is accruing, or has accrued,
an obligation to make contributions.
NET EQUITY PROCEEDS means the net cash proceeds received by the Companies
from the issuance and sale of equity securities.
NOTE means a promissory note substantially in the form of EXHIBIT A-1, A-2,
or A-3, as amended, supplemented or restated.
OBLIGATION means all present and future indebtedness and obligations, and
all renewals, increases and extensions thereof, or any part thereof, now or
hereafter owed to Agent and Lenders by the Companies under the Loan Papers,
together with all interest accruing thereon, fees, costs and expenses
(including, without limitation, all attorneys' fees and expenses incurred in the
enforcement or collection thereof) payable under the Loan Papers or in
connection with the protection of Rights under the Loan Papers.
PARTICIPANT is defined in SECTION 14.12(b).
PBGC means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation, or any successor
thereof, established under ERISA.
PERMITTED DEBT means:
(a)

the Obligation;

(b)
amounts owed, and all guarantee obligations in existence on the
date hereof of any Company, in connection with the Vail Bonds and the
Ralston Bonds;
(c)
Subordinated Debt of VRI, VHI or Borrower and Debt incurred to
refinance VRI's 12- 1/4% Senior Subordinated Notes Due 2002;
(d)
Debt arising from endorsing negotiable instruments for collection
in the ordinary course of business;
(e)
contingent obligations of Borrower under the $10,115,000 Standby
Bond Purchase Agreement between Borrower and Colorado National Bank, as
Trustee, dated July 9, 1996;
(f)
in addition to the foregoing, (i) Debt of Unrestricted
Subsidiaries which is non-recourse to the Restricted Companies and their
assets, (ii) fees and other amounts payable under the Forest Service
Permits in the ordinary course of business, and (iii) inter-Company Debt
between Restricted Companies;
(g)
approximately $3,000,000 remaining outstanding under a $4,500,000
term loan payable by Ralston Resorts to National Australia Bank Limited in
connection with the Keystone Conference Center and refinancings thereof;
and
(h)
in addition to the foregoing, up to $40,000,000 of additional
Debt of the Companies in the aggregate at any point in time.
PERMITTED LIENS means:
(a)

Liens directly securing the Obligation;

(b)
Liens created by, or pursuant to, the Collateral Agency Agreement
for the benefit of the holders of the Vail Bonds and the Debt Service
Reserve Funds established pursuant to the Loan Agreements described in the
Collateral Agency Agreement;
(c)
Liens on the amounts in the Bond Fund, Redemption Fund and Rebate
Fund established and maintained in accordance with the provisions of the
documents executed in connection with the issuance of the Ralston Bonds;
(d)
Liens on assets of Unrestricted Subsidiaries securing Debt which
is non-recourse to the Restricted Companies and their assets;
(e)

purchase money liens which encumber only the assets acquired;

(f)
pledges or deposits made to secure payment of workers'
compensation, unemployment insurance or other forms of governmental
insurance or benefits or to participate in any fund in connection with
workers' compensation, unemployment insurance, pensions or other social
security programs;
(g)
good-faith pledges or deposits made to secure performance of
bids, tenders, contracts (other than for the repayment of borrowed money)
or leases, or to secure statutory obligations, surety or appeal bonds or
indemnity, performance or other similar bonds in the ordinary course of
business;
(h)
encumbrances and restrictions on the use of real property which
do not materially impair the use thereof;
(i)
the following, if either (1) no amounts are due and payable and
no Lien has been filed or agreed to, or (2) the validity or amount thereof
is being contested in good faith by lawful proceedings diligently
conducted, reserve or other provision required by GAAP has been made, levy
and execution thereon have been (and continue to be) stayed or payment
thereof is covered in full (subject to the customary deductible) by
insurance: (i) Liens for Taxes; (ii) Liens upon, and defects of title to,
property, including any attachment of property or other legal process prior
to adjudication of a dispute on the merits;
(iii) Liens imposed by operation of law (including, without limitation,
Liens of mechanics, materialmen, warehousemen, carriers and landlords, and
similar Liens); and (iv) adverse judgments on appeal;
(j)
any interest or title of a lessor or licensor in assets being
leased or licensed to a Company;
(k)
licenses, leases or subleases granted to third Persons which do
not interfere in any material respect with the business conducted by the
Companies;
(l)
any Lien on any asset of any corporation that becomes a
Subsidiary of VRI, which Lien exists at the time such corporation becomes a
Subsidiary of VRI and is not created in contemplation thereof;
(m)
in respect of Water Rights, the provisions of the instruments
evidencing such Water Rights and any matter affecting such Water Rights
which does not affect the Companies' rights to sufficient quantity and
quality of water to conduct business as in effect on the date hereof or any
expansion planned as of the date hereof (including, without limitation, any
Lien of the Colorado Water Conservation Board, or its successors and
assigns, on stock owned by any Company in a Colorado ditch and reservoir
company formed in accordance with the Colorado Corporation Code, as
amended);
(n)
in respect of the Forest Service Permits, the provisions of the
instruments evidencing such permits and all rights of the United States and
its agencies with respect thereto or with respect to the land affected
thereby; and
(o)
Liens on cash accounts not to exceed $250,000 in the aggregate at
the FirstBank of Vail established in connection with collateralizing a
portion, if any, of certain second mortgage loans made by such bank, and
guaranteed by Borrower, as part of the Vail Associates Home Mortgage
Program for Borrower's employees.

PERSON means any individual, partnership, entity or Tribunal.
PLEDGE AGREEMENTS means the following, each of even date herewith and
substantially in the form of EXHIBIT C: (a) Pledge Agreement from VRI relating
to the capital stock issued by VHI and each of VRI's other direct Restricted
Subsidiaries, (b) Pledge Agreement from VHI relating to the capital stock issued
by Borrower, (c) Pledge Agreement from Borrower relating to the capital stock
issued by Ralston Resorts and Borrower's other direct Restricted Subsidiaries,
(d) Pledge Agreement from Ralston Resorts relating to the capital stock issued
by its Restricted Subsidiaries and its Rights with respect to Distributions from
Keystone/Intrawest L.L.C., (e) Pledge Agreement from Vail Associates Real Estate
Group, Inc., relating to the capital stock issued by its direct Restricted
Subsidiaries, (f) Pledge Agreement from Beaver Creek Associates, Inc., relating
to the capital stock issued by its Restricted Subsidiary, and (g) Pledge
Agreement from Vail Associates Real Estate, Inc., relating to the capital stock
issued by its Restricted Subsidiary and its 50% ownership interest in Slifer,
Smith & Frampton/Vail Associates Real Estate, L.L.C.
POTENTIAL DEFAULT means the occurrence of any event or existence of any
circumstance that would, upon notice or lapse of time or both, become a Default.
PRINCIPAL DEBT means, at any time, the unpaid principal balance of all
Loans.
PRO RATA and PRO RATA PART means, when determined for any Lender, (a) with
respect to the Revolving Credit Tranche, if no Principal Debt is outstanding,
the proportion (stated as a percentage) that its commitment for such Tranche
bears to Lenders' aggregate commitment for such Tranche, or if any Principal
Debt is outstanding, the proportion (stated as a percentage) that its Principal
Debt under such Tranche bears to all such Principal Debt, (b)
with respect to the Tranche A Term Loan or the Tranche B Term Loan, the
proportion (stated as a percentage) that its Principal Debt under such Tranche
bears to all such Principal Debt, and (c) with respect to the Facility as a
whole, if no Default or Potential Default exists, the proportion (stated as a
percentage) that its Committed Sum bears to the Total Commitment, or if a
Default or Potential Default exists, the proportion (stated as a percentage)
that the Principal Debt owed to it bears to the aggregate Principal Debt owed to
all Lenders.
PURCHASER is defined in SECTION 14.12(c).
QUARTERLY DATE means each March 31, June 30, September 30 and December 31.
RALSTON BONDS means (a) the Summit County, Colorado, Sports Facilities
Refunding Revenue Bonds (Keystone Resorts Management, Inc. Project) Series 1990,
in the original principal amount of $20,360,000, (b) the Summit County,
Colorado, Sports Facilities Refunding Revenue Bonds (Keystone Resorts
Management, Inc. Project) Series 1991, in the original principal amount of
$3,000,000, and (c) refinancings of any of the foregoing.
RALSTON FOREST SERVICE PERMITS means (a) Term Special Use Permit Holder No.
5289-01 for Keystone ski area issued by the Service to Ralston Resorts on
December 31, 1996, and expiring on December 31, 2032; (b) Term Special Use
Permit Holder No. 5289-04 for Breckenridge ski area issued by the Service to
Ralston Resorts on December 31, 1996, and expiring on December 31, 2029; (c)
Term Special Use Permit Holder No. 5289-02 for Arapahoe Basin ski area issued by
the Service to Ralston Resorts on December 31, 1996, and expiring on December
31, 2029; and (d) any replacements of any of the foregoing, as contemplated by
SECTION 5.3(b).
RALSTON RESORTS means Ralston Resorts, Inc., a Colorado corporation.
RALSTON RESORTS ACQUISITION means Borrower's acquisition of all of the
capital stock of Ralston Resorts from Ralston Foods, Inc., pursuant to the Stock
Purchase Agreement.
REPRESENTATIVES means representatives, officers, directors, employees,
attorneys and agents.
REQUIRED LENDERS means Lenders holding more than (a) 50% of the Total
Commitment, if no Default or Potential Default exists, or (b) 50% of the
outstanding Principal Debt, if a Default or Potential Default exists.

RESERVE REQUIREMENT means, with respect to any LIBOR Loan for the relevant
Interest Period, the maximum aggregate reserve requirements (including all
basic, supplemental, emergency, special, marginal and other reserves required by
applicable Law) applicable to a member bank of the Federal Reserve System for
eurocurrency fundings or liabilities.
RESORT EBITDA means EBITDA, minus EBITDA related to real estate activities,
and minus any portion of EBITDA attributable to Unrestricted Subsidiaries.
RESPONSIBLE OFFICER means the chairman, president, chief executive officer
or chief financial officer of Borrower.
RESTRICTED COMPANY means VRI, VHI, Borrower and all of VRI's other direct
and indirect Subsidiaries (other than Unrestricted Subsidiaries).
RESTRICTED SUBSIDIARY means VHI, Borrower and all of VRI's other direct and
indirect Subsidiaries (other than Unrestricted Subsidiaries).
REVOLVING CREDIT COMMITMENT means the amount (as reduced and canceled under
this Agreement) so designated beside a Lender's name on SCHEDULE 1 as most
recently amended under this Agreement.

REVOLVING CREDIT COMMITMENT USAGE means, at any time, the sum of (a) the
aggregate Principal Debt under the Revolving Credit Tranche, plus (b) the LC
Exposure.
REVOLVING CREDIT TERMINATION DATE means the earlier of (a) April 15, 2003,
and (b) the effective date that the Lenders' commitments to lend under this
Agreement are otherwise canceled or terminated.
REVOLVING CREDIT TRANCHE is defined in SECTION 2.1.
RIGHTS means rights, remedies, powers, privileges and benefits.
SCHEDULED PRINCIPAL PAYMENTS means the installments of principal due on the
Term Loans as described on SCHEDULE 3.2.
SECURITY DOCUMENTS means, collectively, the Pledge Agreements, the Forest
Service Assignments and any other security agreements or similar documents
entered into by any Restricted Company from time to time pursuant to the Loan
Papers, as amended, supplemented or restated.
SERVICE means the United States Department of Agriculture Forest Service or
any successor agency.
SMITH CREEK BONDS means the Smith Creek Metropolitan District, Eagle
County, Colorado Variable Rate Revenue Bonds, the initial series of which was
Series 1995 in the original principal amount of $26,000,000 and the second
series of which will be Series 1997 in the original principal amount of
$18,500,000.
SMITH CREEK INDENTURE means the Trust Indenture dated as of April 1, 1995,
by and between Smith Creek Metropolitan District, as Issuer, and the Smith Creek
Trustee, relating to the Smith Creek Bonds, as supplemented by the First
Supplemental Trust Indenture dated as of March 1, 1997, by and between Smith
Creek Metropolitan District and the Smith Creek Trustee, and as amended, further
supplemented or restated from time to time.
SMITH CREEK LC means either of the two irrevocable transferable LCs issued
to the Smith Creek Trustee, under the terms of which it will be entitled to
draw, with respect to the applicable series of Smith Creek Bonds, up to (a) an
amount sufficient to pay (i) the principal of the "Outstanding Bonds" (as
defined in the Smith Creek Indenture) when due, or (ii) the portion of the
purchase price of Outstanding Bonds tendered or deemed tendered for purchase in
accordance with the Smith Creek Indenture and not subsequently remarketed
corresponding to the principal amount of such bonds, plus (b) an amount equal to
approximately 185 days of accrued interest on the Outstanding Bonds (at 12% per
annum or such higher rate as the Smith Creek Trustee may designate in accordance
with the Smith Creek Indenture), to pay (i) interest on the Outstanding Bonds
when due, or (ii) the portion of the purchase price of Outstanding Bonds
tendered or deemed tendered for purchase in accordance with the Smith Creek
Indenture and not subsequently remarketed corresponding to accrued interest then

due on such bonds. The initial Smith Creek LC, issued in connection with the
Series 1995 Smith Creek Bonds, was in the maximum amount of $27,581,370 and, as
amended, will expire on October 15, 2002. The second Smith Creek LC, issued in
connection with the Series 1997 Smith Creek Bonds, will be in the maximum amount
of $19,625,206 and will also expire on October 15, 2002. Each Smith Creek LC
will constitute an LC issued under this Agreement.
SMITH CREEK TRUSTEE means Colorado National Bank, as the Successor Trustee
under the Smith Creek Trust Indenture, and any future successor thereto.
SOLVENT means, as to a Person, that (a) the aggregate fair market value of
its assets exceeds its liabilities, (b) it has sufficient cash flow to enable it
to pay its Debts as they mature, and (c) it does not have unreasonably small
capital to conduct its businesses.
STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT means the Stock Purchase Agreement dated July 22,
1996, among VRI, Ralston Foods, Inc., and Ralston Resorts, as amended.

SUBORDINATED DEBT means (a) VRI's 12- 1/4% Senior Subordinated Notes Due
2002, currently in the amount of $62,647,000 and (b) any other unsecured
indebtedness for borrowed money for which a Company is directly and
primarily obligated that (i) does not have any stated maturity before the latest
maturity of any part of the Obligation if such indebtedness was created after
the Closing Date, (ii) has terms that are no more restrictive upon the Company
than the terms of the Loan Papers, and (iii) is subordinated, upon terms
satisfactory to Agent, to the payment and collection of the Obligation.
SUBSIDIARY means with respect to any Person, any corporation or other
entity of which securities or other ownership interests having ordinary voting
power to elect a majority of the board of directors or other persons performing
similar functions are at the time directly or indirectly owned by such Person.
TAXES means, for any Person, taxes, assessments or other governmental
charges or levies imposed upon it, its income, or any of its properties,
franchises or assets.
TERM LOANS means the Tranche A Term Loan and the Tranche B Term Loan.
TOTAL COMMITMENT means, at any time, the sum of all Committed Sums for all
Lenders (as reduced or canceled under this Agreement) then in effect.
TRANCHE means each of the Revolving Credit Tranche, the Tranche A Term Loan
and the Tranche B Term Loan.
TRANCHE A COMMITMENT means the amount (as reduced or canceled under this
Agreement) so designated beside a Lender's name on SCHEDULE 1 as most recently
amended under this Agreement.
TRANCHE A TERMINATION DATE means the earlier of (a) April 15, 2003, and (b)
the effective date that Lenders' commitments to lend under this Agreement are
otherwise canceled or terminated.
TRANCHE A TERM LOAN is defined in SECTION 2.1(b).
TRANCHE B COMMITMENT means the amount (as reduced or canceled under this
Agreement) so designated beside a Lender's name on SCHEDULE 1 as most recently
amended under this Agreement.
TRANCHE B TERMINATION DATE means the earlier of (a) April 15, 2004, and (b)
the effective date that Lenders' commitments to lend under this Agreement are
otherwise canceled or terminated.
TRANCHE B TERM LOAN is defined in SECTION 2.1(c).
TRIBUNAL means any (a) local, state, or federal judicial, executive, or
legislative instrumentality, (b) private arbitration board or panel, or (c)
central bank.
TRUSTEE means the Smith Creek Trustee or the BC Housing Trustee, and
TRUSTEES means the Smith Creek Trustee and the BC Housing Trustee.
TYPE means any type of Loan determined with respect to the applicable
interest option.

UCP means The Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits, 1993
Revision, International Chamber of Commerce Publication No. 500 (as amended or
modified).
UNRESTRICTED SUBSIDIARY means Vail Associates Investments, Inc., and any
newly-formed Subsidiary created by Borrower pursuant to SECTION 8.12 (which may
be a partnership, joint venture, corporation or other entity) (a) which does not
own any Forest Service Permit or the stock of any Restricted Company (regardless
of

whether the Liens of the Security Documents relating to such assets have been
released) or any of the assets described on SCHEDULE 2, (b) which has (and whose
other partners, joint venturers or shareholders have) no Debt or other material
obligation which is recourse to any Restricted Company or to the assets of any
Restricted Company (other than with respect to limited guarantees or other
recourse agreements of the Companies which are permitted to be incurred
hereunder within the $40,000,000 of recourse Debt allowed under clause (h) of
the definition of "Permitted Debt"), and (c) which has been designated by
Borrower as an Unrestricted Subsidiary by notice to Agent.
VAIL BONDS means (a) the Eagle County, Colorado, Sports Facilities Revenue
Refunding Bonds (Beaver Creek Associates Project) Series 1992, in the original
principal amount of $19,600,000, (b) the Eagle County, Colorado, Sports and
Housing Facilities Refunding Bonds (Vail Associates Project) Series 1992, in the
original principal amount of $21,600,000, and (c) refinancings of any of the
foregoing.
VAIL FOREST SERVICE PERMITS means (a) Ski Area Term Special Use Permit
Holder No. 4056/01 issued by the Service to Borrower for the Vail ski area on
November 23, 1993, and expiring on October 31, 2031; (b) Term Special Use Permit
No. Holder 4191/01 issued by the Service to Borrower's wholly-owned subsidiary,
Beaver Creek Associates, Inc., for the Beaver Creek ski area on January 29,
1980, and expiring on December 31, 2006; (c) Special Use Permit Holder No.
4191/02 issued by the Service to Beaver Creek Associates, Inc., on January 29,
1980, to supplement Term Special Use Permit Holder No. 4191/01, and expiring on
December 31, 2006; and (d) any replacements of any of the foregoing, as
contemplated by SECTION 5.3(b).
VHI means Vail Holdings, Inc., a Colorado corporation and the direct owner
of Borrower.
VRI means Vail Resorts, Inc., a Delaware corporation and the indirect owner
of Borrower.
WATER RIGHTS means all water rights and conditional water rights that are
appurtenant to real property owned by the Companies or that have been used or
are intended for use in connection with the conduct of the business of the
Companies, including but not limited to (a) ditch, well, pipeline, spring and
reservoir rights, whether or not adjudicated or evidenced by any well or other
permit, (b) all rights with respect to groundwater underlying any real property
owned by the Companies, (c) any permit to construct any water well, water from
which is intended to be used in connection with such real property, and (d) all
right, title and interest of the Companies under any decreed or pending plan of
augmentation or water exchange plan.
1.2

Number and Gender of Words. The singular number includes the plural
-------------------------where appropriate and vice versa, and words of any gender include each other
gender where appropriate.
1.3

Accounting Principles. Under the Loan Papers and any documents
--------------------delivered thereunder, unless otherwise stated, (a) GAAP in effect on the date of
this Agreement determines all accounting and financial terms and compliance with
financial covenants, (b) otherwise, all accounting principles applied in a
current period must be comparable in all material respects to those applied
during the preceding comparable period, and (c) while VRI has any consolidated
Restricted Subsidiaries, all accounting and financial terms and compliance with
financial covenants must be on a consolidating and consolidated basis, as
applicable.
SECTION 2 COMMITMENT.

- --------- ---------2.1

Credit Facility.
---------------

(a) Subject to the provisions in the Loan Papers, each Lender shown
on SCHEDULE 1 as providing a Revolving Credit Commitment hereby severally
and not jointly agrees to lend to Borrower its Pro Rata Part (in accordance
with its Revolving Credit Commitment) of one or more revolving Loans in an
aggregate principal amount outstanding at any time up to such Lender's
Revolving Credit Commitment which Borrower may borrow, repay, and reborrow
under this Agreement (collectively for all Lenders, the "REVOLVING CREDIT
TRANCHE"). Revolving Credit Loans are subject to the following conditions:
(i)
Each Revolving Credit Loan must occur on a Business Day
and no later than the Business Day immediately preceding the Revolving
Credit Termination Date;
(ii) Each Revolving Credit Loan must be in an amount not less
than (i) $500,000 or a greater integral multiple of $100,000 (if a
Base Rate Loan), or (ii) $1,000,000 or a greater integral multiple of
$100,000 (if a LIBOR Loan);
(iii) When determined, (i) Revolving Credit Commitment Usage may
not exceed the aggregate commitment under the Revolving Credit Tranche
(as such amount is reduced and canceled in accordance with this
Agreement), and (ii) for any Lender, its Pro Rata Part of the
Revolving Credit Commitment Usage may not exceed such Lender's
Revolving Credit Commitment; and
(iv) During each fiscal year of the Companies there must be a
period of at least 30 consecutive days (which period must include
April 15th of such year) when the unused portion of the aggregate
commitment under the Revolving Credit Tranche equals or exceeds
$50,000,000.
(b)
Subject to the provisions in the Loan Papers, each Lender shown
on SCHEDULE 1 as providing a Tranche A Commitment hereby severally and not
jointly agrees to lend to Borrower on the Closing Date its part of a single
disbursement of funds in the amount of such Lender's Tranche A Commitment
which, when repaid, may not be reborrowed hereunder (collectively for all
Lenders, the "TRANCHE A TERM LOAN").
(c)
Subject to the provisions in the Loan Papers, each Lender shown
on SCHEDULE 1 as providing a Tranche B Commitment hereby severally and not
jointly agrees to lend to Borrower on the Closing Date its part of a single
disbursement of funds in the amount of such Lender's Tranche B Commitment
which, when repaid, may not be reborrowed hereunder (collectively for all
Lenders, the "TRANCHE B TERM LOAN").
2.2

Loan Procedure.
--------------

(a) Borrower may request a Loan by submitting to Agent a Loan
Request, which is irrevocable and binding on Borrower. It must be received
by Agent no later than 1:00 p.m. on the third Business Day preceding the
date on which funds are requested (the "LOAN DATE") for any LIBOR Loan or
no later than 1:00 p.m. on the Business Day immediately preceding the Loan
Date for any Base Rate Loan. Agent shall promptly notify each Lender of
its receipt of any Loan Request and its contents.
(b) Each Lender shall remit its applicable Pro Rata Part of each
requested Loan under a Tranche for which such Lender has provided a
commitment to Agent's principal office in Dallas, Texas, in funds that are
available for immediate use by Agent by 11:00 a.m. on the applicable Loan
Date. Subject to receipt of such funds, Agent shall (unless to its actual
knowledge any of the applicable conditions precedent have not been
satisfied by Borrower or waived by Required Lenders) make such funds
available to Borrower as directed in the Loan Request.
(c) Absent contrary written notice from a Lender, Agent may assume
that each Lender which has provided a commitment for the relevant Tranche
has made its Pro Rata Part of the requested Loan available to Agent on the
applicable Loan Date, and Agent may, in reliance upon such assumption (but

shall not be required to), make available to Borrower a corresponding
amount. If a Lender fails to make such Pro Rata Part of any requested Loan
available to Agent on the applicable Loan Date, Agent may recover the
applicable amount on demand (i) from that Lender, together with interest at
the Federal Funds Rate during the period commencing on the date the amount
was made available to Borrower by Agent and
ending on (but excluding) the date Agent recovers the amount from that
Lender, or (ii), if that Lender fails to pay its amount upon demand, then
from Borrower, together with interest at an annual interest rate equal to
the rate applicable to the requested Loan during the period commencing on
the Loan Date and ending on (but excluding) the date Agent recovers the
amount from Borrower. No Lender is responsible for the failure of any other
Lender to fund any part of any Loan.
2.3

LC Subfacility.
--------------

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and
applicable Law, Agent agrees to issue LCs under the Revolving Credit
Tranche upon Borrower's delivery of an LC Request and an LC Agreement, each
of which must be received by Agent no later than 1:00 p.m. on the third
Business Day preceding the date on which the requested LC is to be issued;
provided that the LC Exposure may not exceed $85,000,000 and the Revolving
Credit Commitment Usage may not exceed the aggregate commitment under the
Revolving Credit Tranche (as such amount is reduced and canceled in
accordance with this Agreement). Each LC (other than Smith Creek LCs) must
expire no later than 13 months from its issuance; provided that any LC
(other than Smith Creek LCs) may, at Borrower's request, provide that it is
self-extending upon its expiration date for successive periods of 6 to 12
months each (as selected by Borrower), unless Agent has given the
beneficiary thereunder at least 30 days (but no more than 120 days) prior
written notice to the contrary (provided, however, that such notice shall
in no event be given by Agent unless (i) Agent is directed so to do by
Borrower or (ii) a Default exists). Amounts drawn under Smith Creek LCs
are subject to reinstatement upon the terms set forth therein. In no event
may any LC have an expiration date later than the Revolving Credit
Termination Date.
(b) Immediately upon Agent's issuance of any LC, Agent shall be
deemed to have sold and transferred to each Lender with a Revolving Credit
Commitment, and each such Lender shall be deemed irrevocably and
unconditionally to have purchased and received from Agent, without recourse
or warranty, an undivided interest and participation (to the extent of such
Lender's Pro Rata Part of the Revolving Credit Tranche) in the LC and all
applicable Rights of Agent in the LC (other than Rights to receive the
fronting fees provided for in SECTION 4.3). Agent shall provide a copy of
each LC to each such Lender promptly after issuance.
(c) To induce Agent to issue and maintain LCs, and to induce Lenders
to participate in issued LCs, Borrower agrees to pay or reimburse Agent (i)
on or before the date when any draft or draw request is presented under any
LC, the amount paid or to be paid by Agent (subject to a credit, in the
case of a Smith Creek LC or the BC Housing LC, for any portion of such
reimbursement received by Agent directly from the relevant Trustee for the
account of Borrower under the relevant Indenture) and (ii) promptly, upon
demand, the amount of any additional fees Agent customarily charges for the
application and issuance of an LC, for amending LC Agreements, for honoring
drafts and draw requests, and taking similar action in connection with
letters of credit. If Borrower (or, in the case of a drawing under a Smith
Creek LC or the BC Housing LC, the relevant Trustee) has not reimbursed
Agent for any drafts or draws paid or to be paid and Borrower has not
requested a Loan to fund such reimbursement obligations within 24 hours
following Agent's demand for reimbursement, Agent is irrevocably authorized
to fund Borrower's reimbursement obligations as a Loan under the Revolving
Credit Tranche(and the proceeds of the Loan shall be advanced directly to
Agent to pay Borrower's unpaid reimbursement obligations). If funds cannot
be advanced under the Revolving Credit Tranche because the Revolving Credit
Commitment has been terminated under SECTION 12.1, then Borrower's
reimbursement obligation shall constitute a demand obligation. Borrower's
obligations under this SECTION 2.3(C) are absolute and unconditional under
any and all circumstances and irrespective of any setoff, counterclaim or
defense (other than payment) that Borrower may have at any time against
Agent or any other Person. Agent shall promptly distribute reimbursement

payments received from Borrower to all Lenders according to their Pro Rata
Part of the Revolving Credit Tranche. From the date due to the date paid,
unpaid reimbursement amounts accrue interest that is payable on demand at
the Default Rate.
(d) Agent shall promptly notify Borrower of the date and amount of
any draft or draw request presented for honor under any LC and the date and
amount of any payment by Agent in connection therewith (but failure to give
notice will not affect Borrower's obligations under this Agreement). Agent
shall pay the requested amount upon presentment of a draft or draw request
unless presentment on its face does not comply with the terms of the
applicable LC. When making payment, Agent may disregard (i) any default or
potential default that exists under any other agreement and (ii)
obligations under any other agreement that have or have not been performed
by the beneficiary or any other Person (and Agent is not liable for any of
those obligations). Borrower's reimbursement obligations to Agent and
Lenders, and each Lender's obligations to Agent, under this SECTION 2.3 are
absolute and unconditional irrespective of, and Agent is not responsible
for, (i) the validity, enforceability, sufficiency, accuracy or genuineness
of documents or endorsements (even if they are in any respect invalid,
unenforceable, insufficient, inaccurate, fraudulent or forged), (ii) any
dispute by any Company with or any Company's claims, setoffs, defenses
(other than payment), counterclaims or other Rights against Agent, any
Lender or any other Person, or (iii) the occurrence of any Potential
Default or Default.
(e) If Borrower (or, in the case of a drawing under a Smith Creek LC
or the BC Housing LC, the relevant Trustee) fails to reimburse Agent as
provided in SECTION 2.3(C) within 24 hours after Agent's demand for
reimbursement, and funds cannot be advanced under the Revolving Credit
Tranche to satisfy the reimbursement obligations, Agent shall promptly
notify each Lender of Borrower's failure, of the date and amount paid, and
of each Lender's Pro Rata Part under the Revolving Credit Tranche of the
unreimbursed amount. Each Lender shall promptly and unconditionally make
available to Agent in immediately available funds such Pro Rata Part of the
unpaid reimbursement obligation. Funds are due and payable to Agent before
the close of business on the Business Day when Agent gives notice to each
Lender of Borrower's reimbursement failure (if notice is received by such
Lender before 2:00 p.m.) (in the time zone where such Lender's office
listed on SCHEDULE 1 is located) or on the next succeeding Business Day (if
received after 2:00 p.m.). All amounts payable by any Lender accrue
interest at the Federal Funds Rate from the day the applicable draft or
draw is paid by Agent to (but not including) the date the amount is paid by
the Lender to Agent.
(f) Borrower acknowledges that each LC is deemed issued upon delivery
to the beneficiary or Borrower. If Borrower requests any LC be delivered
to Borrower rather than the beneficiary, and Borrower subsequently cancels
that LC, Borrower agrees to return it to Agent together with Borrower's
written certification that it has never been delivered to the beneficiary.
If any LC is delivered to the beneficiary under Borrower's instructions,
Borrower's cancellation is ineffective without Agent's receipt of the
beneficiary's written consent and the LC. BORROWER SHALL INDEMNIFY AGENT
FOR ALL LOSSES, COSTS, DAMAGES, EXPENSES AND REASONABLE ATTORNEYS' FEES
SUFFERED OR INCURRED BY AGENT RESULTING FROM ANY DISPUTE CONCERNING
BORROWER'S CANCELLATION OF ANY LC.
(g) Agent agrees with each Lender that it will exercise and give the
same care and attention to each LC as it gives to its other letters of
credit. Each Lender and Borrower agree that, in paying any draft or draw
under any LC, Agent has no responsibility to obtain any document (other
than any documents expressly required by the respective LC) or to ascertain
or inquire as to any document's validity, enforceability, sufficiency,
accuracy or genuineness or the authority of any Person delivering it.
Neither Agent nor its Representatives will be liable to any Lender or any
Company for any LC's use or for any beneficiary's acts or omissions. Any
action, inaction, error, delay or omission taken or suffered by Agent or
any of its Representatives in connection with any LC, applicable draws,
drafts or documents, or the transmission, dispatch or delivery of any
related message or advice, if in good faith and in conformity with
applicable Laws and in accordance with the standards of care specified in
the UCP, is binding upon the Companies and Lenders and does not place Agent
or any of its Representatives under any resulting liability to any Company
or any Lender. AGENT AND ITS REPRESENTATIVES ARE NOT LIABLE TO ANY COMPANY

OR ANY LENDER FOR ANY ACTION TAKEN OR OMITTED, IN THE ABSENCE OF GROSS
NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL
MISCONDUCT, BY AGENT OR ITS REPRESENTATIVE IN CONNECTION WITH ANY LC.
(h) On the Revolving Credit Termination Date, or during the
continuance of any Default under SECTION 11.3, or upon any demand by Agent
during the continuance of any other Default, Borrower shall provide to
Agent, for the benefit of Lenders, cash collateral in an amount equal to
the then-existing LC Exposure. Any cash collateral provided by Borrower to
Agent hereunder shall be deposited by Agent in an interest-bearing cash
collateral account maintained with Agent at the office of Agent and
invested in obligations issued or guaranteed by the United States and, upon
cure of any Default or upon the surrender of any LC, Agent shall deliver
the appropriate funds (together with interest earned with respect thereto)
on deposit in such collateral account to Borrower.
(i) BORROWER SHALL PROTECT, INDEMNIFY, PAY AND SAVE AGENT, EACH
LENDER AND THEIR RESPECTIVE REPRESENTATIVES HARMLESS FROM AND AGAINST ANY
AND ALL CLAIMS, DEMANDS, LIABILITIES, DAMAGES, LOSSES, COSTS, CHARGES AND
EXPENSES (INCLUDING REASONABLE ATTORNEYS' FEES) WHICH ANY OF THEM MAY INCUR
OR BE SUBJECT TO AS A CONSEQUENCE OF THE ISSUANCE OF ANY LC, ANY DISPUTE
ABOUT IT, OR THE FAILURE OF AGENT TO HONOR A DRAFT OR DRAW REQUEST UNDER
ANY LC, UNLESS THEY ARISE AS A RESULT OF AGENT'S FAILURE TO ACT IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROCEDURES OF THE UCP (AS MODIFIED BY ANY LC AGREEMENT
OR OTHER WRITING BETWEEN BORROWER AND AGENT).
(j) Although referenced in any LC, terms of any particular agreement
or other obligation to the beneficiary are not incorporated into this
Agreement in any manner. The fees and other amounts payable with respect
to each LC are as provided in this Agreement, drafts and draws under each
LC are part of the Obligation, and the terms of this Agreement control any
conflict between the terms of this Agreement and any LC Agreement.
SECTION 3 TERMS OF PAYMENT.
- --------- ---------------3.1

Notes and Payments.
------------------

(a) Principal Debt under the Facility shall be evidenced by Notes,
payable to each Lender in the stated principal amount of its Revolving
Credit Commitment, its Tranche A Commitment, and/or its Tranche B
Commitment, as applicable.
(b) Borrower must make each payment on the Obligation to Agent's
principal office in Dallas, Texas, in funds that will be available for
immediate use by Agent by 12:00 noon on the day due; otherwise, but subject
to SECTION 3.8, those funds continue to accrue interest as if they were
received on the next Business Day. Agent shall pay to each Lender any
payment to which that Lender is entitled on the same day Agent receives the
funds from Borrower if Agent receives the payment before 12:00 noon, and
otherwise before 12:00 noon on the following Business Day. If and to the
extent that Agent does not make payments to Lenders when due, unpaid
amounts shall accrue interest at the Federal Funds Rate from the due date
until (but not including) the payment date.
3.2

Interest and Principal Payments; Voluntary Commitment Reductions.
----------------------------------------------------------------

(a) Accrued interest on each LIBOR Loan is due and payable on the
last day of its Interest Period. If any Interest Period with respect to a
LIBOR Loan is a period greater than three months, then accrued interest is
also due and payable on the date three months after the commencement of the
Interest Period. Accrued interest on each Base Rate Loan is due and
payable on each Quarterly Date (commencing December 31, 1996) and on the
Revolving Credit Termination Date, the Tranche A Termination Date, and the
Tranche B Termination Date, respectively, with respect to those portions of
the Principal Debt due on such termination dates.
(b) The Principal Debt under the Revolving Credit Tranche is due and
payable on the Revolving Credit Termination Date. The Principal Debt under
the Term Loans is due and payable in installments as set forth on SCHEDULE

3.2. Upon any mandatory or voluntary prepayment of the Term Loans pursuant
to SECTION 3.2(d) or (e), Agent shall prepare and distribute to Borrower
and Lenders a revised SCHEDULE 3.2 reflecting the application of such
prepayments in accordance with such Sections. In any event, any Principal
Debt and accrued interest remaining outstanding under the Tranche A Term
Loan is due and payable on the Tranche A Termination Date and any Principal
Debt and accrued interest remaining outstanding under the Tranche B Term
Loan is due and payable on the Tranche B Termination Date.
(c) If the Revolving Credit Commitment Usage ever exceeds the
aggregate commitment under the Revolving Credit Tranche, Borrower shall pay
Principal Debt under the Revolving Credit Tranche in at least the amount of
that excess, together with (i) all accrued and unpaid interest on the
principal amount so paid and (ii) any resulting Funding Loss.
(d) Borrower shall make mandatory prepayments on the Term Loans equal
to the following amounts:
(i)
Immediately upon receipt thereof, 100% of the net cash
proceeds (after selling expenses and income taxes related thereto and
any reserves for retained liabilities until such liabilities are
extinguished) received by any Restricted Company from any disposition
of:
(A) any asset described on SCHEDULE 2 (other than from the
licensing of Intellectual Property, the sale of equipment for
fair and adequate consideration which is replaced with new or
upgraded equipment, or the sale of inventory, in each case in the
ordinary course of business), and
(B) any other asset (including stock of Subsidiaries) in
excess of $1,000,000 per disposition and in excess of $5,000,000
for all dispositions in any fiscal year of the Companies, other
than (1) proceeds from dispositions of real estate made by the
Companies in the ordinary course of their real estate activities,
and (2) proceeds which are reinvested by the Companies in similar
assets within 180 days;
(ii) On April 15th of each year, commencing with April 15, 1998,
50% of the Restricted Companies' Excess Cash Flow for their preceding
fiscal year; and
(iii) Immediately upon receipt thereof, 100% of the first
$65,000,000 of Net Equity Proceeds (or net cash proceeds received by
the Companies from an issuance of Subordinated Debt) and 50% of any
such net proceeds in excess of $100,000,000 (but, in each case, only
to the extent such proceeds are not used to pay Subordinated Debt,
including accrued interest and premium thereon).
Any mandatory payment of Principal Debt under this SECTION 3.2(d) on the
Term Loans shall be (A) allocated pro rata between the Term Loans, and (B)
then applied pro rata to all remaining installments of principal due on
each Term Loan.
(e)
follows:

Borrower may voluntarily reduce or prepay the Facility as

(i) Without premium or penalty and upon giving at least two
Business Days prior written and irrevocable notice to Agent, Borrower
may terminate all or reduce part of the unused portion of the
aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment. Each partial reduction (unless
the remaining portion of such commitment is less) must be in an amount
of not less than $5,000,000
or a greater integral multiple of $1,000,000, and shall be Pro Rata
among all Lenders according to their respective Revolving Credit
Commitments. Once terminated or reduced, such commitments may not be
reinstated or increased.
(ii) Borrower may voluntarily prepay all or any part of the
Principal Debt at any time without premium or penalty, subject to the
following conditions:
(A) Agent must receive Borrower's written payment notice
(which shall specify (1) the payment date, (2) the Type and

amount of the Loan(s) to be paid, (3) whether such payment is to
be applied to the Revolving Credit Tranche or to the Term Loans,
and (4) which option Borrower elects under clause (E) below with
respect to the application of any payment to the Term Loans; such
notice shall constitute an irrevocable and binding obligation of
Borrower to make a payment on the designated date) by 1:00 p.m.
on (x) the third Business Day preceding the date of payment of a
LIBOR Loan and (y) the date of payment of a Base Rate Loan;
(B) each partial payment on the Revolving Credit Tranche
must be in a minimum amount of at least $500,000 if a Base Rate
Loan or $1,000,000 if a LIBOR Loan or, in either case, a greater
integral multiple of $100,000, and each partial payment on the
Term Loans must be in a minimum amount of at least $5,000,000 or
a greater integral multiple of $1,000,000;
(C) all accrued interest on the principal amount so to be
prepaid must also be paid in full on the date of payment;
(D) Borrower shall pay any related Funding Loss upon demand;
and
(E) any voluntary payment of Principal Debt on the Term
Loans shall be (1) allocated pro rata between the Term Loans, and
(2) then applied, at Borrower's option, either pro rata to the
next two installments of principal due on each Term Loan or pro
rata to all remaining installments of principal due on each Term
Loan.
3.3

Interest Options. Except where specifically otherwise provided, Loans
---------------bear interest at an annual rate equal to the lesser of (a) the Base Rate plus
the Applicable Margin or LIBOR plus the Applicable Margin for the Interest
Period, if any, selected by Borrower (in each case as designated or deemed
designated by Borrower), as the case may be, and (b) the Maximum Rate. Each
change in the Base Rate and Maximum Rate is effective, without notice to
Borrower or any other Person, upon the effective date of change.
3.4

Quotation of Rates. A Responsible Officer of Borrower may call Agent
-----------------before delivering a Loan Request to receive an indication of the interest rates
then in effect, but the indicated rates do not bind Agent or Lenders or affect
the interest rate that is actually in effect when Borrower delivers its Loan
Request or on the Loan Date.
3.5

Default Rate. If permitted by Law, all past-due Principal Debt,
-----------Borrower's past-due payment and reimbursement obligations in connection with
LCs, and past-due interest accruing on any of the foregoing bears interest from
the date due (stated or by acceleration) at the Default Rate until paid,
regardless whether payment is made before or after entry of a judgment.
3.6

Interest Recapture. If the designated interest rate applicable to any
-----------------Loan exceeds the Maximum Rate, the interest rate on that Loan is limited to the
Maximum Rate, but any subsequent reductions in the designated rate shall not
reduce the interest rate thereon below the Maximum Rate until the total amount
of accrued interest equals the amount of interest that would have accrued if
that designated rate had always been in effect. If at maturity (stated or by
acceleration), or at final payment of the Notes, the total interest paid or
accrued is less than
the interest that would have accrued if the designated rates had always been in
effect, then, at that time and to the extent permitted by Law, Borrower shall
pay an amount equal to the difference between (a) the lesser of the amount of
interest that would have accrued if the designated rates had always been in
effect and the amount of interest that would have accrued if the Maximum Rate
had always been in effect, and (b) the amount of interest actually paid or
accrued on the Notes.
3.7

Interest Calculations.
--------------------(a)

Interest will be calculated on the basis of actual number of days

elapsed (including the first day, but excluding the last day), but computed
as if each calendar year consisted of 360 days for LIBOR Loans (unless the
calculation would result in an interest rate greater than the Maximum Rate,
in which event interest will be calculated on the basis of a year of 365 or
366 days, as the case may be), and 365 or 366 days, as the case may be, for
Base Rate Loans. All interest rate determinations and calculations by Agent
are conclusive and binding absent manifest error.
(b) The provisions of this Agreement relating to calculation of the
Base Rate and LIBOR are included only for the purpose of determining the
rate of interest or other amounts to be paid under this Agreement that are
based upon those rates. Each Lender may fund and maintain its funding of
all or any part of each Loan as it selects.
3.8

Maximum Rate. Regardless of any provision contained in any Loan Paper
-----------or any document related thereto, no Lender is entitled to contract for, charge,
take, reserve, receive or apply, as interest on all or any part of the
Obligation any amount in excess of the Maximum Rate, and, if Lenders ever do so,
then any excess shall be treated as a partial payment of principal and any
remaining excess shall be refunded to Borrower. In determining if the interest
paid or payable exceeds the Maximum Rate, Borrower and Lenders shall, to the
maximum extent permitted under applicable Law, (a) treat all Loans as but a
single extension of credit (and Lenders and Borrower agree that is the case and
that provision in this Agreement for multiple Loans is for convenience only),
(b) characterize any nonprincipal payment as an expense, fee or premium rather
than as interest, (c) exclude voluntary payments and their effects, and (d)
amortize, prorate, allocate and spread the total amount of interest throughout
the entire contemplated term of the Obligation. However, if the Obligation is
paid in full before the end of its full contemplated term, and if the interest
received for its actual period of existence exceeds the Maximum Amount, Lenders
shall refund any excess (and Lenders shall not, to the extent permitted by Law,
be subject to any penalties provided by any Laws for contracting for, charging,
taking, reserving or receiving interest in excess of the Maximum Amount).
3.9

Interest Periods. When Borrower requests any LIBOR Loan, Borrower may
---------------elect the applicable interest period (each an "INTEREST PERIOD"), which may be,
at Borrower's option, one, two, three or six months, subject to the following
conditions: (a) the initial LIBOR Interest Period commences on the applicable
Loan Date or conversion date, and each subsequent LIBOR Interest Period
commences on the day when the next preceding applicable Interest Period expires;
(b) if any LIBOR Interest Period begins on a day for which no numerically
corresponding Business Day in the calendar month at the end of the Interest
Period exists, then the Interest Period ends on the last Business Day of that
calendar month; (c) no LIBOR Interest Period for any portion of Principal Debt
may extend beyond the scheduled payment date for that portion of Principal Debt;
and (d) no more than 20 LIBOR Interest Periods may be in effect at one time.
3.10 Conversions. Subject to the dollar limits and denominations of
----------SECTION 2.1(a)(ii) (regardless of whether a conversion relates to a portion of
the Revolving Credit Tranche or to a portion of one of the Term Loans) and the
limitations on LIBOR Interest Periods of SECTION 3.9, Borrower may (a) convert
all or part of a LIBOR Loan on the last day of the applicable Interest Period to
a Base Rate Loan, (b) convert all or part of a Base Rate Loan at any time to a
LIBOR Loan, and (c) elect a new Interest Period for all or part of a LIBOR Loan,
in each case by delivering a Conversion Request to Agent no later than 1:00 p.m.
on the third Business Day before the conversion date or the last day of the
Interest Period, as the case may be (for conversion to a LIBOR Loan or
election of a new Interest Period), and no later than 1:00 p.m. one Business Day
before the last day of the Interest Period (for conversion to a Base Rate Loan).
Absent Borrower's notice of conversion or election of a new Interest Period, a
LIBOR Loan shall be converted to a Base Rate Loan when the applicable Interest
Period expires.
3.11 Order of Application.
-------------------(a) Mandatory prepayments on the Term Loans under SECTION 3.2(d) and
voluntary payments on the Term Loans under SECTION 3.2(e)(ii) shall be
applied as set forth in such Sections.

(b) If no Default or Potential Default exists, any other payment
shall be applied to the Obligation in the order and manner as Borrower
directs.
(c) If a Default or Potential Default exists or if Borrower fails to
give direction, any other payment (including proceeds from the exercise of
any Rights hereunder) shall be applied in the following order: (i) to all
fees and expenses for which Agent or Lenders have not been paid or
reimbursed in accordance with the Loan Papers (and if such payment is less
than all unpaid or unreimbursed fees and expenses, then the payment shall
be paid against unpaid and unreimbursed fees and expenses in the order of
incurrence or due date); (ii) to accrued interest on the Principal Debt;
and (iii) ratably to the remainder of the Obligation.
3.12 Sharing of Payments, Etc.. If any Lender obtains any payment (whether
------------------------voluntary, involuntary or otherwise) that exceeds its combined Pro Rata Part of
the Tranche to which such payment relates (or which relates to a Tranche in
which such Lender does not participate) then that Lender shall purchase from the
other Lenders participations that will cause the purchasing Lender to share the
excess payment ratably with each other Lender. If all or any portion of any
excess payment is subsequently recovered from the purchasing Lender, then the
purchase shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of the
recovery. Borrower agrees that any Lender purchasing a participation from
another Lender under this section may, to the fullest extent permitted by Law,
exercise all of its Rights of payment with respect to that participation as
fully as if that Lender were the direct creditor of Borrower in the amount of
that participation.
3.13 Booking Loans. To the extent permitted by Law, any Lender may make,
------------carry or transfer its Loans at, to, or for the account of any of its branch
offices or the office of any of its Affiliates. However, no Affiliate is
entitled to receive any greater payment under SECTION 3.15 than the transferor
Lender would have been entitled to receive with respect to those Loans.
3.14 Basis Unavailable or Inadequate for LIBOR. If, on or before any date
----------------------------------------when LIBOR is to be determined for a Loan, Agent or any Lender determines (and
Required Lenders agree with that determination) that the basis for determining
the applicable rate is not available or that the resulting rate does not
accurately reflect the cost to Lenders of making or converting Loans at that
rate for the applicable Interest Period, then Agent shall promptly notify
Borrower and Lenders of that determination (which is conclusive and binding on
Borrower absent manifest error) and the applicable Loan shall bear interest at
the sum of the Base Rate plus the Applicable Margin. Until Agent notifies
Borrower that those circumstances no longer exist, Lenders' commitments under
this Agreement to make, or to convert to, LIBOR Loans are suspended.
3.15 Additional Costs.
---------------(a) With respect to any LIBOR Loan, (i) if any present or future Law
imposes, modifies, or deems applicable (or if compliance by any Lender with
any requirement of any Tribunal results in) any Reserve Requirement, and if
(ii) those reserves reduce any sums receivable by that Lender under this
Agreement or increase the costs incurred by that Lender in advancing or
maintaining any portion of any LIBOR Loan, then (iii) that Lender (through
Agent) shall deliver to Borrower a certificate setting forth in reasonable
detail the calculation of the amount necessary to compensate it for its
reduction or increase
(which certificate is conclusive and binding absent manifest error), and
(iv) Borrower shall promptly pay that amount to that Lender upon demand.
This paragraph shall survive the satisfaction and payment of the Obligation
and termination of this Agreement. This paragraph may be invoked by a
Lender only if such Lender is generally invoking similar provisions against
other Persons to which such Lender lends funds pursuant to facilities
similar to the Facility.
(b) With respect to any Loan or LC, if any present or future Law
regarding capital adequacy or compliance by Agent (as issuer of LCs) or any
Lender with any request, directive or requirement now existing or hereafter
imposed by any Tribunal regarding capital adequacy, or any change in its

written policies or in the risk category of this transaction, reduces the
rate of return on its capital as a consequence of its obligations under
this Agreement to a level below that which it otherwise could have achieved
(taking into consideration its policies with respect to capital adequacy)
by an amount deemed by it to be material (and it may, in determining the
amount, utilize reasonable assumptions and allocations of costs and
expenses and use any reasonable averaging or attribution method), then
(unless the effect is already reflected in the rate of interest then
applicable under this Agreement) Agent or that Lender (through Agent) shall
notify Borrower and deliver to Borrower a certificate setting forth in
reasonable detail the calculation of the amount necessary to compensate it
(which certificate is conclusive and binding absent manifest error), and
Borrower shall promptly pay that amount to Agent or that Lender upon
demand. This paragraph shall survive the satisfaction and payment of the
Obligation and termination of this Agreement. This paragraph may be
invoked by a Lender only if such Lender is generally invoking similar
provisions against other Persons to which such Lender lends funds pursuant
to facilities similar to the Facility.
(c) Any Taxes payable by Agent or any Lender or ruled (by a Tribunal)
payable by Agent or any Lender in respect of any Loan Paper or any document
related thereto shall, if permitted by Law, be paid by Borrower, together
with interest and penalties, if any (other than for Taxes imposed on or
measured by the overall net income of Agent or that Lender and interest and
penalties incurred as a result of the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of Agent or any Lender). Agent or that Lender (through Agent)
shall notify Borrower and deliver to Borrower a certificate setting forth
in reasonable detail the calculation of the amount of payable Taxes, which
certificate is conclusive and binding (absent manifest error), and Borrower
shall promptly pay that amount to Agent for its account or the account of
that Lender, as the case may be. If Agent or that Lender subsequently
receives a refund of the Taxes paid to it by Borrower, then the recipient
shall promptly pay the refund to Borrower.
3.16 Change in Laws. If any Law makes it unlawful for any Lender to make
-------------or maintain LIBOR Loans, then that Lender shall promptly notify Borrower and
Agent, and (a) as to undisbursed funds, that requested Loan shall be made as a
Base Rate Loan, and (b), as to any outstanding Loan, (i) if maintaining the Loan
until the last day of the applicable Interest Period is unlawful, the Loan shall
be converted to a Base Rate Loan as of the date of notice, and Borrower shall
pay any related Funding Loss, or (ii) if not prohibited by Law, the Loan shall
be converted to a Base Rate Loan as of the last day of the applicable Interest
Period, or (iii) if any conversion will not resolve the unlawfulness, Borrower
shall promptly pay the Loan, without penalty, together with any related Funding
Loss. Concurrently with any payment contemplated by clause (iii) of the
immediately preceding sentence, Borrower shall borrow a Base Rate Loan in an
equal principal amount from such Lender (on which interest and principal shall
be payable contemporaneously with the related LIBOR Loans of the other Lenders)
and such Lender shall fund such Base Rate Loan.
3.17 Funding Loss. BORROWER AGREES TO INDEMNIFY EACH LENDER AGAINST, AND
-----------PAY TO IT UPON DEMAND, ANY FUNDING LOSS OF THAT LENDER. When any Lender demands
that Borrower pay any Funding Loss, that Lender shall deliver to Borrower and
Agent a certificate setting forth in reasonable detail the basis for imposing
Funding Loss and the calculation of the amount, which calculation is conclusive
and binding absent manifest error. The provisions of and undertakings and
indemnification set forth in this paragraph shall survive the satisfaction and
payment of the Obligation and termination of this Agreement.
3.18 Foreign Lenders. Each Lender that is organized under the Laws of any
--------------jurisdiction other than the
United States of America or any State thereof (a) represents to Agent and
Borrower that (i) no Taxes are required to be withheld by Agent or Borrower with
respect to any payments to be made to it in respect of the Obligation and (ii)
it has furnished to Agent and Borrower two duly completed copies of U.S.
Internal Revenue Service Form 4224 or Form 1001 (wherein it claims entitlement
to complete exemption from U.S. federal withholding tax on all interest payments
under the Loan Papers) or Form W-8, or any other successor tax form acceptable
to Agent and Borrower, and (b) covenants to (i) provide Agent and Borrower a new
tax form upon the expiration, inaccuracy or obsolescence of any previously

delivered form according to, and to the extent permitted by, Law, duly executed
and completed by it, and (ii) comply from time to time with all Laws with regard
to the withholding tax exemption. If any of the foregoing is not true or the
applicable forms are not provided, then Borrower and Agent (without duplication)
may deduct and withhold from interest payments under the Loan Papers United
States federal income tax at the full rate applicable under the Code. In
addition, Borrower shall not be required to make any payments contemplated by
SECTION 3.15(C) to the extent that such payments would not have been payable if
such Lender had furnished the appropriate form (properly and accurately
completed in all respects) which it was otherwise required to furnish in
accordance with this SECTION 3.18.
3.19 Affected Lender's Obligation to Mitigate. Each Lender agrees that, as
---------------------------------------promptly as practicable after it becomes aware of the occurrence of an event or
the existence of a condition which would entitle it to exercise any rights under
SECTIONS 3.15 OR 3.16, it shall use commercially reasonable efforts to make,
fund or maintain the affected Loans of such Lender through another lending
office of such Lender if (a) as a result thereof the additional moneys which
would otherwise be required to be paid in respect of such Loans of such Lender
would be reduced or the illegality or other adverse circumstances which would
otherwise affect such Loans of such Lender would cease to exist or the increased
cost which would otherwise be required to be paid in respect of such Loans would
be reduced and (b) the making, funding or maintaining of such Loans through such
other lending office would not otherwise materially adversely affect such Loans
or such Lender.
3.20 Replacement Lender. In the event Borrower becomes obligated to pay
-----------------any additional amounts to any Lender pursuant to SECTIONS 3.15 OR 3.16 as a
result of any event or condition described in any of such Sections, then, unless
such Lender has theretofore taken steps to remove or cure, and has removed or
cured, the conditions creating the cause of such obligation to pay such
additional amounts, Borrower may designate a substitute lender acceptable to
Agent (such lender herein called a "REPLACEMENT LENDER") to purchase such
Lender's rights and obligations with respect to its entire Pro Rata Part
hereunder with respect to the Facility as a whole, without recourse to or
warranty by, or expense to, such Lender in accordance with SECTION 14.12(C) for
a purchase price equal to the outstanding principal amounts payable to such
Lender with respect to such Pro Rata Part, plus any accrued and unpaid interest
and accrued and unpaid fees and charges in respect of such Pro Rata Part and on
other terms reasonably satisfactory to Agent. Upon such purchase by the
Replacement Lender and payment of all other amounts owing to the Lender being
replaced hereunder, such Lender shall no longer be a party hereto or have any
rights or obligations hereunder, and the Replacement Lender shall succeed to the
rights and obligations of such Lender with respect to such Pro Rata Part
hereunder.
SECTION 4 FEES.
- --------- ---4.1

Treatment of Fees. The fees described in this SECTION 4 (a) are
----------------compensation for the use, detention, or forbearance of money, (b) are in
addition to, and not in lieu of, interest and expenses otherwise described
this Agreement, (c) are payable in accordance with SECTION 3.1(B), (d) are
refundable, and (e) to the fullest extent permitted by Law, bear interest,
not paid when due, at the Default Rate.

not
in
nonif

4.2

Underwriting and Administrative Fees. Borrower shall pay to
-----------------------------------NationsBank of Texas, N.A. the fees described in the letter agreement between
them of even date herewith.
4.3

LC Fees. Borrower shall pay to Agent for the Pro Rata benefit of
------Lenders according to their Revolving Credit Commitments a fee for the issuance
of each LC (which fee may, subject to the provisions of this Agreement, be
included in a Loan) equal to (a) the Applicable Margin for LIBOR Loans under the
Revolving Credit
Tranche (as in effect from day to day while such LC is outstanding), multiplied
by (b) the face amount of such LC as it exists from day to day, payable in
arrears on each Quarterly Date during the life of such LC, and on the expiry

date of such LC, calculated on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed
(including the first day, but excluding the last day), but computed as if each
calendar year consisted of 360 days. In addition, Borrower shall pay to Agent
for its own account a fronting fee for the issuance of each LC equal to 0.125%
of the face amount of such LC (but in no event less than $350).
4.4

Commitment Fee. Borrower shall pay to Agent for the ratable account
-------------of Lenders a commitment fee, payable as it accrues on each Quarterly Date and on
the Revolving Credit Termination Date, equal to the Applicable Percentage (per
annum), of the amount by which the aggregate commitment under the Revolving
Credit Tranche exceeds the average daily Commitment Usage, in each case during
the calendar quarter (or portion thereof) ending on such date, calculated on the
basis of the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day, but
excluding the last day) in a calendar year of 365 or 366 days, as the case may
be.
SECTION 5 SECURITY.
- --------- -------5.1

Guaranties. All obligations of Borrower under the Loan Papers to
---------which it is a party shall be guaranteed in accordance with a Guaranty of even
date herewith, executed by each Restricted Company (other than Borrower).
5.2

Collateral.
----------

(a) All obligations of Borrower under the Loan Papers to which it is
a party shall be secured to the extent and in the manner provided in the
appropriate Security Document by the following (the "COLLATERAL") (i) a
first Lien on all capital stock issued to VRI by its direct Restricted
Subsidiaries, (ii) a first Lien on all capital stock issued to Ralston
Resorts by its Restricted Subsidiaries and on its Rights with respect to
Distributions from Keystone/Intrawest L.L.C., (iii) a second Lien on all
capital stock issued to VHI by Borrower, (iv) a second Lien on all capital
stock issued to Borrower or Borrower's Restricted Subsidiaries by all
companies which were Restricted Subsidiaries of Borrower prior to the
Ralston Acquisition, and the Companies' 50% interest in Slifer, Smith &
Frampton/Vail Associates Real Estate, L.L.C., (v) a first Lien on all
capital stock issued to Borrower or any Restricted Subsidiary of Borrower
by Ralston Resorts and any Restricted Subsidiaries of Borrower created or
acquired after the Ralston Acquisition; (vi) a second Lien on each of the
Vail Forest Service Permits, and (vii) a first Lien on each of the Ralston
Forest Service Permits.
(b) Upon receipt by the Companies of Net Equity Proceeds of at least
$65,000,000 and the application of such proceeds in prepayment of
Subordinated Debt and/or Principal Debt in accordance with SECTION
3.2(D)(III), Liens created by the Security Documents shall terminate and
Agent and Lenders shall release their interests in the Collateral. Upon
compliance with the provisions of the immediately preceding sentence or in
accordance with the provisions of SECTION 14.13, Agent will, at the expense
of Borrower, deliver to Borrower any Collateral that is in its possession
and execute and deliver such documents, certificates or other instruments
as Borrower may reasonably request to evidence the termination of such
Liens and the release of the Collateral.
5.3

Additional Security and Guaranties.
----------------------------------

(a) Lenders may, without notice or demand and without affecting any
Person's obligations under the Loan Papers, from time to time (i) receive
and hold additional collateral from any Person for the payment of all or
any part of the Obligation and exchange, enforce or release all or any part
of that collateral and (ii) accept and hold any endorsement or guaranty of
payment of all or any part of the Obligation and release any endorser or
guarantor, or any Person who has given any other security for the payment
of all or any part of the Obligation, or any other Person in any way
obligated to pay all or any part
of the Obligation; provided, however, that the provisions of this SECTION
5.3(a) shall in no event be construed to obligate any Company to deliver to
any Lender additional collateral.

(b) Borrower may from time to time substitute for any existing Forest
Service Permit another permit, license or grant of right if (i) Borrower
determines that such substitution is in the best interests of the
Companies, (ii) such substitute permit, license or grant of right contains
terms no less beneficial to the Companies than those contained in the
existing Forest Service Permit which it is intended to replace, and (iii)
such substitution does not impair in any material respect the rights of
Agent and Lenders. Upon receipt from Borrower of notice that the Service
has agreed to issue a new permit, license or grant of right in replacement
of an existing Forest Service Permit, and that Borrower elects to exercise
its rights under this SECTION 5.3(b), Agent shall release to Borrower or
(if so requested by Borrower) to the Service directly all instruments in
Agent's possession constituting the Lien on the existing Forest Service
Permit to be replaced. Agent shall also execute and deliver any and all
releases, termination agreements or other similar documents requested by
the Service or reasonably requested by Borrower in connection therewith.
Upon receipt of such instruments and documents, Borrower shall deliver to
Agent, or cause the Service so to deliver to Agent, the new permit, license
or grant of right, together with the Service's standard form collateral
assignment agreement relating thereto reflecting a Lien of the same
priority as the one released.
5.4

Financing Statements. Borrower will execute, or cause to be executed,
-------------------financing statements, stock powers and other writings in the form and content
reasonably required by Agent, and Borrower will pay all costs of filing any
financing, continuation or termination statements, or other action taken by
Agent relating to the Collateral, including, without limitation, costs and
expenses of any Lien search reasonably required by Agent.
SECTION 6 CONDITIONS PRECEDENT.
- --------- -------------------6.1

Initial Advance. In addition to the items described in SECTION 6.2,
--------------Lenders will not be obligated to fund the initial Loan, and Agent will not be
obligated to issue the initial LC, unless the unused portion of the Revolving
Credit Commitment will be at least $50,000,000 after giving effect to the
Ralston Resorts Acquisition and all Loans and LCs outstanding under the
Revolving Credit Tranche at the close of business on the date the initial Loan
is made or the initial LC is issued and Agent has received each of the following
items:
(a)

the Promissory Notes;

(b) a Guaranty executed by each Restricted Company (other than
Borrower);
(c) (i) each Pledge Agreement (together with (A) the stock
certificates for shares subjected to a first Lien under the Pledge
Agreements and blank stock powers for such certificates, and (B) a letter
agreement between Agent and the Collateral Agent under the Collateral
Agency Agreement pursuant to which (x) Agent appoints Collateral Agent as
its agent for purposes of perfecting its security interest in the shares
held by the Collateral Agent under the Collateral Agency Agreement which
are subjected to a second Lien under the Pledge Agreements, and (y) the
Collateral Agent accepts such appointment and acknowledges the second Lien
in favor of Agent),
(ii)
(iii)

the Forest Service Assignments, and
UCC-1 Financing Statements with respect to the foregoing;

(d) a Second Amendment to the Pledge Agreement dated as of November
23, 1993 (as amended by a First Amendment thereto dated July 1994), among
Borrower, VHI, Beaver Creek Associates, Inc., Vail Associates Real Estate
Group, Inc., and Vail Associates Real Estate, Inc., as obligors, and
NationsBank of Texas, N.A., as the Collateral Agent under the Collateral
Agency Agreement, deleting all references therein which would obligate the
pledgors thereunder to pledge the stock of any future subsidiaries of any
such pledgor (together with appropriate UCC-3 Amendments);
(e) the initial Loan Request or the initial LC Request and LC
Agreement;

(f) an Officers' Certificate for each Company, relating to Articles
of Incorporation, Bylaws, Resolutions, and Incumbency;
(g) Certificates of Existence and Good Standing (Account Status) for
each Company from its state of organization and each other state where it
does business, each dated after September 15, 1996;
(h) Legal opinions of James S. Mandel, and special New York counsel
to Borrower;
(i) Payment in full of all amounts then due Agent under SECTION 8.7
or the fee letter described in SECTION 4.2;
(j) Lien Search Reports for each Company from the State of Colorado,
the Colorado county in which it has its principal place of business and
each other state where it does business, each dated after September 15,
1996;
(k) Copies of the Stock Purchase Agreement and the Shareholder
Agreement referred to therein (and the Ralston Resorts Acquisition shall
have been consummated as described in SECTION 7.22);
(l) (i) Financial Statements showing the consolidated financial
condition and results of operations of the Companies and Ralston Resorts
and its Subsidiaries, respectively, as of, and for the years ended on,
September 30, 1993, 1994 and 1995, and in the case of Ralston Resorts and
its Subsidiaries only, the nine-month period ended June 30, 1996,
accompanied in each case by the unqualified opinion of a firm of
nationally-recognized independent certified public accountants, based on an
audit using generally accepted auditing standards, that such Financial
Statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP and present fairly, in all
material respects, such financial conditions and results, together with a
copy of any management letter prepared by such accounting firm in
connection with such audit, (ii) any Financial Statements for the Companies
or for Ralston Resorts and its Subsidiaries prepared for any interim
financial period ending after the periods covered in the Financial
Statements delivered under clause (i) above, and (iii) a pro forma balance
sheet of the Companies as of the Closing Date giving effect to the Ralston
Resorts Acquisition and the transactions contemplated hereby and reflecting
estimated purchase price accounting adjustments, and such other information
relating to the Ralston Resorts Acquisition as Agent may require;
(m) Copies of all governmental, shareholder and third party consents
and approvals (including, without limitation, those required under the
Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvement Act of 1976, as amended) necessary
in connection with the Ralston Resorts Acquisition and the related
financings and other transactions contemplated hereby; and
(n) Evidence that all amounts owed under the Existing Credit
Agreements have been paid in full, no letters of credit remain outstanding
thereunder, and all financing commitments thereunder have been terminated.
6.2

Each Advance.
Lenders will not be obligated to fund (as opposed to
-----------continue or convert) any Loan (including the initial Loans), and Agent will not
be obligated to issue (as opposed to extend) any LC (including the initial LCs),
unless on the applicable date (and after giving effect to the requested Loan or
LC): (a) Agent shall have timely received a Loan Request or LC Request
(together with the applicable LC Agreement), as the case may be; (b) Agent shall
have received any applicable LC fee; (c) all of the representations and
warranties of the Companies in the Loan Papers are true and correct in all
material respects (unless they speak to a specific date or are based on facts
which have changed by transactions contemplated or permitted by this Agreement);
(d) no Material Adverse Event, Default or Potential Default exists; and (e) the
funding of the Loan or issuance of the LC is permitted by Law. Upon Agent's
reasonable request, Borrower shall deliver to Agent evidence substantiating any
of the matters in the Loan Papers that are necessary to enable Borrower to
qualify for the Loan or LC. Each condition precedent in this Agreement is
material to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and time is of the
essence with respect to each condition precedent. Subject to the prior approval
of Required Lenders, Lenders may fund any Loan, and Agent may issue any LC,
without all conditions being satisfied, but, to the extent permitted by Law,

that funding and issuance shall not be deemed to be a waiver of the requirement
that each condition precedent be satisfied as a prerequisite for any subsequent
funding or issuance, unless Required Lenders specifically waive each item in
writing.
SECTION 7 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. Borrower represents and warrants to
- --------- -----------------------------Agent and Lenders as follows:
7.1

Regulation U. No Company is engaged principally, or as one of its
-----------important activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of
purchasing or carrying any "margin stock" within the meaning of Regulations U or
G of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, as amended.
7.2

Corporate Existence, Good Standing, Authority and Compliance. Each
-----------------------------------------------------------Company is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws
of the jurisdiction in which it is incorporated or organized as identified on
SCHEDULE 7.2 (or any revised SCHEDULE 7.2 delivered by Borrower to Lenders
pursuant to SECTION 8.12, 9.10 or 9.11). Except where failure is not a Material
Adverse Event, each Restricted Company (a) is duly qualified to transact
business and is in good standing as a foreign corporation or other entity in
each jurisdiction where the nature and extent of its business and properties
require due qualification and good standing as identified on SCHEDULE 7.2 (or
any such revised SCHEDULE 7.2), and (b) possesses all requisite authority,
permits and power to conduct its business as is now being, or is contemplated by
this Agreement to be, conducted.
7.3

Subsidiaries. VRI has no Subsidiaries, other than as disclosed on
-----------SCHEDULE 7.3 (or on any revised SCHEDULE 7.3 delivered by Borrower to Lenders
pursuant to SECTION 8.12, 9.10 or 9.11). All of the outstanding shares of
capital stock (or similar voting interests) of the Companies are duly
authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable, and are owned of
record and beneficially as set forth thereon, free and clear of any Liens,
restrictions, claims or Rights of another Person, other than Permitted Liens,
and are not subject to any warrant, option or other acquisition Right of any
Person or subject to any transfer restriction, other than restrictions imposed
by (a) securities Laws and general corporate Laws, and (b) the Security
Documents.
7.4

Authorization and Contravention. The execution and delivery by each
------------------------------Company of each Loan Paper or related document to which it is a party and the
performance by it of its obligations thereunder (a) are within its corporate
power, (b) have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action, (c)
require no action by or filing with any Tribunal (other than any action or
filing that has been taken or made on or before the date of this Agreement), (d)
do not violate any provision of its charter or bylaws, (e) do not violate any
provision of Law or any order of any Tribunal applicable to it, other than
violations that individually or collectively are not a Material Adverse Event,
(f) do not violate any Material Agreements to which it is a party, or (g) do not
result in the creation or imposition of any Lien (other than the Liens created
pursuant to the Security Documents) on any asset of any Company.
7.5

Binding Effect. Upon execution and delivery by all parties thereto,
-------------each Loan Paper which is a contract will constitute a legal and binding
obligation of each Company party thereto, enforceable against it in accordance
with its terms, except as enforceability may be limited by applicable Debtor
Relief Laws and general principles of equity.
7.6

Financial Statements; Fiscal Year. The Current Financials were
--------------------------------prepared in accordance with GAAP and, together with the notes thereto, present
fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial condition, results
of operations, and cash flows of the Companies as of, and for the portion of the
fiscal year ending on the date or dates thereof (subject only to normal year-end
adjustments). Except for transactions directly related to, or specifically
contemplated by, the Loan Papers, no subsequent material adverse changes have
occurred in the
consolidated financial condition of the Companies from that shown in the Current

Financials. The fiscal year of each Company ends on July 31.
7.7

Litigation. Except as disclosed on SCHEDULE 7.7 (or on any revised
---------SCHEDULE 7.7 delivered by Borrower to Lenders), (a) no Company (other than as a
creditor or claimant) is subject to, or aware of the threat of, any Litigation
that is reasonably likely to be determined adversely to any Company and, if so
adversely determined, is a Material Adverse Event, (b) no outstanding or unpaid
judgments against any Company exist as of the date hereof, and (c) no Company is
a party to, or bound by, any judicial or administrative order, judgment, decree
or consent decree relating to any past or present practice, omission, activity
or undertaking which constitutes a Material Adverse Event.
7.8

Taxes. All Tax returns of each Company required to be filed have been
----filed (or extensions have been granted) before delinquency, other than returns
for which the failure to file is not a Material Adverse Event, and all Taxes
shown as due and payable as of the date hereof in such returns have been paid
before delinquency, other than Taxes for which the criteria for Permitted Liens
(as specified in clause (f) of the definition of "Permitted Liens") have been
satisfied or for which nonpayment is not a Material Adverse Event.
7.9

Environmental Matters. Except as disclosed on SCHEDULE 7.9 (or any
--------------------revised SCHEDULE 7.9 delivered by Borrower to Lenders) and except for
conditions, circumstances or violations that are not, individually or in the
aggregate, a Material Adverse Event, no Company (a) knows of any environmental
condition or circumstance adversely affecting any Company's properties or
operations, (b) has, to its knowledge, received any written report of any
Company's violation of any Environmental Law, or (c) knows that any Company is
under any obligation imposed by a Tribunal to remedy any violation of any
Environmental Law. Except as disclosed on SCHEDULE 7.9 (or any such revised
SCHEDULE 7.9), each Company believes that its properties and operations do not
violate any Environmental Law, other than violations that are not, individually
or in the aggregate, a Material Adverse Event. No facility of any Company is
used for, or to the knowledge of any Company has been used for, treatment or
disposal of any Hazardous Substance or storage of Hazardous Substances, other
than in material compliance with applicable Environmental Laws.
7.10 Employee Plans. Except where occurrence or existence is not a
-------------Material Adverse Event, (a) no Employee Plan has incurred an "accumulated
funding deficiency" (as defined in section 302 of ERISA or section 412 of the
Code), (b) no Company has incurred liability under ERISA to the PBGC in
connection with any Employee Plan (other than required insurance premiums, all
of which have been paid), (c) no Company has withdrawn in whole or in part from
participation in a Multiemployer Plan, (d) no Company has engaged in any
"prohibited transaction" (as defined in section 406 of ERISA or section 4975 of
the Code), and (e) no "reportable event" (as defined in section 4043 of ERISA)
has occurred with respect to an Employee Plan, excluding events for which the
notice requirement is waived under applicable PBGC regulations.
7.11 Properties and Liens.
-------------------(a) Each Company has good and marketable title to all its material
property reflected on the Current Financials (other than for property that
is obsolete or that has been disposed of in the ordinary course of business
or, after the date of this Agreement, as otherwise permitted by SECTION
9.10 or SECTION 9.11).
(b) Except for Permitted Liens, no Lien exists on any property of any
Company (including, without limitation, the Forest Service Permits and the
Water Rights), and the execution, delivery, performance or observance of
the Loan Papers will not require or result in the creation of any Lien
(other than the Liens created pursuant to the Security Documents) on any
Company's property.
(c) As of the date hereof, the Forest Service Permits constitute all
of the material licenses, permits or leases from the United States Federal
Government held by the Companies for use in connection
with their respective skiing businesses.

(d) Each of the Water Rights is, to the knowledge of the Companies,
in full force and effect and, to the knowledge of the Companies, there is
no material default or existing condition which with the giving of notice
or the passage of time or both would cause a material default under any
Water Right that is material to the operation of the Companies. Subject to
the available supply and to the terms and conditions of the applicable
decrees, the Companies' Water Rights provide a dependable, legal and
physical snowmaking, irrigation and domestic water supply for the operation
of the Companies' businesses.
7.12 Chief Executive Offices. Each Company's chief executive office is
----------------------located as shown on SCHEDULE 7.2 (or any revised SCHEDULE 7.2 delivered by
Borrower to Lenders).
7.13 Government Regulations. No Company is subject to regulation under the
---------------------Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or the Public Utility Holding
Company Act of 1935, as amended.
7.14 Transactions with Affiliates. Except as set forth in SCHEDULE 7.14,
---------------------------no Restricted Company is a party to any transaction with any Affiliate (other
than another Restricted Company), except upon fair and reasonable
terms not materially less favorable than it could obtain or could become
entitled to in an arm's-length transaction with a Person that was not its
Affiliate.
7.15 Debt. After the funding of the Loans made on the Closing Date and the
---payment of certain Debts with the proceeds thereof as described in SECTION 8.2,
no Company will be an obligor on any Debt, other than Permitted Debt.
7.16 Material Agreements. All Material Agreements to which any Restricted
------------------Company is a party are in full force and effect, and no default or potential
default exists on the part of any Restricted Company thereunder that is a
Material Adverse Event.
7.17 Labor Matters. There are no binding agreements of any type with any
------------labor union, labor organization, collective bargaining unit or employee group to
which any Company is bound, other than Ralston Resorts' collective bargaining
agreements with the Breckenridge Professional Ski Patrol Association and
Keystone Professional Ski Patrol Association and agreements which may be entered
into after the date of this Agreement which do not constitute a Material Adverse
Event. No actual or threatened strikes, labor disputes, slow downs, walkouts,
or other concerted interruptions of operations by the employees of any Company
that constitute a Material Adverse Event exist. Hours worked by and payment
made to employees of the Companies have not been in violation of the Fair Labor
Standards Act or any other applicable Law dealing with labor matters, other than
any violations, individually or collectively, that are not a Material Adverse
Event. All payments due from any Company for employee health and welfare
insurance have been paid or accrued as a liability on its books, other than any
nonpayments that are not, individually or collectively, a Material Adverse
Event.
7.18 Solvency. On each Loan Date, Borrower is, and after giving effect to
-------the requested Loan will be, Solvent.
7.19 Trade Names. No Company has used or transacted business under any
----------other corporate or registered trade name during the five years preceding the
Closing Date, other than as disclosed on the attached SCHEDULE 7.19.
7.20 Intellectual Property. Each Company owns (or otherwise holds rights
--------------------to use) all material Intellectual Property, licenses, permits and trade names
necessary to continue to conduct its businesses as presently conducted by it and
proposed to be conducted by it immediately after the date of this Agreement. To
its knowledge, each Company is conducting its business without infringement or
claim of infringement of any license, patent, copyright, service mark,
trademark, trade name, trade secret or other intellectual property right of
others, other than

any infringements or claims that, if successfully asserted against or determined
adversely to any Company, would not, individually or collectively, constitute a
Material Adverse Event. To the knowledge of any Company as of the date hereof,
no infringement or claim of infringement by others of any material Intellectual
Property, license, permit, trade name, or other intellectual property of any
Company exists, other than claims which will not cause a Material Adverse Event.
7.21 Full Disclosure. Each material fact or condition relating to the Loan
--------------Papers or the financial condition, business or property of any Company has been
disclosed to Agent. All information furnished by any Company to Agent in
connection with the Loan Papers on or before the date of this Agreement was,
taken as a whole, true and accurate in all material respects or based on
reasonable estimates on the date the information is stated or certified.
7.22 Stock Purchase Agreement. The Ralston Resorts Acquisition has been
-----------------------consummated as of the Closing Date in accordance with the Stock Purchase
Agreement and in compliance with all applicable Laws.
SECTION 8 AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS. So long as Lenders are committed to fund Loans
- --------- --------------------and Agent is committed to issue LCs under this Agreement, and thereafter until
the Obligation is paid in full, Borrower covenants and agrees as follows:
8.1

Items to be Furnished.
--------------------furnished to each Lender:
(a)

Borrower shall cause the following to be

With respect to each fiscal year of the Companies:

(i)
Promptly after preparation, unaudited Financial Statements
showing the consolidated financial condition and results of operations of
the Companies as of the last day of such fiscal year and for such fiscal
year, accompanied by a Compliance Certificate with respect to such
Financial Statements (for purposes of adjusting the Applicable Margin and
the Applicable Percentage in accordance with the definitions of such
terms); and
(ii) Promptly after preparation, and no later than 120 days
after the last day of each fiscal year of the Companies, Financial
Statements showing the consolidated financial condition and results of
operations of the Companies as of, and for the year ended on, that last
day, accompanied by: (A) the unqualified opinion of a firm of nationallyrecognized independent certified public accountants, based on an audit
using generally accepted auditing standards, that the Financial Statements
were prepared in accordance with GAAP and present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial condition and results of operations of
the Companies, (B) any management letter prepared by the accounting firm
delivered in connection with its audit, (C) a certificate from the
accounting firm to Agent indicating that during its audit it obtained no
knowledge of any Default or Potential Default or, if it obtained knowledge,
the nature and period of existence thereof, and (D) a Compliance
Certificate with respect to the Financial Statements.
(b) Promptly after preparation, and no later than 60 days after the
last day of each fiscal quarter of the Companies, Financial Statements
showing the consolidated financial condition and results of operations of
the Companies for the fiscal quarter and for the period from the beginning
of the current fiscal year to the last day of the fiscal quarter,
accompanied by a Compliance Certificate with respect to the Financial
Statements.
(c) Promptly after receipt, a copy of each interim or special audit
report and management letter issued by independent accountants with respect
to any Company or its financial records.
(d) Notice, promptly after any Company knows or has reason to know,
of (i) the existence and status of any Litigation that, if determined
adversely to any Company, would be a Material Adverse
Event, (ii) any change in any material fact or circumstance represented or
warranted by any Company in connection with any Loan Paper, (iii) the

receipt by any Company of notice of any violation or alleged violation of
any Environmental Law or ERISA (which individually or collectively with
other violations or allegations is reasonably likely to constitute a
Material Adverse Event), or (iv) a Default or Potential Default, specifying
the nature thereof and what action the Companies have taken, are taking, or
propose to take.
(e) Promptly after filing, copies of all material reports or filings
filed by or on behalf of any Company with any securities exchange or the
Securities and Exchange Commission (including, without limitation, copies
of each Form 10-K, Form 10-Q and Form S-8 filed by or on behalf of VRI with
the Securities and Exchange Commission within 15 days after filing).
(f) Promptly upon reasonable request by Agent or Required Lenders
(through Agent), information (not otherwise required to be furnished under
the Loan Papers) respecting the business affairs, assets and liabilities of
the Companies (including, but not limited to, seasonal operating
statistics, annual budgets, etc.) and opinions, certifications and
documents in addition to those mentioned in this Agreement; provided,
however, that Agent and Lenders shall not disclose to any third Person any
data or information obtained thereby in accordance with the provisions of
this paragraph (f), except (i) with the prior written consent of the
appropriate Company, (ii) to the extent necessary to comply with Law or the
ruling of any Tribunal in which event, Agent and/or such Lenders shall
notify the appropriate Company as promptly as practicable (and, if
possible, prior to making such disclosure) and shall seek confidential
treatment of the information desired, (iii) at the request of any banking
or other regulatory authority, or (iv) to their respective Representatives
to the extent such disclosure is necessary in connection with the
transactions contemplated by the Loan Papers.
8.2

Use of Proceeds. Borrower will use some or all of the proceeds of the
--------------initial Loan to (i) repay all amounts payable under the Existing Credit
Agreements and terminate the financing commitments thereunder, and (ii)
refinance certain Debt of Ralston Resorts in connection with the Ralston Resorts
Acquisition. Borrower will use all other proceeds of Loans and LCs to pay fees
and expenses incurred in connection with the Ralston Resorts Acquisition, for
seasonal working capital, to make advances to other Companies permitted by
SECTION 9.8, and for other general corporate purposes and capital expenditures
of the Companies. No part of the proceeds of any LC draft or drawing or of any
Loan will be used, directly or indirectly, for a purpose that violates any Law,
including without limitation, the provisions of Regulations G or U.
8.3

Books and Records. Each Company will maintain books, records and
----------------accounts necessary to prepare financial statements in accordance with GAAP.
8.4

Inspections. Upon reasonable request, each Company will allow Agent
----------(or its Representatives) to inspect any of its properties, to review reports,
files and other records and to make and take away copies, to conduct tests or
investigations, and to discuss any of its affairs, conditions and finances with
its other creditors, directors, officers, employees or representatives from time
to time, during reasonable business hours; provided, however, that Agent and its
Representatives shall not disclose to any Person any data or information
obtained thereby in accordance with the provisions of this SECTION 8.4 which is
not a matter of public knowledge, except (i) with the prior written consent of
the appropriate Company, (ii) to the extent necessary to comply with Law or the
ruling of any Tribunal in which event, Agent and/or its Representatives shall
notify the appropriate Company as promptly as practicable (and, if possible,
prior to making such disclosure) and shall seek confidential treatment of the
information desired, (iii) at the request of any banking or other regulatory
authority, or (iv) to their respective Representatives to the extent such
disclosure is necessary in connection with the transactions contemplated by the
Loan Papers. Any of the Lenders (or their Representatives) may accompany Agent
during such inspections.
8.5

Taxes. Each Restricted Company will promptly pay when due any and all
----Taxes, other than Taxes which are being contested in good faith by lawful
proceedings diligently conducted, against which reserve or
other provision required by GAAP has been made; provided, however, that all such

Taxes shall, in any event, be paid prior to any levy for execution in respect of
any Lien on any property of a Restricted Company.
8.6

Payment of Obligations. Each Company will pay (or renew and extend)
---------------------all of its obligations at such times and to such extent as may be necessary to
prevent a Material Adverse Event (except for obligations, other than Funded
Debt, which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings);
provided that Borrower shall not and shall not permit any other Company to repay
advances from Apollo, other than as provided in SECTION 9.9.
8.7

Expenses. Borrower shall promptly pay upon demand (a) all reasonable
-------and customary costs, fees, and expenses paid or incurred by Agent and its
Affiliates, in connection with the arrangement, syndication and negotiation of
the Facility and the negotiation, preparation, delivery and execution of the
Loan Papers and any related amendment, waiver, or consent (including in each
case, without limitation, the reasonable fees and expenses of Agent's counsel)
and (b) all reasonable costs and expenses of Lenders and Agent incurred by Agent
or any Lender in connection with the enforcement of the obligations of any
Company arising under the Loan Papers or the exercise of any Rights arising
under the Loan Papers (including, but not limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees
and court costs), all of which shall be a part of the Obligation and shall bear
interest, if not paid upon demand, at the Default Rate until paid.
8.8

Maintenance of Existence, Assets, and Business.
----------------------------------------------

(a) Except as otherwise permitted by SECTION 9.11, each Company will
(i) maintain its corporate existence and good standing in its state of
incorporation and its authority to transact business in all other states
where failure to maintain its authority to transact business is a Material
Adverse Event; (ii) maintain all Water Rights, licenses, permits and
franchises necessary for its business where failure is a Material Adverse
Event; and (iii) keep all of its assets that are useful in and necessary to
its business in good working order and condition (ordinary wear and tear
excepted) and make all necessary repairs and replacements.
(b) No Company will change its name in any manner (except by
registering additional trade names, in which event Borrower shall promptly
supply Lenders with a revised SCHEDULE 7.19), unless such Company shall
have given the Agent prior notice thereof.
8.9

Insurance. Each Company will maintain with financially sound,
--------responsible, and reputable insurance companies or associations (or, as to
workers' compensation or similar insurance, with an insurance fund or by selfinsurance authorized by the jurisdictions in which it operates) insurance
concerning its properties and businesses against casualties and contingencies
and of types and in amounts (and with co-insurance and deductibles) as is
customary in the case of similar businesses. At Agent's request, each Company
will deliver to Agent certificates of insurance for each policy of insurance and
evidence of payment of all premiums.
8.10 Preservation and Protection of Rights. Each Company will perform the
------------------------------------acts and duly authorize, execute, acknowledge, deliver, file and record any
additional writings as Agent or Required Lenders may reasonably deem necessary
or appropriate to perfect and maintain the Liens created pursuant to the
Security Documents.
8.11 Environmental Laws. Each Company will (a) conduct its business so as
-----------------to comply in all material respects with all applicable Environmental Laws and
shall promptly take required corrective action to remedy any non-compliance with
any Environmental Law, except where failure to comply or take action would not
be a Material Adverse Event, and (b) establish and maintain a management system
designed to ensure compliance with applicable Environmental Laws and minimize
material financial and other risks to each Company arising under applicable
Environmental Laws or as the result of environmentally related injuries to
Persons or property, except where failure to comply would not be a Material
Adverse Event. Borrower shall deliver reasonable evidence of
compliance with the foregoing covenant to Agent within 30 days after any written

request from Required Lenders, which request shall be made only if Required
Lenders reasonably believe that a failure to comply with the foregoing covenant
would be a Material Adverse Event.
8.12 Subsidiaries. Subject to SECTION 9.8, the Companies may create or
-----------acquire additional Subsidiaries (including Unrestricted Subsidiaries); provided
that (a) each Person that becomes a Restricted Subsidiary after the date of this
Agreement (whether as a result of acquisition, creation or otherwise) shall
execute and deliver a Guaranty within 10 days after becoming a Restricted
Subsidiary, (b) Borrower shall deliver to Agent revised SCHEDULES 7.2 and 7.3
reflecting such new Subsidiary within 10 days after it becomes a Subsidiary, and
(c) until the release, if any, of the Collateral pursuant to SECTION 5.2(b), the
appropriate Companies shall pledge to Agent for the benefit of Lenders all stock
or other ownership interests of each such new Restricted Subsidiary owned by
such Companies within 10 days after it becomes a Restricted Subsidiary.
8.13 Indemnification. BORROWER SHALL INDEMNIFY, PROTECT AND HOLD AGENT AND
--------------LENDERS AND THEIR RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES, REPRESENTATIVES, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS
AND ATTORNEYS (COLLECTIVELY, THE "INDEMNIFIED PARTIES") HARMLESS FROM AND
AGAINST ANY AND ALL LIABILITIES, OBLIGATIONS, LOSSES, DAMAGES, PENALTIES,
ACTIONS, JUDGMENTS, SUITS, CLAIMS AND PROCEEDINGS AND ALL COSTS, EXPENSES
(INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ALL ATTORNEYS' FEES AND LEGAL EXPENSES WHETHER
OR NOT SUIT IS BROUGHT) AND DISBURSEMENTS OF ANY KIND OR NATURE (THE
"INDEMNIFIED LIABILITIES") THAT MAY AT ANY TIME BE IMPOSED ON, INCURRED BY OR
ASSERTED AGAINST THE INDEMNIFIED PARTIES, IN ANY WAY RELATING TO OR ARISING OUT
OF (A) THE DIRECT OR INDIRECT RESULT OF THE VIOLATION BY ANY COMPANY OF ANY
ENVIRONMENTAL LAW, (B) ANY COMPANY'S GENERATION, MANUFACTURE, PRODUCTION,
STORAGE, RELEASE, THREATENED RELEASE, DISCHARGE, DISPOSAL OR PRESENCE IN
CONNECTION WITH ITS PROPERTIES OF A HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT
LIMITATION, (I) ALL DAMAGES OF ANY USE, GENERATION, MANUFACTURE, PRODUCTION,
STORAGE, RELEASE, THREATENED RELEASE, DISCHARGE, DISPOSAL OR PRESENCE, OR (II)
THE COSTS OF ANY ENVIRONMENTAL INVESTIGATION, MONITORING, REPAIR, CLEANUP OR
DETOXIFICATION AND THE PREPARATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF ANY CLOSURE, REMEDIAL
OR OTHER PLANS), OR (C) THE LOAN PAPERS OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED
THEREIN. HOWEVER, ALTHOUGH EACH INDEMNIFIED PARTY HAS THE RIGHT TO BE
INDEMNIFIED FOR ITS OWN ORDINARY NEGLIGENCE, NO INDEMNIFIED PARTY HAS THE RIGHT
TO BE INDEMNIFIED FOR ITS OWN FRAUD, GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT. THE
PROVISIONS OF AND UNDERTAKINGS AND INDEMNIFICATION SET FORTH IN THIS PARAGRAPH
SHALL SURVIVE THE SATISFACTION AND PAYMENT OF THE OBLIGATION AND TERMINATION OF
THIS AGREEMENT.
8.14 Interest Rate Hedging. Borrower shall enter into Financial Hedges for
--------------------an aggregate notional amount of at least $75,000,000 on terms reasonably
acceptable to Agent within 60 days after the Closing Date.
SECTION 9 NEGATIVE COVENANTS. So long as Lenders are committed to fund Loans
- --------- -----------------and Agent is committed to issue LCs under this Agreement, and thereafter until
the Obligation is paid in full, Borrower covenants and agrees as follows:
9.1

Taxes. No Company shall use any portion of the proceeds of any Loan
----to pay the wages of employees, unless a timely payment to or deposit with the
United States of America of all amounts of Tax required to be deducted and
withheld with respect to such wages is also made.
9.2

Payment of Obligations. No Company shall voluntarily prepay principal
---------------------of, or interest on, any Funded Debt, other than the Obligation, if a Default or
Potential Default exists (or would result from such payment).
9.3

Employee Plans. Except where a Material Adverse Event would not
-------------result, no Company shall permit any of the events or circumstances described in
SECTION 7.10 to exist or occur.
9.4

Debt. No Company shall create, incur or suffer to exist any Debt,
---other than Permitted Debt.
9.5

Liens.
-----

No Company shall (a) create, incur or suffer or permit to be

created or incurred or to exist any Lien upon any of its assets, other than
Permitted Liens, or (b) enter into or permit to exist any arrangement or
agreement that directly or indirectly prohibits any Company from creating or
incurring any Lien, other than the Loan Papers, the Bond Documents described in
the Collateral Agency Agreement and leases or licenses that prohibit Liens on
the leased or licensed property.
9.6

Transactions with Affiliates.
----------------------------

(a) Except as set forth on SCHEDULE 7.14, no Restricted Company shall
guaranty, obtain any letter of credit or similar instrument in support of,
or create, incur or suffer to exist any Lien upon any of its assets as
security for, any Debt or other obligation of any Affiliate (other than
Debts or other obligations of another Restricted Company).
(b) No Restricted Company shall enter into or suffer to exist any
transaction with any Affiliate (other than another Restricted Company),
unless (i) such transaction is an advance or equity contribution to an
Unrestricted Subsidiary permitted by SECTION 9.8(i), (ii) such transaction
is described in SECTION 9.9 or on SCHEDULE 7.14, or (iii) such transaction
is upon fair and reasonable terms not materially less favorable than it
could obtain or could become entitled to in an arm's-length transaction
with a Person that was not its Affiliate.
9.7

Compliance with Laws and Documents. No Company shall (a) violate the
---------------------------------provisions of any Laws or rulings of any Tribunal applicable to it or of any
Material Agreement to which it is a party if that violation alone, or when
aggregated with all other violations, would be a Material Adverse Event, (b)
violate the provisions of its charter or bylaws if such violation would cause a
Material Adverse Event, or (c) repeal, replace or amend any provision of its
charter or bylaws if that action would be a Material Adverse Event.
9.8

Loans, Advances and Investments. Except as permitted by SECTION 9.9
------------------------------or SECTION 9.11, no Restricted Company shall make or suffer to exist any loan,
advance, extension of credit or capital contribution to, make any investment in,
or purchase or commit to purchase any stock or other securities or evidences of
Debt of, or interests in, any other Person, other than:
(a) expense accounts for and other loans or advances to its
directors, officers and employees in the ordinary course of business;
(b) marketable obligations issued or unconditionally guaranteed by
the United States Government or issued by any of its agencies and backed by
the full faith and credit of the United States of America, in each case
maturing within one year from the date of acquisition;
(c) short-term investment grade domestic and eurodollar certificates
of deposit or time deposits that are fully insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation or are issued by commercial banks organized under the
Laws of the United States of America or any of its states having combined
capital, surplus, and undivided profits of not less than $100,000,000 (as
shown on its most recently published statement of condition);
(d) commercial paper and similar obligations rated "P-1" by Moody's
Investors Service, Inc., or "A-1" by Standard & Poor's Ratings Group (a
division of McGraw Hill, Inc.);
(e) readily marketable tax-free municipal bonds of a domestic issuer
rated "A-2" or better by Moody's Investors Service, Inc., or "A" or better
by Standard & Poors Ratings Group (a division of McGraw Hill, Inc.), and
maturing within one year from the date of issuance;
(f) mutual funds or money market accounts investing primarily in
items described in clauses (b) through (e) above;
(g) demand deposit accounts maintained in the ordinary course of
business;
(h)

current trade and customer accounts receivable that are for goods

furnished or services rendered in the ordinary course of business and that
are payable in accordance with customary trade terms;
(i) in addition to items covered elsewhere in this definition, but
subject to SECTIONS 8.12 and 9.14, investments in any Person (including
purchases of stock or other securities or evidence of Debt of, assets of,
or loans, advances, extensions of credit or capital contributions to such
Person, but excluding capital appreciation and accrued interest), provided
that all such investments (when added to those made by Unrestricted
Subsidiaries) made in (i) Unrestricted Subsidiaries, (ii) Persons that are
not Affiliates of Borrower after such investment (excluding investments in
Keystone/Intrawest LLC existing on the date of this Agreement and the
existing obligation of Ralston Resorts to contribute to Keystone/Intrawest
LLC additional land which had a book value as of June 30, 1996, of
$8,900,000), and (iii) Apollo shall not in the aggregate exceed 15% of the
Companies' consolidated net worth at the time of determination; and
(j)

the following investments:

(i)
Housing Revenue Bonds, Series A-1, A-2, A-3, and B-2,
issued by Eagle Bend Affordable Housing Corporation, held in the face
amount of $800,000;
(ii)
Housing Revenue Bonds, Series 1993C, issued by Lake Creek
Affordable Housing Corporation, held in the face amount of $1,166,250;
(iii)
the possible purchase of bonds with respect to Borrower's
contingent obligations under the $10,115,000 Standby Bond Purchase
Agreement between Borrower and Colorado National Bank, as Trustee,
dated July 9, 1996;
(iv)
a secured loan of $300,000 made to Andrew P. Daly in
1991, a secured loan of $438,750 to be made to Lucinda M. Daly, and a
secured loan of $350,000 to be made to Mr. and Mrs. James P. Thompson;
and
(v)
Workers compensation reserve account, established
pursuant to a self-insurance permit from the State of Colorado
Department of Labor, invested exclusively in items described in
clauses (b) through (f) above.
9.9

Management Fees and Distributions.
--------------------------------Distribution, except as follows:

No Company shall make any

(a) if no Default or Potential Default exists (or would result
therefrom), the Companies may pay management fees to Apollo of up to
$500,000 (in cash and/or services) in any fiscal year of the Companies;
(b) VRI may make payments of up to $55,000,000 in connection with its
distribution of a nontransferable right to receive up to $5.00 per share of
VRI's Common Stock to all stockholders of record on October 11, 1996, and a
related payable accruing to certain option holders (provided that such
payments may only be made to the extent the Companies receive sufficient
gross proceeds under contracts existing as of September 30, 1996, for the
sale of certain real estate and related amenities); and
(c)

any Company may make Distributions to a Restricted Company.

9.10 Sale of Assets. No Company shall sell, assign, lease, transfer or
-------------otherwise dispose of all or any material portion of the assets described in
SCHEDULE 2, if the ratio described in SECTION 10.1 would increase as a
result of such disposition after any application of proceeds thereof to the Term
Loans under SECTION 3.2(d)(i)(a). Any sale of assets is subject to the mandatory
prepayment provisions of SECTION 3.2(d)(i).
9.11

Mergers and Dissolutions. No Restricted Company shall merge or
-----------------------consolidate with any other Person (unless Borrower or, if Borrower is not a
party to such merger or consolidation, a Restricted Subsidiary is the surviving
entity in connection with any such merger or consolidation) or liquidate, wind
up or dissolve (or suffer any liquidation or dissolution). Prior to any such

merger or consolidation, Borrower shall deliver any notice and legal opinion
required by SECTION 2(b)(ii) of the relevant Pledge Agreement, if applicable.
Promptly after such merger or consolidation, Borrower shall deliver to Agent
revised SCHEDULES 7.2 and 7.3 reflecting any merger or consolidation.
9.12

Assignment. No Company shall assign or transfer any of its Rights or
---------cause to be delegated its duties or obligations under any of the Loan Papers.
9.13

Fiscal Year and Accounting Methods. No Company shall change its
---------------------------------fiscal year or its method of accounting (other than immaterial changes in
methods or as required by GAAP). [Under the Third Amendment, Lenders allowed
the Companies to change their fiscal year end from September 30 to July 31.]
9.14

New Businesses. No Restricted Company shall engage in any business,
-------------except the businesses in which they are presently engaged and any other business
reasonably related to the Companies' current operations or the resort, leisure
or ski business; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not be construed to
prohibit the cessation by any Company of its business activities or the sale or
transfer of the business or assets of such Company to the extent not otherwise
prohibited by this Agreement.
9.15

Government Regulations. No Company shall conduct its business in a
---------------------way that it becomes regulated under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as
amended, or the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, as amended.
SECTION 10 FINANCIAL COVENANTS. So long as Lenders are committed to fund Loans
- ---------- ------------------and Agent is committed to issue LCs under this Agreement, and thereafter until
the Obligation is paid and performed in full (except for provisions under the
Loan Papers expressly intended to survive payment of the Obligation and
termination of the Loan Papers), Borrower covenants and agrees as follows to
comply with each of the following ratios. For purposes of determining each such
ratio, Resort EBITDA for any period shall include on a pro forma basis all
EBITDA for such period relating to assets acquired (including Restricted
Subsidiaries formed or acquired) during such period, but shall exclude on a pro
forma basis all EBITDA for such period relating to any such assets disposed of
in accordance with this Agreement during such period.
10.1 Maximum Leverage Ratio. As calculated as of the last day of each
---------------------fiscal quarter of the Companies, the Companies shall not permit the ratio of (x)
the unpaid principal amount of Funded Debt existing as of such last day to (y)
Resort EBITDA for the four fiscal quarters ending on such last day to exceed the
-----following:

-----------------------------------------------------------------As of the last day of each fiscal
4.25 to 1.00
quarter occurring after the Closing
Date through and including January
31, 1999:
-----------------------------------------------------------------As of the last day of each fiscal
3.75 to 1.00
quarter commencing with April 30,
1999:
-----------------------------------------------------------------10.2 Minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio. As calculated as of the last day
----------------------------------of each fiscal quarter of the Companies, the Companies shall not permit the
ratio of (x) Resort EBITDA for the four fiscal quarters ending on such last day
minus Adjusted Capital Expenditures to (y) Scheduled Principal Payments and
interest on the
Obligation and scheduled principal and interest payments on all other Funded
Debt (other than with respect to principal payments on VRI's 12-1/4% Senior

Subordinated Notes Due 2002) in such four fiscal quarters to be less that the
---following:

----------------------------------------------------------------As of the last day of each fiscal
1.15 to 1.00
quarter occurring after the Closing
Date through and including July 31,
1999:
----------------------------------------------------------------As of the last day of each fiscal
1.20 to 1.00
quarter commencing with October 31,
1999, through and including July 31,
2000:
----------------------------------------------------------------As of the last day of each fiscal
1.25 to 1.00
quarter commencing with October 31,
2000:
For purposes of clause (y) of such ratio for the four-quarter periods ending on
December 31, 1996, March 31, 1997, and June 30, 1997, payments of principal and
interest shall be calculated as though all such Debt was incurred at the
beginning of such four-quarter period. As used in this SECTION 10.2, "ADJUSTED
CAPITAL EXPENDITURES" means (a) for the four fiscal quarters ending any January
31, the lesser of (i) the Companies' actual capital expenditures during such
four fiscal quarters, and (ii) $25,000,000, and (b) for the four fiscal quarters
ending on any April 30, July 31, or October 31, the lesser of (i) the Companies'
actual capital expenditures during such four fiscal quarters, and (ii)
$15,000,000.
10.3 Interest Coverage Ratio. As calculated as of the last day of each
----------------------fiscal quarter of the Companies, the Companies shall not permit the ratio of (x)
Resort EBITDA for the four fiscal quarters ending on such last day to (y)
payments of interest on Funded Debt in such four fiscal quarters to be less than
---the following:

----------------------------------------------------------------As of the last day of each fiscal
2.25 to 1.00
quarter occurring after the Closing
Date through and including July 31,
1998:
----------------------------------------------------------------As of the last day of each fiscal
2.50 to 1.00
quarter commencing with October 31,
1998, through and including July 31,
1999:
----------------------------------------------------------------As of the last day of each fiscal
2.75 to 1.00
quarter commencing with October 31,
1999, through and including July 31,
2000:
----------------------------------------------------------------As of the last day of each fiscal
3.00 to 1.00
quarter commencing with October 31,
2000:
----------------------------------------------------------------For purposes of clause (y) of such
December 31, 1996, March 31, 1997,
on Funded Debt shall be calculated
the beginning of such four-quarter

ratio for the four-quarter periods ending on
and June 30, 1997, the payments of interest
as though such Funded Debt was incurred at
period.

SECTION 11 DEFAULT. The term "DEFAULT" means the occurrence of any one or more
- ---------- -------

of the following events:
11.1

Payment of Obligation. The failure or refusal of any Company to pay
--------------------(i) any principal payment contemplated by SECTION 3.2(b) of this Agreement after
such payment becomes due and payable hereunder, (ii) any principal payment
(other than those contemplated by SECTION 3.2(b)) or interest payment
contemplated to be made hereunder within 3 Business Days after demand therefor
by Agent, (iii) any amount contemplated to be paid hereunder in respect of fees,
costs, expenses or indemnities within 10 Business Days after demand therefor by
Agent
and (iv) any amount in respect of its reimbursement obligations in
connection with any drawing under an LC within 3 Business Days after demand
therefor by Agent.
11.2 Covenants. The failure or refusal of any Company to punctually and
--------properly perform, observe, and comply with:
(a) Any covenant, agreement or condition applicable to it contained
in SECTIONS 8.2, 8.14, 9 (other than SECTIONS 9.1, 9.3, 9.6 and 9.7) or 10;
or
(b) Any other covenant, agreement or condition applicable to it
contained in any Loan Paper (other than the covenants to pay the Obligation
and the covenants in clause (a) preceding), and failure or refusal
continues for 30 days.
11.3 Debtor Relief. Any Restricted Company (a) fails to pay its Debts
------------generally as they become due, (b) voluntarily seeks, consents to, or acquiesces
in the benefit of any Debtor Relief Law, or (c) becomes a party to or is made
the subject of any proceeding provided for by any Debtor Relief Law, other than
as a creditor or claimant, that could suspend or otherwise adversely affect the
Rights of Agent or any Lender granted in the Loan Papers (unless, if the
proceeding is involuntary, the applicable petition is dismissed within 60 days
after its filing).
11.4 Judgments and Attachments. Any Restricted Company fails, within 60
------------------------days after entry, to pay, bond or otherwise discharge any judgment or order for
the payment of money in excess of $5,000,000 (individually or collectively) or
any warrant of attachment, sequestration or similar proceeding against any
assets of any Restricted Company having a value (individually or collectively)
of $5,000,000, which is neither (a) stayed on appeal nor (b) diligently
contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and adequate reserves have
been set aside on its books in accordance with GAAP.
11.5 Government Action. Any Tribunal condemns, seizes or otherwise
----------------appropriates, or takes custody or control of all or any substantial portion of
the assets described on SCHEDULE 2.
11.6 Misrepresentation. Any material representation or warranty made by
----------------any Company in connection with any Loan Paper at any time proves to have been
materially incorrect when made; provided that if such Company made such
representation or warranty in good faith without any knowledge on the part of
the Companies that it was materially incorrect, such misrepresentation shall not
constitute a Default if the Companies notify Agent of such misrepresentation
within 5 Business Days after such Company has knowledge thereof.
11.7 Ownership.
---------

There shall occur a Change of Control Transaction.

11.8 Default Under Other Agreements. (a) Any Restricted Company fails to
-----------------------------pay when due (after lapse of any applicable grace period) any recourse Debt in
excess (individually or collectively) of $5,000,000; (b) any default exists
under any agreement to which any Restricted Company is a party, the effect of
which is to cause, or to permit any Person (other than a Restricted Company) to
cause, any recourse obligation in excess (individually or collectively) of
$5,000,000 to become due and payable by any Restricted Company before its stated

maturity, except to the extent such obligation is declared to be due and payable
as a result of the sale of any asset to which it relates; or (c) an "Enforcement
Notice" is delivered by the Beaver Creek Indenture Trustee or the Vail Indenture
Trustee under the Collateral Agency Agreement (and has not been rescinded or
withdrawn).
11.9 Validity and Enforceability of Loan Papers. Except in accordance with
-----------------------------------------its terms or as otherwise expressly permitted by this Agreement, any Loan Paper
at any time after its execution and delivery ceases to be in full force and
effect in any material respect or is declared to be null and void or its
validity or enforceability is contested by any Company party thereto or any
Company denies that it has any further liability or obligations under any Loan
Paper to which it is a party.
11.10

Employee Plans. Except where occurrence or existence is not a
-------------Material Adverse Event, (a) an Employee Plan incurs an "accumulated funding
deficiency" (as defined in section 302 of ERISA or section 412 of the Code), (b)
a Company incurs liability under ERISA to the PBGC in connection with any
Employee Plan (other than required insurance premiums paid when due), (c) a
Company withdraws in whole or in part from participation in a Multiemployer
Plan, (d) a Company engages in any "prohibited transaction" (as defined in
section 406 of ERISA or section 4975 of the Code), or (e) a "reportable event"
(as defined in section 4043 of ERISA) occurs with respect to an Employee Plan,
excluding events for which the notice requirement is waived under applicable
PBGC regulations.
SECTION 12. RIGHTS AND REMEDIES.
- ---------- ------------------12.1

Remedies Upon Default.
---------------------

(a) If a Default exists under SECTION 11.3, the commitment to extend
credit under this Agreement automatically terminates, the entire unpaid
balance of the Obligation automatically becomes due and payable without any
action of any kind whatsoever, and Borrower must provide cash collateral in
an amount equal to the then-existing LC Exposure.
(b) If any Default exists, subject to the terms of SECTION 13.5(b),
Agent may (with the consent of, and must, upon the request of, Required
Lenders), do any one or more of the following: (i) if the maturity of the
Obligation has not already been accelerated under SECTION 12.1(a), declare
the entire unpaid balance of all or any part of the Obligation immediately
due and payable, whereupon it is due and payable; (ii) terminate the
commitments of Lenders to extend credit or to continue or convert any Loan
under this Agreement; (iii) reduce any claim to judgment; (iv) demand
Borrower to provide cash collateral in an amount equal to the LC Exposure
then existing; and (v) exercise any and all other legal or equitable Rights
afforded by the Loan Papers, the Laws of the State of New York, or any
other applicable jurisdiction. In addition, Agent may (with the consent of,
and must, upon the request of, Lenders holding at least 50% of the
Revolving Credit Commitment) terminate the Revolving Credit Commitment.
12.2

Company Waivers. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, EACH COMPANY
--------------WAIVES PRESENTMENT AND DEMAND FOR PAYMENT, PROTEST, NOTICE OF INTENTION TO
ACCELERATE, NOTICE OF ACCELERATION AND NOTICE OF PROTEST AND NONPAYMENT, AND
AGREES THAT ITS LIABILITY WITH RESPECT TO ALL OR ANY PART OF THE OBLIGATION IS
NOT AFFECTED BY ANY RENEWAL OR EXTENSION IN THE TIME OF PAYMENT OF ALL OR ANY
PART OF THE OBLIGATION, BY ANY INDULGENCE, OR BY ANY RELEASE OR CHANGE IN ANY
SECURITY FOR THE PAYMENT OF ALL OR ANY PART OF THE OBLIGATION.
12.3

Performance by Agent. If any covenant, duty or agreement of any
-------------------Company is not performed in accordance with the terms of the Loan Papers, Agent
may, while a Default exists, at its option (but subject to the approval of
Required Lenders), perform or attempt to perform that covenant, duty or
agreement on behalf of that Company (and any amount expended by Agent in its
performance or attempted performance is payable by the Companies, jointly and
severally, to Agent on demand, becomes part of the Obligation, and bears
interest at the Default Rate from the date of Agent's expenditure until paid).
However, Agent does not assume and shall never have, except by its express

written consent, any liability or responsibility for the performance of any
covenant, duty or agreement of any Company.
12.4

Not in Control. None of the covenants or other provisions contained
-------------in any Loan Paper shall, or shall be deemed to, give Agent or Lenders the Right
to exercise control over the assets (including, without limitation, real
property), affairs, or management of any Company; the power of Agent and Lenders
is limited to the Right to exercise the remedies provided in this SECTION 12.
12.5

Course of Dealing. The acceptance by Agent or Lenders of any
----------------partial payment on the Obligation shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any
Default then existing. No waiver by Agent, Required Lenders or Lenders of any
Default shall be deemed to be a waiver of any other then-existing or subsequent
Default. No delay or
omission by Agent, Required Lenders or Lenders in exercising any Right
under the Loan Papers will impair that Right or be construed as a waiver thereof
or any acquiescence therein, nor will any single or partial exercise of any
Right preclude other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other
Right under the Loan Papers or otherwise.
12.6

Cumulative Rights. All Rights available to Agent, Required Lenders,
----------------and Lenders under the Loan Papers are cumulative of and in addition to all other
Rights granted to Agent, Required Lenders, and Lenders at law or in equity,
whether or not the Obligation is due and payable and whether or not Agent,
Required Lenders, or Lenders have instituted any suit for collection,
foreclosure, or other action in connection with the Loan Papers.
12.7

Application of Proceeds. Any and all proceeds ever received by
----------------------Agent or Lenders from the exercise of any Rights pertaining to the Obligation
shall be applied to the Obligation according to SECTION 3.11.
12.8

Diminution in Value of Collateral. Neither Agent nor any Lender has
--------------------------------any liability or responsibility whatsoever for any diminution in or loss of
value of any collateral now or hereafter securing payment or performance of all
or any part of the Obligation (other than diminution in or loss of value caused
by its gross negligence or willful misconduct).
12.9

Certain Proceedings. The Companies will promptly execute and
------------------deliver, or cause the execution and delivery of, all applications, certificates,
instruments, registration statements and all other documents and papers Agent or
Required Lenders reasonably request in connection with the obtaining of any
consent, approval, registration, qualification, permit, license or authorization
of any Tribunal or other Person necessary or appropriate for the effective
exercise of any Rights under the Loan Papers. Because Borrower agrees that
Agent's and Required Lenders' remedies at Law for failure of the Companies to
comply with the provisions of this paragraph would be inadequate and that
failure would not be adequately compensable in damages, Borrower agrees that the
covenants of this paragraph may be specifically enforced.
SECTION 13 AGREEMENT AMONG LENDERS.
- ---------- ----------------------13.1

Agent.
-----

(a) Each Lender appoints Agent (and Agent accepts appointment) as
its nominee and agent, in its name and on its behalf pursuant to the terms
and conditions of the Loan Papers: (i) to act as its nominee and on its
behalf in and under all Loan Papers; (ii) to arrange the means whereby its
funds are to be made available to Borrower under the Loan Papers; (iii) to
take any action that it properly requests under the Loan Papers (subject to
the concurrence of other Lenders as may be required under the Loan Papers);
(iv) to receive all documents and items to be furnished to it under the
Loan Papers; (v) to be the secured party, mortgagee, beneficiary, recipient
and similar party in respect of any collateral for the benefit of Lenders;
(vi) to promptly distribute to it all material information, requests,
documents and items received from any Company under the Loan Papers; (vii)

to promptly distribute to it its ratable part of each payment (whether
voluntary, as proceeds of collateral upon or after foreclosure, as proceeds
of insurance thereon, or otherwise) in accordance with the terms of the
Loan Papers; and (viii) to deliver to the appropriate Persons requests,
demands, approvals, and consents received from it.
(b) If the initial or any successor Agent ever ceases to be a party
to this Agreement or if the initial or any successor Agent ever resigns
(whether voluntarily or at the request of Required Lenders), then Required
Lenders shall appoint the successor Agent from among Lenders (other than
the resigning Agent). If Required Lenders fail to appoint a successor
Agent within 30 days after the resigning Agent has given notice of
resignation or Required Lenders have removed the resigning Agent, then the
resigning Agent may, on behalf of Lenders, appoint a successor Agent, which
must be a commercial bank having a combined capital and surplus of at least
$1,000,000,000 (as shown on its most recently published statement of
condition). Upon its acceptance of appointment as successor Agent, the
successor Agent succeeds to
and becomes vested with all of the Rights of the prior Agent, and the prior
Agent is discharged from its duties and obligations of Agent under the Loan
Papers (but, when used in connection with LCs issued and outstanding before
the appointment of the successor Agent, "Agent" shall continue to refer
solely to NationsBank of Texas, N.A. (but, any LCs issued or renewed after
the appointment of any successor Agent shall be issued or renewed by the
successor Agent)), and each Lender shall execute the documents as any
Lender, the resigning or removed Agent, or the successor Agent reasonably
request to reflect the change. After any Agent's resignation or removal as
Agent under the Loan Papers, the provisions of this SECTION 13 inure to its
benefit as to any actions taken or omitted to be taken by it while it was
Agent under the Loan Papers.
(c)
Agent, in its capacity as a Lender, has the same Rights under
the Loan Papers as any other Lender and may exercise those Rights as if it
were not acting as Agent; the term "Lender" shall, unless the context
otherwise indicates, include Agent; and Agent's resignation or removal
shall not impair or otherwise affect any Rights that it has or may have in
its capacity as an individual Lender. Each Lender and Borrower agree that
Agent is not a fiduciary for Lenders or for Borrower but simply is acting
in the capacity described in this Agreement to alleviate administrative
burdens for Borrower and Lenders, that Agent has no duties or
responsibilities to Lenders or Borrower, except those expressly set forth
in the Loan Papers, and that Agent in its capacity as a Lender has all
Rights of any other Lender.
(d)
Agent may now or hereafter be engaged in one or more loan,
letter of credit, leasing or other financing transactions with Borrower,
act as trustee or depositary for Borrower, or otherwise be engaged in other
transactions with Borrower (collectively, the "OTHER ACTIVITIES") not the
subject of the Loan Papers. Without limiting the Rights of Lenders
specifically set forth in the Loan Papers, Agent is not responsible to
account to Lenders for those other activities, and no Lender shall have any
interest in any other activities, any present or future guaranties by or
for the account of Borrower that are not contemplated or included in the
Loan Papers, any present or future offset exercised by Agent in respect of
those other activities, any present or future property taken as security
for any of those other activities, or any property now or hereafter in
Agent's possession or control that may be or become security for the
obligations of Borrower arising under the Loan Papers by reason of the
general description of indebtedness secured or of property contained in any
other agreements, documents, or instruments related to any of those other
activities (but, if any payments in respect of those guaranties or that
property or the proceeds thereof is applied by Agent to reduce the
Obligation, then each Lender is entitled to share ratably in the
application as provided in the Loan Papers).
13.2

Expenses. Each Lender shall pay its Pro Rata Part (based on the
-------Facility as a whole) of any reasonable expenses (including, without limitation,
court costs, reasonable attorneys' fees and other costs of collection) incurred
by Agent (while acting in such capacity) in connection with any of the Loan
Papers if Agent is not reimbursed from other sources within 30 days after
incurrence. Each Lender is entitled to receive its Pro Rata Part (based on the
Facility as a whole) of any reimbursement that it makes to Agent if Agent is

subsequently reimbursed from other sources.
13.3

Proportionate Absorption of Losses. Except as otherwise provided in
---------------------------------the Loan Papers, nothing in the Loan Papers gives any Lender any advantage over
any other Lender insofar as the Obligation is concerned or to relieve any Lender
from absorbing its Pro Rata Part of any losses sustained with respect to any
portion of the Obligation in which it participates (except to the extent
unilateral actions or inactions by any Lender result in Borrower or any other
obligor on the Obligation having any credit, allowance, setoff, defense, or
counterclaim solely with respect to all or any part of that Lender's portion of
the Obligation).
13.4

Delegation of Duties; Reliance. Lenders may perform any of their
-----------------------------duties or exercise any of their Rights under the Loan Papers by or through
Agent, and Lenders and Agent may perform any of their duties or exercise any of
their Rights under the Loan Papers by or through their respective
Representatives. Agent, Lenders and their respective Representatives (a) are
entitled to rely upon (and shall be protected in relying upon) any written
or oral statement believed by it or them to be genuine and correct and to have
been signed or made by the proper Person and, with respect to legal matters,
upon opinion of counsel selected by Agent or that Lender (but nothing in this
clause (a) permits Agent to rely on (i) oral statements if a writing is required
by this Agreement or (ii) any other writing if a specific writing is required by
this Agreement), (b) are entitled to deem and treat each Lender as the owner and
holder of its portion of the Principal Debt for all purposes until, subject to
SECTION 14.12, written notice of the assignment or transfer is given to and
received by Agent (and any request, authorization, consent or approval of any
Lender is conclusive and binding on each subsequent holder, assignee or
transferee of or Participant in that Lender's portion of the Principal Debt
until that notice is given and received), (c) are not deemed to have notice of
the occurrence of a Default unless a responsible officer of Agent, who handles
matters associated with the Loan Papers and transactions thereunder, has actual
knowledge or Agent has been notified by a Lender or Borrower, and (d) are
entitled to consult with legal counsel (including counsel for Borrower),
independent accountants, and other experts selected by Agent and are not liable
for any action taken or omitted to be taken in good faith by it in accordance
with the advice of counsel, accountants, or experts.
13.5

Limitation of Agent's Liability.
-------------------------------

(a)
NEITHER AGENT NOR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES, REPRESENTATIVES,
SUCCESSORS OR ASSIGNS WILL BE LIABLE FOR ANY ACTION TAKEN OR OMITTED TO BE
TAKEN BY IT OR THEM UNDER THE LOAN PAPERS IN GOOD FAITH AND BELIEVED BY IT
OR THEM TO BE WITHIN THE DISCRETION OR POWER CONFERRED UPON IT OR THEM BY
THE LOAN PAPERS OR BE RESPONSIBLE FOR THE CONSEQUENCES OF ANY ERROR OF
JUDGMENT (EXCEPT FOR FRAUD, GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT), AND
NONE OF THEM HAS A FIDUCIARY RELATIONSHIP WITH ANY LENDER BY VIRTUE OF THE
LOAN PAPERS (BUT NOTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT NEGATES THE OBLIGATION OF AGENT
TO ACCOUNT FOR FUNDS RECEIVED BY IT FOR THE ACCOUNT OF ANY LENDER).
(b)
Unless indemnified to its satisfaction, Agent may not be
compelled to do any act under the Loan Papers or to take any action toward
the execution or enforcement of the powers thereby created or to prosecute
or defend any suit in respect of the Loan Papers. If Agent requests
instructions from Lenders, or Required Lenders, as the case may be, with
respect to any act or action in connection with any Loan Paper, Agent is
entitled to refrain (without incurring any liability to any Person by so
refraining) from that act or action unless and until it has received
instructions. In no event, however, may Agent or any of its
Representatives be required to take any action that it or they determine
could incur for it or them criminal or onerous civil liability or that is
contrary to any Loan Paper or applicable Law. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, no Lender has any right of action against
Agent as a result of Agent's acting or refraining from acting under this
Agreement in accordance with instructions of Required Lenders (or of all
Lenders, if instructions from all Lenders is specifically required by the
terms of the Loan Papers).
(c)
Agent is not responsible to any Lender or any Participant for,
and each Lender represents and warrants that it has not relied upon Agent

in respect of, (i) the creditworthiness of any Company and the risks
involved to that Lender, (ii) the effectiveness, enforceability,
genuineness, validity or due execution of any Loan Paper (other than by
Agent), (iii) any representation, warranty, document, certificate, report
or statement made therein (other than by Agent) or furnished thereunder or
in connection therewith, (iv) the adequacy of any collateral now or
hereafter securing the Obligation or the existence, priority or perfection
of any Lien now or hereafter granted or purported to be granted on the
collateral under any Loan Paper, or (v) the observance of or compliance
with any of the terms, covenants or conditions of any Loan Paper on the
part of any Company. EACH LENDER AGREES TO INDEMNIFY AGENT AND ITS
REPRESENTATIVES AND HOLD THEM HARMLESS FROM AND AGAINST (BUT LIMITED TO
SUCH LENDER'S PRO RATA PART, BASED ON THE FACILITY AS A WHOLE, OF) ANY AND
ALL LIABILITIES, OBLIGATIONS, LOSSES, DAMAGES, PENALTIES, ACTIONS,
JUDGMENTS, SUITS, COSTS, REASONABLE EXPENSES AND REASONABLE DISBURSEMENTS
OF ANY KIND OR NATURE WHATSOEVER THAT MAY BE IMPOSED ON, ASSERTED AGAINST,
OR INCURRED BY THEM IN ANY WAY RELATING TO OR ARISING OUT OF THE LOAN
PAPERS OR ANY ACTION TAKEN OR OMITTED BY THEM UNDER THE LOAN PAPERS IF
AGENT AND ITS REPRESENTATIVES ARE NOT REIMBURSED FOR SUCH AMOUNTS BY ANY
COMPANY. Although Agent and its Representatives have the right to be
indemnified under this Agreement for its or
their own ordinary negligence, Agent and its Representatives do not have
the right to be indemnified under this Agreement for its or their own
fraud, gross negligence or willful misconduct.
13.6

Default; Collateral. While a Default exists, Lenders agree to
------------------promptly confer in order that Required Lenders or Lenders, as the case may be,
may agree upon a course of action for the enforcement of the Rights of Lenders;
and Agent is entitled to refrain from taking any action (without incurring any
liability to any Person for so refraining) unless and until it has received
instructions from Required Lenders. In actions with respect to any property of
Borrower, Agent is acting for the ratable benefit of each Lender. Agent shall
hold, for the ratable benefit of all Lenders, any security it receives for the
Obligation or any guaranty of the Obligation it receives upon or in lieu of
foreclosure.
13.7

Limitation of Liability. No Lender or any Participant will incur
----------------------any liability to any other Lender or Participant, except for acts or omissions
in bad faith, and neither Agent nor any Lender or Participant will incur any
liability to any other Person for any act or omission of any other Lender or any
Participant.
13.8

Relationship of Lenders. The Loan Papers and the documents
----------------------delivered in connection therewith do not create a partnership or joint venture
among Agent and Lenders or among Lenders.
13.9

Collateral Matters.
------------------

(a) Each Lender authorizes and directs Agent to enter into the
Security Documents for the ratable benefit of Lenders and the other secured
parties identified therein. Each Lender agrees that any action taken by
Agent concerning any Collateral with the consent of, or at the request of,
Required Lenders in accordance with the provisions of the Loan Papers, and
the exercise by Agent (with the consent of, or at the request of, Required
Lenders) of powers concerning the Collateral set forth in any Loan Paper,
together with other reasonably incidental powers, shall be authorized by
and binding upon all Lenders.
(b) Agent is authorized on behalf of all Lenders, without the
necessity of any notice to or further consent from any Lender, from time to
time before a Default or Potential Default, to take any action with respect
to any Collateral or Security Documents that may be necessary to perfect
and maintain perfected the Liens upon the Collateral granted by the
Security Documents.
(c) Agent has no obligation whatsoever to any Lender or to any
other Person to assure that the Collateral exists or is owned by any
Company or is cared for, protected or insured or has been encumbered or
that the Liens granted under the Security Documents have been properly or

sufficiently or lawfully created, perfected, protected or enforced, or are
entitled to any particular priority.
(d) Agent shall exercise the same care and prudent judgment with
respect to the Collateral and the Security Documents as it normally and
customarily exercises in respect of similar collateral and security
documents.
(e) Lenders irrevocably authorize Agent to release any Lien upon
any Collateral in accordance with SECTION 5.2(b) or 5.3(b).
13.10

Benefits of Agreement. None of the provisions of this SECTION 13
--------------------inure to the benefit of any Company or any other Person other than Agent and
Lenders; consequently, no Company or any other Person is entitled to rely upon,
or to raise as a defense, in any manner whatsoever, the failure of Agent or any
Lender to comply with these provisions.
SECTION 14
- ----------

MISCELLANEOUS.
-------------

14.1

Headings. The headings, captions and arrangements used in any of
-------the Loan Papers are, unless
specified otherwise, for convenience only and shall not
be deemed to limit, amplify or modify the terms of the Loan Papers, nor affect
the meaning thereof.
14.2 Nonbusiness Days; Time. Any payment or action that is due under any
---------------------Loan Paper on a non-Business Day may be delayed until the next-succeeding
Business Day (but interest shall continue to accrue on any applicable payment
until payment is in fact made) unless the payment concerns a LIBOR Loan, in
which case if the next-succeeding Business Day is in the next calendar month,
then such payment shall be made on the next-preceding Business Day. Unless
otherwise indicated, all time references (e.g., 1:00 p.m.) are to Dallas, Texas
time.
14.3 Communications. Unless otherwise specifically provided, whenever any
-------------Loan Paper requires or permits any consent, approval, notice, request or demand
from one party to another, communication must be in writing (which may be by
telex or telecopy) to be effective and shall be deemed to have been given (a) if
by telex, when transmitted to the appropriate telex number and the appropriate
answerback is received, (b) if by telecopy, when transmitted to the appropriate
telecopy number (and all communications sent by telecopy must be confirmed
promptly thereafter by telephone; but any requirement in this parenthetical
shall not affect the date when the telecopy shall be deemed to have been
delivered), (c) if by mail, on the third Business Day after it is enclosed in an
envelope and properly addressed, stamped, sealed, and deposited in the
appropriate official postal service, or (d) if by any other means, when actually
delivered. Until changed by notice pursuant to this Agreement, the address (and
telecopy number) for each party to a Loan Paper is set forth on the attached
SCHEDULE 1.
14.4 Form and Number of Documents. The form, substance, and number of
---------------------------counterparts of each writing to be furnished under the Loan Papers must be
satisfactory to Agent and its counsel, each in its reasonable discretion.
14.5 Exceptions to Covenants. The Companies may not take or fail to take
----------------------any action that is permitted as an exception to any of the covenants contained
in any Loan Paper if that action or omission would result in the breach of any
other covenant contained in any Loan Paper.
14.6 Survival. All covenants, agreements, undertakings, representations
-------and warranties made in any of the Loan Papers survive all closings under the
Loan Papers and, except as otherwise indicated, are not affected by any
investigation made by any party.
14.7 Governing Law.

The Laws (other than conflict-of-laws provisions) of

------------the State of New York and of the United States of America govern the Rights and
duties of the parties to the Loan Papers and the validity, construction,
enforcement and interpretation of the Loan Papers.
14.8 Invalid Provisions. Any provision in any Loan Paper held to be
-----------------illegal, invalid or unenforceable is fully severable; the appropriate Loan Paper
shall be construed and enforced as if that provision had never been included;
and the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect and shall not
be affected by the severed provision. Agent, Lenders, and the Companies shall
negotiate, in good faith, the terms of a replacement provision as similar to the
severed provision as may be possible and be legal, valid and enforceable.
14.9 Venue; Service of Process; Jury Trial. EACH PARTY TO ANY LOAN PAPER,
------------------------------------IN EACH CASE FOR ITSELF, ITS SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS (AND IN THE CASE OF
BORROWER, FOR EACH OTHER COMPANY), (a) IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS TO THE NONEXCLUSIVE
JURISDICTION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL COURTS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS, (b)
IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, ANY OBJECTION THAT
IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE LAYING OF VENUE OF ANY LITIGATION ARISING
OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE LOAN PAPERS AND THE OBLIGATION BROUGHT IN
DISTRICT COURTS OF DALLAS OR HARRIS COUNTY, TEXAS, OR IN THE UNITED STATES
DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN OR SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS, DALLAS OR HOUSTON
DIVISION, (c) IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY CLAIMS
THAT ANY LITIGATION BROUGHT IN ANY OF THE AFOREMENTIONED COURTS HAS BEEN BROUGHT
IN AN INCONVENIENT FORUM, (d) IRREVOCABLY AGREES THAT ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING
AGAINST ANY PARTY TO ANY LOAN PAPER ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE
LOAN PAPERS OR THE OBLIGATION MAY BE BROUGHT IN ONE OF THE AFOREMENTIONED
COURTS, AND (e) IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, ITS
RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION BASED UPON OR
ARISING OUT OF ANY LOAN PAPER. The scope of each of the foregoing waivers is
intended to be all-encompassing of any and all disputes that may be filed in any
court and that relate to the subject matter of this transaction, including,
without limitation, contract claims, tort claims, breach of duty claims, and all
other common law and statutory claims. Borrower (for itself and on behalf of
each other Company) acknowledges that these waivers are a material inducement to
Agent's and each Lender's agreement to enter into a business relationship, that
Agent and each Lender has already relied on these waivers in entering into this
Agreement, and that Agent and each Lender will continue to rely on each of these
waivers in related future dealings. Borrower (for itself and on behalf of each
other Company) further warrants and represents that it has reviewed these
waivers with its legal counsel, and that it knowingly and voluntarily agrees to
each waiver following consultation with legal counsel. THE WAIVERS IN THIS
SECTION 14.9 MAY NOT BE MODIFIED EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 14.10, AND
SHALL, EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT WAIVED OR MODIFIED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 14.10,
APPLY TO ANY SUBSEQUENT AMENDMENTS, SUPPLEMENTS OR PLACEMENTS TO OR OF THIS OR
ANY OTHER LOAN PAPER. In the event of Litigation, this Agreement may be filed as
a written consent to a trial by the court.
14.10

Amendments, Consents, Conflicts and Waivers.
-------------------------------------------

(a) Unless otherwise specifically provided, (i) this Agreement may
be amended only by an instrument in writing executed by Borrower, Agent and
Required Lenders and supplemented only by documents delivered or to be
delivered in accordance with the express terms of this Agreement, and (ii)
the other Loan Papers may only be the subject of an amendment, modification
or waiver that has been approved by Required Lenders and Borrower.
(b) Any amendment to or consent or waiver under any Loan Paper that
purports to waive any mandatory prepayment or change the allocation of any
payment among the Revolving Credit Loans, the Tranche A Loans and the
Tranche B Loans must be by an instrument in writing executed by Borrower,
Agent, Lenders holding at least 50% of the Revolving Credit Commitment,
Lenders holding at least 50% of the Tranche A Commitment and Lenders
holding at least 50% of the Tranche B Commitment. Any amendment to or
consent or waiver that purports to reactivate (or would have the effect of
reactivating) the Revolving Credit Commitment after its termination
pursuant to SECTION 12.1 must be by an instrument in writing executed by
Borrower, Agent and Lenders holding at least 50% of the Revolving Credit
Commitment. Any amendment to or consent or waiver under any Loan Paper
that purports to accomplish any of the following must be by an instrument

in writing executed by Borrower and Agent and executed (or approved, as the
case may be) by each Lender: (i) extend the due date, decrease the amount
of, or reallocate among the Tranches any scheduled payment of the
Obligation; (ii) decrease any rate or amount of interest, fees or other
sums payable to Agent or Lenders under this Agreement (except such
reductions as are contemplated by this Agreement); (iii) change the
definition of "Committed Sum," "Required Lenders," "Revolving Credit
Commitment," "Revolving Credit Termination Date," "Tranche A Commitment,"
"Tranche A Termination Date," "Tranche B Commitment," or "Tranche B
Termination Date;" (iv) increase any one or more Lenders' Committed Sums;
(v) waive compliance with, amend or release (in whole or in part) the
Guaranties of VRI or all or substantially all of the Restricted
Subsidiaries; (vi) consent to the release of any material portion of the
Collateral (other than pursuant to SECTION 5.2(b) or 5.3(b), which may be
released by Agent alone in accordance with SECTION 13.9(e)); or (vii)
change this clause (b), SECTION 9.12 or any other matter specifically
requiring the consent of all Lenders under this Agreement.
(c) Any conflict or ambiguity between the terms and provisions of
this Agreement and terms
and provisions in any other Loan Paper is controlled by the terms and
provisions of this Agreement.
(d) No course of dealing or any failure or delay by Agent, any
Lender, or any of their respective Representatives with respect to
exercising any Right of Agent or any Lender under this Agreement operates
as a waiver thereof. A waiver must be in writing and signed by Agent and
Lenders (or Required Lenders, if permitted under this Agreement) to be
effective, and a waiver will be effective only in the specific instance and
for the specific purpose for which it is given.
14.11 Multiple Counterparts. Each Loan Paper (other than the Notes) may be
--------------------executed in a number of identical counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an
original for all purposes and all of which constitute, collectively, one
agreement; but, in making proof of thereof, it shall not be necessary to produce
or account for more than one counterpart. Each Lender need not execute the same
counterpart of this Agreement so long as identical counterparts are executed by
Borrower, each Lender, and Agent. This Agreement shall become effective when
counterparts of this Agreement have been executed and delivered to Agent by each
Lender, Agent and Borrower, or, in the case only of Lenders, when Agent has
received telecopied, telexed or other evidence satisfactory to it that each
Lender has executed and is delivering to Agent a counterpart of this Agreement.
14.12 Successors and Assigns; Participation.
------------------------------------(a) The Loan Papers bind and inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto, any intended beneficiary thereof, and each of their respective
successors and permitted assigns. No Lender may transfer, pledge, assign,
sell any participation in, or otherwise encumber its portion of the
Obligation, except as permitted by this SECTION 14.12.
(b) Any Lender may, in the ordinary course of its business, at any
time sell to one or more Persons (each a "PARTICIPANT") participating
interests in all or any part of its Rights and obligations under the Loan
Papers. The selling Lender shall remain a "Lender" under this Agreement
(and the Participant shall not constitute a "Lender" under this Agreement)
and its obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged. The
selling Lender shall remain solely responsible for the performance of its
obligations under the Loan Papers and shall remain the holder of its share
of the Principal Debt for all purposes under this Agreement. Borrower and
Agent shall continue to deal solely and directly with the selling Lender in
connection with that Lender's Rights and obligations under the Loan Papers.
Participants have no Rights under the Loan Papers, other than certain
voting Rights as provided below. Subject to the following, each Lender may
obtain (on behalf of its Participants) the benefits of SECTION 3 with
respect to all participations in its part of the Obligation outstanding
from time to time so long as Borrower is not obligated to pay any amount in
excess of the amount that would be due to that Lender under SECTION 3
calculated as though no participation have been made. No Lender may sell
any participating interest under which the Participant has any Rights to
approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any Loan Paper, except to

the extent the amendment, modification or waiver extends the due date for
payment of any principal, interest or fees due under the Loan Papers or
reduces the interest rate or the amount of principal or fees applicable to
the Obligation (except reductions contemplated by this Agreement). Except
in the case of the sale of a participating interest to another Lender, the
relevant participation agreement shall prohibit the Participant from
transferring, pledging, assigning, selling participation in, or otherwise
encumbering its portion of the Obligation.
(c) Any Lender may at any time, in the ordinary course of its
business, (i) without the consent of Borrower or Agent, assign all or any
part of its Rights and obligations under the Loan Papers to any of its
Affiliates (each a "PURCHASER") and (ii) upon the prior written consent of
Borrower (if no Default or Potential Default exists) and Agent (which will
not be unreasonably withheld), assign to any other Person (each of which is
also a "PURCHASER") all or any part (but if less than all, then not less
than $5,000,000) of its Rights and obligations under the Loan Papers. In
each case, the Purchaser shall assume those Rights and obligations under an
assignment agreement substantially in the form of the attached
EXHIBIT H. Each assignment under this SECTION 14.12(c) shall include a
ratable interest in the assigning Lender's Rights and obligations under the
Facility with respect to the Tranche or Tranches affected by such
assignment. Upon (i) delivery of an executed copy of the assignment
agreement to Borrower and Agent and the recordation thereof in the Register
provided for in SECTION 14.12(d) and (ii) with respect to each assignment
after the completion of the primary syndication described above, payment of
a fee of $3,500 from the transferor to Agent, from and after the effective
date specified in the Assignment Agreement (which shall be after the date
of delivery), the Purchaser shall for all purposes be a Lender party to
this Agreement and shall have all the Rights and obligations of a Lender
under this Agreement to the same extent as if it were an original party to
this Agreement with commitments as set forth in the assignment agreement,
and the transferor Lender shall be released from its obligations under this
Agreement to a corresponding extent, and, except as provided in the
following sentence, no further consent or action by Borrower, Lenders or
Agent shall be required. Upon the consummation of any transfer to a
Purchaser under this clause (c), the then-existing SCHEDULE 1 shall
automatically be deemed to reflect the name, address, Revolving Credit
Commitment, Tranche A Commitment, and/or Tranche B Commitment, as the case
may be, and Committed Sum of such Purchaser, Agent shall deliver to
Borrower and Lenders an amended SCHEDULE 1 reflecting those changes,
Borrower shall execute and deliver to each of the transferor Lender and the
Purchaser a Note or Notes, as applicable, in the face amount of its
Revolving Credit Commitment, Tranche A Commitment, and/or Tranche B
Commitment, as the case may be, following transfer, and, upon receipt of
its new Note or Notes, as applicable, the transferor Lender shall return to
Borrower the relevant Note or Notes previously delivered to it under this
Agreement. A Purchaser is subject to all the provisions in this section as
if it were a Lender signatory to this Agreement as of the date of this
Agreement.
(d) Agent shall maintain at its address on SCHEDULE 1 a copy of each
Lender assignment agreement delivered to it in accordance with the terms of
SECTION 14.12(c) and a register for the recordation of the principal
amount, Type and Interest Period of each Loan and the names, addresses and
Commitments of each Lender from time to time (the "REGISTER"). Agent will
make reasonable efforts to maintain the accuracy of the Register and to
promptly update the Register from time to time, as necessary. The entries
in the Register shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error and
Borrower, Agent and Lenders may treat each Person whose name is recorded in
the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all
purposes of this Agreement. The Register shall be available for inspection
by Borrower and each Lender, at any reasonable time and from time to time
upon reasonable prior notice.
(e) This SECTION 14.12 relates to absolute assignments and,
notwithstanding SECTION 14.12(a), does not prohibit assignments creating
security interests. Specifically, without limitation, any Lender may at
any time, without the consent of Borrower or Agent, assign all or any part
of its Rights under the Loan Papers to a Federal Reserve Bank without
releasing the transferor Lender from its obligations thereunder.
14.13 Discharge Only Upon Payment in Full; Reinstatement in Certain

------------------------------------------------------------Circumstances. Each Company's obligations under the Loan Papers remain in full
- ------------force and effect until the Total Commitment is terminated and the Obligation is
paid in full (except for provisions under the Loan Papers expressly intended to
survive payment of the Obligation and termination of the Loan Papers). If at
any time any payment of the principal of or interest on any Note or any other
amount payable by Borrower or any other obligor on the Obligation under any Loan
Paper is rescinded or must be restored or returned upon the insolvency,
bankruptcy or reorganization of Borrower or otherwise, the obligations of each
Company under the Loan Papers with respect to that payment shall be reinstated
as though the payment had been due but not made at that time.
14.14 ENTIRETY. THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE COMPANIES, LENDERS AND
-------AGENT SHALL BE DETERMINED SOLELY FROM WRITTEN AGREEMENTS, DOCUMENTS AND
INSTRUMENTS, AND ANY PRIOR ORAL AGREEMENTS AMONG THE PARTIES ARE SUPERSEDED BY
AND MERGED INTO THOSE WRITINGS. THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER WRITTEN
LOAN PAPERS (EACH AS AMENDED IN WRITING FROM TIME TO TIME) EXECUTED BY ANY
COMPANY, ANY LENDER OR AGENT REPRESENT THE FINAL AGREEMENT AMONG THE PARTIES AND
MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL
AGREEMENTS BY THE PARTIES. THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS AMONG THE
PARTIES. This Agreement supersedes all prior written agreements and
understandings relating to the subject matter hereof, including, without
limitation, the Offering Memorandum dated September 1996, and may be
supplemented only by documents delivered in accordance with the terms hereof.
EXECUTED as of the day and year first mentioned.
THE VAIL CORPORATION

By:
Name:

NATIONSBANK OF TEXAS, N.A.

By:
Frank M. Johnson
Senior Vice President
THE FIRST NATIONAL BANK OF BOSTON

By:
Andrew T. Fay
Vice President
COLORADO NATIONAL BANK

By:
William J. Sullivan
Vice President

CREDIT LYONNAIS NEW YORK BRANCH

By:
Mischa Zabotin

Vice President

BANKERS TRUST COMPANY

By:
Name:
Title:
BANK OF AMERICA ILLINOIS

By:
Name:
Title:
FLEET NATIONAL BANK

By:
Guy G. Smith
Senior Vice President
HARRIS TRUST AND SAVINGS BANK

By:
James H. Colley
Vice President
THE LONG-TERM CREDIT BANK OF JAPAN, LTD.
LOS ANGELES AGENCY

By:
Paul Clifford
Deputy General Manager
NORWEST BANK COLORADO, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION

By:
Sandra A. Sauer
Vice President
MERRILL LYNCH SENIOR FLOATING RATE FUND, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:
VAN KAMPEN AMERICAN CAPITAL PRIME RATE
INCOME TRUST

By:
Jeffrey W. Maillet

Senior Vice President and Portfolio Manager
KEY BANK OF COLORADO

By:
Name:
Title:
MARINE MIDLAND BANK

By:
John Lyons
Senior Vice President
THE SAKURA BANK, LIMITED, LOS ANGELES
AGENCY

By:
Name:
Title:
CITY NATIONAL BANK

By:
David A. Nelson
Vice President
EXHIBIT A-1
----------REVOLVING CREDIT PROMISSORY NOTE
$____________Dallas, Texas______________________, 19_______
For value received, THE VAIL CORPORATION ("MAKER"), hereby promises to
pay to the order of ___________________ ("PAYEE") on or before the Revolving
Credit Termination Date, the principal amount of $_______________, or so much
thereof as may be disbursed and outstanding hereunder, together with interest,
as hereinafter described.
This note has been executed and delivered under, and is subject to the
terms of, the Credit Agreement dated as of January 3, 1997 (as amended,
supplemented or restated, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"), among Maker, NationsBank of
Texas, N.A., as Agent, and the Lenders referred to therein (including, without
limitation, Payee) and is one of the "Notes" referred to therein issued in
connection with the Revolving Credit Commitments. Unless defined herein or the
context otherwise requires, capitalized terms used herein have the meaning given
to such terms in the Credit Agreement. Reference is made to the Credit
Agreement for provisions affecting this note regarding applicable interest
rates, principal and interest payment dates, final maturity, acceleration of
maturity, exercise of Rights, payment of attorneys' fees, court costs and other
costs of collection, and certain waivers by Maker and others now or hereafter
obligated for payment of any sums due hereunder.
This note is a Loan Paper and, therefore, is subject to the applicable
provisions of SECTION 14 (including, without limitation, the registration
provisions of SECTION 14.12(d)) of the Credit Agreement, all of which applicable
provisions are incorporated herein by reference the same as if set forth herein
verbatim.
Specific reference is made to SECTION 3.8 of the Credit Agreement for
usury savings provisions.

THE VAIL CORPORATION

By:
Name:
Title:

EXHIBIT A-2
----------TRANCHE A TERM LOAN PROMISSORY NOTE
$_______________Dallas, Texas______________________, 19_______
For value received, THE VAIL CORPORATION ("MAKER"), hereby promises to
pay to the order of ___________________ ("PAYEE") on or before the Tranche A
Termination Date, the principal amount of $______________, or so much thereof as
may be disbursed and outstanding hereunder, together with interest, as
hereinafter described.
This note has been executed and delivered under, and is subject to the
terms of, the Credit Agreement dated as of January 3, 1997 (as amended,
supplemented or restated, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"), among Maker, NationsBank of
Texas, N.A., as Agent, and the Lenders referred to therein (including, without
limitation, Payee) and is one of the "Notes" referred to therein issued in
connection with the Tranche A Commitments. Unless defined herein or the context
otherwise requires, capitalized terms used herein have the meaning given to such
terms in the Credit Agreement. Reference is made to the Credit Agreement for
provisions affecting this note regarding applicable interest rates, principal
and interest payment dates, final maturity, acceleration of maturity, exercise
of Rights, payment of attorneys' fees, court costs and other costs of
collection, and certain waivers by Maker and others now or hereafter obligated
for payment of any sums due hereunder.
This note is a Loan Paper and, therefore, is subject to the applicable
provisions of SECTION 14 (including, without limitation, the registration
provisions of SECTION 14.12(d)) of the Credit Agreement, all of which applicable
provisions are incorporated herein by reference the same as if set forth herein
verbatim.
Specific reference is made to SECTION 3.8 of the Credit Agreement for
usury savings provisions.
THE VAIL CORPORATION

By:
Name:
Title:

EXHIBIT A-3
----------TRANCHE B TERM LOAN PROMISSORY NOTE
$_____________Dallas, Texas______________________, 19_______
For value received, THE VAIL CORPORATION ("MAKER"), hereby promises to
pay to the order of ___________________ ("PAYEE") on or before the Tranche B
Termination Date, the principal amount of $______________, or so much thereof as
may be disbursed and outstanding hereunder, together with interest, as
hereinafter described.
This note has been executed and delivered under, and is subject to the
terms of, the Credit Agreement dated as of January 3, 1997 (as amended,

supplemented or restated, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"), among Maker, NationsBank of
Texas, N.A., as Agent, and the Lenders referred to therein (including, without
limitation, Payee) and is one of the "Notes" referred to therein issued in
connection with the Tranche B Commitments. Unless defined herein or the context
otherwise requires, capitalized terms used herein have the meaning given to such
terms in the Credit Agreement. Reference is made to the Credit Agreement for
provisions affecting this note regarding applicable interest rates, principal
and interest payment dates, final maturity, acceleration of maturity, exercise
of Rights, payment of attorneys' fees, court costs and other costs of
collection, and certain waivers by Maker and others now or hereafter obligated
for payment of any sums due hereunder.
This note is a Loan Paper and, therefore, is subject to the applicable
provisions of SECTION 14 (including, without limitation, the registration
provisions of SECTION 14.12(d)) of the Credit Agreement, all of which applicable
provisions are incorporated herein by reference the same as if set forth herein
verbatim.
Specific reference is made to SECTION 3.8 of the Credit Agreement for
usury savings provisions.
THE VAIL CORPORATION

By:
Name:
Title:

EXHIBIT B
--------GUARANTY
THIS GUARANTY is executed as of ___________, 19__, by each of the
undersigned (each a "GUARANTOR" and collectively the "GUARANTORS") for the
benefit of NATIONSBANK OF TEXAS, N.A. (with its successors in such capacity,
"AGENT"), as Agent for itself and other Lenders ("LENDERS" and together with
Agent, the "GUARANTEED PARTIES") now or hereafter party to the Credit Agreement
with THE VAIL CORPORATION ("BORROWER") dated as of January 3, 1997 (as
hereafter amended, supplemented, or restated, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT").
Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein are used as defined in the Credit
Agreement.
A.

Each Guarantor is an Affiliate of Borrower.

B.
The execution and delivery of this Guaranty is an integral part of the
transactions contemplated by the Loan Papers and a condition precedent to
Lenders' obligations to extend credit under the Credit Agreement.
C.
In each Guarantor's judgment, the value of the consideration received
and to be received by it under the Loan Papers is reasonably worth at least as
much as its liability and obligation under this Guaranty, and such liability and
obligation may reasonably be expected to benefit it directly or indirectly.
NOW, THEREFORE, each Guarantor jointly and severally guarantees to Lenders
the prompt payment at maturity (by acceleration or otherwise), and at all times
thereafter, of the Guaranteed Debt owing to Lenders as follows:
1.

Borrower. The term "BORROWER" includes, without limitation, Borrower
-------as a debtor-in-possession and any party hereafter appointed Receiver for
Borrower or all or substantially all of its assets under any Debtor Relief Law.
2.

Guaranteed Debt. The term "GUARANTEED DEBT" means all present and
--------------future indebtedness and obligations, and all renewals, increases and extensions
thereof, or any part thereof, now or hereafter owed to the Guaranteed Parties by
Borrower under the Loan Papers to which it is a party, together with all
interest accruing thereon, fees, costs and expenses (including, without
limitation, (a) all attorneys' fees and expenses incurred pursuant to, or in

connection with the protection of Rights under, the Loan Papers to which
Borrower is a party, and (b) amounts that would become due but for operation of
Section 502, 506 or any other applicable provision of Title 11 of the United
States Code), together with all pre- and post-maturity interest thereon
(including, without limitation, all post-petition interest if Borrower
voluntarily or involuntarily files for bankruptcy protection) and any and all
costs, attorneys' fees and expenses reasonably incurred by any Guaranteed Party
to enforce Borrower's payment of any of the foregoing indebtedness.
3.

Absolute Guaranty. This instrument is an absolute, irrevocable and
----------------continuing guaranty, and the circumstance that at any time or from time to time
the Guaranteed Debt may be paid in full does not affect the obligation of any
Guarantor with respect to the Guaranteed Debt of Borrower thereafter incurred.
NOTWITHSTANDING ANY CONTRARY PROVISION IN THIS GUARANTY, HOWEVER, EACH
GUARANTOR'S MAXIMUM LIABILITY HEREUNDER IS LIMITED, TO THE EXTENT, IF ANY,
REQUIRED SO THAT ITS LIABILITY IS NOT SUBJECT TO AVOIDANCE UNDER ANY DEBTOR
RELIEF LAW.
4.

Representations and Warranties. Each Guarantor acknowledges that
-----------------------------certain representations and warranties contained in the other Loan Papers
(including, without limitation, SECTION 7 of the Credit Agreement) apply to it
and hereby represents and warrants to Agent and Lenders that each such
representation and warranty is true and correct.
5.

Covenants. Each Guarantor acknowledges that certain covenants,
--------agreements and undertakings contained in the other Loan Papers (including,
without limitation, SECTIONS 8, 9 and 10 of the Credit Agreement)

apply to it and hereby covenants and agrees with Agent and Lenders to comply
with each such covenant, agreement and undertaking.
6.

Other Indebtedness. If any Guarantor becomes liable for any
-----------------indebtedness owing by Borrower to any Guaranteed Party, other than under this
Guaranty, such liability will not be in any manner impaired or affected by this
Guaranty, and the rights of the Guaranteed Parties under this Guaranty are
cumulative of any and all other rights that the Guaranteed Parties may ever have
against that Guarantor. The exercise by any Guaranteed Parties of any right or
remedy under this Guaranty or otherwise will not preclude the concurrent or
subsequent exercise of any other right or remedy.
7.

Default. If a Default under the Credit Agreement exists and as a
------result of such Default amounts are owing to any Guaranteed Party in respect of
its Guaranteed Debt, each Guarantor shall, on demand and without further notice
of dishonor and without any notice having been given to any Guarantor previous
to such demand of either the acceptance by any Guaranteed Party of this Guaranty
or the creation or incurrence of any Guaranteed Debt, pay the amount of the
Guaranteed Debt then due and payable to the appropriate Guaranteed Party, and it
is not necessary for such Guaranteed Party, in order to enforce such payment by
any Guarantor, first or contemporaneously to institute suit or exhaust remedies
against Borrower or others liable on such indebtedness or to enforce rights
against any collateral securing such indebtedness.
8.

Subordinated Debt. All obligations of Borrower to any Guarantor (the
----------------"SUBORDINATED DEBT") are expressly subordinated to the full and final payment of
the Guaranteed Debt. Each Guarantor agrees not to accept any payment of the
Subordinated Debt from Borrower with respect thereto, if a Default exists; and,
if any Guarantor receives any payment of the Subordinated Debt in violation of
the foregoing, that Guarantor will hold any such payment in trust for Agent and
promptly turn it over to Agent, in the form received (with any necessary
endorsements), to be applied to the Guaranteed Debt in the manner contemplated
by the Credit Agreement.
9.

Waiver of Subrogation and Contribution. No Guarantor will assert,
-------------------------------------enforce or otherwise exercise (a) any right of subrogation to any of the rights
or liens of Agent or Lenders or any other beneficiary against Borrower or any

other obligor on the Guaranteed Debt or any collateral or other security, or (b)
any right of recourse, reimbursement, subrogation, contribution, indemnification
or similar right against Borrower or any other obligor on all or any part of the
Guaranteed Debt or any guarantor thereof, and each Guarantor irrevocably waives
any and all of the foregoing rights (whether such rights arise in equity, under
contract, by statute, under common law or otherwise). Guarantor irrevocably
waives the benefit of, and any right to participate in, any collateral or other
security given to Agent or any other beneficiary to secure payment of the
Guaranteed Debt.
10.

Obligations Not Diminished. No Guarantor's obligations under this
-------------------------Guaranty will be released, diminished or affected by the occurrence of any one
or more of the following events: (a) any Guaranteed Party's taking or accepting
of any other security or guaranty for any or all of the Guaranteed Debt; (b) any
release, surrender, exchange, subordination, impairment or loss of any
collateral securing any or all of the Guaranteed Debt; (c) any full or partial
release of the liability of any other obligor on the Obligation; (d) the
modification of or waiver of compliance with, any terms of any other Loan Paper;
(e) the insolvency, bankruptcy or lack of corporate power of any party at any
time liable for any or all of the Guaranteed Debt, whether now existing or
hereafter occurring; (f) any renewal, extension or rearrangement of any or all
of the Guaranteed Debt or any adjustment, indulgence, forbearance or compromise
that may be granted or given by Agent or Lenders to any other obligor on the
Obligation; (g) any neglect, delay, omission, failure or refusal of Agent or
Lenders to take or prosecute any action in connection with the Guaranteed Debt;
(h) any failure of Agent or Lenders to notify any Guarantor of any renewal,
extension or assignment of any or all of the Guaranteed Debt or the release of
any security or of any other action taken or refrained from being taken by Agent
or Lenders against Borrower or any new agreement between Agent or Lenders and
Borrower, it being understood that Agent and Lenders are not required to give
Guarantors any notice of any kind under any circumstances whatsoever with
respect to or in connection with the Guaranteed Debt; (i) the unenforceability
of any part of the Guaranteed Debt against any party because it exceeds the
amount permitted by law, the act of creating it is ultra vires, the officers
creating it exceeded their authority or violated their fiduciary

duties in connection therewith, or otherwise; or (j) any payment of the
Obligation to Agent or Lenders is held to constitute a preference under any
Debtor Relief Law or for any other reason Agent or Lenders are required to
refund such payment or make payment to someone else (and in each such instance
this Guaranty will be reinstated in an amount equal to such payment).
11.

Waiver of Right to Require Suit. Each Guarantor waives all rights by
------------------------------which it might be entitled to require suit on an accrued right of action in
respect of any of the Guaranteed Debt or require suit against Borrower or
others.
12.

Independent Credit Investigation. Each Guarantor confirms that it has
-------------------------------executed and delivered this Guaranty after reviewing the terms and conditions of
the Loan Papers and such other information as it has deemed appropriate in order
to make its own credit analysis and decision to execute and deliver this
Guaranty. Each Guarantor confirms that it has made its own independent
investigation with respect to Borrower's creditworthiness and is not executing
and delivering this Guaranty in reliance on any representation or warranty by
Agent or Lenders as to such creditworthiness. Each Guarantor expressly assumes
all responsibilities to remain informed of the financial condition of Borrower
and any circumstances affecting (a) Borrower's ability to perform under the Loan
Papers to which it is a party or (b) any collateral securing all or any part of
the Guaranteed Debt.
13.

No Discharge. The Guaranteed Debt will not be reduced, discharged or
-----------released because or by reason of any existing or future offset, claim or defense
(except for the defense of payment of the Guaranteed Debt) of Borrower or any
other party against Agent or Lenders or against payment of the Guaranteed Debt,
whether such offset, claim or defense arises in connection with the Guaranteed
Debt or otherwise. Such claims and defenses include, without limitation,
failure of consideration, breach of warranty, fraud, bankruptcy,
incapacity/infancy, statute of limitations, lender liability, accord and

satisfaction, usury, forged signatures, mistake, impossibility, frustration of
purpose, and unconscionability.
14.

Successors and Assigns. This Guaranty is for the benefit of Agent and
---------------------Lenders and their respective successors and permitted assigns, and in the event
of an assignment of all or any of the Guaranteed Debt, the Rights hereunder, to
the extent applicable to the portion assigned, shall be transferred therewith.
This Guaranty shall be binding upon each Guarantor and its successors and
permitted assigns.
15.

Loan Paper. This Guaranty is a Loan Paper and is subject to the
---------applicable provisions of SECTION 14 of the Credit Agreement, all of which are
incorporated into this Guaranty by reference the same as if set forth in this
Guaranty verbatim.
VAIL RESORTS, INC.
VAIL HOLDINGS, INC.
VAIL TRADEMARKS, INC.
VAIL ASSOCIATES REAL ESTATE GROUP, INC.
BEAVER CREEK CONSULTANTS, INC.
BEAVER CREEK ASSOCIATES, INC.
VAIL/BEAVER CREEK RESORT PROPERTIES, INC.
VAIL FOOD SERVICES, INC.
PINEY RIVER RANCH, INC.
VAIL/ARROWHEAD, INC.
BEAVER CREEK FOOD SERVICES, INC.
VAIL ASSOCIATES HOLDINGS, LTD.
VAIL ASSOCIATES REAL ESTATE, INC.
VAIL ASSOCIATES CONSULTANTS, INC.
VAIL ASSOCIATES MANAGEMENT COMPANY
VAIL ASSOCIATES RANCH AND LAND

COMPANY
By:
Name:
Title:
GILLETT GROUP MANAGEMENT, INC.
GHTV, INC.
GILLETT BROADCASTING, INC.
GILLETT BROADCASTING OF MARYLAND, INC.
By:
Name:
of each of the above Companies
RALSTON RESORTS, INC.
KEYSTONE CONFERENCE SERVICES, INC.
KEYSTONE DEVELOPMENT SALES, INC.
KEYSTONE FOOD & BEVERAGE COMPANY
KEYSTONE RESORT PROPERTY MANAGEMENT COMPANY
By:
Name:
of each of the above Companies

EXHIBIT C
--------PLEDGE AGREEMENT

THIS PLEDGE AGREEMENT is entered into as of _______________, 19____,
between __________________ (with its successors, "PLEDGOR") and NATIONSBANK OF
TEXAS, N.A. (with its successors in such capacity, "AGENT"), as Agent for itself
and other Lenders ("LENDERS") now or hereafter party to the Credit Agreement
with THE VAIL CORPORATION ("BORROWER") dated as of January 3, 1997 (as
hereafter amended, supplemented, or restated from time to time, the "CREDIT
AGREEMENT"). Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein are used as defined
in the Credit Agreement.
A.

Pledgor is an Affiliate of Borrower.

B.
The execution and delivery of this Pledge Agreement is an integral
part of the transactions contemplated by the Loan Papers and a condition
precedent to Lenders' obligations to extend credit under the Credit Agreement.
C.
In Pledgor's judgment, the value of the consideration received and to
be received by it under the Loan Papers is reasonably worth at least as much as
its liability and obligation under this Pledge Agreement, and such liability and
obligation may reasonably be expected to benefit it directly or indirectly.
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the
parties hereto agree as follows:
1.

Definitions. Unless otherwise defined herein or in the Credit
----------Agreement, or unless the context otherwise requires, all terms used herein which
are defined in the UCC as in effect on the date hereof shall have the meanings
therein stated. The following additional terms, as used herein, have the
following respective meanings:
COLLATERAL AGENT means the "Collateral Agent" as defined in the Collateral
Agency Agreement and the IRB Pledge Agreement.
FIRST PRIORITY PLEDGED STOCK means the Pledged Stock described on ANNEX A
as being subject to no prior Lien and all capital stock hereafter issued by the
issuers of such Pledged Stock required to be included in the definition of
"PLEDGED STOCK" pursuant to the provisions of SECTION 2(b)(iv).
IRB PLEDGE AGREEMENT means the "Pledge Agreement" as defined in the
Collateral Agency Agreement.
IRB PLEDGE AGREEMENT COLLATERAL means the "Pledge Agreement Collateral" as
defined in the IRB Pledge Agreement.
[KEYSTONE/INTRAWEST DISTRIBUTIONS means all of Pledgor's present and future
rights to receive payments or other distributions from Keystone/Intrawest
L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, whether on account of Pledgor's
membership interest in Keystone/Intrawest L.L.C., or otherwise.]
OBLIGATION means (a) all obligations of Pledgor under the Guaranty of even
date herewith executed by it and others for the benefit of Agent on behalf of
the Lenders, and (b) all present and future indebtedness and obligations, and
all renewals, increases and extensions thereof, or any part thereof, now or
hereafter owed to Agent or Lenders by Borrower under the Loan Papers to which it
is a party, together with all interest accruing thereon, fees, costs and
expenses (including, without limitation, (x) all attorneys' fees and expenses
incurred pursuant to, or in connection with the protection of Rights under, the
Loan Papers to which Borrower is a party, and (y) amounts that would become due
but for operation of Section 502, 506 or any other applicable provision of Title
11 of the United States Code), together with all pre- and post-maturity interest
thereon (including, without limitation, all post-petition interest if Borrower
voluntarily or involuntarily files for bankruptcy protection) and any and all
costs, attorneys' fees and expenses reasonably incurred by Agent or any Lender
to enforce Borrower's payment of any of

the foregoing indebtedness.
PLEDGE AGREEMENT COLLATERAL means all of the property referred to in
SECTION 3(a).

PLEDGED STOCK means all of the issued and outstanding capital stock [and
membership interests] now owned or hereafter acquired by Pledgor in the issuers
listed in ANNEX A hereto, including the stock identified on ANNEX A, any
additional or substitute shares of capital stock now owned or hereafter acquired
by Pledgor in such issuers issued after the date hereof and all capital stock
[and membership interests] required to be included in this definition pursuant
to the provisions of SECTION 2(b)(iv). [and (b) the Keystone/Intrawest
Distributions.]
PROCEEDS means all proceeds of, and all other profits, products, rentals
and receipts, in whatever form, arising from the collection, sale, lease,
exchange, assignment, licensing or other disposition of, or other realization
upon, the Pledge Agreement Collateral, whether now existing or hereafter
arising.
SECOND PRIORITY PLEDGED STOCK means the Pledged Stock described on
as being subject to a prior Lien and all capital stock hereafter issued
issuers of such Pledged Stock required to be included in the definition
"PLEDGED STOCK" pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.B(d) of the IRB
Agreement.

ANNEX A
by the
of
Pledge

SECURITY INTERESTS means the security interests in the Pledge Agreement
Collateral granted hereunder securing the Obligation.
UCC means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect on the date hereof in
the State of New York; provided, however, that to the extent that the perfection
or the effect of perfection or non-perfection of the Security Interests in any
Pledge Agreement Collateral is governed by the Uniform Commercial Code as in
effect in a jurisdiction other than New York, "UCC" means the Uniform Commercial
Code as in effect in such other jurisdiction for purposes of the provisions
hereof relating to such perfection or effect of perfection or non-perfection.
2.

Representations, Warranties and Certain Agreements.
-------------------------------------------------(a)

Pledgor represents and warrants as follows:

(i) Pledgor has good title to all of the Pledge Agreement
Collateral purported to be owned by it, free and clear of any Liens,
other than the Liens granted to the Collateral Agent under the IRB
Pledge Agreement and the Collateral Agency Agreement. The Pledged
Stock described on ANNEX A includes all of the issued and outstanding
capital stock of each issuer as of the date hereof, except as
otherwise indicated on ANNEX A. All of the Pledged Stock has been
duly authorized and validly issued, is fully paid and non-assessable,
and is subject to no options to purchase or similar rights of any
Person other than the Collateral Agent. As of the date hereof,
Pledgor is not a party to or otherwise bound by any agreement (other
than this Pledge Agreement, the Collateral Agency Agreement and IRB
Pledge Agreement) which restricts in any manner the rights of any
present or future holder of any of the Pledged Stock with respect to
transfers thereof or payments of dividends thereon.
(ii) Contemporaneously with the execution and delivery of this
agreement, Pledgor has delivered to Agent the Pledged Stock described
on ANNEX A (other than any Second Priority Pledged Stock [and the
SSF/VARE membership interest] [and the Keystone/Intrawest
Distributions]). No Pledge Agreement Collateral is in the possession
of any Person asserting any claim thereto or security interest therein
that is not permitted under the Loan Papers, except that (i) Agent or
its designee may have possession of the Pledge Agreement Collateral
(other than the IRB Pledge Agreement Collateral), and (ii) Collateral
Agent may have possession of the IRB Pledge Agreement Collateral.

(iii) Assuming that Agent is in continuous possession of the
First Priority Pledged Stock, the Security Interests will constitute
valid and perfected security interests in the First Priority Pledged
Stock prior to all other Liens. Appropriate financing statements have
been filed in the necessary jurisdictions with respect to all other
Pledge Agreement Collateral, and the Security Interests, to the extent
they may be perfected by filing financing statements in the necessary
jurisdictions, constitute valid and continuing perfected security

interests in such other Pledge Agreement Collateral to the extent a
security interest can be created therein under the UCC, securing the
payment of the Obligation. All other actions necessary to perfect the
Security Interests in each item of such Pledge Agreement Collateral
have been duly taken to the extent a security interest can be created
therein under the UCC as in effect in the applicable jurisdictions of
the United States.
(b)

Pledgor agrees as follows:

(i)
Pledgor will not change the location of its chief executive
office or chief place of business unless it shall have given Agent
prior notice thereof and (at Pledgor's cost and expense) delivered an
opinion of counsel with respect thereto prior to taking such action in
customary form confirming the continued validity and perfection under
the UCC (to the extent such Security Interests may be perfected under
the UCC) of the Security Interests (which opinion may contain such
exceptions and assumptions as are customary in a legal opinion of such
type). Pledgor shall at all times maintain its chief executive office
within one of the 48 contiguous states in which Article 9 --Secured
Transactions of the UCC is in effect. Pledgor shall not in any event
change the location of any Pledge Agreement Collateral if such change
would cause the Security Interests in such Pledge Agreement Collateral
to lapse or cease to be perfected unless prior to taking such action
it shall have taken such actions as may be necessary to prevent such
lapse in perfection or failure to be perfected.
(ii) Pledgor may not change its name or corporate structure in
any manner unless it shall have given Agent prior notice thereof and
delivered an opinion of counsel in customary form with respect thereto
prior to taking such action confirming the continued validity and
perfection under the UCC (to the extent such Security Interests may be
perfected under the UCC) of the Security Interests (which opinion may
contain such exceptions and assumptions as are customary in a legal
opinion of such type).
(iii) Pledgor shall keep full and accurate books and records
relating to the Pledge Agreement Collateral, and stamp or otherwise
mark such books and records in such manner as Required Lenders may
reasonably require in order to reflect the Security Interests.
(iv) The Pledged Stock will at all times include not less than
the percentage of the issued and outstanding capital stock [and
membership interests] of each issuer shown on ANNEX A, except to the
extent any such Pledged Stock shall have been released in accordance
with the provisions of SECTION 11 below.
(v)
Pledgor shall not become a party to any agreement
prohibited by the last sentence of SECTION 2(a)(i).
3.

The Security Interests.
----------------------

(a) Pledgor, to secure the full and punctual payment and performance
of the Obligation, hereby grants to Agent, for the benefit of Lenders, a
continuing security interest in and to all of the following property,
whether now owned or existing or hereafter acquired or arising and
regardless of where

located:
(i)
all books and records of Pledgor pertaining to any of the
property described in this SECTION 3(a);
(ii)
the Pledged Stock owned or held by Pledgor and all of its
rights and privileges with respect thereto including, without
limitation, all dividends, interest, principal and other payments and
distributions made upon or with respect to the Pledged Stock; and
(iii) all Proceeds of all or any of the property described in
clauses (i) and (ii) of this SECTION 3(a) to the extent that such
Proceeds consist of cash or other property which would constitute

Pledge Agreement Collateral pursuant to such clauses (i) and (ii).
(b) The Security Interests are granted as security only and shall not
subject Agent or any Lender to, or transfer or in any way affect or modify,
any obligation or liability of the undersigned with respect to any of the
Pledge Agreement Collateral or any transaction in connection therewith.
(c) Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary set forth in this
agreement, the Security Interests and Rights granted to the Agent hereunder
shall be subject and subordinated to the Liens and Rights granted to the
Collateral Agent under the IRB Pledge Agreement and Collateral Agency
Agreement.
4.

Delivery of Pledged Stock. If at any time or from time to time after
------------------------the date hereof Pledgor shall receive any stock required to be pledged
hereunder, it shall promptly:
(a) deliver to Agent the certificate evidencing each such share of
stock, accompanied by instruments of transfer or assignment duly executed
in blank, to be held by Agent for the benefit of Lenders as collateral for
the Obligation in accordance with this agreement (other than any Second
Priority Pledged Stock); and
(b) execute, deliver, file and record any and all instruments,
assignments, agreements, financing statements and other documents
necessary, to the extent determined by and in form and substance
satisfactory to Agent in its reasonable judgment, to perfect or continue
the perfection of a security interest in such stock for the benefit of
Lenders.
5.

General Authority. Pledgor hereby irrevocably appoints Agent its true
----------------and lawful attorney, with full power of substitution, in the name of the
Pledgor, Agent, Lenders, or otherwise, for the sole use and benefit of Agent and
Lenders, but at Pledgor's expense, to the extent permitted by law to exercise,
at any time and from time to time while a Default exists, all or any of the
following powers (in addition to the powers specified in the Credit Agreement)
with respect to all or any of the Pledge Agreement Collateral, but only to the
extent directed to do so by Required Lenders and subject to the rights granted
to the Collateral Agent under the IRB Pledge Agreement and Collateral Agency
Agreement:
(a) to ask for, demand, sue for, collect, receive and give
acquittance for any and all moneys due or to become due thereon or by
virtue thereof;
(b) to commence, settle, compromise, compound, adjust, prosecute or
defend any claim, suit, action or proceeding with respect thereto;
(c) to sell, transfer, assign or otherwise deal in or with the same
or any party thereof or the Proceeds or avails thereof, as fully and
effectually as if Agent were the absolute owner thereof; and
(d) to extend the time of payment of any or all thereof and to make
any allowance and other

adjustments with reference thereof;
provided, however, that Agent shall give Pledgor not less than ten days prior
written notice of the time and place of any sale or other intended disposition
of any of the Pledge Agreement Collateral pursuant to clause (c) of this SECTION
5. Pledgor agrees that such notice constitutes "reasonable notification" within
the meaning of Section 9-504(3) of the UCC.
6.

Record Ownership of Pledged Stock; Notices.
------------------------------------------

(a) While a Default exists, Agent may at any time or from time to
time at the direction of Required Lenders, cause any or all of the First
Priority Pledged Stock to be transferred of record into the name of Agent
or its nominee. If Agent transfers any First Priority Pledged Stock into

its name or the name of its nominee, Agent will thereafter promptly give
Pledgor copies of any notices and communications received by Agent with
respect to any First Priority Pledged Stock. If such Default is cured or
waived, Agent shall then cause any First Priority Pledged Stock so
transferred into its name to be transferred into Pledgor's name.
(b) If a Default exists, Pledgor will promptly give to Agent copies
of any notices and communications received by it with respect to any
Pledged Stock.
7.

Right to Receive Distributions on Pledged Stock.
-----------------------------------------------

(a) While a Default exists, Agent shall have the right to receive and
retain as additional security hereunder all dividends, interest, principal
and other payments and distributions made upon or with respect to the First
Priority Pledged Stock. Pledgor shall take all such action necessary or
appropriate, or as Agent may reasonably request, to give effect to such
right. Any dividends, interest, principal and other payments and
distributions which are received in respect of the First Priority Pledged
Stock by Pledgor while a Default exists shall be received in trust for the
benefit of Required Lenders, and shall be segregated from other funds of
Pledgor and shall (to the extent so directed by Agent at the direction of
Required Lenders) forthwith be paid over to Agent (with any necessary
endorsement). Agent will not exercise its rights under this subsection
unless directed to do so by Required Lenders. All such dividends,
interest, principal and other payments and distributions shall be delivered
to Agent upon demand.
(b) So long as no Default exists, Pledgor shall have full power and
authority to receive and retain all dividends, distributions, and other
payments in respect of Pledged Stock pledged to Agent hereunder.
8.

Right to Vote Pledged Stock; Releases.
-------------------------------------

(a) Unless a Default exists and Required Lenders have directed Agent
not to permit Pledgor to exercise such rights, Pledgor shall have the
right, from time to time, to vote and to give consents, ratifications and
waivers with respect to the Pledged Stock and other Pledge Agreement
Collateral that it owns and Agent shall, upon receiving a written request
from an authorized financial officer of Pledgor deliver to Pledgor or as
specified in such request, such proxies, powers of attorney, consents,
ratifications and waivers as shall be reasonably requested by Pledgor in
respect of any of the Pledged Stock owned by it which are registered in the
name of Agent or its nominee and any other Pledge Agreement Collateral
owned by Pledgor.
(b) If a Default exists, Agent shall have the right, to the extent
permitted by law, to vote and to give consents, ratifications and waivers
and take any other action with respect to all the First Priority Pledged
Stock with the same force and effect as if Agent were the absolute and sole
owner thereof. Pledgor shall at the request of Agent take all such action
as may be necessary or appropriate to give effect

to the rights granted to Agent pursuant to the immediate preceding sentence.
9.

Remedies Upon Enforcement Notice.
--------------------------------

(a) If a Default exists, Agent may (to the extent so directed by
Required Lenders and subject to the rights granted to the Collateral Agent
under the IRB Pledge Agreement and Collateral Agency Agreement) exercise,
on behalf of Lenders, all rights of a secured party under the UCC (whether
or not in effect in the jurisdiction where such rights are exercised) and,
without limiting the foregoing, Agent may, at the direction of Required
Lenders [(and subject to the rights of the Collateral Agent under the terms
of the IRB Pledge Agreement and the Collateral Agency Agreement)], without
being required to give any notice, except as herein provided or as may be
required by Law, sell the Pledge Agreement Collateral or any part thereof
at public or private sale, for cash, upon credit or for future delivery,
and at such price or prices as Agent may deem satisfactory. Agent or any

Lender may be the purchaser of any or all of the Pledge Agreement
Collateral so sold at any public sale (or, if the Pledge Agreement
Collateral is of a type customarily sold in a recognized market or is of a
type which is the subject of widely distributed standard price quotations,
at any private sale). Pledgor will execute and deliver such documents and
take such other lawful actions Agent deems necessary or advisable in order
that any such sale may be made in compliance with law. Upon any such sale
Agent shall have the right to deliver, assign and transfer to the purchaser
thereof the Pledge Agreement Collateral so sold. Each purchaser at any
such sale shall hold the Pledge Agreement Collateral so sold to it
absolutely and free from any claim or right of whatsoever kind, including
any equity or right of redemption of Pledgor which may be waived, and
Pledgor to the extent permitted by law, hereby specifically waives all
rights of redemption, stay or appraisal which it has or may have under any
law now existing or hereafter adopted. The notice (if any) of such sale
required by SECTION 5 shall (1) in case of a public sale, state the time
and place fixed for such sale, and (2) in the case of a private sale, state
the day after which such sale may be consummated. Any such public sale
shall be held at such time or times within ordinary business hours and at
such place or places as Agent may fix in the notice of such sale. At any
such sale the Pledge Agreement Collateral may be sold in one lot as an
entirety or in separate parcels, as Agent may determine. Agent shall not be
obligated to make any such sale pursuant to any such notice. Agent may,
without notice or publication, adjourn any public or private sale or cause
the same to be adjourned from time to time by announcement at the time and
place fixed for the sale, and such sale may be made at any time or place to
which the same may be so adjourned. In case of any sale of all or any part
of the Pledge Agreement Collateral on credit or for future delivery, the
Pledge Agreement Collateral so sold may be retained by Agent until the
selling price is paid by the purchaser thereof, but Agent shall not incur
any liability in case of the failure of such purchaser to take up and pay
for the Pledge Agreement Collateral so sold and, in case of any such
failure, such Pledge Agreement Collateral may again be sold upon like
notice. Agent, instead of exercising the power of sale herein conferred
upon it, may proceed by a suit or suits at law or in equity to foreclose
the Security Interests and sell the Pledge Agreement Collateral, or any
portion thereof, under a judgment or decree of a court or courts of
competent jurisdiction.
(b) Pledgor recognizes that, by reason of certain prohibitions
contained in the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and applicable state
securities laws, Agent may be compelled, with respect to any sale of all or
any part of the Pledged Stock, to limit purchasers to those who will agree,
among other things, to acquire the Pledged Stock for their own account, for
investment and not with a view to the distribution or resale thereof.
Pledgor acknowledges that any such private sales may be at prices and on
terms less favorable to Agent than those obtainable through a public sale
without such restrictions, and, notwithstanding such circumstances, agree
that any such private sale shall be deemed to have been made in a
commercially reasonable manner and that Agent shall have no obligation to
engage in public sales and no obligation to delay the sale of any Pledged
Stock for the period of time necessary to permit the issuer thereof to
register it for public sale.
(c) For the purpose of enforcing any and all rights and remedies
under this Pledge

Agreement, Agent may, subject to the provisions of the Credit Agreement,
[the IRB Pledge Agreement, and the Collateral Agency Agreement,] have
access to and use Pledgor's books and records relating to the Pledge
Agreement Collateral.
10.

Application of Proceeds. During the time a Default exists, the
----------------------proceeds of any sale of, or other realization upon, all or any part of the
Pledge Agreement Collateral (subject to the rights of Collateral Agent) shall be
delivered to Agent for the benefit of Lenders.
11.

Termination of Security Interests; Release of Pledge Agreement
-------------------------------------------------------------Collateral. At the time specified in SECTION 5.2(b) or 14.13 of the Credit
- ----------

Agreement for the reversion or release of the Pledge Agreement Collateral to
Pledgor, the Security Interests shall terminate and all rights to the Pledge
Agreement Collateral shall revert and be released to it. At any time and from
time to time prior to such termination of the Security Interests, Agent may
release any of the Pledge Agreement Collateral. Upon any such termination of
the Security Interests or release of Pledge Agreement Collateral, Agent will, at
the expense of the Borrower, deliver to Pledgor any Pledge Agreement Collateral
so released that is in its possession and execute and deliver such documents,
certificates or other instruments as the Borrower shall reasonably request to
evidence the termination of the Security Interests or the release of such Pledge
Agreement Collateral, as the case may be.
12.

Waivers; Estoppel; Non-Exclusive Remedies.
-----------------------------------------

(a) No failure on the part of Agent to exercise, no delay in
exercising, and no course of dealing with respect to, any right under this
agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof; nor shall any single or
partial exercise by Agent of any right under this agreement preclude any
other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right.
(b) Pledgor, to the extent it may lawfully do so, (i) agrees that it
will not at any time, in any manner whatsoever, claim or take the benefit
or advantage of any appraisement, valuation, stay, extension, moratorium,
turnover or redemption law, or any law permitting it to direct the order in
which the Pledge Agreement Collateral shall be sold, now or at any time
hereafter in force, which may delay, prevent or otherwise affect the
performance or enforcement of this agreement, (ii) hereby waives all
benefit or advantage of all such laws and covenants and (iii) agrees that
it will suffer and permit the execution of every such power as though no
such law were in force.
(c) Pledgor, to the extent it may lawfully do so, on behalf of itself
and all who claim through or under it, including, without limitation, any
and all subsequent creditors, vendees, assignees and lienors, waives and
releases all rights to demand or to have any marshalling of the Pledge
Agreement Collateral upon any sale, whether made under any power of sale
granted in this agreement or pursuant to judicial proceedings or upon
foreclosure or any enforcement of this agreement and consents and agrees
that all the Pledge Agreement Collateral may at any such sale be offered
and sold as an entirety.
(d) Pledgor waives, to the extent permitted by applicable law,
presentment, demand, protest and any notice of any kind (except notices
explicitly required under this agreement) in connection with this agreement
and any action taken by Agent with respect to the Pledge Agreement
Collateral.
(e) The Rights in this agreement are cumulative and are not exclusive
of any other remedies provided by Law or any other contract.
13.

Successors and Assigns. This agreement is for the benefit of Agent
---------------------and Lenders and their respective successors and permitted assigns, and in the
event of an assignment of all or any of the Obligation, the Rights hereunder, to
the extent applicable to the portion assigned, shall be transferred therewith.
This agreement shall be binding on the undersigned, Agent, Lenders, and their
respective successors and permitted assigns.

14.

Loan Paper. This agreement is a Loan Paper and is subject to the
---------applicable provisions of SECTION 14 of the Credit Agreement, all of which are
incorporated into this agreement by reference the same as if set forth in this
agreement verbatim.
NATIONSBANK OF TEXAS, N.A.,
as Agent

,
, as Pledgor
By:
Name:

,
By:
Name:

Title:

Title:

ANNEX A TO PLEDGE AGREEMENT
--------------------------PLEDGED STOCK
-------------

Authorized
and
Outstanding
Par
Issuer
Shares
Value
- ---------------------------------------------------- ----------- ------

(a)

Pledged
Stock\
Certificate Percentage
Interest
Number
Owned
--------- ----------- -----------

Other Liens
------------------

INSERT FOR PLEDGE AGREEMENT FROM VRI
------------------------------------

Gillett Group Management, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

2

100%

None

Gillett Broadcasting of Maryland, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

3

100%

None

GHTV, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

3

100%

None

Gillett Broadcasting, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

2

100%

None

Vail Holdings, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

4

100%

None

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

2

100%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

Ralston Resorts, Inc.

100

$

10.00

100

5

100%

None

Vail Trademarks, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

1

100%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

Vail Associates Real Estate Group, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

2

100%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

Beaver Creek Consultants, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

2

100%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

Beaver Creek Associates, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

2

100%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

Vail/Beaver Creek Resort Properties, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

800

5

80%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

Vail Food Services, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

2

100%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

Piney River Ranch, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

2

100%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

Vail/Arrowhead, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

1

100%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

(b)

INSERT FOR PLEDGE AGREEMENT FROM VHI
------------------------------------

The Vail Corporation

(c)

(d)

INSERT FOR PLEDGE AGREEMENT FROM BORROWER
-----------------------------------------

INSERT FOR PLEDGE AGREEMENT FROM RALSTON RESORTS
------------------------------------------------

Keystone Conference Services, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

3

100%

None

Keystone Development Sales, Inc.

100

$

1.00

100

5

100%

None

Keystone Food & Beverage Company

10

$ 100.00

10

3

100%

None

100

9

100%

None

Keystone Resort Property Management Company

100

$

1.00

Rights with respect to Distributions from
Keystone/Intrawest L.L.C.
(e)

INSERT FOR PLEDGE AGREEMENT FROM VAIL ASSOCIATES REAL ESTATE GROUP, INC.
------------------------------------------------------------------------

Vail Associates Holdings, Ltd.

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

2

100%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

Vail Associates Real Estate, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

800

3

80%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

Vail Associates Consultants, Inc.

1,000

$

1.00

800
200

4
6

100%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

Vail Associates Management Company

1,000

$

1.00

1,000

2

100%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

$

1.00

1,000

1

100%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

1.00

800
200

5
6

100%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

N/A

50%

Prior Lien under
Collateral Agency
Agreement

(f)

INSERT FOR PLEDGE AGREEMENT FROM BEAVER CREEK ASSOCIATES, INC.
--------------------------------------------------------------

Beaver Creek Food Services, Inc.

(g)

1,000

INSERT FOR PLEDGE AGREEMENT FROM VAIL ASSOCIATES REAL ESTATE, INC.
------------------------------------------------------------------

Vail Associates Ranch and Land Company

1,000

Slifer, Smith & Frampton/Vail Associates Real
Estate, L.L.C.

$

N/A

N/A

50%

EXHIBIT D
--------LOAN REQUEST
______________, 19__
NationsBank of Texas, N.A., as Agent
Corporate Finance Group
901 Main Street, 67th Floor
Dallas, Texas 75202
Attn: Frank M. Johnson
Fax: (214) 508-0980
Reference is made to the Credit Agreement dated as of January 3, 1997 (as
amended, supplemented or restated from time to time, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"),
among THE VAIL CORPORATION, the Lenders named therein, and NationsBank of Texas,
N.A., as Agent. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein
shall have the meanings assigned to such terms in the Credit Agreement. The
undersigned hereby gives you notice pursuant to SECTION 2.2(a) of the Credit
Agreement that it requests a Loan under the Credit Agreement on the following
terms:
(A)
(B)
(C)
(D)
(E)

Loan Date (a Business Day)
Principal Amount of Loan*
Type of Loan**
For LIBOR Loan, Interest Period
and the last day thereof***
Tranche****

Please deposit the requested Loan in our account with you [and then wire
transfer amounts from that account as follows:
Borrower hereby certifies that the following statements are true and
correct on the date hereof, and will be true and correct on the Loan Date
specified above after giving effect to such Loan: (a) all of the
representations and warranties of the Companies in the Loan Papers are true and
correct in all material respects (except to the extent that (i) they speak to a
specific date or (ii) the facts on which they are based have been changed by
transactions contemplated or permitted by the Credit Agreement); and (b) no
Material Adverse Event has occurred and no Default or Potential Default exists.
Very truly yours,
THE VAIL CORPORATION

By
Name:
Title:

*

**
***

Not less than $500,000 or a greater integral multiple of $100,000 (if a
Base Rate Loan); not less than $1,000,000 or a greater integral multiple of
$100,000 (if a LIBOR Loan).

LIBOR Loan or Base Rate Loan.
LIBOR Loan -- 1, 2, 3 or 6 months.
In no event may the Interest Period end after the appropriate Termination
Date.

**** Revolving Credit Loan, Tranche A Term Loan or Tranche B Term Loan.

EXHIBIT E
--------COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
FOR _____________ ENDED _____________, 19__

NationsBank of Texas, N.A., as Agent
Corporate Finance Group
901 Main Street, 67th Floor
Dallas, Texas 75202
Attn: Frank M. Johnson
Fax: (214) 508-0980
Reference is made to the Credit Agreement dated as of January 3, 1997 (as
amended, supplemented or restated, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"), among THE VAIL
CORPORATION, the Lenders named therein, and NationsBank of Texas, N.A., as
Agent. Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitalized terms have the meanings
given to such terms in the Credit Agreement.
This certificate is delivered pursuant to SECTION 8.1 of the Credit
Agreement.
I certify to Agent that I am the Chief Financial Officer of Borrower on
the date hereof and that:
1.
The financial statements attached hereto were prepared in accordance
with GAAP (except for the omission of footnotes from financial statements
delivered pursuant to SECTION 8.1(b)) and present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial condition and results of operations of the
Companies as of, and for the _____________________ ending on _____________, 19__
(the "SUBJECT PERIOD").
2.
During the Subject Period, no Default or Potential Default has
occurred which has not been cured or waived (except for any Defaults set forth
on the attached schedule).
3.
Evidence of compliance by Borrower with the financial covenants of
SECTION 10 of the Credit Agreement as of the last day of the Subject Period is
set forth on the attached calculation worksheet.
4.
If this certificate is delivered with financial statements for a
period ending on September 30, the calculation of the Restricted Companies'
Excess Cash Flow for the fiscal year of the Companies ending on such date is set
forth on the attached calculation worksheet.
Very truly yours,

Name:
Chief Financial Officer

ANNEX A TO EXHIBIT E
-------------------CREDIT FACILITY COVENANTS CALCULATIONS
___________________, ______

______ Months
Ended
-----------------10.1

MAXIMUM LEVERAGE RATIO:

(a)

FUNDED DEBT OF THE RESTRICTED COMPANIES:
(i)
(ii)

Funded Debt of the Companies per the Financial Statements
Minus the following items of Funded Debt for the following
----Unrestricted Subsidiaries:
(A) Vail Associates Investments, Inc.
(B) _______________________
(iii) Plus the principal portion of all Capital Lease obligations
---of the Companies per the Financial Statements
(iv)
Minus the principal portion of the following Capital Lease
----obligations for the following Unrestricted Subsidiaries:
(A) Vail Associates Investments, Inc.
(B) _______________________
TOTAL FUNDED DEBT OF THE RESTRICTED COMPANIES
(b)

$

( )
( )

$

( )
( )
$
===

RESORT EBITDA:
(i)
EBITDA of the Companies for the last four fiscal quarters per
the Financial Statements
(ii)
Plus pro forma EBITDA for assets acquired during such period
---(iii) Minus pro forma EBITDA for assets disposed of during such period
----(iv)
Minus EBITDA for such period related to real estate activities
----(v)
Minus the following EBITDA for such period attributable to the
----following Unrestricted Subsidiaries:
(A) Vail Associates Investments, Inc.
(B) _______________________
TOTAL RESORT EBITDA OF THE RESTRICTED COMPANIES

$
$
( )
( )

( )
( )
$
===

Ratio
Maximum Ratio
10.2
(a)

(b)

MINIMUM FIXED CHARGE COVERAGE RATIO:
COVERAGE
(i) Resort EBITDA for the last four fiscal quarters (from 10.1(b) above)
(ii) Minus "Adjusted Capital Expenditures" (as defined in (S) 10.2 of
----the Agreement) for such period

$

( )
--$

FIXED CHARGES
(i) Scheduled Principal Payments and interest on the Obligation for
the last four fiscal quarters
(ii) Plus scheduled principal and interest payments on all other
---Funded Debt during such period (other than VRI's 12- 1/4% Senior
Subordinated Notes Due 2002)

$

$

Ratio

$

Minimum required ratio
10.3
(a)

INTEREST COVERAGE RATIO
Resort EBITDA for the last four fiscal

$

quarters (from 10.1(b) above)
(b)

Payments of interest on the Restricted
Companies in the last four fiscal quarters

$

Ratio
Minimum required ratio

EXHIBIT F
--------CONVERSION REQUEST
______________, 19__
NationsBank of Texas, N.A., as Agent
Corporate Finance Group
901 Main Street, 67th Floor
Dallas, Texas 75202
Attn:
Frank M. Johnson
Fax: (214) 508-0980
Reference is made to the Credit Agreement dated as of January 3, 1997
(as amended, supplemented or restated, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"), among THE VAIL
CORPORATION, the Lenders named therein, and NationsBank of Texas, N.A., as
Agent. Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitalized terms have the meanings
given to such terms in the Credit Agreement.
The undersigned hereby gives you notice pursuant to SECTION 3.10 of the
Credit Agreement that it elects to convert all or part of a Loan under the
Credit Agreement from one Type to another Type or elects a new Interest Period
for a LIBOR Loan on the following terms:
(A)

Date of conversion or last day of
applicable Interest Period (a Business Day)

(B)

Type**, Principal Amount*, and Tranche****
of Existing Borrowing being converted

(C)

New Type of Borrowing selected**

(D)

For conversion to a LIBOR Rate Borrowing, the
Interest Period selected and the last day thereof***

(E)

Type** and Principal Amount* of Existing Borrowing
Being Continued

(F)

For continuation of a LIBOR Rate Borrowing, the
Interest Period selected and the last day thereof***
Very truly yours,
THE VAIL CORPORATION
By:
Name:
Title:

*

**
***

Not less than $500,000 or a greater integral multiple of $100,000 (if a
Base Rate Loan); not less than $1,000,000 or a greater integral multiple of
$100,000 (if a LIBOR Loan).

LIBOR Loan or Base Rate Loan.
1, 2, 3 or 6 months. The Interest Period may not end after the appropriate
Termination Date.

****

Revolving Credit Loan, Tranche A Term Loan or Tranche B Term Loan.

EXHIBIT G
--------LC REQUEST
______________, 19__
NationsBank of Texas, N.A., as Agent
Corporate Finance Group
901 Main Street, 67th Floor
Dallas, Texas 75202
Attn:
Frank M. Johnson
Fax: (214) 508-0980
Reference is made to the Credit Agreement dated as of January 3, 1997
(as amended, supplemented or restated, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"), among THE VAIL
CORPORATION, the Lenders named therein, and NationsBank of Texas, N.A., as
Agent. Unless otherwise defined herein, all capitalized terms have the meanings
given to such terms in the Credit Agreement.
The undersigned hereby gives you notice pursuant to SECTION 2.3(a) of
the Credit Agreement that it requests the issuance of an LC under the LC
Subfacility on the following terms:
(A)
(B)
(C)

Face amount of the LC* _____________________________________
Date on which the LC is to be issued (a Business Day) _______
Expiration date of the LC** _________________________________

Accompanying this notice is a duly executed and properly completed LC
Agreement, together with the payment of any LC fees due and payable pursuant to
SECTION 4.3 of the Credit Agreement.
Borrower hereby certifies that the following statements are true and
correct on the date hereof, and will be true and correct on the date specified
herein for issuance of the LC after giving effect to the issuance of such LC:
(a) all of the representations and warranties in the Loan Papers are true and
correct in all material respects (except to the extent that (i) they speak to a
specific date or (ii) the facts on which they are based have been changed by
transactions contemplated or permitted by the Credit Agreement); (b) no Material
Adverse Event has occurred; and (c) no Default or Potential Default exists.
Very truly yours,
THE VAIL CORPORATION
By:
Name:
Title:
*

Not greater than the lesser of (i) an amount which when added to the LC
-----Exposure does not exceed $85,000,000 or (ii) the unused and available
portion of the aggregate commitment under the Revolving Credit.

**

Not later than 13 months after issuance (subject to self-extension with up
to 120 days' cancellation notice by Agent to the beneficiary), except for
the BC Housing LC and the Smith Creek LCs.

EXHIBIT H

--------ASSIGNMENT
Reference is made to the Credit Agreement dated as of January 3, 1997 (as
amended, supplemented or restated, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"), among THE VAIL
CORPORATION ("BORROWER"), NationsBank of Texas, N.A., as agent ("AGENT"), and
NationsBank of Texas, N.A., and the other lenders party thereto from time to
time (collectively, "LENDERS"). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise
defined shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Credit Agreement.
______________________ ("ASSIGNOR"), and _______________________ ("ASSIGNEE")
agree as follows:
1. Assignor hereby sells and assigns to Assignee (without recourse to
Assignor) [INSERT AS APPROPRIATE: ______ percent (____%) of its Rights under
the Loan Papers with respect to the Revolving Credit Tranche, ______ percent
(____%) of its Rights under the Loan Papers with respect to the Tranche A Term
Loan, and ______ percent (____%) of its Rights under the Loan Papers with
respect to the Tranche B Term Loan,] and Assignee hereby purchases and accepts
from Assignor such Rights and assumes the related obligations of Assignor under
the Loan Papers, including, without limitation, [INSERT AS APPROPRIATE: (a)
______ percent (____%) of (i) all Loans funded by Assignor and outstanding on
the Effective Date (as defined below) under the Revolving Credit Tranche,
together with interest accruing thereon on and after the Effective Date, (ii)
all LCs issued under the LC Subfacility of the Revolving Credit Tranche and
uncancelled as of the Effective Date, and (iii) the commitment fee (as described
in SECTION 4.4 of the Credit Agreement) that is earned by Lenders with respect
to the Revolving Credit Tranche from and after the Effective Date and paid by
Borrower after the Effective Date, (b) ______ percent (____%) of all Loans
funded by Assignor and outstanding on the Effective Date under the Tranche A
Term Loan, together with interest accruing thereon on and after the Effective
Date, and (c) ______ percent (____%) of all Loans funded by Assignor and
outstanding on the Effective Date under the Tranche B Term Loan, together with
interest accruing thereon on and after the Effective Date.]. From and after the
Effective Date, (x) Assignee shall be a party to the Credit Agreement and have
the rights and obligations of a Lender thereunder and under the other Loan
Papers and (y) Assignor shall relinquish the Rights assigned and, to the extent
of the Rights assigned, be released from its obligations under the Loan Papers.
2. Assignor (a) makes no representation or warranty and assumes no
responsibility with respect to any statements, warranties, or representations
made by any Company in or in connection with any Loan Paper or the execution,
legality, validity, enforceability, genuineness, sufficiency, collectibility, or
value of any Loan Paper, other than that it is the sole legal and beneficial
owner of the interest[s] being assigned by it hereunder and that such
interest[s] is [are] free and clear of any claim, encumbrance, or participation;
(b) makes no representation or warranty and assumes no responsibility with
respect to the financial condition of any Company or the performance or
observance by any Company of any of its respective obligations under any Loan
Paper; (c) represents and warrants that (i) it possesses all requisite authority
and power to execute, deliver, and comply with the terms of the Loan Papers
(including, without limitation, this Assignment), (ii) the Loan Papers
constitute the entire agreement among Borrower, Agent, and Lenders [INCLUDE
FOLLOWING PROVISO IF AGENT IS ASSIGNOR: (provided, however, that Assignor and
Borrower have executed a fee letter dated as of
*
, 1996, that
----------------does not inure to the benefit of any Lender or Assignee)], (iii) the Credit
Agreement has not been amended, and (iv) to its knowledge, no Default or
Potential Default has occurred pursuant to the Loan Papers (other than those
described on an annex to this Agreement, if any); and (d) attaches the Note[s]
held by it and requests that Agent exchange such Note[s] for [a new Note] [new
Notes] executed by Borrower and payable to Assignee [and Assignor] in accordance
with Paragraph 1 above.
3. Assignee (a) represents and warrants that it is legally authorized to enter
into this Assignment; (b) confirms that it has received a copy of the Credit
Agreement and such other documents and information as it has deemed appropriate
to make its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Assignment; (c)
agrees that it will, independently and without reliance upon Agent, Assignor, or
any other Lender and based on such documents and information as it shall deem
appropriate at the time, continue to make its own credit decisions in taking or
not taking action under the Credit Agreement; (d) appoints and authorizes Agent
to take such action as agent on its behalf and to exercise such powers under the
Credit Agreement as are delegated to Agent by the terms thereof, together with

such powers as are reasonably incidental thereto; (e) agrees that it will
perform in accordance with their terms all the obligations which by the terms of
the Credit Agreement are required to be performed by it as a Lender; (f)
represents and warrants that it does not consider any amount paid by it to
Assignor hereunder a loan by it to Assignor; and (g) (i) represents and warrants
to Assignor that under applicable laws and treaties no taxes will be required to
be withheld by Agent, Borrower, or Assignor with respect to any payments to be
made to Assignor in respect of the Obligation, (ii) attaches hereto two duly
completed copies of U.S. Internal Revenue Service Form 4224, Form 1001 or
Form W-8 (wherein Assignee claims entitlement to complete exemption from U.S.
federalwithholding tax on all interest payments made on the Obligation), and
(iii) agrees to provide to Assignor, Agent, and Borrower a new Form 4224, Form
1001 or Form W-8 upon the obsolescence of any previously delivered form and
comparable statements in accordance with applicable U.S. laws and regulations
and amendments duly executed and completed by Assignee, and to comply from time
to time with all applicable U.S. laws and regulations with regard to such
withholding tax exemption./1/
4. The effective date for this Assignment shall be ______________, 19___ (the
"EFFECTIVE DATE").
5. From and after the Effective Date, Agent shall make all payments in respect
of the interest[s] assigned hereby (including payments of principal, interest,
fees, and other amounts) to Assignee. Assignor and Assignee shall make all
appropriate adjustments in payments for periods prior to the Effective Date by
Agent or with respect to the making of this assignment directly between
themselves.
6. This Assignment shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the
laws of the State of New York.
7. This Assignment (a) embodies the entire agreement between Assignor and
Assignee, supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, if any, relating
to the subject matter hereof, and may be amended only by an instrument in
writing executed jointly by an authorized officer of each party hereto, (b) is
not intended to evidence a "purchase" or "sale" of a "security" within the
meaning of any Law, and (c) may be executed in a number of identical
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original for all purposes and all
of which shall constitute, collectively, one agreement; but, in making proof of
this Assignment, it shall not be necessary to reproduce or account for more than
one such counterpart.
8. Any amounts due hereunder from Assignor to Assignee shall be wire
transferred by Assignor to Assignee's account at ____________________, ABA
#________, for credit to ________________________, Attention:
______________________; Reference: THE VAIL CORPORATION. Any amounts due
hereunder from Assignee to Assignor shall be wire transferred by Assignee to
Assignor's account at _____________________, ABA #___________, for credit to
________________________, Attention: _____________________; Reference: THE
VAIL CORPORATION. For purposes of amending SCHEDULE 1 to the Credit Agreement,
Assignee's address, contact person, and facsimile number are as follows:
.
EXECUTED as of the Effective Date.
[ASSIGNOR]
By:
Name:
Title:

[ASSIGNEE]
By:
Name:
Title:

______________
/1/ Clause (g) may be deleted if Assignee is not a foreign entity.

CONSENTED TO:/2/
NATIONSBANK OF TEXAS, N.A., AS AGENT

THE VAIL CORPORATION, AS BORROWER

By:
Name:
Title:

By:
Name:
Title:

_____________
/2/ Consent not required if Assignee is Affiliate of Assignor.

EXHIBIT 10.11(c)
CREDIT AGREEMENT
between
THE VAIL CORPORATION
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CREDIT AGREEMENT
----------------

This Credit Agreement is entered into as of October 10, 1997, between The
Vail Corporation, a Colorado corporation doing business as "Vail Associates,
Inc." ("BORROWER"), and NationsBank of Texas, N.A. ("LENDER").
In consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, and for other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby
acknowledged, Borrower and Lender hereby agree as follows:
SECTION
DEFINITIONS AND TERMS.
- -------- --------------------1.1

Definitions. Unless otherwise defined in this Agreement, capitalized
----------terms in this Agreement are used as defined in the January 1997 Agreement.
APPLICABLE MARGIN means, for any day, the margin of interest over the Base
Rate or LIBOR, as the case may be, that is applicable when any interest rate is
determined under this Agreement. The Applicable Margin is subject to adjustment
(upwards or downwards, as appropriate) based on the ratio of Funded Debt to
Resort EBITDA, as follows:

RATIO OF FUNDED DEBT
TO RESORT EBITDA

APPLICABLE
APPLICABLE
MARGIN FOR
MARGIN FOR
LIBOR
BASE RATE
LOANS
LOANS
- -------------------------------------------------------Less than 2.25 to 1.00
0.500%
0.000%
- -------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to
0.625%
0.000%
2.25 to 1.00, but less than
2.75 to 1.00
- -------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to
0.750%
0.000%
2.75 to 1.00, but less than
3.25 to 1.00
- -------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to
1.000%
0.000%
3.25 to 1.00, but less than
3.75 to 1.00
- -------------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to
1.250%
0.125%
3.75 to 1.00
- -------------------------------------------------------The ratio of Funded Debt to Resort EBITDA shall be calculated on a
consolidated basis for the Companies in accordance with GAAP for the most
recently completed fiscal year of the Companies for which results are
available. The ratio shall be determined from the Current Financials and
any related Compliance Certificate. However, if Borrower fails to furnish
to Agent the Current Financials and any related Compliance Certificate when
required pursuant to the January 1997 Agreement, then the ratio shall be
deemed to be greater than 4.00 to 1.00 until Borrower furnishes the
required Current Financials and any related Compliance Certificate to
Agent. Furthermore, if the Companies' audited Financial Statements
subsequently delivered to Agent for such fiscal year pursuant to the
January 1997 Agreement result in a different ratio, such revised ratio
(whether higher or lower) shall govern effective as of the date of such
delivery. For purposes of determining such ratio, Resort EBITDA for any
fiscal year shall include on a pro forma basis all EBITDA for such period
relating to assets acquired (including Restricted Subsidiaries formed or
organized) during such period, but shall exclude on a pro forma basis all
EBITDA for such period relating to any such assets disposed of in
accordance with this Agreement during such period.
Until the next required delivery after the date hereof of a Compliance

Certificate under the January 1997 Agreement, the ratio of Funded Debt to Resort
EBITDA shall be deemed to be greater than 2.75 to 1.00, but less than 3.25 to
1.00.
APPLICABLE PERCENTAGE means, for any day, the commitment fee percentage
applicable under SECTION 4.3 when commitment fees are determined under this
Agreement. The Applicable Percentage is subject to adjustment (upwards or
downwards, as appropriate) based on the ratio of Funded Debt to Resort EBITDA,
as follows:

RATIO OF FUNDED DEBT
APPLICABLE
TO RESORT EBITDA
PERCENTAGE
----------------------------------------------------Less than 2.25 to 1.00
0.125%
----------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to 2.25 to 1.00,
0.150%
but less than 2.75 to 1.00
----------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to 2.75 to 1.00,
0.200%
but less than 3.25 to 1.00
----------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to 3.25 to 1.00,
0.300%
but less than 3.75 to 1.00
----------------------------------------------------Greater than or equal to 3.75 to 1.00
0.300%
----------------------------------------------------The ratio of Funded Debt to Resort EBITDA shall be determined as described in
the definition of "Applicable Margin."
CLOSING DATE means the date on which counterparts of this Agreement have
been executed and delivered by Borrower and Lender.
COMMITTED SUM means $32,000,000 (as reduced and canceled under this
Agreement).
CONVERSION REQUEST means a request substantially in the form of EXHIBIT D.
DEFAULT is defined in SECTION 11.
FACILITY means the revolving credit facility made available to Borrower
under this Agreement.
FUNDING LOSS means any loss or expense that Lender reasonably incurs
because (a) Borrower fails or refuses (for any reason whatsoever, other than a
default by Lender) to take any Loan that it has requested under this Agreement,
or (b) Borrower pays any LIBOR Loan or converts any LIBOR Loan to a Base Rate
Loan, in each case, before the last day of the applicable Interest Period.
GUARANTOR means any Company which has executed and delivered a Guaranty.
GUARANTY means a guaranty substantially in the form of EXHIBIT B.
INTEREST PERIOD is determined in accordance with SECTION 3.9.
JANUARY 1997 AGREEMENT means the $340,000,000 Credit Agreement dated as of
January 3, 1997, among The Vail Corporation, NationsBank of Texas, N.A., as
Agent, and the Lenders named therein, as amended from time to time.
LOAN means any amount disbursed by Lender to Borrower or on behalf of any
Company under the Loan Papers, either as an original disbursement of funds or
the continuation of an amount outstanding.
LOAN DATE is defined in SECTION 2.2(A).
LOAN PAPERS means (a) this Agreement and the Note, (b) each Guaranty, and
(c) all renewals, extensions

and restatements of, and amendments and supplements to, any of the foregoing.
LOAN REQUEST means a request substantially in the form of EXHIBIT C.
NOTE means a promissory note substantially in the form of EXHIBIT A, as
amended, supplemented or restated.
OBLIGATION means all present and future indebtedness and obligations, and
all renewals, increases and extensions thereof, or any part thereof, now or
hereafter owed to Lender by the Companies under the Loan Papers, together with
all interest accruing thereon, fees, costs and expenses (including, without
limitation, all attorneys' fees and expenses incurred in the enforcement or
collection thereof) payable under the Loan Papers or in connection with the
protection of Rights under the Loan Papers.
PRINCIPAL DEBT means, at any time, the unpaid principal balance of all
Loans.
TERMINATION DATE means the earlier of (a) April 10, 1998, and (b) the date
on which the obligations of the Companies under the January 1997 Agreement are
refinanced.
1.2

Number and Gender of Words. The singular number includes the plural
-------------------------where appropriate and vice versa, and words of any gender include each other
gender where appropriate.
1.3

Accounting Principles. Under the Loan Papers and any documents
--------------------delivered thereunder, unless otherwise stated, (a) GAAP in effect on the date of
this Agreement determines all accounting and financial terms and compliance with
financial covenants, (b) otherwise, all accounting principles applied in a
current period must be comparable in all material respects to those applied
during the preceding comparable period, and (c) while VRI has any consolidated
Restricted Subsidiaries, all accounting and financial terms and compliance with
financial covenants must be on a consolidating and consolidated basis, as
applicable.
SECTION 2 COMMITMENT.
- --------- ---------2.1

Credit Facility. Subject to the provisions in the Loan Papers, Lender
--------------hereby agrees to lend to Borrower one or more revolving Loans in an aggregate
principal amount outstanding at any time up to the Committed Sum, which Borrower
may borrow, repay, and reborrow under this Agreement. Loans are subject to the
following conditions:
(a) Each Loan must occur on a Business Day and no later than the
Business Day immediately preceding the Termination Date;
(b) Each Loan must be in an amount not less than (i) $500,000 or a
greater integral multiple of $100,000 (if a Base Rate Loan), or (ii)
$1,000,000 or a greater integral multiple of $100,000 (if a LIBOR Loan);
(c)

The Principal Debt may never exceed the Committed Sum.

2.2 Loan Procedure.
-------------(a) Borrower may request a Loan by submitting a Loan Request, which
is irrevocable and binding on Borrower. It must be received by Lender no
later than 1:00 p.m. on the third Business Day preceding the date on which
funds are requested (the "LOAN DATE") for any LIBOR Loan or no later than
1:00 p.m. on the Business Day immediately preceding the Loan Date for any
Base Rate Loan.
(b) Lender shall (unless to its actual knowledge any of the
applicable conditions precedent
have not been satisfied by Borrower or waived) make such funds available to
Borrower as directed in the Loan Request.
SECTION 3 TERMS OF PAYMENT.

- --------- ---------------3.1

Note and Payments.
-----------------

(a) Principal Debt under the Facility shall be evidenced by the Note,
payable to Lender in the stated principal amount of the Committed Sum.
(b) Borrower must make each payment on the Obligation to Lender's
principal office in Dallas, Texas, in funds that will be available for
immediate use by Lender by 12:00 noon on the day due; otherwise, but
subject to SECTION 3.8, those funds continue to accrue interest as if they
were received on the next Business Day.
3.2

Interest and Principal Payments; Voluntary Commitment Reductions.
----------------------------------------------------------------

(a) Accrued interest on each LIBOR Loan is due and payable on the
last day of its Interest Period. If any Interest Period with respect to a
LIBOR Loan is a period greater than three months, then accrued interest is
also due and payable on the date three months after the commencement of the
Interest Period. Accrued interest on each Base Rate Loan is due and
payable on each Quarterly Date (commencing December 31, 1997) and on the
Termination Date.
(b)

The Principal Debt is due and payable on the Termination Date.

(c) If the Principal Debt ever exceeds the Committed Sum, Borrower
shall pay Principal Debt in at least the amount of that excess, together
with (i) all accrued and unpaid interest on the principal amount so paid
and (ii) any resulting Funding Loss.
(d)
follows:

Borrower may voluntarily reduce or prepay the Facility as

(i) Without premium or penalty and upon giving at least two
Business Days prior written and irrevocable notice to Lender, Borrower
may terminate all or reduce part of the unused portion of the
Committed Sum. Each partial reduction (unless the remaining portion
of such commitment is less) must be in an amount of not less than
$5,000,000 or a greater integral multiple of $1,000,000. Once
terminated or reduced, the Committed Sum may not be reinstated or
increased.
(ii) Borrower may voluntarily prepay all or any part of the
Principal Debt at any time without premium or penalty, subject to the
following conditions:
(A) Lender must receive Borrower's written payment notice
(which shall specify (1) the payment date, and (2) the Type and
amount of the Loan(s) to be paid;
(B) each partial payment must be in a minimum amount of at
least $500,000 if a Base Rate Loan or $1,000,000 if a LIBOR Loan
or, in either case, a greater integral multiple of $100,000;
(C) all accrued interest on the principal amount so to be
prepaid must also be paid in full on the date of payment; and
(D) Borrower shall pay any related Funding Loss upon demand.
3.3

Interest Options. Except where specifically otherwise provided, Loans
---------------bear interest at an annual rate equal to the lesser of (a) the Base Rate plus
the Applicable Margin or LIBOR plus the Applicable Margin for the Interest
Period, if any, selected by Borrower (in each case as designated or deemed
designated by Borrower), as the case may be, and (b) the Maximum Rate. Each
change in the Base Rate and Maximum Rate is effective, without notice to
Borrower or any other Person, upon the effective date of change.
3.4

Quotation of Rates. A Responsible Officer of Borrower may call Lender
-----------------before delivering a Loan Request to receive an indication of the interest rates
then in effect, but the indicated rates do not bind Lender or affect the

interest rate that is actually in effect when Borrower delivers its Loan Request
or on the Loan Date.
3.5

Default Rate. If permitted by Law, all past-due Principal Debt and
-----------past-due interest bears interest from the date due (stated or by acceleration)
at the Default Rate until paid, regardless whether payment is made before or
after entry of a judgment.
3.6

Interest Recapture. If the designated interest rate applicable to any
-----------------Loan exceeds the Maximum Rate, the interest rate on that Loan is limited to the
Maximum Rate, but any subsequent reductions in the designated rate shall not
reduce the interest rate thereon below the Maximum Rate until the total amount
of accrued interest equals the amount of interest that would have accrued if
that designated rate had always been in effect. If at maturity (stated or by
acceleration), or at final payment of the Note, the total interest paid or
accrued is less than the interest that would have accrued if the designated
rates had always been in effect, then, at that time and to the extent permitted
by Law, Borrower shall pay an amount equal to the difference between (a) the
lesser of the amount of interest that would have accrued if the designated rates
had always been in effect and the amount of interest that would have accrued if
the Maximum Rate had always been in effect, and (b) the amount of interest
actually paid or accrued on the Note.
3.7

Interest Calculations.
---------------------

(a) Interest will be calculated on the basis of actual number of days
elapsed (including the first day, but excluding the last day), but computed
as if each calendar year consisted of 360 days for LIBOR Loans (unless the
calculation would result in an interest rate greater than the Maximum Rate,
in which event interest will be calculated on the basis of a year of 365 or
366 days, as the case may be), and 365 or 366 days, as the case may be, for
Base Rate Loans. All interest rate determinations and calculations by
Lender are conclusive and binding absent manifest error.
(b) The provisions of this Agreement relating to calculation of the
Base Rate and LIBOR are included only for the purpose of determining the
rate of interest or other amounts to be paid under this Agreement that are
based upon those rates. Lender may fund and maintain its funding of all or
any part of each Loan as it selects.
3.8

Maximum Rate. Regardless of any provision contained in any Loan Paper
-----------or any document related thereto, Lender is not entitled to contract for, charge,
take, reserve, receive or apply, as interest on all or any part of the
Obligation any amount in excess of the Maximum Rate, and, if Lender ever does
so, then any excess shall be treated as a partial payment of principal and any
remaining excess shall be refunded to Borrower. In determining if the interest
paid or payable exceeds the Maximum Rate, Borrower and Lender shall, to the
maximum extent permitted under applicable Law, (a) treat all Loans as but a
single extension of credit (and Lender and Borrower agree that is the case and
that provision in this Agreement for multiple Loans is for convenience only),
(b) characterize any nonprincipal payment as an expense, fee or premium rather
than as interest, (c) exclude voluntary payments and their effects, and (d)
amortize, prorate, allocate and spread the total amount of interest throughout
the entire contemplated term of the Obligation. However, if the Obligation is
paid in full before the end of its full contemplated term, and if the interest
received for its actual period of existence exceeds the Maximum Amount, Lender
shall refund any excess (and Lender shall not, to the extent permitted by Law,
be subject to any
penalties provided by any Laws for contracting for, charging, taking, reserving
or receiving interest in excess of the Maximum Amount).
3.9

Interest Periods. When Borrower requests any LIBOR Loan, Borrower may
---------------elect the applicable interest period (each an "INTEREST PERIOD"), which may be,
at Borrower's option, one, two, three or six months, subject to the following
conditions: (a) the initial LIBOR Interest Period commences on the applicable
Loan Date or conversion date, and each subsequent LIBOR Interest Period
commences on the day when the next preceding applicable Interest Period expires;
(b) if any LIBOR Interest Period begins on a day for which no numerically

corresponding Business Day in the calendar month at the end of the Interest
Period exists, then the Interest Period ends on the last Business Day of that
calendar month; (c) no LIBOR Interest Period for any portion of Principal Debt
may extend beyond the scheduled payment date for that portion of Principal Debt;
and (d) no more than four LIBOR Interest Periods may be in effect at one time.
3.10 Conversions. Subject to the dollar limits and denominations of
----------SECTION 2.1 and the limitations on LIBOR Interest Periods of SECTION 3.9,
Borrower may (a) convert all or part of a LIBOR Loan on the last day of the
applicable Interest Period to a Base Rate Loan, (b) convert all or part of a
Base Rate Loan at any time to a LIBOR Loan, and (c) elect a new Interest Period
for all or part of a LIBOR Loan, in each case by delivering a Conversion Request
to Lender no later than 1:00 p.m. on the third Business Day before the
conversion date or the last day of the Interest Period, as the case may be (for
conversion to a LIBOR Loan or election of a new Interest Period), and no later
than 1:00 p.m. one Business Day before the last day of the Interest Period (for
conversion to a Base Rate Loan). Absent Borrower's notice of conversion or
election of a new Interest Period, a LIBOR Loan shall be converted to a Base
Rate Loan when the applicable Interest Period expires.
3.11 Order of Application.
-------------------(a) If no Default or Potential Default exists, any payment shall be
applied to the Obligation in the order and manner as Borrower directs.
(b) If a Default or Potential Default exists or if Borrower fails to
give direction, any other payment (including proceeds from the exercise of
any Rights hereunder) shall be applied in the following order: (i) to all
fees and expenses for which Lender has not been paid or reimbursed in
accordance with the Loan Papers (and if such payment is less than all
unpaid or unreimbursed fees and expenses, then the payment shall be paid
against unpaid and unreimbursed fees and expenses in the order of
incurrence or due date); (ii) to accrued interest on the Principal Debt;
and (iii) ratably to the remainder of the Obligation.
3.12 Booking Loans. To the extent permitted by Law, Lender may make, carry
------------or transfer its Loans at, to, or for the account of any of its branch offices or
the office of any of its Affiliates. However, no Affiliate is entitled to
receive any greater payment under SECTION 3.14 than Lender would have been
entitled to receive with respect to those Loans.
3.13 Basis Unavailable or Inadequate for LIBOR. If, on or before any date
----------------------------------------when LIBOR is to be determined for a Loan, Lender determines that the basis for
determining the applicable rate is not available or that the resulting rate does
not accurately reflect the cost to Lender of making or converting Loans at that
rate for the applicable Interest Period, then it shall promptly notify Borrower
of that determination (which is conclusive and binding on Borrower absent
manifest error) and the applicable Loan shall bear interest at the sum of the
Base Rate plus the Applicable Margin. Until Lender notifies Borrower that those
circumstances no longer exist, Lender's commitments under this Agreement to
make, or to convert to, LIBOR Loans are suspended.
3.14 Additional Costs.
---------------(a) With respect to any LIBOR Loan, (i) if any present or future Law
imposes, modifies, or deems applicable (or if compliance by Lender with any
requirement of any Tribunal results in) any Reserve
Requirement, and if (ii) those reserves reduce any sums receivable by
Lender under this Agreement or increase the costs incurred by Lender in
advancing or maintaining any portion of any LIBOR Loan, then (iii) Lender
shall deliver to Borrower a certificate setting forth in reasonable detail
the calculation of the amount necessary to compensate it for its reduction
or increase (which certificate is conclusive and binding absent manifest
error), and (iv) Borrower shall promptly pay that amount to Lender upon
demand. This paragraph shall survive the satisfaction and payment of the
Obligation and termination of this Agreement. This paragraph may be invoked
by Lender only if Lender is generally invoking similar provisions against
other Persons to which Lender lends funds pursuant to facilities similar to

the Facility.
(b) With respect to any Loan, if any present or future Law regarding
capital adequacy or compliance by Lender with any request, directive or
requirement now existing or hereafter imposed by any Tribunal regarding
capital adequacy, or any change in its written policies or in the risk
category of this transaction, reduces the rate of return on its capital as
a consequence of its obligations under this Agreement to a level below that
which it otherwise could have achieved (taking into consideration its
policies with respect to capital adequacy) by an amount deemed by it to be
material (and it may, in determining the amount, utilize reasonable
assumptions and allocations of costs and expenses and use any reasonable
averaging or attribution method), then (unless the effect is already
reflected in the rate of interest then applicable under this Agreement)
Lender shall notify Borrower and deliver to Borrower a certificate setting
forth in reasonable detail the calculation of the amount necessary to
compensate it (which certificate is conclusive and binding absent manifest
error), and Borrower shall promptly pay that amount to Lender upon demand.
This paragraph shall survive the satisfaction and payment of the Obligation
and termination of this Agreement. This paragraph may be invoked by Lender
only if Lender is generally invoking similar provisions against other
Persons to which Lender lends funds pursuant to facilities similar to the
Facility.
(c) Any Taxes payable by Lender or ruled (by a Tribunal) payable by
Lender in respect of any Loan Paper or any document related thereto shall,
if permitted by Law, be paid by Borrower, together with interest and
penalties, if any (other than for Taxes imposed on or measured by the
overall net income of Lender and interest and penalties incurred as a
result of the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Lender). Lender
shall notify Borrower and deliver to Borrower a certificate setting forth
in reasonable detail the calculation of the amount of payable Taxes, which
certificate is conclusive and binding (absent manifest error), and Borrower
shall promptly pay that amount to Lender. If Lender subsequently receives
a refund of the Taxes paid to it by Borrower, then it shall promptly pay
the refund to Borrower.
3.15 Change in Laws. If any Law makes it unlawful for Lender to make or
-------------maintain LIBOR Loans, then Lender shall promptly notify Borrower, and (a) as to
undisbursed funds, that requested Loan shall be made as a Base Rate Loan, and
(b), as to any outstanding Loan, (i) if maintaining the Loan until the last day
of the applicable Interest Period is unlawful, the Loan shall be converted to a
Base Rate Loan as of the date of notice, and Borrower shall pay any related
Funding Loss, or (ii) if not prohibited by Law, the Loan shall be converted to a
Base Rate Loan as of the last day of the applicable Interest Period, or (iii) if
any conversion will not resolve the unlawfulness, Borrower shall promptly pay
the Loan, without penalty, together with any related Funding Loss. Concurrently
with any payment contemplated by clause (iii) of the immediately preceding
sentence, Borrower shall borrow a Base Rate Loan in an equal principal amount
from Lender and Lender shall fund such Base Rate Loan.
3.16 Funding Loss. BORROWER AGREES TO INDEMNIFY LENDER AGAINST, AND PAY TO
-----------IT UPON DEMAND, ANY FUNDING LOSS OF LENDER. When Lender demands that Borrower
pay any Funding Loss, Lender shall deliver to Borrower a certificate setting
forth in reasonable detail the basis for imposing Funding Loss and the
calculation of the amount, which calculation is conclusive and binding absent
manifest error. The provisions of and undertakings and indemnification set forth
in this paragraph shall survive the satisfaction and payment of the Obligation
and termination of this Agreement.
3.17 Lender's Obligation to Mitigate.
------------------------------practicable after it becomes

Lender agrees that, as promptly as

aware of the occurrence of an event or the existence of a condition which would
entitle it to exercise any rights under SECTIONS 3.14 OR 3.15, it shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to make, fund or maintain the affected Loans
through another lending office of Lender if (a) as a result thereof the
additional moneys which would otherwise be required to be paid in respect of
such Loans would be reduced or the illegality or other adverse circumstances
which would otherwise affect such Loans would cease to exist or the increased
cost which would otherwise be required to be paid in respect of such Loans would

be reduced and (b) the making, funding or maintaining of such Loans through such
other lending office would not otherwise materially adversely affect such Loans
or Lender.
SECTION 4 FEES.
- --------- ---4.1

Treatment of Fees. The fees described in this SECTION 4 (a) are
----------------compensation for the use, detention, or forbearance of money, (b) are in
addition to, and not in lieu of, interest and expenses otherwise described
this Agreement, (c) are payable in accordance with SECTION 3.1(B), (d) are
refundable, and (e) to the fullest extent permitted by Law, bear interest,
not paid when due, at the Default Rate.

not
in
nonif

4.2

Underwriting Fee. Borrower shall pay Lender on the Closing Date an
---------------underwriting fee equal to 0.25% of the Committed Sum.
4.3

Commitment Fee. Borrower shall pay Lender a commitment fee, payable
-------------as it accrues on each Quarterly Date and on the Termination Date, equal to the
Applicable Percentage (per annum), of the amount by which the Committed Sum
exceeds the average daily Principal Debt, in each case during the calendar
quarter (or portion thereof) ending on such date, calculated on the basis of the
actual number of days elapsed (including the first day, but excluding the last
day) in a calendar year of 365 or 366 days, as the case may be.
SECTION 5 SECURITY.
- --------- -------5.1

Guaranties. All obligations of Borrower under the Loan Papers to
---------which it is a party shall be guaranteed in accordance with a Guaranty of even
date herewith, executed by each Restricted Company (other than Borrower).
5.2

Additional Security and Guaranties. Lender may, without notice or
---------------------------------demand and without affecting any Person's obligations under the Loan Papers,
from time to time (i) receive and hold collateral from any Person for the
payment of all or any part of the Obligation and exchange, enforce or release
all or any part of that collateral and (ii) accept and hold any endorsement or
guaranty of payment of all or any part of the Obligation and release any
endorser or guarantor, or any Person who has given any other security for the
payment of all or any part of the Obligation, or any other Person in any way
obligated to pay all or any part of the Obligation; provided, however, that the
provisions of this SECTION 5.2 shall in no event be construed to obligate any
Company to deliver to Lender any collateral.
SECTION 6 CONDITIONS PRECEDENT.
- --------- -------------------6.1

Initial Advance. In addition to the items described in SECTION 6.2,
--------------Lender will not be obligated to fund the initial Loan unless Lender has received
each of the following items:
(a)

the Note;

(b) a Guaranty executed by each Restricted Company (other than
Borrower);
(c)

the initial Loan Request;

(d) an Officers' Certificate for each Company, updating the Officers'
Certificate delivered in
connection with the initial closing under the January 1997 Agreement;
(e) Certificates of Existence and Good Standing (Account Status) for
each of VRI, VHI and Borrower from its state of organization and each other
state where it does business, each dated after September 15, 1997;
(f)

Legal opinion of James S. Mandel;

(g) Payment in full of all amounts then due under SECTION 8.5 and
SECTION 4.2;
6.2

Each Advance.
Lender will not be obligated to fund (as opposed to
-----------continue or convert) any Loan (including the initial Loans) unless on the
applicable date (and after giving effect to the requested Loan): (a) Lender
shall have timely received a Loan Request; (b) all of the representations and
warranties of the Companies in the Loan Papers are true and correct in all
material respects (unless they speak to a specific date or are based on facts
which have changed by transactions contemplated or permitted by this Agreement);
(c) no Material Adverse Event, Default or Potential Default exists; and (d) the
funding of the Loan is permitted by Law. Upon Lender's reasonable request,
Borrower shall deliver to Lender evidence substantiating any of the matters in
the Loan Papers that are necessary to enable Borrower to qualify for the Loan.
Each condition precedent in this Agreement is material to the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement, and time is of the essence with respect to each
condition precedent. Lender may fund any Loan without all conditions being
satisfied, but, to the extent permitted by Law, that funding and issuance shall
not be deemed to be a waiver of the requirement that each condition precedent be
satisfied as a prerequisite for any subsequent funding or issuance, unless
Lender specifically waives each item in writing.
SECTION 7 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. Borrower represents and warrants to
- --------- -----------------------------Lender as follows:
7.1

Existing Representations. Except as set forth on SCHEDULE 7 hereto,
-----------------------each of the representations and warranties set forth in Section 7 of the January
1997 Agreement is true and correct as of the date of this Agreement (except to
the extent that they speak to a specific date or the facts on which they are
based have been changed by transactions contemplated or permitted by the January
1997 Agreement or this Agreement).
7.2

Incurrence of Obligation. The Principal Debt to be incurred by
-----------------------Borrower under this Agreement qualifies as "Permitted Debt" under clause (h) of
the definition of such term in the January 1997 Agreement.
7.3

Authorization and Contravention. The execution and delivery by each
------------------------------Company of each Loan Paper or related document to which it is a party and the
performance by it of its obligations thereunder (a) are within its corporate
power, (b) have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate action, (c)
require no action by or filing with any Tribunal (other than any action or
filing that has been taken or made on or before the date of this Agreement), (d)
do not violate any provision of its charter or bylaws, (e) do not violate any
provision of Law or any order of any Tribunal applicable to it, other than
violations that individually or collectively are not a Material Adverse Event,
(f) do not violate any Material Agreements to which it is a party, or (g) do not
result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of any Company.
7.4

Binding Effect. Upon execution and delivery by all parties thereto,
-------------each Loan Paper which is a contract will constitute a legal and binding
obligation of each Company party thereto, enforceable against it in accordance
with its terms, except as enforceability may be limited by applicable Debtor
Relief Laws and general principles of equity.
7.5

Full Disclosure. Each material fact or condition relating to the Loan
--------------Papers or the financial condition, business or property of any Company has been
disclosed to Lender. All information furnished by any Company to Lender in
connection with the Loan Papers on or before the date of this Agreement was,
taken as a whole, true and accurate in all material respects or based on
reasonable estimates on the date the information is
stated or certified.
SECTION 8 AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS. So long as Lender is committed to fund Loans
- --------- --------------------and thereafter until the Obligation is paid in full, Borrower covenants and

agrees as follows:
8.1

Existing Affirmative Covenants. Borrower shall comply (and shall
-----------------------------cause each other Company to comply) with the affirmative covenants set forth in
Section 8 of the January 1997 Agreement.
8.2

Items to be Furnished.
--------------------furnished to Lender:

Borrower shall cause the following to be

(a) Notice, promptly after any Company knows or has reason to know,
of (i) any change in any material fact or circumstance represented or
warranted by any Company in connection with any Loan Paper, or (ii) a
Default or Potential Default, specifying the nature thereof and what action
the Companies have taken, are taking, or propose to take.
(b) Promptly upon reasonable request by Lender, information (not
otherwise required to be furnished under the Loan Papers) respecting the
business affairs, assets and liabilities of the Companies (including, but
not limited to, seasonal operating statistics, annual budgets, etc.) and
opinions, certifications and documents in addition to those mentioned in
this Agreement; provided, however, that Lender shall not disclose to any
third Person any data or information obtained thereby in accordance with
the provisions of this paragraph (b), except (i) with the prior written
consent of the appropriate Company, (ii) to the extent necessary to comply
with Law or the ruling of any Tribunal in which event, Lender shall notify
the appropriate Company as promptly as practicable (and, if possible, prior
to making such disclosure) and shall seek confidential treatment of the
information desired, (iii) at the request of any banking or other
regulatory authority, or (iv) to their respective Representatives to the
extent such disclosure is necessary in connection with the transactions
contemplated by the Loan Papers.
8.3

Use of Proceeds. Borrower will use the proceeds of the Loans for
--------------general corporate purposes and capital expenditures of the Companies. No part
of the proceeds of any Loan will be used, directly or indirectly, for a purpose
that violates any Law, including without limitation, the provisions of
Regulations G or U.
8.4

Inspections. Upon reasonable request, each Company will allow Lender
----------(or its Representatives) to inspect any of its properties, to review reports,
files and other records and to make and take away copies, to conduct tests or
investigations, and to discuss any of its affairs, conditions and finances with
its other creditors, directors, officers, employees or representatives from time
to time, during reasonable business hours; provided, however, that Lender and
its Representatives shall not disclose to any Person any data or information
obtained thereby in accordance with the provisions of this SECTION 8.4 which is
not a matter of public knowledge, except (i) with the prior written consent of
the appropriate Company, (ii) to the extent necessary to comply with Law or the
ruling of any Tribunal in which event, Lender and/or its Representatives shall
notify the appropriate Company as promptly as practicable (and, if possible,
prior to making such disclosure) and shall seek confidential treatment of the
information desired, (iii) at the request of any banking or other regulatory
authority, or (iv) to their respective Representatives to the extent such
disclosure is necessary in connection with the transactions contemplated by the
Loan Papers.
8.5

Expenses. Borrower shall promptly pay upon demand (a) all reasonable
-------and customary costs, fees, and expenses paid or incurred by Lender and its
Affiliates in connection with the arrangement and negotiation of the Facility
and the negotiation, preparation, delivery and execution of the Loan Papers and
any related amendment, waiver, or consent (including in each case, without
limitation, the reasonable fees and expenses of Lender's counsel) and (b) all
reasonable costs and expenses of Lender incurred in connection with the
enforcement of the obligations of any Company arising under the Loan Papers or
the exercise of any Rights arising under the Loan Papers (including, but not
limited to, reasonable attorneys' fees and court costs), all of which shall be a
part of the Obligation and shall bear interest, if not paid upon demand, at the
Default Rate until paid.

8.6

Subsidiaries. Subject to Section 9.8 of the January 1997 Agreement,
-----------the Companies may create or acquire additional Subsidiaries (including
Unrestricted Subsidiaries); provided that each Person that becomes a Restricted
Subsidiary after the date of this Agreement (whether as a result of acquisition,
creation or otherwise) shall execute and deliver a Guaranty within 10 days after
becoming a Restricted Subsidiary.
8.7

Indemnification. BORROWER SHALL INDEMNIFY, PROTECT AND HOLD LENDER
--------------AND ITS RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES, REPRESENTATIVES, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS AND
ATTORNEYS (COLLECTIVELY, THE "INDEMNIFIED PARTIES") HARMLESS FROM AND AGAINST
ANY AND ALL LIABILITIES, OBLIGATIONS, LOSSES, DAMAGES, PENALTIES, ACTIONS,
JUDGMENTS, SUITS, CLAIMS AND PROCEEDINGS AND ALL COSTS, EXPENSES (INCLUDING,
WITHOUT LIMITATION, ALL ATTORNEYS' FEES AND LEGAL EXPENSES WHETHER OR NOT SUIT
IS BROUGHT) AND DISBURSEMENTS OF ANY KIND OR NATURE (THE "INDEMNIFIED
LIABILITIES") THAT MAY AT ANY TIME BE IMPOSED ON, INCURRED BY OR ASSERTED
AGAINST THE INDEMNIFIED PARTIES, IN ANY WAY RELATING TO OR ARISING OUT OF (a)
THE DIRECT OR INDIRECT RESULT OF THE VIOLATION BY ANY COMPANY OF ANY
ENVIRONMENTAL LAW, (b) ANY COMPANY'S GENERATION, MANUFACTURE, PRODUCTION,
STORAGE, RELEASE, THREATENED RELEASE, DISCHARGE, DISPOSAL OR PRESENCE IN
CONNECTION WITH ITS PROPERTIES OF A HAZARDOUS SUBSTANCE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT
LIMITATION, (i) ALL DAMAGES OF ANY USE, GENERATION, MANUFACTURE, PRODUCTION,
STORAGE, RELEASE, THREATENED RELEASE, DISCHARGE, DISPOSAL OR PRESENCE, OR (ii)
THE COSTS OF ANY ENVIRONMENTAL INVESTIGATION, MONITORING, REPAIR, CLEANUP OR
DETOXIFICATION AND THE PREPARATION AND IMPLEMENTATION OF ANY CLOSURE, REMEDIAL
OR OTHER PLANS), OR (c) THE LOAN PAPERS OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED
THEREIN. HOWEVER, ALTHOUGH EACH INDEMNIFIED PARTY HAS THE RIGHT TO BE
INDEMNIFIED FOR ITS OWN ORDINARY NEGLIGENCE, NO INDEMNIFIED PARTY HAS THE RIGHT
TO BE INDEMNIFIED FOR ITS OWN FRAUD, GROSS NEGLIGENCE OR WILLFUL MISCONDUCT.
THE PROVISIONS OF AND UNDERTAKINGS AND INDEMNIFICATION SET FORTH IN THIS
PARAGRAPH SHALL SURVIVE THE SATISFACTION AND PAYMENT OF THE OBLIGATION AND
TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT.
SECTION 9 NEGATIVE COVENANTS. So long as Lender is committed to fund Loans and
- --------- -----------------thereafter until the Obligation is paid in full, Borrower covenants and agrees
as follows:
9.1

Existing Negative Covenants. Borrower shall comply (and shall cause
--------------------------each of the other Companies to comply) with each of the negative covenants set
forth in Section 9 of the January 1997 Agreement.
9.2

Taxes. No Company shall use any portion of the proceeds of any Loan
----to pay the wages of employees, unless a timely payment to or deposit with the
United States of America of all amounts of Tax required to be deducted and
withheld with respect to such wages is also made.
9.3

Assignment. No Company shall assign or transfer any of its Rights or
---------cause to be delegated its duties or obligations under any of the Loan Papers.
SECTION 10 FINANCIAL COVENANTS. So long as Lender is committed to fund Loans
- ---------- ------------------and thereafter until the Obligation is paid and performed in full (except for
provisions under the Loan Papers expressly intended to survive payment of the
Obligation and termination of the Loan Papers), Borrower covenants and agrees to
comply with each of the financial covenants set forth in Section 10 of the
January 1997 Agreement.
SECTION 11 DEFAULT. The term "DEFAULT" means the occurrence of any one or more
- ---------- ------of the following events:
11.1

Payment of Obligation. The failure or refusal of any Company to pay
--------------------(i) any principal payment contemplated by SECTION 3.2(b) of this Agreement after
such payment becomes due and payable hereunder, (ii) any principal payment
(other than those contemplated by SECTION 3.2(b)) or interest payment
contemplated to be made hereunder within 3 Business Days after demand therefor
by Lender, and (iii) any amount contemplated to be paid hereunder in respect of
fees, costs, expenses or indemnities within 10 Business Days after demand
therefor by Lender.

11.2

Covenants. The failure or refusal of any Company to punctually and
--------properly perform, observe, and comply with:
(a) Any covenant, agreement or condition applicable to it contained
in SECTIONS 8.3 or 9.3; or
(b) Any other covenant, agreement or condition applicable to it
contained in any Loan Paper (other than the covenants to pay the Obligation
and the covenants in clause (a) preceding), and failure or refusal
continues for 30 days.
11.3

Debtor Relief. Any Restricted Company (a) fails to pay its Debts
------------generally as they become due, (b) voluntarily seeks, consents to, or acquiesces
in the benefit of any Debtor Relief Law, or (c) becomes a party to or is made
the subject of any proceeding provided for by any Debtor Relief Law, other than
as a creditor or claimant, that could suspend or otherwise adversely affect the
Rights of Lender granted in the Loan Papers (unless, if the proceeding is
involuntary, the applicable petition is dismissed within 60 days after its
filing).
11.4

Misrepresentation. Any material representation or warranty made by
----------------any Company in connection with any Loan Paper at any time proves to have been
materially incorrect when made; provided that if such Company made such
representation or warranty in good faith without any knowledge on the part of
the Companies that it was materially incorrect, such misrepresentation shall not
constitute a Default if the Companies notify Lender of such misrepresentation
within 5 Business Days after such Company has knowledge thereof.
11.5

Default Under January 1997 Agreement.
-----------------------------------Section 11 of the January 1997 Agreement.

Any "Default" occurs under

11.6

Validity and Enforceability of Loan Papers. Except in accordance with
-----------------------------------------its terms or as otherwise expressly permitted by this Agreement, any Loan Paper
at any time after its execution and delivery ceases to be in full force and
effect in any material respect or is declared to be null and void or its
validity or enforceability is contested by any Company party thereto or any
Company denies that it has any further liability or obligations under any Loan
Paper to which it is a party.
SECTION 12 RIGHTS AND REMEDIES.
- ---------- ------------------12.1

Remedies Upon Default.
---------------------

(a) If a Default exists under SECTION 11.3, the commitment to extend
credit under this Agreement automatically terminates, the entire unpaid
balance of the Obligation automatically becomes due and payable without any
action of any kind whatsoever.
(b) If any Default exists, Lender may do any one or more of the
following: (i) if the maturity of the Obligation has not already been
accelerated under SECTION 12.1(A), declare the entire unpaid balance of all
or any part of the Obligation immediately due and payable, whereupon it is
due and payable; (ii) terminate the commitments of Lender to extend credit
or to continue or convert any Loan under this Agreement; (iii) reduce any
claim to judgment; and (iv) exercise any and all other legal or equitable
Rights afforded by the Loan Papers, the Laws of the State of New York, or
any other applicable jurisdiction.
12.2

Company Waivers. TO THE EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, EACH COMPANY WAIVES
--------------PRESENTMENT AND DEMAND FOR PAYMENT, PROTEST, NOTICE OF INTENTION TO ACCELERATE,
NOTICE OF ACCELERATION AND NOTICE OF PROTEST AND NONPAYMENT, AND AGREES THAT ITS
LIABILITY WITH RESPECT TO ALL OR ANY PART OF THE OBLIGATION IS NOT AFFECTED BY
ANY RENEWAL OR EXTENSION IN THE TIME OF PAYMENT OF ALL OR ANY PART OF THE
OBLIGATION, BY ANY INDULGENCE, OR BY ANY RELEASE OR CHANGE IN ANY SECURITY FOR
THE PAYMENT OF ALL OR ANY PART OF THE OBLIGATION.

12.3

Performance by Lender.
--------------------Company is not performed in

If any covenant, duty or agreement of any

accordance with the terms of the Loan Papers, Lender may, while a Default
exists, at its option, perform or attempt to perform that covenant, duty or
agreement on behalf of that Company (and any amount expended by Lender in its
performance or attempted performance is payable by the Companies, jointly and
severally, to Lender on demand, becomes part of the Obligation, and bears
interest at the Default Rate from the date of Lender's expenditure until paid).
However, Lender does not assume and shall never have, except by its express
written consent, any liability or responsibility for the performance of any
covenant, duty or agreement of any Company.
12.4

Not in Control. None of the covenants or other provisions
-------------in any Loan Paper shall, or shall be deemed to, give Lender the Right
exercise control over the assets (including, without limitation, real
affairs, or management of any Company; the power of Lender is limited
Right to exercise the remedies provided in this SECTION 12.

contained
to
property),
to the

12.5

Course of Dealing. The acceptance by Lender of any partial payment
----------------on the Obligation shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any Default then
existing. No waiver by Lender of any Default shall be deemed to be a waiver of
any other then-existing or subsequent Default. No delay or omission by Lender in
exercising any Right under the Loan Papers will impair that Right or be
construed as a waiver thereof or any acquiescence therein, nor will any single
or partial exercise of any Right preclude other or further exercise thereof or
the exercise of any other Right under the Loan Papers or otherwise.
12.6

Cumulative Rights. All Rights available to Lender under the Loan
----------------Papers are cumulative of and in addition to all other Rights granted to Lender
at law or in equity, whether or not the Obligation is due and payable and
whether or not Lender has instituted any suit for collection, foreclosure, or
other action in connection with the Loan Papers.
12.7

Application of Proceeds. Any and all proceeds ever received by
----------------------Lender from the exercise of any Rights pertaining to the Obligation shall be
applied to the Obligation according to SECTION 3.11.
12.8

Certain Proceedings. The Companies will promptly execute and
------------------deliver, or cause the execution and delivery of, all applications, certificates,
instruments, registration statements and all other documents and papers Lender
reasonably requests in connection with the obtaining of any consent, approval,
registration, qualification, permit, license or authorization of any Tribunal or
other Person necessary or appropriate for the effective exercise of any Rights
under the Loan Papers. Because Borrower agrees that Lender's remedies at Law for
failure of the Companies to comply with the provisions of this paragraph would
be inadequate and that failure would not be adequately compensable in damages,
Borrower agrees that the covenants of this paragraph may be specifically
enforced.
SECTION 13 MISCELLANEOUS.
- ---------- ------------13.1

Headings. The headings, captions and arrangements used in any of the
-------Loan Papers are, unless specified otherwise, for convenience only and shall not
be deemed to limit, amplify or modify the terms of the Loan Papers, nor affect
the meaning thereof.
13.2

Nonbusiness Days; Time. Any payment or action that is due under any
---------------------Loan Paper on a non-Business Day may be delayed until the next-succeeding
Business Day (but interest shall continue to accrue on any applicable payment
until payment is in fact made) unless the payment concerns a LIBOR Loan, in
which case if the next-succeeding Business Day is in the next calendar month,
then such payment shall be made on the next-preceding Business Day. Unless
otherwise indicated, all time references (e.g., 1:00 p.m.) are to Dallas, Texas
time.

13.3

Communications. Unless otherwise specifically provided, whenever any
-------------Loan Paper requires or permits any consent, approval, notice, request or demand
from one party to another, communication must be in writing (which may be by
telex or telecopy) to be effective and shall be deemed to have been given (a) if
by telex,
when transmitted to the appropriate telex number and the appropriate
answerback is received, (b) if by telecopy, when transmitted to the appropriate
telecopy number (and all communications sent by telecopy must be confirmed
promptly thereafter by telephone; but any requirement in this parenthetical
shall not affect the date when the telecopy shall be deemed to have been
delivered), (c) if by mail, on the third Business Day after it is enclosed in an
envelope and properly addressed, stamped, sealed, and deposited in the
appropriate official postal service, or (d) if by any other means, when actually
delivered. Until changed by notice pursuant to this Agreement, the address (and
telecopy number) for each party to a Loan Paper is set forth on the attached
SCHEDULE 1.
13.4 Form and Number of Documents. The form, substance, and number of
---------------------------counterparts of each writing to be furnished under the Loan Papers must be
satisfactory to Lender and its counsel, each in its reasonable discretion.
13.5 Exceptions to Covenants. The Companies may not take or fail to take
----------------------any action that is permitted as an exception to any of the covenants contained
in any Loan Paper if that action or omission would result in the breach of any
other covenant contained in any Loan Paper.
13.6 Survival. All covenants, agreements, undertakings, representations
-------and warranties made in any of the Loan Papers survive all closings under the
Loan Papers and, except as otherwise indicated, are not affected by any
investigation made by any party.
13.7 Governing Law. The Laws (other than conflict-of-laws provisions) of
------------the State of New York and of the United States of America govern the Rights and
duties of the parties to the Loan Papers and the validity, construction,
enforcement and interpretation of the Loan Papers.
13.8 Invalid Provisions. Any provision in any Loan Paper held to be
-----------------illegal, invalid or unenforceable is fully severable; the appropriate Loan Paper
shall be construed and enforced as if that provision had never been included;
and the remaining provisions shall remain in full force and effect and shall not
be affected by the severed provision. Lender and the Companies shall negotiate,
in good faith, the terms of a replacement provision as similar to the severed
provision as may be possible and be legal, valid and enforceable.
13.9 Venue; Service of Process; Jury Trial. EACH PARTY TO ANY LOAN PAPER,
------------------------------------IN EACH CASE FOR ITSELF, ITS SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS (AND IN THE CASE OF
BORROWER, FOR EACH OTHER COMPANY), (a) IRREVOCABLY SUBMITS TO THE NONEXCLUSIVE
JURISDICTION OF THE STATE AND FEDERAL COURTS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS, (b)
IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, ANY OBJECTION THAT
IT MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE LAYING OF VENUE OF ANY LITIGATION ARISING
OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE LOAN PAPERS AND THE OBLIGATION BROUGHT IN
DISTRICT COURTS OF DALLAS OR HARRIS COUNTY, TEXAS, OR IN THE UNITED STATES
DISTRICT COURT FOR THE NORTHERN OR SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS, DALLAS OR HOUSTON
DIVISION, (c) IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY CLAIMS THAT ANY LITIGATION BROUGHT IN ANY
OF THE AFOREMENTIONED COURTS HAS BEEN BROUGHT IN AN INCONVENIENT FORUM, (d)
IRREVOCABLY AGREES THAT ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING AGAINST ANY PARTY TO ANY LOAN PAPER
ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE LOAN PAPERS OR THE OBLIGATION MAY BE
BROUGHT IN ONE OF THE AFOREMENTIONED COURTS, AND (e) IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TO THE
FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, ITS RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY
CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION BASED UPON OR ARISING OUT OF ANY LOAN PAPER. The scope
of each of the foregoing waivers is intended to be all-encompassing of any and
all disputes that may be filed in any court and that relate to the subject
matter of this transaction, including, without limitation, contract claims, tort
claims, breach of duty claims, and all other common law and statutory claims.
Borrower (for itself and on behalf of each other Company) acknowledges that

these waivers are a material inducement to Lender's agreement to enter
business relationship, that Lender has already relied on these waivers
entering into this Agreement, and that Lender will continue to rely on
these waivers in related future dealings. Borrower (for itself and on
each other

into a
in
each of
behalf of

Company) further warrants and represents that it has reviewed these waivers with
its legal counsel, and that it knowingly and voluntarily agrees to each waiver
following consultation with legal counsel. THE WAIVERS IN THIS SECTION 13.9 MAY
NOT BE MODIFIED EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 13.10, AND SHALL, EXCEPT TO
THE EXTENT WAIVED OR MODIFIED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 13.10, APPLY TO ANY
SUBSEQUENT AMENDMENTS, SUPPLEMENTS OR PLACEMENTS TO OR OF THIS OR ANY OTHER LOAN
PAPER. In the event of Litigation, this Agreement may be filed as a written
consent to a trial by the court.
13.10 Amendments, Consents, Conflicts and Waivers.
------------------------------------------(a) Unless otherwise specifically provided, (i) this Agreement may be
amended only by an instrument in writing executed by Borrower and Lender
and supplemented only by documents delivered or to be delivered in
accordance with the express terms of this Agreement, and (ii) the other
Loan Papers may only be the subject of an amendment, modification or waiver
that has been approved by Lender and Borrower.
(b) Any conflict or ambiguity between the terms and provisions of
this Agreement and terms and provisions in any other Loan Paper is
controlled by the terms and provisions of this Agreement.
(c) No course of dealing or any failure or delay by Lender or any of
its Representatives with respect to exercising any Right under this
Agreement operates as a waiver thereof. A waiver must be in writing and
signed by Lender to be effective, and a waiver will be effective only in
the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it is given.
13.11 Multiple Counterparts. Each Loan Paper (other than the Note) may be
--------------------executed in a number of identical counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an
original for all purposes and all of which constitute, collectively, one
agreement; but, in making proof of thereof, it shall not be necessary to produce
or account for more than one counterpart. This Agreement shall become effective
when counterparts of this Agreement have been executed and delivered by Lender
and Borrower.
13.12 Successors and Assigns; Participation.
------------------------------------(a) The Loan Papers bind and inure to the benefit of the parties
hereto, any intended beneficiary thereof, and each of their respective
successors and permitted assigns. Lender may not transfer, pledge, assign,
sell any participation in, or otherwise encumber its portion of the
Obligation, except as permitted by this SECTION 13.12.
(b) Lender may, in the ordinary course of its business, at any time
sell to one or more Participants participating interests in all or any part
of its Rights and obligations under the Loan Papers. Lender shall remain a
"Lender" under this Agreement (and the Participant shall not constitute a
"Lender" under this Agreement) and its obligations under this Agreement
shall remain unchanged. Lender shall remain solely responsible for the
performance of its obligations under the Loan Papers and shall remain the
holder of the Principal Debt for all purposes under this Agreement.
Borrower shall continue to deal solely and directly with Lender in
connection with Lender's Rights and obligations under the Loan Papers.
Participants have no Rights under the Loan Papers, other than certain
voting Rights as provided below. Subject to the following, Lender may
obtain (on behalf of its Participants) the benefits of SECTION 3 with
respect to all participations in its part of the Obligation outstanding
from time to time so long as Borrower is not obligated to pay any amount in
excess of the amount that would be due to that Lender under SECTION 3
calculated as though no participation have been made. Lender may not sell
any participating interest under which the Participant has any Rights to
approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any Loan Paper, except to
the extent the amendment, modification or waiver extends the due date for
payment of any principal, interest or fees due under the Loan Papers or

reduces the interest rate or the
amount of principal or fees applicable to the Obligation (except reductions
contemplated by this Agreement). The relevant participation agreement shall
prohibit the Participant from transferring, pledging, assigning, selling
participation in, or otherwise encumbering its portion of the Obligation.
(c) This SECTION 13.12 relates to absolute assignments and,
notwithstanding SECTION 13.12(a), does not prohibit assignments creating
security interests. Specifically, without limitation, Lender may at any
time, without the consent of Borrower, assign all or any part of its Rights
under the Loan Papers to a Federal Reserve Bank without releasing Lender
from its obligations thereunder.
13.13 Discharge Only Upon Payment in Full; Reinstatement in Certain
------------------------------------------------------------Circumstances. Each Company's obligations under the Loan Papers remain in full
- ------------force and effect until the Committed Sum is terminated and the Obligation is
paid in full (except for provisions under the Loan Papers expressly intended to
survive payment of the Obligation and termination of the Loan Papers). If at
any time any payment of the principal of or interest on the Note or any other
amount payable by Borrower or any other obligor on the Obligation under any Loan
Paper is rescinded or must be restored or returned upon the insolvency,
bankruptcy or reorganization of Borrower or otherwise, the obligations of each
Company under the Loan Papers with respect to that payment shall be reinstated
as though the payment had been due but not made at that time.
13.14 ENTIRETY. THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE COMPANIES AND LENDER
-------SHALL BE DETERMINED SOLELY FROM WRITTEN AGREEMENTS, DOCUMENTS AND INSTRUMENTS,
AND ANY PRIOR ORAL AGREEMENTS AMONG THE PARTIES ARE SUPERSEDED BY AND MERGED
INTO THOSE WRITINGS. THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER WRITTEN LOAN PAPERS (EACH AS
AMENDED IN WRITING FROM TIME TO TIME) EXECUTED BY ANY COMPANY OR LENDER
REPRESENT THE FINAL AGREEMENT AMONG THE PARTIES AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY
EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS BY THE PARTIES.
THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS AMONG THE PARTIES. This Agreement
supersedes all prior written agreements and understandings relating to the
subject matter hereof, and may be supplemented only by documents delivered in
accordance with the terms hereof.
EXECUTED as of the day and year first mentioned.
THE VAIL CORPORATION
By:
Name:
Title:
NATIONSBANK OF TEXAS, N.A.

By:
Frank M. Johnson
Senior Vice President
SCHEDULE 1
PARTIES, ADDRESSES AND WIRING INFORMATION
----------------------------------------BORROWER AND ALL OTHER COMPANIES
- -------------------------------THE VAIL CORPORATION
Post Office Box 7
Vail, Colorado 81658
137 Benchmark Road
Avon, Colorado 81620
Attn: James P. Donohue
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Phone: 970/845-2516
FAX:
970/845-2520
copy to:
James Mandel, Esq.
Senior Vice President and General Counsel
Vail Resorts, Inc.
Post Office Box 7
Vail, Colorado 81658
137 Benchmark Road
Avon, Colorado 81620
Phone: 970/845-2512
FAX:
970/845-2912 or 845-2667
LENDER
- -----NATIONSBANK OF TEXAS, N.A.
901 Main Street, 67th Floor
Dallas, Texas 75202
Attn: Frank M. Johnson
Senior Vice President
Phone: 214/508-3091
FAX:
214/508-0980
copy to:
Porter & Hedges, L.L.P.
700 Louisiana, 35th Floor
Houston, Texas 77002-2764
Attn: F. Walter Bistline, Jr.
Phone: 713/226-0681
FAX:
713/228-4935
WIRING INFORMATION
-----------------THE VAIL CORPORATION
- -------------------Location of account:

NationsBank of Texas, N.A. (Dallas, Texas)

ABA #: 111000025
Account No.: 129-2688745
NATIONSBANK OF TEXAS, N.A.
- -------------------------Location of account: NationsBank of Texas, N.A. (Dallas, Texas)
ABA #: 111000025
FTA Acct. # 0180019828
Attention: Commercial Loans
(Ref. The Vail Corporation)
SCHEDULE 7
EXCEPTIONS TO JANUARY 1997 AGREEMENT REPRESENTATIONS
---------------------------------------------------(To be completed by Borrower.)
EXHIBIT A
--------REVOLVING CREDIT PROMISSORY NOTE
$32,000,000Dallas, TexasOctober 10, 1997

For value received, THE VAIL CORPORATION ("MAKER"), hereby promises to pay to
the order of NationsBank of Texas, N.A. ("PAYEE") on or before the Termination
Date, the principal amount of $32,000,000, or so much thereof as may be
disbursed and outstanding hereunder, together with interest, as hereinafter
described.
This note has been executed and delivered under, and is subject to the terms
of, the Credit Agreement dated as of October 10, 1997 (as amended, supplemented
or restated, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"), between Maker and Payee and is the "Note"
referred to therein. Unless defined herein or the context otherwise requires,
capitalized terms used herein have the meaning given to such terms in the Credit
Agreement. Reference is made to the Credit Agreement for provisions affecting
this note regarding applicable interest rates, principal and interest payment
dates, final maturity, acceleration of maturity, exercise of Rights, payment of
attorneys' fees, court costs and other costs of collection, and certain waivers
by Maker and others now or hereafter obligated for payment of any sums due
hereunder.
This note is a Loan Paper and, therefore, is subject to the applicable
provisions of SECTION 13 of the Credit Agreement, all of which applicable
provisions are incorporated herein by reference the same as if set forth herein
verbatim.
Specific reference is made to SECTION 3.8 of the Credit Agreement for usury
savings provisions.
THE VAIL CORPORATION

By:
Name:
Title:
EXHIBIT B
--------GUARANTY
THIS GUARANTY is executed as of ___________, 19__, by each of the undersigned
(each a "GUARANTOR" and collectively the "GUARANTORS") for the benefit of
NATIONSBANK OF TEXAS, N.A.("LENDER") pursuant to the Credit Agreement with THE
VAIL CORPORATION ("BORROWER") dated as of October 10, 1997 (as hereafter
amended, supplemented, or restated, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"). Capitalized terms
not otherwise defined herein are used as defined in the Credit Agreement.
A. Each Guarantor is an Affiliate of Borrower.
B. The execution and delivery of this Guaranty is an integral part of the
transactions contemplated by the Loan Papers and a condition precedent to
Lender's obligations to extend credit under the Credit Agreement.
C. In each Guarantor's judgment, the value of the consideration received and
to be received by it under the Loan Papers is reasonably worth at least as much
as its liability and obligation under this Guaranty, and such liability and
obligation may reasonably be expected to benefit it directly or indirectly.
NOW, THEREFORE, each Guarantor jointly and severally guarantees to Lender the
prompt payment at maturity (by acceleration or otherwise), and at all times
thereafter, of the Guaranteed Debt owing to Lender as follows:
1.

Borrower. The term "BORROWER" includes, without limitation, Borrower as
-------a debtor-in-possession and any party hereafter appointed Receiver for Borrower
or all or substantially all of its assets under any Debtor Relief Law.
2.

Guaranteed Debt. The term "GUARANTEED DEBT" means all present and future
--------------indebtedness and obligations, and all renewals, increases and extensions
thereof, or any part thereof, now or hereafter owed to Lender by Borrower under
the Loan Papers to which it is a party, together with all interest accruing

thereon, fees, costs and expenses (including, without limitation, (a) all
attorneys' fees and expenses incurred pursuant to, or in connection with the
protection of Rights under, the Loan Papers to which Borrower is a party, and
(b) amounts that would become due but for operation of Section 502, 506 or any
other applicable provision of Title 11 of the United States Code), together with
all pre- and post-maturity interest thereon (including, without limitation, all
post-petition interest if Borrower voluntarily or involuntarily files for
bankruptcy protection) and any and all costs, attorneys' fees and expenses
reasonably incurred by Lender to enforce Borrower's payment of any of the
foregoing indebtedness.
3.

Absolute Guaranty. This instrument is an absolute, irrevocable and
----------------continuing guaranty, and the circumstance that at any time or from time to time
the Guaranteed Debt may be paid in full does not affect the obligation of any
Guarantor with respect to the Guaranteed Debt of Borrower thereafter incurred.
NOTWITHSTANDING ANY CONTRARY PROVISION IN THIS GUARANTY, HOWEVER, EACH
GUARANTOR'S MAXIMUM LIABILITY HEREUNDER IS LIMITED, TO THE EXTENT, IF ANY,
REQUIRED SO THAT ITS LIABILITY IS NOT SUBJECT TO AVOIDANCE UNDER ANY DEBTOR
RELIEF LAW.
4.

Representations and Warranties. Each
-----------------------------representations and warranties contained in
without limitation, SECTION 7 of the Credit
represents and warrants to Lender that each
true and correct.

Guarantor acknowledges that certain
the other Loan Papers (including,
Agreement) apply to it and hereby
such representation and warranty is

5.

Covenants. Each Guarantor acknowledges that certain covenants, agreements
--------and undertakings contained in the other Loan Papers (including, without
limitation, SECTIONS 8, 9 and 10 of the Credit Agreement) apply to it and hereby
covenants and agrees with Lender to comply with each such covenant, agreement
and
undertaking.
6.

Other Indebtedness. If any Guarantor becomes liable for any indebtedness
-----------------owing by Borrower to Lender, other than under this Guaranty, such liability will
not be in any manner impaired or affected by this Guaranty, and the rights of
Lender under this Guaranty are cumulative of any and all other rights that
Lender may ever have against that Guarantor. The exercise by Lender of any
right or remedy under this Guaranty or otherwise will not preclude the
concurrent or subsequent exercise of any other right or remedy.
7.

Default. If a Default under the Credit Agreement exists and as a result
------of such Default amounts are owing to Lender, each Guarantor shall, on demand and
without further notice of dishonor and without any notice having been given to
any Guarantor previous to such demand of either the acceptance by Lender of this
Guaranty or the creation or incurrence of any Guaranteed Debt, pay the amount of
the Guaranteed Debt then due and payable to Lender, and it is not necessary for
Lender, in order to enforce such payment by any Guarantor, first or
contemporaneously to institute suit or exhaust remedies against Borrower or
others liable on such indebtedness or to enforce rights against any collateral
securing such indebtedness.
8.

Subordinated Debt. All obligations of Borrower to any Guarantor (the
----------------"SUBORDINATED DEBT") are expressly subordinated to the full and final payment of
the Guaranteed Debt. Each Guarantor agrees not to accept any payment of the
Subordinated Debt from Borrower with respect thereto, if a Default exists; and,
if any Guarantor receives any payment of the Subordinated Debt in violation of
the foregoing, that Guarantor will hold any such payment in trust for Lender, in
the form received (with any necessary endorsements), to be applied to the
Guaranteed Debt in the manner contemplated by the Credit Agreement.
9.

Waiver of Subrogation and Contribution. No Guarantor will assert, enforce
-------------------------------------or otherwise exercise (a) any right of subrogation to any of the rights or liens
of Lender or any other beneficiary against Borrower or any other obligor on the
Guaranteed Debt or any collateral or other security, or (b) any right of
recourse, reimbursement, subrogation, contribution, indemnification or similar

right against Borrower or any other obligor on all or any part of the Guaranteed
Debt or any guarantor thereof, and each Guarantor irrevocably waives any and all
of the foregoing rights (whether such rights arise in equity, under contract, by
statute, under common law or otherwise). Guarantor irrevocably waives the
benefit of, and any right to participate in, any collateral or other security
given to any beneficiary to secure payment of the Guaranteed Debt.
10. Obligations Not Diminished. No Guarantor's obligations under this
-------------------------Guaranty will be released, diminished or affected by the occurrence of any one
or more of the following events: (a) Lender's taking or accepting of any other
security or guaranty for any or all of the Guaranteed Debt; (b) any release,
surrender, exchange, subordination, impairment or loss of any collateral
securing any or all of the Guaranteed Debt; (c) any full or partial release of
the liability of any other obligor on the Obligation; (d) the modification of or
waiver of compliance with, any terms of any other Loan Paper; (e) the
insolvency, bankruptcy or lack of corporate power of any party at any time
liable for any or all of the Guaranteed Debt, whether now existing or hereafter
occurring; (f) any renewal, extension or rearrangement of any or all of the
Guaranteed Debt or any adjustment, indulgence, forbearance or compromise that
may be granted or given by Lender to any other obligor on the Obligation; (g)
any neglect, delay, omission, failure or refusal of Lender to take or prosecute
any action in connection with the Guaranteed Debt; (h) any failure of Lender to
notify any Guarantor of any renewal, extension or assignment of any or all of
the Guaranteed Debt or the release of any security or of any other action taken
or refrained from being taken by Lender against Borrower or any new agreement
between Lender and Borrower, it being understood that Lender is not required to
give Guarantors any notice of any kind under any circumstances whatsoever with
respect to or in connection with the Guaranteed Debt; (i) the unenforceability
of any part of the Guaranteed Debt against any party because it exceeds the
amount permitted by law, the act of creating it is ultra vires, the officers
creating it exceeded their authority or violated their fiduciary duties in
connection therewith, or otherwise; or (j) any payment of the Obligation to
Lender is held to constitute a preference under any Debtor Relief Law or for any
other reason Lender is required to refund such payment or make payment to
someone else (and in each such instance this Guaranty will be reinstated in an
amount equal to such payment).
11. Waiver of Right to Require Suit. Each Guarantor waives all rights by
------------------------------which it might be entitled to require suit on an accrued right of action in
respect of any of the Guaranteed Debt or require suit against Borrower or
others.
12. Independent Credit Investigation. Each Guarantor confirms that it has
-------------------------------executed and delivered this Guaranty after reviewing the terms and conditions of
the Loan Papers and such other information as it has deemed appropriate in order
to make its own credit analysis and decision to execute and deliver this
Guaranty. Each Guarantor confirms that it has made its own independent
investigation with respect to Borrower's creditworthiness and is not executing
and delivering this Guaranty in reliance on any representation or warranty by
Lender as to such creditworthiness. Each Guarantor expressly assumes all
responsibilities to remain informed of the financial condition of Borrower and
any circumstances affecting (a) Borrower's ability to perform under the Loan
Papers to which it is a party or (b) any collateral securing all or any part of
the Guaranteed Debt.
13. No Discharge. The Guaranteed Debt will not be reduced, discharged or
-----------released because or by reason of any existing or future offset, claim or defense
(except for the defense of payment of the Guaranteed Debt) of Borrower or any
other party against Lender or against payment of the Guaranteed Debt, whether
such offset, claim or defense arises in connection with the Guaranteed Debt or
otherwise. Such claims and defenses include, without limitation, failure of
consideration, breach of warranty, fraud, bankruptcy, incapacity/infancy,
statute of limitations, lender liability, accord and satisfaction, usury, forged
signatures, mistake, impossibility, frustration of purpose, and
unconscionability.
14. Successors and Assigns. This Guaranty is for the benefit of Lender and
---------------------its successors and permitted assigns, and in the event of an assignment of all
or any of the Guaranteed Debt, the Rights hereunder, to the extent applicable to

the portion assigned, shall be transferred therewith. This Guaranty shall be
binding upon each Guarantor and its successors and permitted assigns.
15. Loan Paper. This Guaranty is a Loan Paper and is subject to the
---------applicable provisions of SECTION 14 of the Credit Agreement, all of which are
incorporated into this Guaranty by reference the same as if set forth in this
Guaranty verbatim.
Vail Resorts, Inc.
Vail Holdings, Inc.
Vail Trademarks, Inc.
Vail Resorts Development Company
Beaver Creek Consultants, Inc.
Beaver Creek Associates, Inc.
Vail/beaver Creek Resort Properties, Inc.
Vail Food Services, Inc.
Piney River Ranch, Inc.
Vail/arrowhead, Inc.
Beaver Creek Food Services, Inc.
Vail Associates Holdings, Ltd.
Vail Associates Real Estate, Inc.
Vail Associates Consultants, Inc.
Vail Associates Management Company
Vail Associates Ranch and Land Company
Gillett Group Management, Inc.
Ghtv, Inc.
Gillett Broadcasting, Inc.
Gillett Broadcasting of Maryland, Inc.
Vail Summit Resorts, Inc.
Keystone Conference Services, Inc.
Keystone Development Sales, Inc.
Keystone Food & Beverage Company
Keystone Resort Property Management Company
Lodge Properties, Inc.
Lodge Realty, Inc.
By:
Name:
Senior Vice President of each of the above
Companies
EXHIBIT C
--------LOAN REQUEST
______________, 19__
NationsBank of Texas, N.A.
Corporate Finance Group
901 Main Street, 67th Floor
Dallas, Texas 75202
Attn: Frank M. Johnson
Fax: (214) 508-0980
Reference is made to the Credit Agreement dated as of October 10, 1997
(as amended, supplemented or restated from time to time, the "CREDIT
AGREEMENT"), between THE VAIL CORPORATION and NATIONSBANK OF TEXAS, N.A.
Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined herein shall have the
meanings assigned to such terms in the Credit Agreement. The undersigned hereby
gives you notice pursuant to SECTION 2.2(A) of the Credit Agreement that it
requests a Loan under the Credit Agreement on the following terms:
(A)
(B)
(C)
(D)

Loan Date (a Business Day)
Principal Amount of Loan*
Type of Loan**
For LIBOR Loan, Interest Period
and the last day thereof***

Please deposit the requested Loan in our account with you [and then wire

transfer amounts from that account as follows:
.]
-Borrower hereby certifies that the following statements are true and
correct on the date hereof, and will be true and correct on the Loan Date
specified above after giving effect to such Loan: (a) all of the representations
and warranties of the Companies in the Loan Papers are true and correct in all
material respects (except to the extent that (i) they speak to a specific date
or (ii) the facts on which they are based have been changed by transactions
contemplated or permitted by the Credit Agreement); and (b) no Material Adverse
Event has occurred and no Default or Potential Default exists.
Very truly yours,
THE VAIL CORPORATION
By
Name:
Title:

*

**
***

Not less than $500,000 or a greater integral multiple of $100,000 (if a
Base Rate Loan); not less than $1,000,000 or a greater integral multiple of
$100,000 (if a LIBOR Loan).
LIBOR Loan or Base Rate Loan.
LIBOR Loan -- 1, 2, 3 or 6 months.
In no event may the Interest Period end after the appropriate Termination
Date.
EXHIBIT D
--------CONVERSION REQUEST
______________, 19__

NationsBank of Texas, N.A.
Corporate Finance Group
901 Main Street, 67th Floor
Dallas, Texas 75202
Attn: Frank M. Johnson
Fax: (214) 508-0980
Reference is made to the Credit Agreement dated as of October 10, 1997
(as amended, supplemented or restated, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"), between THE VAIL
CORPORATION and NATIONSBANK OF TEXAS, N.A. Unless otherwise defined herein, all
capitalized terms have the meanings given to such terms in the Credit Agreement.
The undersigned hereby gives you notice pursuant to SECTION 3.10 of the
Credit Agreement that it elects to convert all or part of a Loan under the
Credit Agreement from one Type to another Type or elects a new Interest Period
for a LIBOR Loan on the following terms:
(A) Date of conversion or last day of
applicable Interest Period (a Business Day)
(B) Type** and Principal Amount* of Existing
Borrowing being converted
(C) New Type of Borrowing selected**
(D) For conversion to a LIBOR Rate Borrowing, the
Interest Period selected and the last day thereof***
(E) Type** and Principal Amount* of Existing
Borrower Being Continued

(F) For continuation of a LIBOR Rate Borrowing, the
Interest Period selected and the last day thereof***
Very truly yours,
THE VAIL CORPORATION

By:
Name:
Title:

*

**
***

Not less than $500,000 or a greater integral multiple of $100,000 (if a
Base Rate Loan); not less than $1,000,000 or a greater
integral multiple of $100,000 (if a LIBOR Loan).
LIBOR Loan or Base Rate Loan.
1, 2, 3 or 6 months. The Interest Period may not end after the appropriate
Termination Date.

